State-Mandated Health Insurance Benefits and Health Insurance Costs in Massachusetts

Prepared for Commonwealth of Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis

December 2016

Prepared by Compass Health Analytics, Inc.



State-Mandated Health Insurance Benefits and Health Insurance Costs in Massachusetts

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	i
Introduction and Background	1
Statutory Basis and Scope	1
Approach to reviewing mandate efficacy	2
Approach to analyzing mandate costs	2
Applicable Population	2
Sample Population	4
Definition of Estimated Costs	5
Effect of the ACA on the Incremental Cost of the Mandates	9
Results	
Mandates with Potential Marginal Direct Cost: Service-Centered Mandates	10
Autism Spectrum Disorders	11
Chiropractic Medicine	16
Cleft lip and Cleft palate	
Diabetes-related Services and Supplies	20
Early Intervention Services	23
Hearing Aids for Children	25
Home Health Care	29
Hormone Replacement Therapy (HRT)	
Human Leukocyte Antigen Testing	34
Hypodermic Syringes or Needles	36
Infertility Treatment	37
Low Protein Foods (LPF)	40
Nonprescription Enteral Formulas	42
Oral Chemotherapy Treatment of Cancer	44
Prosthetic Devices	46
Scalp Hair Prostheses	49
Speech and Audiology Services	50
Mandates with Potential Marginal Direct Cost: Provider-Centered Mandates	52
Certified Nurse Midwives	53
Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists	55
Nurse Practitioners	57

Physician Assistants	59
Chiropractors	61
Dentists	63
Optometrists	65
Podiatrists	66
Aggregated Results of Mandates with Potential Marginal Direct Cost	68
Mandates Judged Likely to have Zero Marginal Cost	69
Bone Marrow Transplant for Breast Cancer	69
Cardiac Rehabilitation	70
Clinical Trials for Treatment of Cancer	72
Contraceptive Services	75
Cytological Screening (Pap Smear)	79
Hearing Screening for Newborns	82
Hospice Care	84
Lead Poisoning Screening	86
Mammography	88
Maternity Care and Minimum Maternity Stay	91
Mental Health Care	95
Off-label Use of Prescription Drugs to Treat Cancer	99
Off-label Use of Prescription Drugs to Treat HIV/AIDS	102
Preventive Care for Children to Age Six	104
Summary of Mandate Cost Estimates	106
Discussion and Conclusions	109
Appendices	
Appendix A: Summary of Health Insurance Benefit Mandates	112
Appendix B: Methodology of Cost Estimation	117
Appendix C: Estimation of Population Subsets	136
Appendix D: Cost by Type of Service for Mandates with Potential Marginal Direct Cost	
Table D-1: Autism Spectrum Disorders	
Table D-2: Chiropractic Medicine	
Table D-3: Cleft lip and Cleft palate	
Table D-4: Diabetes-related Services and Supplies	
Table D-5: Early Intervention Services	
Table D-6: Hearing Aids for Children	139
Table D-7: Home Health Care	
Table D-8: Hormone Replacement Therapy	142
Table D-9: Human Leukocyte Antigen Testing	142
Table D-10: Hypodermic Syringes or Needles	142

Table D-11: Infertility Treatment143
Table D-12: Low Protein Foods (LPF)143
Table D-13: Nonprescription Enteral Formulas 143
Table D-14: Oral Chemotherapy Treatment of Cancer 144
Table D-15: Prosthetic Devices144
Table D-16: Scalp Hair Prostheses 144
Table D-17: Speech and Audiology Services 145
Table D-18: Certified Nurse Midwives146
Table D-19: Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists 147
Table D-20: Nurse Practitioners 148
Table D-21: Physician Assistants 150
Table D-22: Chiropractors152
Table D-23: Dentists
Table D-24: Optometrists
Table D-25: Podiatrists
Appendix E: List of Study Acronyms156
Endnotes

This report was prepared by Amy Raslevich, MBA, MPP, Andrea Clark, MS, Larry Hart, James Highland, PhD, MHSA, Valerie Hamilton, RN, MHA, JD, Jeffrey Stock, FSA, MAAA, Jennifer Elwood, FSA, MAAA, and Lars Loren, JD, with assistance from Sarah Pacheco. The project was supervised by Deborah Gray, PhD, Karima Ricketts, MBA, and Margaret Anshutz, MS of the Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis, and has benefited greatly from the assistance of staff at CHIA and staff at Massachusetts health insurance carriers.

State-Mandated Health Insurance Benefits and Health Insurance Costs in Massachusetts

Executive Summary

M.G.L. Chapter 3 §38C requires that the Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis (CHIA) issue a comprehensive report at least once every four years on the cost and public health impact of all existing mandated health insurance benefits. Compass Health Analytics, Inc. (Compass) has been engaged to prepare the 2016 report.

This is the third comprehensive review of health benefit mandates. The first comprehensive review was published in 2008 as required under Chapter 58 of the Laws of 2006.¹ The second comprehensive review, published in January 2013, was the first review prepared under M.G.L. Chapter 3 §38C.²

The study provides a general review of the efficacy of the benefits described in the mandates. However, the cost estimates apply only to the population with health insurance subject to Massachusetts state health benefit plan mandate laws: individuals covered by fully-insured commercial products regulated by the Massachusetts Division of Insurance. In addition, the Group Insurance Commission (GIC), which provides benefits to public employees in Massachusetts, voluntarily complies with state benefit mandates.¹ Costs associated with mandated benefits are a subset of the total health care costs for this population. Excluded from the cost estimates in this study are costs associated with self-insured plans (other than those offered through the GIC), which are not regulated by The Division of Insurance and not subject to the benefit mandate laws. The cost implications and clinical efficacy of 39 mandates are assessed in this report; the cost results are displayed in Table E1.

The first result column in Table E1 displays total required direct costs, or RDCs, which measure the total 2014 claim costs for services described in the mandate laws. RDCs are estimated to be \$1.9 billion in medical expenses after elimination of overlaps in cost between mandates (\$2.1 billion including administrative costs). However, RDCs are not a measure of the marginal impact of the mandates. RDCs include both costs for services that would be provided voluntarily in the absence of the mandates and marginal costs resulting from the imposition of the mandate laws. The second, third, and fourth results columns display lower and upper bound estimates of mandate marginal costs; marginal costs represent the estimated expenses for services provided in the presence of the mandates that would not have been provided in their absence.

ⁱ The majority of the GIC's covered members are in self-insured plans; a subset of the mandates applies to the GIC's members by statute (both fully-insured and self-insured), in addition to the overall fully-insured population. Based on the understanding that all self-insured GIC plans voluntarily offer all Massachusetts state mandated benefits, to the extent possible, all GIC plans are treated as part of the mandate-covered group throughout this analysis.

The mandates at the bottom of Table E1 labeled "Mandates Judged to Have Zero Marginal Cost" were deemed so by the largest Massachusetts health insurance carriers participating in the study, with the exceptions of the contraception and mental health mandates. The contraception and mental health mandates were treated as potential marginal cost mandates in the previous comprehensive reviews. However, since the 2009 analysis period covered by the previous review, the benefits required by both mandates have been superseded by federal statutes,³ thus erasing any incremental effect of these Massachusetts state health benefit plan mandates. All zero marginal cost mandates have \$0 lower (and upper) bound marginal cost estimates (see the second through sixth result columns). Many of the mandates in the "potential marginal direct cost" section in Table E1 were shown to have costs at higher levels in the self-insured population than in the fully-insured population. We assign these to a zero cost lower-bound rather than treating them as having negative cost or savings (e.g., diabetes related services and supplies). The other mandates in Table E1 have non-zero marginal costs relative to self-insured plans (e.g., infertility treatment).¹¹

ⁱⁱ As discussed in the body of the report, measurement for some zero marginal cost mandates was not feasible. These mandates are shown as having no cost in the required direct cost column of Table E1.

Table E1
Summary of Estimated Costs for Massachusetts Mandated Benefits as of 2014
Dollars in Millions (000,000s)

	•	ed Direct Cost ms Estimate		ower Bound arginal Claims Estimate	Estir	ver Bound mate with Imin Exp	Est	per Bound imate with dmin Exp	Lower Bound Percent of Premium	Upper Bound Percent of Premium
Unduplicated Total All Mandates	\$	1,912.96	\$	46.94	\$	52.74	\$	796.81	0.43%	6.45%
Mandates with Potential Marginal Direct Cost										
Service Mandates Autism Spectrum Disorders Services	Ś	39.54	\$	15.25	\$	17.13	\$	44.42	0.14%	0.36%
Chiropractic Services	ş Ş	2.68	\$	0.94	\$ \$	17.13	\$ \$	3.01	0.01%	0.02%
Child Hearing Aids	ş Ş	6.89	ŝ	0.94	\$ \$	1.00	ŝ	7.74	0.00%	0.027
Cleft Palate and Lip	ş	3.30	\$	0.10	\$ \$	0.12	\$ \$	3.70	0.00%	0.039
Diabetes-related Services and Supplies	ş	175.79	ŝ	-	\$ \$	0.12	ŝ	197.52	0.00%	1.609
Early Intervention Services	ş Ş	25.72		2.78	ş Ş	3.12	ŝ	28.90	0.00%	0.239
	ş Ş	257.25	ې \$	- 2.78	ې \$	5.12	ş Ş	28.90	0.00%	2.349
Home Health Care						-				
Hormone Replacement Therapy (HRT)	\$	11.56	\$	0.74	\$	0.83	\$	12.99	0.01%	0.119
Human Leukocyte Antigen Testing	\$	0.02	\$	-	\$	-	\$	0.02	0.00%	0.009
Hypodermic Syringes or Needles	\$	1.08	\$	-	\$	-	\$	1.22	0.00%	0.019
Infertility Treatment	\$	104.73	\$	12.67	\$	14.24	\$	117.67	0.12%	0.95%
Low Protein Food Products for Inherited Amino	\$	1.53	\$	0.08	\$	0.09	\$	1.71	0.00%	0.019
Acid and Organic Acid Diseases (PKU)										
Nonprescription Enteral Formulas	\$	0.92		-	\$	-	\$	1.04	0.00%	0.019
Oral Cancer Drugs	\$	1.38	\$	0.49	\$	0.55	\$	1.55	0.00%	0.019
Prosthetic Limbs and Associated Services	\$	3.87	\$	-	\$	-	\$	4.35	0.00%	0.049
Scalp Hair Prostheses for Cancer Patients	\$	0.41	\$	-	\$	-	\$	0.46	0.00%	0.009
Speech, Hearing and Language Disorders	\$	7.12	\$	-	\$	-	\$	8.00	0.00%	0.069
Provider Mandates										
Certified Nurse Midwives	\$	1.62	\$	-	\$	-	\$	1.83	0.00%	0.019
Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists	\$	22.09	\$	-	\$	-	\$	24.83	0.00%	0.209
Chiropractors	\$	7.97	\$	0.81	\$	0.91	\$	8.96	0.01%	0.079
Dentists	\$	1.39	\$	-	\$	-	\$	1.56	0.00%	0.019
Nurse Practitioners	\$	44.63	\$	9.31	\$	10.46	\$	50.15	0.08%	0.419
Optometrists	\$	6.23	\$	-	\$	-	\$	7.00	0.00%	0.069
Physician Assistants	\$	41.01	\$	2.01	\$	2.26	\$	46.07	0.02%	0.379
Podiatrists	\$	16.38	\$	0.81	\$	0.91	\$	18.41	0.01%	0.159
Aandates Judged to Have Zero Marginal Cost Bone Marrow Transplants for Treatment of Breast Cancer	\$		\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.005
Cardiac Rehabilitation	\$	2.28	\$	-	\$	-	Ś	-	0.00%	0.009
Clinical Trials (to treat cancer)	ŝ	2.28	\$	-	\$	-	ŝ	-	0.00%	0.009
Contraceptive Services	ŝ	94.20	\$	-	\$	-	ŝ	-	0.00%	0.009
Cytologic Screening	Ś	17.54	\$		\$	_	Ś	_	0.00%	0.009
Hearing Screening for Newborns	Ś	3.32	ŝ		\$	-	ŝ		0.00%	0.00
Hospice Care	Ś	16.49	ŝ	_	\$	_	Ś	_	0.00%	0.009
Lead Poisoning Screening	ş Ş	1.20	ŝ	-	\$ \$	-	ŝ	-	0.00%	0.002
Mammography	ş Ş	1.20	\$	-	\$ \$	-	\$ \$	-	0.00%	0.009
Maternity Health Care (including minimum maternity stay)	\$	471.27	\$	-	\$ \$	-	ŝ	-	0.00%	0.00
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ş Ş	471.27 455.40	\$ \$	-	\$ \$	-	ş Ş	-	0.00%	0.00
Mental Health Care	ş Ş		ş Ş	-	\$ \$	-	ş Ş	-		
Preventive Care for Children Up to Age Six	ş Ş	122.14	ş Ş	-		-	ş Ş	-	0.00%	0.009
Off-Label Uses of Prescription Drugs to Treat Cancer	ş S	-	ş Ş	-	\$	-	ş Ş	-	0.00%	0.009
Off-Label Uses of Prescription Drugs to Treat HIV/AIDS	Ş	-	Ş	-	\$	-	Ş	-	0.00%	0.00

The lower bound marginal claims estimate of \$46.9 million in the second column represents one measure of the marginal impact of the mandates on claims spending, calculated from per-person spending differences on mandated benefits between the fully-insured population subject to the mandates and the self-insured population not subject to mandates. This \$46.9 million difference represents \$1.66 per member per month, or 0.43 percent of premium. Stated simply, the additional spending on mandated services in plans subject to the mandates compared to those plans not subject to the mandates represents approximately one half of one percent of premium.

To measure the full impact, insurer administrative costs should be added. In the next two columns of Table E1 the lower bound estimate of \$46.9 million becomes \$52.7 million with administration, and the \$1.9 billion RDC becomes an upper bound estimate of \$796.8 million after removing zero marginal cost mandates and adding administrative expense.

The initial range of the marginal direct cost impact of all 39 mandate laws studied, including administrative costs, is therefore between \$52.7 million and \$796.8 million. However, the true value is not likely to be near either end of this range. The upper bound estimate includes all RDCs except those for mandates judged likely to have zero marginal costs, and so assumes that 100 percent of the RDC for mandates with potential marginal direct cost is marginal, and that carriers would eliminate all mandated benefits completely in the absence of the mandate laws. This is very unlikely to be true or close to true given that \$469.4 million of this amount (about 59 percent; these figures are net of mandate overlaps) is composed of two mandates--home health services and diabetes services and supplies--that would likely be provided as cost-effective benefits, even if at somewhat lower levels.

The lower bound marginal cost estimate for each mandate judged to have potential marginal direct costs is derived by comparing the allowed amounts per person approved by insurers for the fully-insured sample to the allowed amounts for the self-insured sample (which is not subject to the mandates). Cases in which the self-insured spending per person is higher are ignored, and the differences, net of mandate overlaps, for the remaining cases in which the fully-insured costs per person are higher are summed to calculate the overall lower bound mandate marginal cost. This lower bound estimate assumes that 100 percent of the spending for the mandates in the self-insured market would occur in the absence of the mandate laws, and that none of the spending is influenced by the mandated spending levels in the fully-insured market. This, too, is very unlikely to be true or close to true, owing to the upward pressure mandates in the fully-insured market place on benefits offered by self-insured plans.

This reasoning supports narrowing the range of the mandate law impact. Table E2 displays medical costs in the fully-insured population for each percent of premium in the \$60 million to \$800 million range. While the scope of this study does not allow a direct empirical basis for narrowing the range, the actual direct cost impact is likely to be somewhere in the middle part of the range. As selfinsured employers must compete in the labor market with fully-insured employers whose health insurance policies must include the mandated benefits, self-insured benefits are likely to be significantly influenced by the presence of the mandate laws and the laws' effect on benefit structures at competing employers. While there are potential effects that could cause the lower bound to be over-estimated, on net it is likely that the 0.43 percent of premium in fully-insured cost levels over and above self-insured cost levels significantly understates the true impact. At the same time, federal benefit requirements would remain even if state mandates were repealed, and it is unlikely that popular and/or cost-effective benefits like diabetes care would be completely removed from policies if the mandate laws were not in place, making 6.45 percent of premium (which assumes *all* costs of the 25 potential marginal cost mandates are marginal) a certain overstatement of the impact. Based on the foregoing discussion, mid-range estimates in the one to four percent of premium (roughly \$125 million to \$500 million annually) range, while not directly empirically supported by this analysis, may be a logically inferable estimate of the marginal impact on health care costs directly associated with the covered benefits described in the mandate laws.

Percent of Premium	РМРМ	Dollars (millions)					
0.5%	\$ 2.18	\$	61.81				
1.0%	\$ 4.36	\$	123.62				
2.0%	\$ 8.72	\$	247.24				
3.0%	\$ 13.08	\$	370.85				
4.0%	\$ 17.44	\$	494.47				
5.0%	\$ 21.80	\$	618.09				
6.0%	\$ 26.16	\$	741.71				
6.5%	\$ 28.34	\$	803.52				

Table E2 Cost Implications of Impact Assumptions

We note that, owing in part to general cost inflation but in large part to an expansion of the service codes that carriers have provided as services covered under the mandates, the RDCs in the current study at \$1.9 billion are far higher than the \$1.2 billion in the 2012 study. However, relative to the 2012 results these additional RDCs had a minimal effect on the upper bound estimate because mental health and contraceptive services coverage are now required by federal law. They also had a minimal impact on the lower bound estimate because self-insured plans also tend to cover both contraceptive services and mental health at or near the levels provided by fully-insured plans, and also cover many of the additional service codes in the carriers' expanded lists.

In addition to the direct cost impacts, there are indirect cost effects, such as avoided hospitalizations as a result of the diabetes mandate, that we are not able to address in this study. Almost 75 percent of the total estimated direct cost stems from three service mandates: home health, infertility, and diabetes services and supplies. The eight provider mandates represent nearly another 20 percent. Consideration of these mandates and their likely indirect cost effects would provide most of the required information on how the direct costs might be added to or reduced by indirect cost effects. It is possible that after consideration of indirect cost effects, the net impact of these five mandates is cost reducing, though we cannot estimate that impact in this study. Finally, there are individual and socially beneficial impacts aside from health care spending that these mandates may, and in many cases certainly do, provide. Benefit mandates are often enacted when such beneficial effects are perceived but something short of government provision of the benefit is the balance point of the political process.⁴

The results section of the report discusses the efficacy and public health benefits of services described in the mandates in detail.

State-Mandated Health Insurance Benefits and Health Insurance Costs in Massachusetts

Introduction and Background

Statutory Basis and Scope

M.G.L. Chapter 3 §38C requires the Center for Health Information and Analysis (CHIA) to issue a comprehensive report at least once every four years on the cost and public health impact of all existing mandated benefits. Compass Health Analytics, Inc. (Compass) was engaged to prepare this analysis. This is the third comprehensive review of health benefit mandates, and the second (following the 2012 report⁵) under the statute cited above; the first comprehensive review was published in 2008 as required under Chapter 58 of the Laws of 2006.⁶

The statute defines a health benefit mandate as one that "mandates health insurance coverage for specific health services, specific diseases or certain providers of health care services." Appendix A lists the mandates addressed in this report, including all mandates studied in the previous two mandate review reports, and adds to that set new mandates passed since the analysis period for the 2012 report. This report addresses mandates in force at the end of 2014. It does not address Chapter 258 of the Acts of 2014 "An Act to increase opportunities for long-term substance abuse recovery," the relevant portions of which were not effective until October 2015, leaving insufficient time for the Act's provisions to have an effect measurable under this report's methodology.

Most mandates in Massachusetts require insurers to cover specific services or to provide benefits to individuals with specific conditions, for those individuals the insurers cover. Another smaller set of mandates requires insurers to cover the services of specific types of providers. Most of these provider-centered mandates are similar in effect, essentially providing that payers must pay practitioners of the specified provider type when the service is covered and when the practitioner's provider type is licensed to provide the covered service. Because all mandates addressed in this review apply to medical insurance policies, as opposed to policies that cover other sets of services, such as dental care, these provider-centered mandates do not address non-medical services. For example, while they require payers to pay dentists for a medical service that either a physician or dentist may perform under their licenses, they do not mandate coverage for services typically covered by dental plans.

Massachusetts statutes place various other requirements on insurers, including ones addressing confidentiality, coverage practices (continuity of coverage, dependent coverage, coordination of benefits, etc.), and limitations on insurers' ability to deny coverage in general to individuals with specified conditions (blind persons, victims of domestic abuse, etc.). The statute charging CHIA with this review does not include within the scope of the review these other types of requirements, and consequently this review does not address them.

As discussed in Appendix B, the most recent comprehensive claim data from the Massachusetts All Payer Claims Database (MA APCD) available during the period Compass performed this analysis were from calendar year 2014 (as paid through June 30, 2015), which sets the timeframe basis for the study. Results presented here include those mandates in force in 2014.

Approach to reviewing mandate efficacy

The goal of this report, in its review of evidence related to the efficacy of the provisions of each benefit mandate, is not to judge their efficacy, but rather to summarize how each is currently regarded by government or professional entities that recommend treatment or by general medical literature. If the efficacy of a mandated service is controversial, this report will describe, but not attempt to resolve, the controversy. The report includes appropriate reference notes for readers who wish to learn more.

For some mandates, the depth the report can reach in analyzing the mandate's impact is limited. In particular, for the analysis of the efficacy of provider-centered mandates, the report describes whether the services are widely covered or whether standard-setting entities, such as Medicare, pay for them. However, a complete assessment of current thought about the clinical effectiveness of an entire profession is beyond the scope of this review.

For mandates with potentially significant public health impact, meaning an effect on the health of individuals other than those covered by the mandated benefit, the report provides information describing the impact, but generally does not attempt to quantify it.¹ This approach is consistent with the treatment of indirect costs in the economic analysis, and further consistent with the treatment of indirect costs in the previous reviews.

Approach to analyzing mandate costs

For calendar year 2014, this study estimates the cost of Massachusetts health insurance benefit mandates in force during that year to premium payers. This section summarizes the methodology for measuring those costs. Appendix B contains a more detailed description of the methodology.

Applicable Population

This study estimates the effect of mandates on health care costs only for people in Massachusetts with health insurance plans subject to health benefit mandate laws; those plans fall into two main groups. First, all mandates in the study apply to fully-insured commercial plans regulated by the Massachusetts Division of Insurance. Second, a subset of the mandates in this study also applies to coverage for public employees provided under the Group Insurance Commission (GIC). The great majority of the GIC coverage is provided on a self-insured basis, with the remainder included

ⁱ This approach is consistent with the treatment of indirect costs in this report's analysis of mandated benefit costs, and further, consistent with the treatment of indirect costs in the 2012 comprehensive review of mandated benefits.

among the fully-insured plans subject to all the mandates. However, it is Compass's understanding that the GIC voluntarily follows all benefit mandates in its self-insured plans.

State health insurance benefit mandates do not apply to individuals covered under:

- Self-insured policies (except the GIC population for some mandates), as these policies are governed by federal ERISA statutes and not subject to state mandate laws
- Medicare and Medicare Advantage plans, the benefits of which are qualified by Medicare
- Federally-funded plans including the Veterans Administration, TRICARE (covering military personnel and dependents), and the Federal Employee's Health Benefit Plan

This analysis excludes members of fully-insured plans over 64 years of age, and does not address potential effects on Medicare supplement plans (which generally cover patient cost sharing within the Medicare benefit structure) even to the extent they are regulated by state law. Finally, some Massachusetts mandate laws affect MassHealth, which administers the Massachusetts Medicaid program; however, this analysis does not address the potential effect of those mandates on MassHealth expenditures.

The total number of persons estimated to be covered by fully-insured policies in Massachusetts was estimated through a variety of sources. U.S. Census Bureau data on the Massachusetts population and percent covered by employer-sponsored plans and MA APCD eligibility data⁷ lead to an estimate of 3.8 million Massachusetts residents under age 65 covered by employer-sponsored plans in 2014, approximately 1.8 million of whom are fully-insured. Compass used Massachusetts Department of Insurance (DOI),^{8,9} MA APCD eligibility,¹⁰ and CHIA enrollment trends¹¹ data to develop an estimate of approximately 139,000 additional individuals under age 65 residing in other states are covered by Massachusetts-issued fully-insured employer-sponsored insurance subject to the mandates. Finally, MA APCD eligibility data¹² yielded an estimate of approximately 170,000 persons under age 65 purchased insurance in the non-group market in 2014. The sum of the employer-sponsored state residents, non-residents, and individually insured produces a total estimate of 2.1 million fully-insured members. Because self-insured GIC plans follow the mandates voluntarily, an additional 261,000 members are added to the covered population (based on GIC annual reports)¹³ for a total of 2.4 million individuals. Appendix C contains more details about these population calculations. Unless otherwise noted, throughout this report "fully-insured population" will be understood to include the self-insured GIC members, and "self-insured population" will be understood to not include the self-insured GIC members.

Table 1 summarizes the license types and populations to which the mandates apply. Most mandates apply to plans under all types of state insurance license (indemnity, hospital/medical service corporation, HMO); some, however, apply only to subsets of licenses. To calculate the percent of premium the analysis uses as a member-months denominator the sum of member-months for all license types, since it estimates the per-person costs of the benefits with respect to the overall average fully-insured health insurance premium. However, for the five mandates that apply to less than the entire fully-insured population, estimated claims were included in the numerator only for the sub-groups indicated in Table 1, as these are the only claims related to

benefits required by those mandates. The resulting estimates represent the impact on the average fully-insured premiums, not on the premium for the sub-group(s) to which the mandate applies.

Mandate	Applicable Population	Estimated Statute Membership	Est. Effective Membership (incl. SI GIC)
Certified Nurse Midwives			
Chiropractors	Indemnity and Blue Cross Blue	479,865	730,715
Dentists	Shield fully-insured members	-,	, -
Optometrists			
Chiropractic Services	Blue Cross Blue Shield fully-		
	insured members, excluding HMO	165,174	165,174
Infantility Constant	Blue		
Infertility Services	All fully-insured Massachusetts- resident members	1,962,021	2,206,099
Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists			
Early Intervention			
Home Health Care			
HRT			
Infertility			
Low Protein Foods			
Nurse Practitioner			
Podiatrist		2,101,336	
Syringe			2 2 2 2 7 4 5
Cardiac Rehab	All fully-insured members		2,362,745
Clinical Trials for Cancer			
Contraception			
Cytologic Screening			
Lead Screening			
Mammography			
Off-label Uses of Prescription Drugs - Cancer			
Off-label Uses of Prescription Drugs - HIV/AIDS			
Preventive Care to Age 6			
Autism Services			
Child Hearing Aids			
Cleft Palate and Lip			
Diabetes			
HLA Testing			
Limb Prosthesis			
Mental Health	All fully-insured members and all		
Nonprescription. Enteral Formulas	GIC members (fully and self-	2,362,745	2,362,745
Oral Cancer Drugs	insured)	2,502,745	2,302,743
Physician Assistants			
Scalp Hair Prosthesis			
Speech & Hearing			
Bone Marrow Transplants for Breast Cancer			
Hearing Screening for Newborns			
Hospice Care			
Maternity Care			

 Table 1

 2014 Estimates of Populations to Which Mandates Apply

Sample Population

To develop a cost estimate for each mandate, a sample per-member per-month (PMPM) cost estimate was developed from available data sources and multiplied by the applicable population defined in the preceding section.¹¹ The estimated PMPM cost developed from claim data drew upon calendar year 2014 data from CHIA's MA APCD,¹⁴ Release 4.0. CHIA collects and manages data from commercial carriers, third party administrators, and public programs.¹⁵ CHIA works with each carrier to conduct a quality control process on the MA APCD data, and "clears" data through this

ⁱⁱ As discussed below in the Results section, for aggregated cost estimates, overlap between mandates is removed when summing total dollars.

process on a carrier-by-carrier basis as this process is complete. This quality-controlled sample comprises approximately 87 percent of total commercial fully-insured primary medical membership under age 65 in the Commonwealth.ⁱⁱⁱ Compass relied upon this quality-controlled data sample after verifying basic reasonableness checks on membership and expenses. Compass then joined claims to de-duplicated eligibility data to review match rates and average paid and allowed claims PMPMs by carrier. The average fully-insured and self-insured GIC medical membership subject to the mandates represented in the sample passing this additional quality-control step for 2014 is 1.9 million, or 79 percent of the estimated 2.4 million total average membership for the fully-insured and self-insured GIC population in Massachusetts. Cost estimates contained in this report assume the PMPM costs obtained from the MA APCD sample data are representative of the overall fully-insured under-65 population. For the mandates developed with secondary data sources (discussed in the next section), the underlying utilization, prevalence, and other rates were drawn from Massachusetts data wherever possible. The samples used are discussed in detail in the methodology appendices.

Appendix B provides a more detailed discussion of the cost estimation methodology and Appendix C details the development of Massachusetts population segment estimates.

Definition of Estimated Costs

Costs associated with mandated benefits are a relatively small subset of total health care costs for the affected population; to begin to address by how much mandate laws impact total costs it will be helpful to define terminology for the purpose of this report. The general cost concepts defined below will aid in interpreting the results of the study. In practice, these cost sub-categories are difficult to measure, and no precise measurement of these cost breakouts can be achieved within the scope of this project, although conceptual definition will aid in interpreting the results of the analysis. Two general types of costs may be associated with any mandate:

- **Required direct costs**. These are the costs of services explicitly described in a mandate law, used by covered members, and paid for by the regulated insurance plans, whether or not some or all of the costs would have been incurred in the absence of the mandate through voluntary provision of the benefits. These costs are the primary focus of this study, and are the most easily measurable. Required direct costs (RDCs) are the sum of *base direct costs* and *marginal direct costs*.
 - *Base direct costs* (BDCs) are those costs that would be present even if the mandate law were not in force. Mandate laws may require benefits that would be provided, wholly or in part, voluntarily (by some or all of the market) or that are required by another mandate law (state or federal).

ⁱⁱⁱ Total average fully-insured commercial primary medical insurance membership under age 65 reported in the MA APCD is approximately 2 million, or 94 percent of Compass's 2014 fully-insured commercial membership estimate of 2.1 million. Total average under-65 fully-insured and self-insured GIC primary medical insurance membership from the MA APCD is 2.1 million, or 90 percent of Compass's 2.4 million population estimate (not all carriers' GIC accounts can be identified in the MA APCD; these accounts are excluded from the 2.1 million estimate).

- *Marginal direct costs* (MDCs) are those additional costs beyond the base direct costs that the imposition of the mandate impels.
- **Indirect costs.** Indirect costs are costs that may be added as a result of the related delivered services associated with the mandate (e.g., costs of additional complicated births associated with infertility treatment) or service costs avoided (these would be "negative costs" or cost offsets) as a result of the mandate (e.g., fewer emergency department visits for diabetics due to coverage for diabetes services and supplies).

While we can measure RDCs reasonably, measuring their breakdown into base and marginal direct costs is far more difficult, and measuring indirect costs even more difficult. To measure the true cost impact of a mandate law on regulated insurance product premiums, one would include only marginal costs, which would consist of marginal direct costs and marginal indirect costs (those indirect costs associated with the marginal utilization produced by the mandate law). Since marginal indirect costs may be either positive or negative, the net impact of any one mandated benefit on total costs may be either increasing or decreasing, depending on:

- How much of the direct cost associated with the mandate is marginal (i.e., attributable to the imposition of the mandate)
- Whether indirect costs are positive or negative on net
- The size of those indirect costs relative to the direct costs

Though not within the scope of this study, a well-conducted multivariate statistical analysis using multi-state data would be better able to estimate marginal costs that include both direct and indirect components. Some multivariate econometric studies comparing benefit mandates and cost levels across states have shown that some specific mandated benefits decrease costs on net, while others increase costs on net.¹⁶

This study provides some information that may be useful in understanding the proportion of the required direct costs that are likely to be marginal for the mandates. The scope of this study does not attempt to measure precisely the amount of RDC that is marginal (which would require multi-state data), and the report does not include evaluation of indirect costs. As a result, it is not possible to ascertain from the information in this study the net impact on health care costs in the Commonwealth associated with the mandate laws, but previous research suggests that total RDCs will greatly overstate the net effect of the mandates, that offsetting indirect cost savings can be larger than direct cost effects (making the net effect of such a mandate to reduce cost), and that the impact of mandate laws on insurance premium levels will not be directly inferable from the RDC estimates contained herein.¹⁷

This report does, however, compare the fully-insured population RDCs to the RDCs observed in the Massachusetts self-insured sector (not subject to the mandate laws)^{iv}; this difference provides one

^{iv} Note that the Group Insurance Commission (GIC), which administers health insurance benefits for public employees in the Commonwealth, has both fully-insured and self-insured members. The GIC is specifically included in a number of benefit mandates, and is understood to follow the others voluntarily as a matter of policy. As a result, the GIC membership that can be identified in the data are treated as fully-insured for the purpose of measuring PMPM costs relative to the self-insured market. See Appendix B for more details.

estimate of the marginal cost introduced by the mandate legislation. Previous research has found that benefit levels, including for mandated services, are similar, if not richer, in the self-insured market.¹⁸ Mandate laws may have small effects to the extent these research findings indicate firms offer the benefits voluntarily. However, considering that employers in Massachusetts that self-insure must compete in the labor market with fully-insured firms that must offer the mandated benefit package and public-sector employers offering GIC plans that voluntarily include all mandated health insurance benefits (even when the text of the mandate laws does not reach the self-insured GIC), the benefits in the self-insured firms are likely to be at least somewhat richer than they would be in the absence of the mandate laws. This competitive labor market effect would shrink the cost difference between fully-insured and self-insured plans and understate (or provide a lower bound for) the implied impact of benefit laws on health care costs provided by the difference between fully-insured costs.

In the cost estimates displayed in the Results section, these lower-bound estimates are derived from the difference between insurer spending in the fully-insured population for the mandated benefit and the insurer spending in the self-insured population for the same benefit. To reduce the impact that differences in average patient cost sharing between these populations may have on the result, the calculation is performed by computing the percentage by which the fully-insured allowed (before cost sharing) PMPM exceeds the self-insured allowed PMPM, and applying that percentage to the fully-insured paid PMPM. The result is a lower-bound estimate of the impact of the mandate on fully-insured paid expenditures. Where the self-insured allowed PMPM is higher than the fully-insured allowed PMPM, we treat the impact as zero, rather than negative; we assume that if self-insured firms on average have a higher spending level than fully-insured products subject to the mandates, it is not caused by the existence of the mandate. That is:

Lower Bound Marginal Cost = [(FI^v Allowed – SI Allowed)/FI Allowed]*FI paid RDC, if FI Allowed – SI Allowed > 0

Lower Bound Marginal Cost = 0, *otherwise*

An upper-bound claim cost estimate is also provided for each mandate, which includes the entire RDC, except for those mandates judged by the carriers likely to have zero marginal costs. This upper-bound estimate assumes that 100 percent of the RDC for mandates with potential marginal direct cost is marginal, and that carriers would pay zero dollars in claims for the services described by the mandates in the absence of the mandate laws. For most mandates there is good reason to believe the actual marginal cost is far lower, though we do not have a direct method of estimating by how much. For example, home health care services are widely considered to be cost-effective in many contexts. In all likelihood carriers would cover this benefit, if at a somewhat lower level, in the absence of the mandate. As a result, the upper bound estimates are likely to be well above the actual marginal direct cost.

To calculate the total cost of the mandates to the Massachusetts health care system, administrative loading (the additional costs over and above health care claims required to administer the health

^v In this and other equations and exhibits in this report, the abbreviation "FI" refers to the fully-insured and self-insured GIC population subject to the mandates, and "SI" refers to the non-GIC self-insured comparison population.

plan) must be added to the claims expense measures described above. According to CHIA's September 2016 report on the performance of the Massachusetts health care system, in 2014,¹⁹ average administrative loading (including profit) in the fully-insured commercial market was estimated to be 11 percent. Therefore, to arrive at estimates of fully loaded healthcare premium costs, claims costs were divided by one minus the 11 percent administrative load (1 – 0.11), or 0.89.

Comparing the present study to the 2012 reports shows that RDC results for some mandates have changed significantly; most notably, the RDC estimates for diabetes services and supplies and mental health care show nearly three-fold and two-fold increases, respectively. The main drivers of these and other significant differences, illustrated by selected examples, follow.

- Carrier Input
 - For the mental health mandate, the carriers provided an extensive list of procedure and diagnosis codes to be added to the cost model specification, including diagnoses not commonly considered behavioral health diagnoses, such as intellectual disabilities, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease.^{vi}
 - This was also true for the speech, hearing, and language and the non-prescription enteral formulas mandates, which had many-fold cost increases (but very small absolute RDCs even after the large increases shown in this study).
 - Significant additions were also made to the diabetes services and supplies specification to include new products, such as the new insulin pumps discussed below.
- Price and service mix changes
 - $\circ~$ A recent study found that the average price of insulin has tripled in the past decade. 20
 - New, more expensive insulin pumps have also become popular with clinicians and diabetes patients in recent years.²¹
- Clinical practice and guideline changes
 - As discussed below, decreased frequency guidelines for mammographic and cytological screening (Pap smear) have been released by U.S. government agencies and medical societies since the previous study period.^{22,23}

These changes also affected the self-insured cost estimates; therefore, changes in the lower bound estimates were much more modest. Furthermore, the new Federal requirements for mental health and contraceptive services coverage have mitigated the impact of these changes on the aggregate upper bound estimate.

The mandates in the study were reviewed by the major carriers in Massachusetts to ascertain whether, in their opinion, the RDCs of the mandates would be affected if the mandate were repealed. Those for which the law was judged not to affect measurable cost were deemed "zero marginal direct cost" mandates. In the present study, the MA APCD allowed estimation of the RDCs for four of the original zero marginal direct cost mandates (cardiac rehabilitation, cytological screening, lead poisoning screening, and mammography) with claim data. RDCs for the remaining

^{vi} These physical health diagnosis codes combined account for approximately 1 percent of sample paid claim expenses for plans subject to the mandate.

zero marginal direct cost mandates identified by the carriers, where measurable, were calculated using secondary data sources. In addition, in light of federal benefit requirements in the Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act of 2008 (MHPAEA) and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (ACA), Compass has re-classified the mental health and contraceptive services mandates as zero marginal direct cost mandates in the present study.^{vii} RDC estimates for these two mandates were prepared with MA APCD data.

The remaining "mandates with potential marginal direct cost" were estimated using the MA APCD. More details about this distinction and the overall methodology can be found in Appendix B. In the presentation of results below, the mandates are organized into potential marginal direct cost and zero marginal cost categories.

Effect of the ACA on the Incremental Cost of the Mandates

As noted above, this analysis measures a mandate's RDC and then uses it to estimate a lower bound for how much of the RDC is due to the Massachusetts benefit mandate by subtracting from it the costs incurred for that benefit in the self-insured population that is not subject to the mandate. For purposes of the lower bound, the self-insured costs stem from coverage carriers would have provided on their own or because of other federal or state legal requirements, including ACA requirements.

If an ACA coverage requirement applies to both fully- and self-insured plans, then that requirement does not interfere with the methodology employed in this analysis; it would not contribute to a difference between the cost of coverage for fully-insured plans and the cost for self-insured plans. Indeed, when most ACA requirements with this broader applicability, such as requirements for preventive care coverage, interact with Massachusetts mandates, the mandates can be assumed to have zero incremental cost. Such is the case with the relationship between the state mandate requiring coverage for hormonal contraceptives and the ACA's broad requirement for coverage for contraception. The body of this analysis identifies these cases.

The ACA creates other requirements, including minimum coverage standards – known as Essential Health benefits (EHBs) – for plans offered on health insurance exchanges, such as the Massachusetts Health Connector, and for some other, but not all, fully-insured plans. The ACA's requirements for EHBs are often stated generally, and expressed more precisely in the offerings of a state "benchmark" plan, which for Massachusetts is a specific HMO Blue plan from Blue Cross/Blue Shield. Identifying the effect of EHBs on the cost of a Massachusetts mandate requires isolating EHBs that arise from federally-sourced requirements from those present only because the state mandate exists.^{viii} If a Massachusetts mandate requires coverage for a service which federal law

^{vii} The contraceptive services and mental health mandates were treated as "mandates with potential marginal direct cost" in the 2008 and 2012 studies.

vⁱⁱⁱ One can argue that because the Massachusetts benchmark plan is itself subject to state mandates, EHB requirements indirectly require all plans subject to EHBs to follow the state mandates that fall within the EHB service categories, and therefore that the cost of these mandates beyond meeting federal requirements, for plans subject to EHBs, is zero. The resolution of this circularity lies in asking "what would EHBs include if the state mandates were not present?" and considering only EHB requirements that appear federal in origin.

(not the state mandate) already deems an EHB, the cost of that service in a plan subject to the EHB requirement would not contribute to the incremental cost of the mandate in that plan.

As noted, ACA requirements that apply to both fully- and self-insured plans do not affect this analysis. But because EHB requirements do not apply to self-insured plans – and indeed do not apply even to all fully-insured plans – the lower bound methodology discussed above might not cleanly isolate the effect of EHB requirements from the effect of a Massachusetts mandate. That is, if a Massachusetts mandate requires coverage for a specific service also required as an EHB, then some of the difference in coverage for the service between plans subject to the EHB and self-insured plans might be due to the federal EHB requirement and not due just to the Massachusetts mandate.

Of Massachusetts mandates not completely eclipsed by the ACA, only a few (related to speech and audiology, early intervention, and possibly hormone replacement therapy, as discussed in the body of this analysis) arguably are preempted by EHB requirements. Because the relevant EHBs are stated only generally and ACA regulations rely on benchmark plans for further specificity, determining if EHBs encompass the services in a given Massachusetts mandate is difficult and in some cases not possible within the scope of this analysis, as is isolating the precise set of members subject to the EHB requirement within the fully-insured population. Furthermore the RDCs for these few mandates do not place them among mandates that contribute a great deal to the overall cost of Massachusetts mandates. Attempting to exclude these costs from the mandates runs the risk of under-estimating the cost impact of the mandated services, and so the analysis will still apply the lower-bound methodology in these cases. By not subtracting these (hard to estimate) costs that might already be required by the ACA's EHB requirements, the cost estimates are either immaterially affected or provide a slightly conservatively high estimate of mandate cost impacts.

Finally, Section 1311 of the Affordable Care Act (ACA)²⁴ requires states to contribute to the cost of subsidizing health insurance coverage for selected segments of the population to pay for benefits mandated by the state and exceeding EHB requirements. The Massachusetts Division of Insurance and the Commonwealth Health Insurance Connector Authority are responsible for determining any potential state liability under that law.

Results

This section presents results of both the efficacy and cost reviews for mandates with potential marginal direct cost and mandates with zero marginal direct cost, and results combining the two.

Mandates with Potential Marginal Direct Cost: Service-Centered Mandates

Results for the individual mandates requiring coverage for services and/or patient conditions, with potential marginal direct cost, and studied with primary data, follow. Detailed specifications for the cost calculations for these mandates are available from CHIA upon request.

Autism Spectrum Disorders

The autism mandate requires coverage for treatment for Autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) on a "non-discriminatory basis", meaning on the same terms as coverage for medical/surgical conditions. The mandate includes in the treatment of ASDs: habilitative or rehabilitative care, pharmacy care, psychiatric care, psychological care, and therapeutic care. Coverage for psychiatric and psychological care is also required by the mental health mandate. The mandate's primary effect is to require coverage for medically-necessary habilitative care, i.e., "professional, counseling, and guidance services and treatment programs, including applied behavior analysis supervised by a Board Certified Behavior Analyst."²⁵

Effect of the mandate on health

ASDs are a group of developmental disabilities characterized by persistent impaired social interaction and communication and by restricted and repetitive patterns of behavior, interests, or activities present in early developmental stages that clinically and significantly impair social, occupational, or other areas of functioning.^{26,27} This definition incorporates several previously distinct diagnoses, including autism, Asperger's disorder, childhood disintegrative disorder, and pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified.²⁸

In general, children with autism are less able to interpret non-verbal social and emotional cues, as they struggle to interpret behaviors such as body language and facial expressions. They also struggle with reciprocal social interaction, exhibit inflexibility in their behaviors, have difficulty coping with change, and engage in restricted and repetitive behaviors.²⁹ While these behaviors and symptoms may change over time, adults with ASD continue to struggle throughout life with: language, especially perspective, nuance, humor, and implied meanings; self-sufficiency; and social skills.³⁰ Adults with autism are much less likely to be fully self-supporting, and many develop psychiatric issues such as obsessive-compulsive disorder or affective disorders.³¹ ASDs require chronic management and cannot be cured. Outcomes and behaviors for individuals change over time, but most patients remain on the spectrum as adults. ASDs affect a person's mental health, as well as his ability to achieve academically, live independently, obtain and retain employment, and establish and maintain positive social relationships.³² Additionally, ASD patients may have an increased incidence of seizure and gastrointestinal disorders, as well as sleep disturbances, which must also be addressed through appropriate medical management.³³

ASD is difficult to diagnose, as it is "a neurodevelopmental disability or phenomenological disorder, not a specific disease."³⁴ Moreover, while symptoms and signs are usually apparent early in a child's development, the behavior patterns and social deficits may not be identified as ASD until social, occupational, educational, or other developmental milestones are not met.³⁵ Variations in functional limitations, as well as the pattern of development, also contribute to difficulties with diagnosis.³⁶ For the general population, the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) – an independent panel of national experts in prevention and evidence-based medicine that recommends clinical preventive services such as screenings, counseling services, and preventive medications³⁷ – recently released its report on screening for ASD in children ages 18 to 30 months, concluding "current evidence is insufficient to assess the balance of benefits and harms of screening

for [ASD] in young children for whom no concerns of ASD have been raised by their parents or a clinician." $^{\prime\prime38}$

Prevalence

Even with these difficulties, estimates of the prevalence of ASDs – such as those below from the Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring (ADDM) Network based on health and special education records of children across the United States – have risen dramatically over the last decade:

Report Year <u>Data Year</u>	2007 ³⁹ 2002	2009 ⁴⁰ <u>2006</u>	2012 ⁴¹ 2008	2014 ⁴² 2010
Prevalence	1 in 152	1 in 110	1 in 88	1 in 68
Per 1000 children	6.6	9.0	11.3	14.7
Change versus previous	-	36.4%	25.6%	30.1%
Change versus 2002	-	36.4%	71.2%	122.7%

Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Disorder among Children Aged 8 Years

Information for these estimates was collected on eight-year-old children because previous work had shown that most children with ASD have been identified for services by that age. The median age of first ASD diagnosis is approximately 4.5 years, and the prevalence among boys is four to five times higher than among girls.⁴³ White children are approximately 30 percent more likely to be diagnosed with ASD than are black children, and almost 50 percent more likely than are Hispanic children.⁴⁴

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) is currently studying reasons for this increase, including evaluation of "the geographic area covered, the number and racial/ethnic distribution of children living in these communities, sociodemographic population characteristics, and other factors that might influence the prevalence and characteristics of children with ASD in the population."⁴⁵ Other factors may be better awareness or a change in diagnostic practices. The most notable change, according to the CDC, is the number of children identified with ASD who have average or above-average intellectual ability.⁴⁶ Overall, the CDC has pointed out that due to its behavioral basis, as well as lack of consistent identification, genetic, or biologic markers, ASD presents challenges to epidemiological investigation.⁴⁷

Treatment

The primary treatment goals for ASD, according to the American Academy of Pediatrics, are to "maximize the child's ultimate functional independence and quality of life by minimizing the core autism spectrum disorder features, facilitating development and learning, promoting socialization, reducing maladaptive behaviors, and educating and supporting families."⁴⁸ Interventions, therefore, should be designed to promote development and learning; improve communication, social interaction and reciprocity; diminish repetitive and restricted behaviors; and educate and support families.⁴⁹ A wide variety of therapies are available, including: behavior and

communication therapies, pharmacological therapies to treat symptoms, dietary approaches, and complementary and alternative medicine therapies.⁵⁰ Additional supports are also used by those diagnosed with autism, and may change over time depending on individual age and need, including educational, vocational, residential, and housing support services.⁵¹

Behavioral and communication interventions are the primary therapies for ASD. Broadly, they address communication, social, daily-living, play, and leisure skills, as well as academic achievement and maladaptive behaviors. Interventions are structured to help the child acquire the skills and knowledge necessary for independence and personal responsibility in a variety of environments.⁵² These types of therapies should provide structure, direction, and organization for the child, and encourage family participation.⁵³ Models have most often been developed upon a "primary philosophical orientation," frequently categorized as behavior analytic, developmental, or structured teaching.⁵⁴

The most widely used and researched type of behavioral therapy for ASD is applied behavior analysis (ABA).⁵⁵ Based on psychology research and its resultant principles of learning, these interventions focus on helping patients learn positive behaviors and decrease negative ones, while developing adaptive strategies to new situations.⁵⁶ ABA emphasizes evaluation and measurement of behaviors, leading researchers to most easily apply scientific methods when evaluating these interventions. In fact, "most studies of comprehensive treatment programs that meet minimal scientific standards involve treatment of preschoolers using behavioral approaches."⁵⁷

ABA encompasses a variety of methodologies including Pivotal Response Training (PRT), Early Intensive Behavioral Intervention (EIBI) and Verbal Behavior Intervention (VBI).⁵⁸ One popular method, Discrete Trial Training (DTT), teaches behaviors and responses step-by-step. Environments are highly structured and lessons are reduced to their simplest parts, using positive reinforcement for desired behaviors.⁵⁹ A similar intervention is TEACCH, or Treatment and Education of Autistic and Related Communication Handicapped Children program, also known as "structured teaching." This intervention focuses on modifying the patient's environment to accommodate the individual's deficits, as well as on improving skills. Visual cues, schedules, routines and structured work and activity systems are part of this method.⁶⁰ Research has found that while these methods can teach certain skills, they cannot be generalized for "spontaneous use in natural environments."⁶¹ Other types of behavioral and communication interventions include Developmental, Individual Differences, Relationship-Based Approach (DIR; also called "Floortime") and Picture Exchange Communication System (PECS); likewise, sensory integration, occupational and speech therapies are additional approaches to treatment.⁶²

No drugs are currently approved specifically for the treatment of ASD.⁶³ However, medications are used to treat specific symptoms and "maladaptive behaviors such as aggression, self-injurious behavior, repetitive behaviors (e.g., perseveration, obsessions, compulsions, and stereotypic movements), sleep disturbance, mood lability, irritability, anxiety, hyperactivity, inattention, destructive behavior, or other disruptive behaviors."⁶⁴ Although dietary approaches and alternative medicine therapies are widely used, in general, research has not proven their effectiveness;⁶⁵ in fact, some therapies, such as intravenous chelation of heavy metals, have been shown to be dangerous.⁶⁶

Evidence exists for the potential effectiveness of early intervention for children with ASDs, making early identification and diagnosis important to treatment outcomes.^{67,68,69,70}

The National Professional Development Center on Autism Spectrum Disorder (NPDC-ASD), which evaluated with federal funding specific interventions used in treating ASD, identified 27 evidencebased practices that "have been shown through scientific research to be effective when implemented correctly with students with ASD."⁷¹ The National Guideline Clearing House under the federal Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) includes 36 guidelines for the diagnosis, treatment, and management of ASD which have likewise been shown through various research studies to be effective.⁷² In its report comparing effectiveness of various therapies, AHRQ called for more research but concluded the following based on a review of existing studies:⁷³

- Good evidence exists (high confidence; consistent results from good-quality studies):
 - Behavioral interventions:
 - Use of cognitive behavioral therapy is effective in treating anxiety in school-aged children without cognitive or language delays.
 - Medical interventions:
 - Aripiprazole can reduce challenging and repetitive behaviors; it is associated with significant weight gain, sedation, and other side effects
- Moderate evidence exists (findings are supported but further research could change conclusions):
 - Behavioral interventions:
 - Certain child-focused early behavioral and developmental interventions can improve cognitive and language outcomes for some children.
 - Play- and interaction-based interventions improve joint attention skills in young children who were also typically receiving early intervention.
 - Risperidone can reduce challenging and repetitive behaviors; good evidence associates it with significant weight gain, sedation, and other side effects.
- Some evidence exists (very few studies, or existing studies are flawed):
 - Behavioral interventions:
 - Parent-focused early intensive behavioral interventions may improve language skills for some children.
 - Social skills interventions may yield short-term improvements in social interactions and emotion recognition for school-aged children with average reasoning and language skills.
- Evidence is insufficient to understand the effectiveness, benefits, and adverse events from all other medical interventions (including serotonin-reuptake inhibitors and stimulant medications), educational interventions, or any allied health or complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) intervention.

ABA is an entire discipline "concerned with the application of behavioral science in real-world settings such as clinics, schools, and industry with the aim of improving socially important issues such as behavior problems and learning."^{74,75} Comprehensive interventions focus on teaching specific skills to improve intellectual, social, and adaptive functioning, while focused interventions are more time-limited and aimed at changing specific behaviors, most often including those

associated with aggression, self-injury, or other challenging behaviors.⁷⁶ ABA encompasses a wide array of behavioral interventions; some of these services have been shown to be effective in treating certain symptoms in certain patients with ASD, and are identified more specifically in the previous list as well as in guidelines reviewed by the NPDC-ASD.⁷⁷

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

Regulations on required benefits for 2016 issued pursuant to the ACA (45 CFR §156.115(a)(5)(i)) include in EHBs "habilitative services". They define such services as those that "help a person keep, learn, or improve skills and functioning for daily living (habilitative services). Examples include therapy for a child who is not walking or talking at the expected age. These services may include physical and occupational therapy, speech-language pathology and other services for people with disabilities in a variety of inpatient and/or outpatient settings." But the specific services included, and whether the definitions would include ABA, are left to the states.⁷⁸ This analysis will assume ABA would not be included in the benchmark plan without the autism services mandate. Such services are absent from the benchmark plans of about half the states, suggesting they are not a federal requirement.⁷⁹ In addition, the definition of habilitative was even less well fleshed-out in years prior to 2016, which make up the measurement period for this analysis.

The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims reporting an ASD diagnosis and a procedure code indicating, per the carrier specification review, medically necessary ABA. The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$1.39, with total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$1.57 (or 0.36 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Per member per month self-insured allowed expenses for these services were found to be \$0.56 lower than fully-insured PMPM allowed expenses, resulting in a lower bound cost impact estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0.60 PMPM, or 0.14 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 2 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

		Sumple II		Sumple Si		JANOWCU
Measures		Amount Am		Amount		& Lower
Sample Users		1,672		800		
Sample Units		1,762,930		844,889		
Sample Average Members		1,871,491		1,490,706		
Paid PMPM	\$	1.39	\$	0.87	\$	0.54
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	1.57	\$	0.98	\$	0.60
Allowed PMPM	\$	1.44	\$	0.89	\$	0.56
	U	pper Bound			L	ower Bound
		Impact				Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745				2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	39,537,136			\$	15,246,865
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	44,423,749			\$	17,131,309
Percent of Total Premium		0.36%				0.14%
*Not amounts do not romovo overlan in	ma	ndated convic	0	hotwoon the	+i .	cm mandata

Table 2 Autism Mandate Contribution to Premium

Sample FI

Sample SI

FI-SI Allowed

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the autism mandate and the early intervention and home health care mandates.

Chiropractic Medicine

The chiropractic services mandate requires coverage for chiropractic services.⁸⁰ Note Massachusetts has both chiropractic service and chiropractor (provider-based) mandates. The services referred to in this chiropractic services mandate are provided by chiropractors and other providers, and chiropractors provide both chiropractic and other services. The mandate applies to medical service corporations only. That is, the mandate applies to Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Inc. only (but *not* Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts HMO Blue, Inc.).

Effect of the mandate on health

Chiropractic is a form of alternative medicine that focuses on the relationship of the body's structure, particularly the spine, to its function. The goal of chiropractic treatment is to enable the body to self-heal by realigning structure, often through spinal manipulation.⁸¹ Spinal manipulation is practiced by a variety of healthcare professionals, including physical therapists; naturopathic, osteopathic and medical physicians; and chiropractors.⁸² Manipulation is conducted by applying controlled force to a spinal joint, most often with hands or another device.⁸³ Treatment goals include pain alleviation and physical function improvement.⁸⁴

Chiropractic care accounted for 77 to 82 percent of total ambulatory visits by US adults to complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) providers between 2002 and 2008.⁸⁵ As the most common and established of CAM modalities, some chiropractic care is covered by Medicare and military health insurance plans, as well as by most private insurers and many Medicaid programs. Research has been largely conducted on singular treatment modalities or conditions, and has not focused on the entirety of chiropractic medicine.^{86,87} The use of spinal manipulation for acute lower

back pain has also been integrated into the clinical guidelines of the American College of Physicians and the American Pain Society.⁸⁸

According to the National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health, one of the federal National Institutes of Health, spinal manipulation may benefit some people with low-back pain, and may be beneficial as treatment for some headaches, neck pain, upper- and lower-extremity conditions, and disorders associated with whiplash.⁸⁹ Spinal manipulation may also result in temporary headaches, tiredness, and discomfort in the part of the body that were treated. Rare reports of complications such as stroke have occurred, but the cause is unclear and research into the safety of spinal manipulation is ongoing.⁹⁰

The research, however, is still unclear, despite the high satisfaction rates of patients receiving chiropractic treatments.⁹¹ Outcomes vary based on the exact condition studied (e.g., acute, subacute, mixed duration, or chronic low-back or neck pain), the benefit sought (e.g., pain or disability relief), the timeframe studied (e.g., immediate, short-term, intermediate, or long-term; during the course or following completion of treatment), and the treatments compared in the study (e.g., no treatment, placebo, pain medication, usual care, physiotherapy, massage, or as an adjunctive therapy).⁹² One large meta-analysis that reviewed the conclusions of 25 separate evaluations of spinal manipulations for low back pain or neck pain found mixed results that ranged from significantly effective to not at all effective, depending on the specifics of the research design.⁹³

Most research points to mild to moderate short-term benefits of chiropractic services for acute low back pain,^{94,95} although these results were sometimes similar to those obtained through other treatments, such as physiotherapy, patient educational materials, oral medications, acupuncture, or steroid injections.^{96,97,98,99} Other research found evidence that spinal manipulation provided no clinically meaningful benefit in the treatment of chronic low back pain.¹⁰⁰ The results of a 2010 study into the effectiveness of manipulation/mobilization therapies found evidence of the following:¹⁰¹

Effective	Inconclusive	Not Effective
 Acute, subacute and chronic low back pain Migraine and cervicogenic headache Cervicogenic dizziness Extremity joint conditions Acute/subacute neck pain (thoracic manipulation/mobilization) 	 Neck pain (cervical manipulation/ mobilization) Mid-back pain Sciatica Tension-type headache Coccydynia Temporomandibular joint disorders Fibromyalgia Premenstrual syndrome Pneumonia (Older adults) Otitis media (children) Enuresis (children) 	 Asthma (adults and children) Dysmenorrhea Stage 1 hypertension

As with many medical interventions, side effects and risks also exist.¹⁰² Studies caution that chiropractic manipulation often leads to mild and transient side effects, including headaches, tiredness, and soreness at the treatment site.¹⁰³ Other researchers point out more rare but serious side effects, especially with upper spinal manipulation, such as cerebrovascular accidents, ischemia,

other neurological complications, and possibly stroke, although the cause of these is unclear and more research is needed.^{104,105,106,107}

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with procedure codes indicating chiropractic manipulative treatment.^{ix} The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$1.35, with total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$1.52 (or 0.02 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Per member per month self-insured allowed expenses for these services were found to be \$0.80 lower than fully-insured PMPM allowed expenses, resulting in a lower bound cost impact estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0.53 PMPM, or 0.01 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 3 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

	Sample FI		Sample SI	FI	-SI Allowed
	Amount		Amount		& Lower
	11,109		59 <i>,</i> 043		
	135,994		511,776		
	142,186		990,666		
\$	1.35	\$	0.81	\$	0.47
\$	1.52	\$	0.91	\$	0.53
\$	2.28	\$	1.48	\$	0.80
U	pper Bound			Lo	ower Bound
	165,174				165,174
\$	2,677,008			\$	939,196
\$	3,007,874			\$	1,055,277
	0.02%				0.01%
	\$ \$ \$ U \$	Amount 11,109 135,994 142,186 \$ 1.35 \$ 1.52 \$ 2.28 Upper Bound 165,174 \$ 2,677,008 \$ 3,007,874	Amount 11,109 135,994 142,186 \$ 1.35 \$ 1.35 \$ 2.28 \$ 165,174 \$ 3,007,874	Amount Amount 11,109 59,043 135,994 511,776 142,186 990,666 \$ 1.35 \$ 0.81 \$ 1.35 \$ 0.81 \$ 1.52 \$ 0.91 \$ 2.28 \$ 1.48 Upper Bound 165,174 \$ 2,677,008 \$ 3,007,874	Amount Amount 11,109 59,043 135,994 511,776 142,186 990,666 \$ 1.35 \$ 0.81 \$ 1.52 \$ 0.91 \$ 2.28 \$ 1.48 \$ 1.48 \$ 2.28 \$ 1.48 \$ 2.28 \$ 1.48 \$ 2.28 \$ 1.48 \$ 2.28 \$ 1.48 \$ 2.677,008 \$ 3,007,874

Table 3 Chiropractic Medicine Mandate Contribution to Premium

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the chiropractor provider mandate and the chiropractic services mandate.

Cleft lip and Cleft palate

The cleft lip and cleft palate mandate requires coverage for children under age 18 for medicallynecessary "medical, dental, oral and facial surgery, surgical management and follow-up care by oral and plastic surgeons, orthodontic treatment and management, preventative and restorative dentistry to ensure good health and adequate dental structures for orthodontic treatment or prosthetic management therapy, speech therapy, audiology and nutrition services... consequent to the treatment of the cleft lip, cleft palate or both."¹⁰⁸

^{ix} CPT codes 98940, 98941, 98942, & 98943.

Effect of the mandate on health

Orofacial clefts, the collective term for cleft lip and cleft palate, are birth defects that occur during pregnancy when a baby's lips or mouth do not properly join.¹⁰⁹ During the fourth to seventh weeks of pregnancy, the body tissue and other cells from the sides of the head grow toward the center to join and make a face, creating features including lips and mouth.¹¹⁰ If the tissue around the lips does not join completely, an opening known as a cleft lip can result that may range from a small slit to a large gap through the lip into the nose; this may occur on one or both sides, or more rarely, in the middle.¹¹¹ During the sixth to ninth weeks of pregnancy, the bone, muscle, and other tissue on the roof of the mouth forms to create a palate; if these do not join completely together, a cleft palate is formed, and can include the front, back, or both parts of the palate.¹¹² Almost 70 percent of children with orofacial clefts have both cleft palate and cleft lip.¹¹³

Children with orofacial clefts often have problems with their teeth, feeding, clear speaking, ear infections, and hearing.¹¹⁴ They are also more likely to be hospitalized during childhood than children without orofacial clefts, with hospitalization rates higher for children with cleft palate present than for children with cleft lip only.^{115,116} A recent study also found that children born with orofacial clefts may have poorer academic outcomes in elementary school than their peers, but that more study is needed to confirm results and track outcomes at higher grades. The study does not differentiate the performance of children based on their level of cleft repair.¹¹⁷

It is estimated that 6.35 babies per 10,000 are born annually with a cleft palate without cleft lip (1 in 1574), and a total of 10.6 babies per 10,000 are born with a cleft lip with or without a cleft palate (1 in 940).^{118,119,120} Comparably, as of 2012, 9.2 babies per 10,000 are born in Massachusetts with an orofacial cleft.¹²¹ Isolated orofacial clefts, occurring without another major birth defect, are one of the most common types of birth defects in the United States, and comprise approximately 75 percent of total cases of children with birth defects.¹²²

While the causes of orofacial clefts are unknown, these birth defects are thought to be the result of a combination of genetic and environmental factors. Babies born to mothers with diabetes, who smoke or drink alcohol, or who use certain medications during the first trimester of pregnancy face an increased risk of orofacial clefts.^{123,124} A mother's healthy diet in the year before pregnancy reduces the risk of orofacial cleft,¹²⁵ as does adequate intake of folic acid.¹²⁶

Treatment of orofacial clefts vary based on the cleft's severity, the child's age, needs, and other birth defects or syndromes that may be present.¹²⁷ Surgical repair is recommended within the first year of life for cleft lip, and within the first 18 months for cleft palate (earlier if possible).¹²⁸ Additional surgeries are often necessary as the children age, including those to improve breathing, hearing, speech, language development, and appearance.¹²⁹ Treatment by otorhinolaryngologists, audiologists, dentists, orthodontists, or speech or language therapists may also be necessary.¹³⁰ Some children and families also benefit from peer and other emotional support resources.¹³¹ The American Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Association recommends that children with orofacial clefts receive treatment through specialized cleft and craniofacial teams who can coordinate the variety of services needed throughout infancy, childhood, adolescence, and if necessary, adulthood.¹³² Interdisciplinary teams include health professionals from medical, dental, surgical, and allied health

disciplines.¹³³ According to the national Cleft Palate Foundation, there are four such teams in Massachusetts, with two in Boston, and one each in Springfield and Worcester.¹³⁴

While no study was found evaluating the spectrum of services mandated for treatment of orofacial clefts as a whole, the individual services outlined within the legislation have been proven effective for the specific symptom or condition they address.

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with a primary or secondary diagnosis of cleft palate or cleft lip^x for members aged 0-17. The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.12, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.13 (or 0.03 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Per member per month self-insured allowed expenses for these services were found to be \$0.004 lower than fully-insured PMPM allowed expenses, resulting in a lower bound cost impact estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0.004 PMPM, or 0.001 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 4 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Measures			•		SI Allowed & Lower
Sample Users	385		356		
Sample Units	29 <i>,</i> 083		20,880		
Sample Average Members	1,871,491		1,490,706		
Paid PMPM	\$ 0.12	\$	0.11	\$	0.004
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$ 0.13	\$	0.13	\$	0.004
Allowed PMPM	\$ 0.12	\$	0.12	\$	0.004

Table 4 Cleft lip and Cleft palate Mandate Contribution to Premium

	U	pper Bound	Lower Bound		
Insured Population		2,362,745		2,362,745	
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	3,295,170	\$	103,431	
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	3,702,438	\$	116,215	
Percent of Total Premium		0.03%		0.001%	

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the cleft palate and lip mandate and the home health mandate.

Diabetes-related Services and Supplies

The diabetes mandate requires coverage for a wide range of services and supplies related to diabetes treatment, including: blood glucose monitoring gear, urine glucose strips, ketone strips, lancets, insulin, insulin syringes, prescribed diabetes medications that influence blood sugar level,

^x Any ICD-9 diagnosis code with the first three digits "749." The 2014 analysis period was prior to the ICD-10 cutover.

laboratory tests, insulin pumps, therapeutic shoes and inserts, supplies and equipment approved by the FDA, and outpatient self-management education, including medical nutrition therapy.¹³⁵

Effect of the mandate on health

Diabetes is one of the most serious and widespread illnesses in the U.S., in which it is the seventhleading cause of death. It affects 9.1 percent of, or 29.1 million, Americans, including 21 million diagnosed and an estimated 8.1 million undiagnosed patients.¹³⁶ Over 1.7 million new cases were diagnosed in 2012, and another 37 percent of adults in the U.S., including 51 percent of the over-65 population, have pre-diabetes.¹³⁷ Of adults in Massachusetts, 7.7 percent have been diagnosed with diabetes as of 2013,¹³⁸ and 5.1 percent have at some point been told they have pre-diabetes, slightly under the national figure of 5.9 percent.¹³⁹

Diabetes mellitus is caused by the body's inability to produce or process insulin, the hormone used by the body to absorb and utilize glucose for energy.¹⁴⁰ The three most common types of diabetes are: type 1diabetes, in which a body is unable to produce insulin; type 2 diabetes, which is a combination of a body's resistance to insulin and insufficient insulin production; and gestational diabetes, a pregnancy complication.¹⁴¹

When the body's blood glucose levels rise above normal, metabolic problems occur resulting in serious complications and other illnesses. Diabetes reduces normal life expectancy by up to 15 years, and increases the risk of:^{142,143,144}

- Heart disease, stroke, and hypertension: Diabetes increases the risk of heart disease two to four times.
- Kidney failure: In 2011, diabetes was the primary cause of kidney failure in 44 percent of new cases.
- Non-traumatic lower limb amputation: Diabetes patients account for over 60 percent of nontraumatic lower limb amputations, or about 73,000 in 2010.
- Complications of pregnancy, including major birth defects, spontaneous abortion, and excessively large babies, as well as type 2 diabetes in the child.¹⁴⁵
- Nervous system disease, including impaired sensation in hands or feet, slow digestion, carpal tunnel syndrome, and erectile dysfunction
- Adult-onset blindness and eye problems
- Dental and periodontal (gum) disease
- Biochemical imbalances, including diabetic ketoacidosis and hyperosmolar coma
- Depression

Objectives to curb and control diabetes comprise a significant part of Healthy People 2020, the set of national health promotion and disease prevention goals outlined for the next decade by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.¹⁴⁶ Key diabetes objectives include reductions to mortality (all-cause, diabetes-related, and cardiovascular disease-related) and lower extremity amputations in part through the following measures (this list is not exhaustive):¹⁴⁷

For all those diagnosed with diabetes:

• Improve glycemic and lipid control

- Increase the proportion who control their blood pressure, receive an annual dental exam and urinary microalbumin measurement, and receive formal diabetes education
- Increase the proportion who are diagnosed

For adults diagnosed with diabetes, increase the proportion who:

- Receive annual foot and dilated eye examinations
- Receive at least a semi-annual glycosylated hemoglobin measurement
- Perform blood glucose self-monitoring at least once daily

For those at high risk for diabetes with pre-diabetes, increase the proportion who report:

- Increasing their level of physical activity
- Trying to lose weight
- Reducing the amount of fat or calories in their diet

The supplies and services required under the Massachusetts mandate are necessary to effectively manage diabetes, as outlined in the previous list of evidence-based measures.

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims incurred by target-population members with at least two claims with a primary or secondary diagnosis of diabetes during the calendar 2014 study period for diabetes-related services, devices, or drugs. The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$6.20, with total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$6.97 (or 1.60 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured medical costs for these services were found to be *higher* than fully-insured medical costs, resulting in a lower bound impact estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0. As noted above, the diabetes services and supplies mandate RDC estimate increased nearly three-fold (267 percent) between the 2012 study and the present study, though the lower-bound estimate is zero in both cases owing to the equally large degree to which self-insured employers pay for these services. This result is driven by code additions to the mandate specifications by the carriers as well as ongoing increases in diabetes prevalence and price and service mix changes since the analysis period (2009) of the previous report.

Table 5 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

					SI Allowed
		mple FI	Sample SI	& Lower	
Measures	Amount		Amount	Bound PMPMs	
Sample Users		55,654	60,696		
Sample Units	49	9,743,314	30,273,883		
Sample Average Members	1	L,437,788	1,432,254		
Paid PMPM	\$	6.20	\$ 7.36	\$	-
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	6.97	\$ 8.27	\$	-
Allowed PMPM	\$	7.09	\$ 8.21	\$	(1.12)

Table 5Diabetes-related Services and Supplies MandateContribution to Premium

	Upper Bound Impact	Lower Bound Impact*			
Insured Population	2,362,745		2,362,745		
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$175,791,850	\$	-		
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$197,518,932	\$	-		
Percent of Total Premium	1.60%		0.00%		

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the diabetes mandate and the home health, nurse practitioner, podiatrist, and hypodermic syringe and needle mandates.

Early Intervention Services

This mandate requires coverage for all "early intervention services" from birth until age three for children with or at risk for specified developmental delays including chromosomal abnormality, neurological condition, metabolic disorder, visual impairments, permanent hearing loss of any degree, and delayed cognitive, physical, communicative, social, or emotional development.¹⁴⁸

Effect of the mandate on health

Neuroscience shows that early in life, brains grow hierarchically from the simplest to the most complex circuits.¹⁴⁹ Sensory pathways develop first, including vision and hearing, followed by early language skills, and then higher cognitive skills.¹⁵⁰ In the first few years, hundreds of neural connections are made every second; after this initial rapid growth, these connections are reduced so that the brain functions more efficiently. Connections used during this period are reinforced, while those not used are pruned. This means that "[e]arly experiences affect the nature and quality of the brain's developing architecture."¹⁵¹ Brain architecture is mostly developed during the first three years of life, and the primary mode of this early learning is the interaction between a child, his caregivers, and his family as a unit.¹⁵² For children born at-risk or diagnosed with a developmental delay or disability, these interactions can be compromised, thus impacting lifelong growth and development.

Early intervention is a group of services and supports designed to help children gain basic skills, usually in the first two years of life, including physical, mental, communication, social, and emotional.¹⁵³ Services often include physical, occupational and/or speech therapy, family training, nutrition services, case management, referrals, and services for hearing impairment.¹⁵⁴ Each state provides its own set of programs and services to children from birth to age 2 who have been diagnosed with developmental disease or disability, under Part C of Public Law 108-77: Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (2004), or "IDEA."¹⁵⁵ Some states, including Massachusetts, extend these services to children only at-risk for such delays and disabilities, and continue them until age 3.

Early intervention services have been shown to prevent developmental delay, as measured by placement in special education as well as retention in grade when a child reaches school age.¹⁵⁶ Moreover, it is "deemed essential to prevent mental retardation and poor intellectual development in children whose families do not provide adequate stimulation in the early years of life."¹⁵⁷ Improved outcomes in health, language and communication, cognitive and social/emotional development, as well as academic achievement, labor market success, and a reduction in delinquency, crime, and social welfare program use, have been shown in children who receive high quality early intervention services.^{158,159,160}

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

Regulations on required benefits for 2016 issued pursuant to the ACA (45 CFR §156.115(a)(5)(i)) include in EHBs "habilitative services". They define such services as those that "help a person keep, learn, or improve skills and functioning for daily living (habilitative services). Examples include therapy for a child who is not walking or talking at the expected age. These services may include physical and occupational therapy, speech-language pathology and other services for people with disabilities in a variety of inpatient and/or outpatient settings." But the specific services included, and whether the definitions would include early intervention services, are unclear on the surface and left to the states.¹⁶¹ For reasons cited in the overview of the methodology, this analysis assumes federal EHB requirements do not address state-mandated early intervention services.

The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims for specifically identified early intervention procedure codes^{xi} plus all claims for evaluation and management procedures performed by certified early intervention providers^{xii} for members under three years of age in the target population and period. The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.91, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$1.02 (or 0.23 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Per member per month self-insured allowed expenses for these services were found to be \$0.10 lower than fully-insured PMPM allowed expenses, including

^{xi} HCPCS codes 96153, H0031, H0032, H2012, H2015, H2019, T1015, T1023, T1024, T1025, T1026, and T1027.

^{xii} Plans differ in the method used to identify EI providers in their claims systems: Some plans use specific early intervention procedure code modifiers, others use an early intervention provider type code. Compass extracted claims from the MA APCD extract based on carrier-specific rules provided in the carrier specification review.

administrative loading, of \$0.11 PMPM, or 0.03 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 6 below displays a summary of these results.

	Sample FI		Sample SI		FI-SI Allowed		
Measures	Amount		Amount		& Lower		
Sample Users		7,070		5,237			
Sample Units	1,123,227		825,078				
Sample Average Members	1,871,491			1,490,706			
Paid PMPM	\$	0.91	\$	0.79	\$	0.10	
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	1.02	\$	0.88	\$	0.11	
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.93	\$	0.83	\$	0.10	
	Upper Bound				Lower Bound		
	Impact				Impact*		
Insured Population	2,362,745				2,362,745		
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$ 25,716,707				\$	2,780,295	
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$ 28,895,176				\$	3,123,927	
Percent of Total Premium	0.23%					0.03%	

Table 6 Early Intervention Services Mandate Contribution to Premium

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the early

intervention mandate and the home health, nurse practitioner, and autism mandates.

Hearing Aids for Children

The children's hearing aid mandate requires coverage for any child, age 21 years or younger, for one hearing aid per hearing-impaired ear, up to \$2,000 for each hearing aid, every 36 months. Coverage includes all related services prescribed by an audiologist or hearing instrument specialist, including the initial evaluation, fitting and adjustments, and supplies, including ear molds.¹⁶²

Effect of the mandate on health

Hearing loss can occur in a variety of ways when any part of the ear, including the inner, middle, or outer ear, the acoustic nerve, or auditory system, is not functioning properly.¹⁶³ Hearing loss may be caused by one or more of many factors, including genetic (approximately 50 percent of cases); maternal infection, pregnancy complications, or head trauma (25 percent); or an unknown cause (25 percent).^{164,165} For about 33 percent of babies with genetic hearing loss, the loss is related to another "syndrome" or condition.¹⁶⁶ Approximately 25 percent of children with hearing loss have one or more developmental disabilities.¹⁶⁷

Hearing loss is categorized in a variety of ways, including:¹⁶⁸

- Type:
 - Conductive: Something stops sound from reaching the outer or middle ear.
 - Sensorineural: Caused by inner ear or nerve problems.
 - Mixed: Caused by both conductive and sensoineural issues.

- Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder: Damage to the inner ear or nerve disrupts the brain's ability to organize sound.
- Degree
 - Mild: May hear some speech; soft sounds are difficult to hear.
 - Moderate: Hears almost no speech at normal level.
 - Severe: Hears no speech at normal level; only some loud sounds are heard.
 - Profound: Hears no speech and only very loud sounds.
- Unilateral or bilateral: One or both ears
- Pre-lingual or post-lingual: Before or after person learned to speak
- Symmetrical or asymmetrical: Same in both ears or different
- Progressive or sudden: Hearing worsens over time or happens quickly
- Fluctuating or stable: Hearing gets better or worse over time or remains the same
- Congenital or acquired (delayed onset): Hearing loss present at birth or appears sometime later

Hearing loss, if left undetected, can hinder a child's development in many ways, leading to "difficulties later in life, including problems with listening and speaking skills, literacy skills, academic performance, and long-term job opportunities."¹⁶⁹

Estimates of the prevalence of hearing loss in children vary. One study found almost 15 percent of children ages 6 to 19 had low or high hearing loss in one or both ears at 16-decibels,¹⁷⁰ while another summarized parent-reported hearing loss in their children at 20 percent overall.¹⁷¹ A study of 8 year old children concluded that 1.4 per 1000 suffered bilateral hearing loss at 40 decibels or more.¹⁷² In Massachusetts, recent findings estimate that 12.7 percent of infants screened are found to have hearing loss, or 2.2 per 1000 newborns; these numbers are higher than the national figures of 9.8 percent and 1.5 per 1000.¹⁷³ These figures, however, may be low as they do not include late-onset hearing loss or infants not screened at birth.

Hearing loss may be corrected to some degree depending on the type, severity, and cause of the loss.¹⁷⁴ Medications and surgery may be used to correct some conductive hearing loss, especially those caused by infection or malformation of the outer and/or middle ear.¹⁷⁵ For those who may have residual hearing, technology can maximize the hearing that remains.¹⁷⁶ Those with severe to profound hearing loss may benefit from a cochlear implant, a device surgically implanted into the ear to conduct sound directly to the auditory nerve.¹⁷⁷

For many others with hearing loss of varying causes, a hearing aid can be used, including by infants and children. Hearing aids are designed to amplify and sometimes clarify sounds.¹⁷⁸ The small electronic devices, comprised of a microphone, amplifier, and speaker, are available in in-the-ear, behind-the-ear, or in-the-canal varieties.¹⁷⁹ Sound is received through the microphone, converted to electronic signals, sent to the amplifier that manipulates the power of the signals, and then to the ear through the speaker.¹⁸⁰ Middle-ear implants and bone-anchored hearing aids are also available, but must be surgically implanted; these work differently than other types of hearing aids, helping instead to increase sound vibration transmission to the inner ear.¹⁸¹ Studies have found that hearing aids improve communications outcomes for children¹⁸², and the "degree of improved hearing provided by [hearing aids] was associated with better speech and language development in children."¹⁸³ Likewise, quality of life indicators improve for hearing-impaired children and their families with use of hearing aids.¹⁸⁴ The age when a child is fit for a device is a significant factor in outcomes regarding communication, including speech perception and production, as well as spoken language.¹⁸⁵ Other factors influencing outcomes for children with hearing loss who were fitted with hearing aids include the presence or absence of other disabilities, severity of hearing loss, gender, and maternal education.¹⁸⁶

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with ICD-9 or HCPCS procedure codes indicating a hearing aid-related service or a hearing assessment for a member younger than 22. The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.24, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.27 (or 0.06 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured allowed medial costs per person for chiropractic services were found to be *higher* than fully-insured medical costs, resulting in a lower bound impact estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0. Table 7 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Over 85 percent of the claims expense volume in Table 7 is comprised of routine hearing assessments rather than hearing aid-specific device, fitting, and service expenses. Assessment services are included in the statutory language for this mandate, and as such Table 7, the summary exhibit, and the aggregated mandate results include assessments include these services, but hearing assessments were mandated elsewhere before passage of this specific mandate, and were not treated as incremental to the mandate in CHIA's prospective analysis of the costs of this mandate.¹⁸⁷

Therefore, to provide an estimate of the effect of the child hearing aids mandate *per se*, Table 8 presents separate results for the hearing aid-specific procedures, including device and fitting costs required by the mandate.

			FI-S	I Allowed
	Sample FI	Sample SI	8	Lower
Measures	Amount	Amount	Bou	nd PMPMs
Sample Users	74,236	63,894		
Sample Units	109,991	94,925		
Sample Average Members	1,871,491	1,490,706		
Paid PMPM	\$ 0.24	\$ 0.30	\$	-
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$ 0.27	\$ 0.34	\$	-
Allowed PMPM	\$ 0.30	\$ 0.33	\$	(0.03)

Table 7 Hearing Aids for Children Mandate Contribution to Premium

	U	pper Bound Impact	-	wer Bound Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745		2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	6,892,940	\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	7,744,876	\$	-
Percent of Total Premium		0.06%		0.00%

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the hearing aids for children mandate and the speech, language, and hearing mandate.

Table 8Hearing Aid-Specific Procedures for Members Less than 22 Years of AgeContribution to Premium

				Fŀ	-SI Allowed
		Sample FI	Sample SI		& Lower
Measures		Amount	Amount	Bo	und PMPMs
Sample Users		467	395		
Sample Units		1,770	1,356		
Sample Average Members		1,871,491	1,490,706		
Paid PMPM	\$	0.03	\$ 0.03	\$	0.003
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.04	\$ 0.03	\$	0.004
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.04	\$ 0.03	\$	0.004
	U	pper Bound		Lo	wer Bound
		Impact		_	Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745			2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	963,113		\$	92,459
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	1,082,150		\$	103,887
Percent of Total Premium		0.009%			0.001%

The results in Table 8 suggest that the hearing aid device and hearing aid-specific services (i.e., non-assessment) provisions of the hearing aids for children mandate contributed between \$0.004 and

\$0.04 (between 0.001 and 0.009 percent) to the Commonwealth average fully-insured commercial monthly health care insurance premium.

Home Health Care

The home health care mandate requires coverage for services provided by a home health agency in a patient's residence.¹⁸⁸

Effect of the mandate on health

Home health care is a term describing a broad range of health care and supportive services provided in the home.¹⁸⁹ Services are most often used by those recovering from illness or injury, the disabled, or those with a chronic or terminal illness who need nursing, medical, social, or therapeutic treatment, and/or assistance with activities of daily living.¹⁹⁰ Home health care is often provided by licensed practical nurses, therapists, or home health aides.¹⁹¹

Provision of services in the home may allow for more rapid discharge from inpatient settings, or for a delay in need for long-term nursing home or other institutional care.¹⁹² Use of home health care services continues to grow for a variety of reasons, including the aging of the population, medical advances allowing better disease management, technological advancements, changes to inpatient reimbursement, increasing cost of hospital, nursing home, and other facilities, and patient choice.¹⁹³

Home health care is medically based, and may include: ¹⁹⁴ ¹⁹⁵

- Occupational, physical and/or speech therapy and other rehabilitative services
- Skilled nursing
- Case management
- Medical social services and counseling
- Behavioral and mental health counseling
- Medical case management
- Medication management
- Pain management
- Parenteral and enteral nutrition therapy (tube feeding)

- Infusion therapy
- Hospice and palliative care
- Telemedicine
- Vaccination
- Wound care
- Home medical equipment assistance
- Patient and caregiver education
- Home safety instruction and assistance
- Assistance with daily living (including bathing, dressing, and eating)
- Home care support (including housekeeping and cooking)

Given the wide variety of available services, summarizing the clinical effectiveness of home health care is especially challenging. However, research has shown that the provision of well-defined, quality home health care services can provide significant clinical benefits. Some studies have found that home based services can significantly reduce mortality and admissions for non-hospital long-term institutional care,^{196,197} while others have documented that those services decrease the rate of decline of functional status.¹⁹⁸ According to the CMS, "[h]ome health care is usually less expensive, more convenient, and just as effective as care...in a hospital or skilled nursing facility (SNF)."¹⁹⁹

Home healthcare has also been shown to be particularly effective for the care of the terminally ill. Terminally ill patients receiving home health care had fewer hospitalizations, nursing home admissions, and other healthcare visits, were more likely to be able to die at home according to their wishes, and "expressed significantly higher satisfaction" with their care.²⁰⁰ Moreover, provision of home health services has led to higher quality of life measures for terminally ill patients and their caregivers, and rates of satisfaction with care are higher for both patients and caregivers for both terminal and non-terminal illnesses.²⁰¹

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The RDC for this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims for all procedures where the place of service indicated on the claim was the patient's residence. The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$9.07, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$10.19 (or 2.34 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured allowed medical expenses for these services were found to be slightly *higher* than fully-insured allowed medical expenses, resulting in a \$0 lower bound impact estimate, including administrative loading. Table 9 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Table 9 Home Health Care Mandate Contribution to Premium

			FI-	SI Allowed
	Sample FI	Sample SI	8	& Lower
Measures	Amount	Amount	Bou	ind PMPMs
Sample Users	177,244	145,240		
Sample Units	20,558,276	19,654,385		
Sample Average Members	1,871,491	1,490,706		
Paid PMPM	\$ 9.07	\$ 9.28	\$	-
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$ 10.19	\$ 10.43	\$	-
Allowed PMPM	\$ 9.73	\$ 9.77	\$	(0.04)

	Upper Bound Impact	-	wer Bound Impact*
Insured Population	2,362,745		2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$257,246,649	\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$289,041,179	\$	-
Percent of Total Premium	2.34%		0.00%

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the home health mandate and the autism, cleft palate and lip, diabetes services, early intervention, limb prostheses, low protein foods, nonprescription enterals, nurse practitioner, podiatrist, scalp hair prostheses, and speech, hearing, and language mandates.

Hormone Replacement Therapy (HRT)

The hormone replacement therapy (HRT) mandate requires policies covering outpatient services or outpatient prescription drugs and devices to provide hormone replacement therapy (services and drugs) for peri- and post-menopausal women under the same terms and conditions as other outpatient services/drugs.²⁰²

Effect of the mandate on health

Menopause is the phase in a woman's life in which menstruation naturally stops, marking the end of her reproductive years.²⁰³ During her reproductive phase, a woman's ovaries produce the hormones estrogen and progesterone to control the menstrual cycle. During the perimenopausal years leading up to menopause, the levels of estrogen begin to decrease, causing some women a variety of mild to severe symptoms.²⁰⁴

Fifty to eighty-two percent of US women experience hot flashes, or a sudden feeling of heat that may last seconds to several minutes, causing flushing, chills, clamminess, perspiration, anxiety, sleep disturbances (night sweats), and heart palpitations.^{205,206} For 87 percent of these patients, such vasomotor episodes occur daily, and at least ten times per day for 33 percent of patients; the median duration of symptoms varies from 4 to 10 years.²⁰⁷ Ten to forty percent of patients experience vaginal atrophy, vaginal dryness, and urinary tract changes and infections.²⁰⁸ Other symptoms include osteoporosis, or the loss of bone density leading to fractures including those of the hip or spine, mood changes, irregular periods, weight gain, and slowed metabolism.^{209,210}

To treat the perimenopausal and menopausal symptoms of some patients, estrogen is used as hormone replacement therapy (HRT), or "estrogen therapy" (ET).²¹¹ For those who have never had a hysterectomy and still have a uterus, progestin is added to reduce the risk of endometrial or uterine cancer, in a treatment known as "combined hormone therapy" (CHT).^{212,213} While certain symptoms may be treated with a local estrogen-only regimen, combination therapy is administered systemically in the form of pills or a skin patch.²¹⁴

Systemic estrogen, with or without progestin, is the most effective proven treatment for relieving hot flashes and night sweats.²¹⁵ Systemic estrogen therapy has been shown to protect against bone loss and prevent hip and spine fracture.²¹⁶ Combined therapy may also help to reduce the risk of colon cancer, and systemic or local estrogen therapy is effective in relieving vaginal dryness.²¹⁷

However, hormone therapy is also associated with an increased risk for certain diseases and conditions. Estrogen therapy alone increases the risk of endometrial or uterine cancer, as the treatment causes the lining of the uterus to grow; use of progestin in combination with estrogen decreases this risk.²¹⁸ Estrogen therapy is also associated with a small increased risk for gallbladder disease, which may be reduced with non-oral therapy administration.^{219,220} Combined therapy is associated with a small increased risk of heart attack; this risk is related to a patient's age, when she begins therapy, and her other medical conditions. However, for women younger than 60 who begin combined therapy within 10 years of menopause, the combined therapy may protect against heart attack.²²¹ Combined therapy is also associated with a small increased risk for stroke and deep vein thrombosis (DVT), which may be diminished by using non-oral therapy routes.²²² Combined hormone therapy is also associated with a small increased risk of breast cancer, and is not recommended as a first-line treatment for patients with a history of hormone-sensitive breast cancer.²²³

Evidence now exists to support certain non-hormonal treatment of menopausal symptoms, including selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and selective serotonin/norepinephrine reuptake

inhibitors (SSRI and SNRI, types of anti-depressants),²²⁴ clonidine/Catapres (a drug used to lower blood pressure),²²⁵ and gabapentin/Neurotin (a drug approved to treat seizures)²²⁶ for treatment of hot flashes.²²⁷ However, the only FDA-approved non-hormonal therapies include paroxetine for vasomotor symptoms (hot flashes)²²⁸ and ospemifene for dyspareunia (difficult intercourse),²²⁹ both approved in 2013. Herbal treatments, estriol, and bio-identical hormones are not currently FDA-approved for the treatment of menopausal symptoms.²³⁰

The use of HRT became very controversial after release of the findings of the landmark 1998 Women's Health Initiative (WHI) clinical trials. These studies, conducted by the National Heart, Lung & Blood Institute, focused on the prevention of heart disease, breast and colorectal cancer, and osteoporosis in postmenopausal women through treatment with hormone therapy, dietary patterns, and calcium/vitamin D supplements.²³¹ Additional similar studies included the collaborative reanalysis (CR) and the Million Women Study (MWS). Researchers from these studies concluded that, while hormone therapy reduced risks of colorectal cancer and fractures from osteoporosis, it potentially increased risks for coronary heart disease, breast cancer, venous thromboembolism, stroke, cholecystitis, dementia, and lower global cognitive function.²³² Critics of the studies' designs and generalizability questioned these results, 233, 234, 235, 236, 237 vet many patients and clinicians failed to differentiate when comparing the risk and rewards of using HRT for treatment of menopausal symptoms versus its use for chronic disease prevention in postmenopausal women. This confusion led many clinicians and patients to abruptly end HRT, which caused "a significant and sudden reduction in quality of life," and led patients to seek alternative treatments that had not been studied for safety and efficacy when used for menopausal symptoms.²³⁸

The current recommendations of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists related to the treatment of menopausal vasomotor and vaginal symptoms direct patients and providers to discuss the individual's benefits and risks from HRT. In general, patients should use the lowest effective dose for the shortest time possible to treat menopausal symptoms, and should be reevaluated yearly to continuously assess benefits and risks of treatment. Additionally, the treatment guidelines published by the Endocrine Society recommend screening for breast cancer and cardiovascular risk before initiating HRT.²³⁹

Researchers who retrospectively examined the impact of the WHI results on HRT use concluded:

[Q]uestions about the long-term health consequences of HRT remain. The women in the WHI were older and taking higher doses of estrogen than women using HRT today. In addition, a number of other hormonal options are available, yet their comparative risks and benefits are unknown. These include different types of hormones — conjugated and synthetic estrogens, phytoestrogens, synthetic progestin, and natural progesterone — and modes of delivery — oral tablets, transdermal patches, local creams, and intrauterine devices. Without further study, deciding on the best treatment plan will continue to involve an amount of guesswork.²⁴⁰

Current guidelines explicitly recommend against the use of HRT to prevent postmenopausal chronic conditions, including coronary heart disease,²⁴¹ breast cancer, or dementia.²⁴² The USPSTF recommends against the use of HRT only when used for the prevention of chronic medical conditions, stating:

This recommendation applies only to postmenopausal women who are considering hormone therapy for the primary prevention of chronic medical conditions. This is not a recommendation about the use of hormone therapy to treat menopausal symptoms, such as hot flashes or vaginal dryness; the USPSTF did not review the evidence related to this possible indication because it falls outside of the mission and scope of the USPSTF. This recommendation also does not apply to women younger than 50 years who have had surgical menopause.²⁴³

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

Regulations issued pursuant to the ACA (45 CFR 156.122) require EHBs to include at least one drug in each USP category and/or class. The effect of this regulation is to require carriers to include an estrogen/progestin in their formularies, although the regulations do not address HRT directly. This analysis will not address the argument that, by requiring carriers to include the drugs in their formularies, the federal regulation also requires them to pay for every FDA-approved use of the drug; i.e., this analysis will not assume the regulation requires carriers to pay claims for those drugs specifically for treating symptoms of menopause in peri-and post-menopausal women.

RDC for this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims for specific hormone replacement therapy procedures and pharmaceuticals as well as Evaluation and Management (E&M) procedures with a diagnosis (in any of the top five diagnosis columns) associated with menopause-related hormone regulation. The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.41, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.46 (or 0.11 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Per member per month self-insured allowed expenses for this mandate were found to be \$0.04 lower than fully-insured PMPM allowed expenses, resulting in a lower bound expense estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0.03 PMPM, or 0.01 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 10 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

		Sample Fi	Sample Si		& LOWEI
Measures		Amount	Amount		und PMPMs
Sample Users		19,386	9,780		
Sample Units		3,051,706	1,522,383		
Sample Average Members		1,437,788	1,432,254		
Paid PMPM	\$	0.41	\$ 0.41	\$	0.03
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.46	\$ 0.46	\$	0.03
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.58	\$ 0.54	\$	0.04
		pper Bound		10	ower Bound
	Ŭ	Impact			Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745			2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	11,563,949		\$	740,590
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	12,993,201		\$	832,123
Percent of Total Premium		0.11%			0.01%

Table 10 Hormone Replacement Therapy Mandate Contribution to Premium

Sample FI

Sample SI

& I ower

*No significant overlaps were found between this and other mandates.

Human Leukocyte Antigen Testing

The human leukocyte antigen (HLA) testing mandate requires coverage for HLA or histocompatibility locus antigen testing necessary to establish the suitability of a bone marrow transplant donor.²⁴⁴

Effect of the mandate on health

HLA testing is used to identify good matches for patients in need of tissue grafts or organ transplant, and may be used to diagnose some autoimmune disorders, monitor certain medication treatments, and determine parent/child biological relationships.²⁴⁵ Such transplants include hematopoietic (blood) stem cell transplants (HSCT), which, for many diseases, is part of standard treatment, and others for which HSCT has become a viable option and may be the only available cure.²⁴⁶ These diseases include leukemia and certain lymphoma, metabolic, blood, autoimmune, and genetic disorders.²⁴⁷ Transplants are intended to replace unhealthy with healthy blood-forming cells, and can come from one of three sources: bone marrow transplant (BMT), umbilical cord blood, or, most commonly, peripheral blood.^{248,249} The two types of HSCTs include autologous, in which a patient's own cells are used for transplant, or allogeneic, which uses donor cells.²⁵⁰ This mandate specifically refers to bone marrow transplant, and does not include umbilical cord or the more common peripheral blood transplants in its language.

HLAs are proteins found in most cells and serve as immunologic markers which the body uses to identify which cells belong to a patient and which do not.²⁵¹ For allogeneic donations, the best matches for BMTs are siblings who have identical markers.²⁵² However, sibling matches account for only 30 percent of BMTs, leaving 70 percent of patients in need of an unrelated donation.^{253,254}

Due to growth in overall numbers and population diversity in the National Marrow Donor registry (Be The Match[™]), most patients who will benefit from HCT will have a suitable, if not optimal, donor.²⁵⁵

The better the HLA match between patient and donor, the better a patient's chances for survival.²⁵⁶ While many HLA markers exist, only a small number are critical to HSCT outcomes. The National Marrow Donor Program (NMDP) currently requires a minimum number of matches from a series of eight HLA markers²⁵⁷ (two A, two B, two C and two DRB1) for a transplant to be received from its donor registry; ideal donors match the patient on eight of the eight markers.²⁵⁸ In 2011, the overall survival rate for patients with related donor transplants was 79 percent, versus 69 percent for unrelated donors; this latter rate is rising as clinical practices have changed, and HLA typing and matching have improved.²⁵⁹ Mismatched HLA puts a patient at risk for acute and chronic graft-versus-host disease, graft rejection, and treatment related mortality.²⁶⁰ However, according to the NMDP, an imperfect match does not contraindicate transplantation; instead, "[i]f a mismatch is unavoidable, a...mismatched donor can be used with acceptable risks of transplant-related mortality."²⁶¹

Testing for the HLA-C marker is not specifically outlined in the Massachusetts mandate; however, the language of the mandate does require "coverage for the cost of human leukocyte antigen testing or histocompatibility locus antigen testing that is necessary to establish bone marrow transplant donor suitability."²⁶² The mandate also includes reference to M.G.L. Chapter 111 Section 218 which provide that HLA testing must "conform to medical eligibility requirements and other test protocols established by the…national marrow donor program registry" which now includes the use of high resolution DNA testing for HLA-A, B, C and DRB1 markers.²⁶³ This analysis presumes that the mandate covers testing under the current guidelines in place with the NMDP for BMTs.

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

RDC for this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with a procedure code indicating HLA testing^{xiii} (per the carrier specification review) and a primary diagnosis indicating tissue donation.^{xiv} The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.001, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.001 (or 0.0002 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured allowed medical expenses for these services were found to be slightly *higher* than fully-insured allowed medical expenses, resulting in a \$0 lower bound impact estimate, including administrative loading. Table 11 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

xiii CPT codes 81377, 81383, 86812, 86813, 86816, 86817, 86821, 86822, 86825, 86826, 86828, 86829, 86830, 86831, 86832, 86833, 86834, 86835, 86812, 86813, 86816, or 86817.
 xiv ICD-9 diagnosis codes V59.3, V59.9, or V70.8.

				FI	-SI Allowed
	Sample FI		Sample SI		& Lower
	Amount		Amount	Bo	und PMPMs
	230		224		
	442		423		
	1,871,491		1,490,706		
\$	0.001	\$	0.001	\$	-
\$	0.001	\$	0.001	\$	-
\$	0.001	\$	0.001	\$	(0.00)
U	pper Bound			Lo	ower Bound
	Impact				Impact*
	2,362,745				2,362,745
\$	18,339			\$	-
\$	20,606			\$	-
	0.0002%				0.00%
	\$ \$ \$ U	230 442 1,871,491 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 Upper Bound Impact 2,362,745 \$ 18,339 \$ 20,606	Amount 230 442 1,871,491 \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 2,362,745 \$ 18,339 \$ 20,606	Amount Amount 230 224 442 423 1,871,491 1,490,706 \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 0.001 \$ \$ 0.001 \$	Sample FI Sample SI Amount Amount Box 230 2244 Add 442 4423 4423 1,871,491 1,490,706 Add \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ 0.001 \$ \$

Table 11 Human Leukocyte Antigen Testing **Contribution to Premium**

No significant overlaps were found between this and other mandates.

Hypodermic Syringes or Needles

This mandate requires coverage for medically necessary hypodermic syringes or needles.²⁶⁴ The statutory sections requiring coverage for syringes and needles were enacted as part of a law addressing a broad set of issues relating to preventing transmission of blood-borne diseases, including needle distribution programs for users of illegal drugs. However, the mandate language included in this review is limited to medically necessary use of needles covered by insurers. While theoretically that might encompass illegal drug injection, addressing scenarios where illegal use might be involved, likely or not, is beyond the scope of this review.

Effect of the mandate on health

Many medications are self-administered by injection, requiring the use of sterile hypodermic needles or syringes. A wide range of illnesses are treated with patient-delivered injectable therapies, including multiple sclerosis,²⁶⁵ infertility,²⁶⁶ pernicious anemia,²⁶⁷ iron deficiency,²⁶⁸ cancer,²⁶⁹ diabetes,²⁷⁰ and HIV/AIDS²⁷¹ among others. Often these drugs must be injected, as the specific medication would be destroyed in the digestive process or is not tolerated orally.²⁷² Injectable drugs can also deliver a particular dosage of a drug over a long period of time, up to several months.²⁷³ One disadvantage of injection, particularly self-injection, is the risk of infection; patients also may have a fear of needles or may be unable or unwilling to self-administer the drug by injection, making treatment adherence an issue.^{274,275,276} Conversely, the ability for a patient to self-administer may improve compliance by eliminating the time and expense associated with additional clinical visits for these injections; patient selection, training and counseling, and simplicity of medication/syringe preparation may improve adherence.^{277,278} The availability of newer technologies, such as pre-filled injectable pens, for some conditions may reduce the use of

hypodermic needles and syringes for self-administration; some studies conclude that patients find use of pens easier, more convenient and less stressful,²⁷⁹ while use of the devices increases the accuracy of the medication dose. ²⁸⁰

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with syringe or needle procedure or national drug codes (NDCs). The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.04, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.04 (or 0.01 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured allowed medical expenses for these services were found to be *higher* than fully-insured allowed medical expenses, resulting in a \$0 lower bound impact estimate, including administrative loading. Table 12 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

				Fŀ	-SI Allowed
		Sample FI	Sample SI		& Lower
Measures		Amount	Amount	Bo	und PMPMs
Sample Users		15,904	9,305		
Sample Units		5,698,157	3,275,925		
Sample Average Members		1,437,788	1,432,254		
Paid PMPM	\$	0.04	\$ 0.07	\$	-
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.04	\$ 0.07	\$	-
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.11	\$ 0.13	\$	(0.02)
	U	pper Bound		Lo	wer Bound
		Impact			Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745			2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	1,083,290		\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	1,217,180		\$	-
Percent of Total Premium		0.01%			0.00%

Table 12 Hypodermic Syringes or Needles Mandate Contribution to Premium

_.

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the syringe and needle mandate and the diabetes mandate.

Infertility Treatment

The infertility mandate requires coverage for infertility treatments for members covered under plans that include pregnancy-related benefits to the same extent benefits are provided for other pregnancy-related procedures.²⁸¹

Effect of the mandate on health

Infertility describes the inability of a woman or man to conceive a child, or a woman's ability to carry a pregnancy to term; it is clinically defined as the inability to become pregnant after one year of trying for a woman of normal childbearing age (or six months for a woman over age 35).²⁸² An

estimated 10.9 percent of women age 15 to 44 have an impaired ability to get pregnant, or to carry a baby to term (impaired fecundity).²⁸³ Between 2006 and 2010, 17 percent of women age 25 to 44 or their partners had ever used infertility services, a decrease from the 1995 level of 20 percent.²⁸⁴

Research shows that the causes of infertility are approximately evenly divided between conditions affecting the woman, conditions affecting the man, and unknown causes.²⁸⁵ A large number of specific conditions are described within those categories. For women, the most common cause is problems with ovulation, but many other physical, genetic, or environmental causes exist.²⁸⁶ For men, the most common causes of infertility are problems with sperm (production, function, or delivery), behavior and lifestyle factors, and environmental exposures.²⁸⁷

A large number of treatments are available for infertility, and choosing among them depends on a variety of factors, including: the age and health of the parents; the causes, severity and duration of infertility; side effects; and treatment preferences.²⁸⁸ Generally, however, treatments can be categorized as behavioral changes, medication, surgery, intrauterine insemination, or assisted reproduction techniques (ART).^{289,290} Medications are most often used either to induce ovulation, or for "controlled ovarian hyperstimulation" (COH), where follicles are stimulated to grow, mature, and ovulate.²⁹¹ This can then be followed by artificial insemination or intrauterine insemination if necessary. COH is also part of ART, which are more complex and invasive techniques in which eggs are manipulated and fertilized outside of the body. Multiple fertilized eggs are then returned to a uterus for implantation, or are frozen for later use. Medication or surgery therapies are used in 85 to 90 percent of treated infertility cases; in-vitro fertilization (IVF) and other ART "account for less than 3 [percent] of infertility services."²⁹²

The effectiveness of infertility treatment is difficult to summarize as the factors leading to their use vary for each patient. Likewise, many treatments have not been evaluated through high-quality studies, and the definition of successful treatment is not standard.^{293,294} One study summarized, "there is little convincing evidence on which to base treatment strategies for the majority of infertile couples. More high-quality data on the relative superiority of each treatment option, and associated adverse events, are needed."²⁹⁵ Testing and treatment practices of infertility specialists continue to vary widely and evolve, while the age of couples seeking treatment continues to rise.²⁹⁶

One large study reviewed research findings regarding ovulation induction, COH and in-vitro fertilization, and analyzed short-term outcomes of pregnancy, live birth, multiple gestation, and complications, as well as long-term outcomes of pregnancy and post-pregnancy complications for mothers and children.²⁹⁷ The authors found that high-quality evidence was lacking in the majority of the studies to support the choice of specific interventions.²⁹⁸ However, there was evidence that pregnancy and live birth rates were improved with application of certain specific techniques.²⁹⁹ Other studies have found that ART treatments, most frequently IVF and intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI),³⁰⁰ result in "reasonably high pregnancy rates;"³⁰¹ this success is prompting more patients to seek ART treatments sooner for their infertility.³⁰²

However, major risks are associated with ART, most notably multi-fetal and especially higher-order (triplets or more) gestations. More than 30 percent of pregnancies resulting from ART are twins or higher-order multiple gestations;³⁰³ the complications of multiple gestations are well-documented.

One study found that more than 50 percent of ART-related newborns are born from a multifetal gestation.³⁰⁴ For singleton pregnancies, IVF is associated with a slightly-increased risk of birth defects, as well as preterm delivery, perinatal (associated with birth) mortality, and infants small for their gestational age.³⁰⁵ The mother's risk increases for preeclampsia, gestational diabetes, placenta previa, placental abruption, and cesarean delivery.³⁰⁶ Beyond these, the major complication of ART for women is ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome.³⁰⁷ Children born via such treatments are at risk for complications associated with abnormal placentation or implantation, although it is unclear whether this is due to the treatment, the infertility, or both.³⁰⁸

Information from the National Institutes of Health found that, for women treated with the medication clomiphene or clomiphine citrate, to stimulate hormones to help eggs mature in the ovaries, 80 percent ovulate; of these, 50 percent are able to achieve a pregnancy or live birth.³⁰⁹ The drugs bromocriptine or cabergoline reduce the levels of prolactin, which has been shown to stop ovulation, for 90 percent of women with abnormally high levels of prolactin; 85 percent of these women can then ovulate.³¹⁰ The success of surgical treatment for infertility caused by diseases of the fallopian types are low and can increase the risk of ectopic pregnancy; on the other hand, surgeries to remove entrometrial patches can double the chances for pregnancy.³¹¹

Pregnancy rates from ART depend, among other factors, on the age of the mother. The following table summarizes national ART success rates:

			Age of Wo	men		
	<u><35</u>	35-37	38-40	41-42	43-44	>44
Fresh embryo	s from non-dor	or eggs: Per	centage of cy	cles resulting	g in live births	5
Singleton	28.0	23.1	17.5	10.0	4.0	1.6
Triplets or more	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0
All	40.5	31.3	22.2	11.7	4.5	1.8
<u>Frozen embryos</u>	from non-done	or eggs: Perc	entage of tra	nsfers result	ing in live birt	<u>ths</u>
Singleton	31.9	31.2	26.7	22.0	15.3	10.1
Triplets or more	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0
All	42.0	39.3	33.4	25.9	28.2	19.4
Do	nor eggs: Perce	entage of tra	nsfers resulti	ng in live birt	:hs	
	Fresh	embryos (a	ll ages)	Froz	zen embryos	(all ages)
Singleton			37.2			28.6
All			56.4			46.7

2012 National ART Summary Success Rates

Many professional societies and organizations now recommend that the measurement of the effectiveness of infertility treatment, specifically ART, should be the birth of a single, healthy child.³¹² They caution, however, that this goal may not be accepted for many reasons, including "insufficient awareness of the risks and costs associated with multiple pregnancy among the general public and policy makers," limitations in certain aspects of the ART process itself, the cost of

repeated treatment cycles, and competition between fertility specialists based on pregnancy or birth rates per cycle.³¹³

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The infertility mandate requires coverage for infertility treatments for members covered under plans that include pregnancy-related benefits to the same extent benefits are provided for other pregnancy-related procedures. The RDC for this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims for infertility-related procedure codes and pharmaceuticals, as well as E&M procedures for members with a diagnosis of infertility. The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$3.96, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$4.44 (or 0.95 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Per member per month self-insured allowed expenses for this mandate were found to be \$0.50 lower than fully-insured PMPM allowed expenses, resulting in a lower bound expense estimate, after administrative loading, of \$0.54 PMPM, or 0.12 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 13 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Measures	А	mple Fl mount	Sample SI Amount	 Lower d PMPMs
Sample Users		19,386	9,780	
Sample Units		391,000	194,100	
Sample Average Members		1,162,496	976,376	
Paid PMPM	\$	3.96	\$ 3.57	\$ 0.48
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	4.44	\$ 4.01	\$ 0.54
Allowed PMPM	\$	4.16	\$ 3.66	\$ 0.50
	\$		\$ 4.01	\$

Table 13 Infertility Treatment Mandate Contribution to Premium

	Upper Bound Impact	Lower Bound Impact*
Insured Population	2,206,099	2,206,099
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$104,727,260	\$ 12,672,869
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$117,671,078	\$ 14,239,178
Percent of Total Premium	0.95%	0.12%

*No significant overlaps were found between this and other mandates.

Low Protein Foods (LPF)

The low protein foods mandate requires coverage for low protein food products required to treat infants and children with specified metabolic disorders (for inherited amino acid and organic acid diseases) as well as fetuses of pregnant women with phenylketonuria.³¹⁴

Effect of the mandate on health

Phenylketonuria (PKU) is a rare metabolic disorder caused by a defect in the gene that helps to create the liver enzyme needed to break down the amino acid phenylalanine (Phe), which then builds up in the blood and other tissues.^{315,316,317} Untreated, PKU can lead to microencephaly, mental retardation, seizures, congenital heart disease, and other significant physical, mental, behavioral, and developmental disorders.³¹⁸ Women with untreated PKU during pregnancy may bear children prematurely, or who suffer from birth defects.³¹⁹ The prevalence of PKU is approximately 1 in 13,500 to 19,000 births.³²⁰

In 2012, the National Institutes of Health sponsored a PKU Scientific Review Conference to address new research and outstanding questions regarding the management of PKU, while the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Evidence-based Practice Center (EPC) conducted an evidence review of the comparative effectiveness of PKU treatment, including diet and pharmacological interventions.^{321,322} The result of these collaborative efforts included recognition of the effectiveness of strict dietary control to lower levels of the Phe amino acid in the body, before pregnancy in women and after birth for children with PKU.^{323,324}

The low-Phe diet includes medical food and formulas, minimal animal products, and fruits and vegetables high in carbohydrates, and low in saturated and unsaturated fat and cholesterol.³²⁵ This restricted diet may create nutritional deficits in some patients, especially for natural proteins; many patients take amino acid supplements as well as other vitamins and minerals to compensate for these deficiencies.³²⁶ In 2007, the use of sapropterin dihydrochloride (Kuvan) was approved for the treatment of PKU for patients who tolerate and respond to the drug, to be taken in addition to the low-Phe diet.^{327,328} Research has shown the drug may help some patients to control Phe concentrations while increasing tolerance of dietary Phe.³²⁹

To reduce the risk of birth defects and other developmental abnormalities, mothers at risk for PKU during pregnancy must achieve and maintain control of dietary Phe, preferably three months before conception.^{330,331} For most children born with PKU identified through newborn screening who are treated early in life and can comply with this low-Phe diet, the outcomes have shown "remarkable success in preventing the devastating brain damage associated with untreated PKU."³³² In fact, those able to achieve and maintain metabolic control "have normal health and development and can likely expect a normal life span."³³³ However, the nutritional treatment is difficult to maintain and complicated, while the formulas are often unpalatable and expensive.^{334,335} Moreover, the low-Phe diet is not completely effective for all patients, as adherence is difficult and some patients may experience neurocognitive defects and progressive cognitive impairment despite therapy.^{336,337} For these reasons, research continues to explore the development of new therapies.^{338,339} Overall, however, while the precise level of phenylalanine restriction is unclear, research has shown that the low-Phe diet is effective in reducing blood phenylalanine levels and improving neuropsychological outcomes and intelligence quotient for patients with PKU.^{340,341}

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The LPF mandate covers low protein food products required to treat infants and children with specified metabolic disorders as well as fetuses of pregnant women with PKU. Costs of the mandate

were estimated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims incurred in the study period for procedure codes indicating the purchase of low protein food products. The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount was \$0.05, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.06 (or 0.01 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Per member per month self-insured allowed expenses for this mandate were found to be \$0.003 lower than fully-insured PMPM allowed expenses, resulting in a lower bound impact estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0.003 PMPM, or 0.001 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 14 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Table 14 Low Protein Foods Mandate Contribution to Premium

				FI-S	I Allowed
	:	Sample FI	Sample SI	8	Lower
Measures		Amount	Amount	Bou	nd PMPMs
Sample Users		359	283		
Sample Units		392,448	299,177		
Sample Average Members		1,871,491	1,490,706		
Paid PMPM	\$	0.05	\$ 0.05	\$	0.003
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.06	\$ 0.06	\$	0.003
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.06	\$ 0.05	\$	0.003

	Upper Bound				Lower Bound		
		Impact			Impact*		
Insured Population		2,362,745			2,362,745		
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	1,525,909		\$	78,313		
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	1,714,505		\$	87,993		
Percent of Total Premium		0.01%			0.001%		

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the low protein foods mandate and the nonprescription enteral formulas and home health mandates.

Nonprescription Enteral Formulas

The enteral formula mandate requires "coverage for nonprescription enteral formulas for home use...which are medically necessary for the treatment of mal-absorption caused by Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, gastro-esophageal reflux, gastrointestinal motility, chronic intestinal pseudo-obstruction, and inherited diseases of amino acids and organic acids."³⁴²

Effect of the mandate on health

Enteral nutrition (EN) provides patients with nutrients or food via a tube to the stomach or small intestine when the patient's diet does not meet her/his nutritional needs and results in continued weight loss and prolonged starvation.^{343,344} Home enteral nutrition (HEN) is used most often for patients whose intestinal tract is functional, but have some degree of failure in the esophagus or throat; many of these patients have difficulty with swallowing; these include patients with certain neurological problems or head and neck cancers.³⁴⁵ Other patients for whom HEN is necessary include those with certain gastrointestinal diseases, eating issues caused by dementia or

psychological disorders, or those whose energy demands cannot be met with oral nutrition, such as some AIDS patients.^{346,347}

HEN is not without complications, including problems with tubes, gastrointestinal complications, and quality of life impact.³⁴⁸ One study highlighted the very limited evidence comparing the benefit of EN compared to the complications, quality of life, costs and cost-effectiveness.³⁴⁹ Research suggests that indications for the use of HEN should be outcome-specific.^{350,351} Some studies have found that "EN has been accepted and implemented despite the lack of convincing scientific support of efficacy," and encouraged providers to determine the effectiveness of such therapy by specific patient, disease-state, and its corresponding research and evidence.³⁵² A recent clinical trial concluded that while HEN improved clinical outcomes, "[i]t was impossible…to determine precisely which factor mattered more: the artificial diet itself or the introduction of complex care."^{353,354}

In summary, studies of enteral feeding have shown that, for patients whose oral intake of nutrition is inadequate and who have a functional gastrointestinal tract, EN does increase nutritional intake and thus improve nutritional status;^{355,356} for these patients, HEN is a "life-sustaining therapy."³⁵⁷ Malnutrition is a serious complication of many diseases, and enteral feeding, when appropriately prescribed and used, can minimize complications and be life-saving.³⁵⁸ Tube feeding helps a patient to increase nutritional intake and avoid starvation and organ failure, and serves to maintain the intestinal tract's integrity and local defense barrier, thereby preventing additional digestive deterioration and the spread of destructive bacteria.³⁵⁹ According to the American Gastroenterological Association, "[t]ube feeding should be considered when the patient cannot or will not eat, the patient has a functional gut, and a method of access can be safely obtained."³⁶⁰

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The mandate requires "coverage for nonprescription enteral formulas for home use...which are medically necessary for the treatment of mal-absorption caused by Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, gastro-esophageal reflux, gastrointestinal motility, chronic intestinal pseudo-obstruction, and inherited diseases of amino acids and organic acids." Therefore, paid amounts from all claims with a procedure code indicating purchase of such formulas and a primary diagnosis of a covered disorder were summed to estimate RDC.

The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.03, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.04 (or 0.01 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured allowed medical expenses for these services were found to be *higher* than fully-insured allowed medical expenses, resulting in a \$0 lower bound impact estimate, including administrative loading. Table 15 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Measures		Sample FI Amount		Sample SI Amount		-SI Allowed & Lower und PMPMs	
Sample Users		290		299			
Sample Units		364,972		321,368			
Sample Average Members		1,871,491		1,490,706			
Paid PMPM	\$	0.03	\$	0.04	\$	-	
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.04	\$	0.05	\$	-	
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.03	\$	0.05	\$	(0.011)	
	U	pper Bound			Lo	wer Bound	
Insured Population		2,362,745				2,362,745	
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	924,982			\$	-	
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	1,039,306			\$	-	
Percent of Total Premium		0.01%				0.000%	
*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the nonprescription enteral mandate and the low protein foods and home health mandates.							

Table 15 Nonprescription Enteral Formulas Mandates Contribution to Premium

Oral Chemotherapy Treatment of Cancer

The oral chemo therapy mandate requires coverage for cancer chemotherapy treatment for prescribed, orally administered anticancer medications used to kill or slow the growth of cancerous cells on a basis not less favorable than intravenously-administered or injected cancer medications covered as medical benefits.³⁶¹

Effect of the mandate on health

Chemotherapy is a class of treatments that impede living cells in the human body, with the intention of stopping the rapid growth and reproduction common to cancer cells.³⁶² In use since the mid-20th century, chemotherapy is most often infused intravenously into a patient, where the therapy disperses throughout the body through the blood and lymphatic symptoms.^{363,364} This method is effective for delivering cytotoxic therapies, those intended to kill cells and normally administered in the maximum dose tolerable to a patient. Ordinarily, cytotoxic infusions happen during short intervals of treatment most often separated by long periods of rest; for example, a patient may receive daily chemotherapy for one week followed by no treatment for six weeks, repeating this cycle over several months.³⁶⁵

This treatment routine is necessary, as cytotoxic chemotherapy drugs act on all cells, killing or harming both healthy and cancerous cells, or cause other serious illnesses.³⁶⁶ Serious side effects are common to certain chemotherapy treatments, depending on the toxicity of the drug combination, the type of cancer, and the overall health of the patient.³⁶⁷ Over time, scientists have created new drugs, combinations, and delivery techniques; new targeted therapies; and approaches to mitigate side effects, all in an effort to improve treatment while minimizing the poisonous effects of chemotherapy on the body.³⁶⁸ These improvements have been variably successful.

As regimens have developed and improved, the route of treatment administration has continued to evolve. While scientists increasingly focus on targeted agents, oral administration is becoming more common, allowing patients to take chemotherapy drugs by mouth via a pill, liquid, or film.³⁶⁹ Each year, a larger proportion of newly-approved drugs are oral, some of which are not available as an intravenous equivalent.³⁷⁰ (To receive FDA approval, drugs must be proven through significant research studies to be safe and effective; therefore, as more oral forms of treatment have received FDA approval, they have been proven effective for their labeled conditions.³⁷¹) While some drugs cannot be delivered by mouth because of digestive irritation and absorption issues, oral delivery has the potential to deliver drugs over a more sustained period in a more convenient way,³⁷² providing patients with a sense of more control over their disease and treatment.³⁷³ In most cases with oral therapies, patients are able to avoid the sometimes daily medical visits for infusion, but in turn must accept more individual responsibility for treatment.³⁷⁴

While patients gain convenience and control, they must comply strictly with instructions on when and how to take medication, monitor for complications, appropriately handle and store medications, and continue follow-up with their healthcare providers.³⁷⁵ With the shift from office-to home-based treatment, the traditional roles of the patient, oncology treatment professionals, including doctors, nurses and pharmacists, and insurance and delivery management systems, also shift.³⁷⁶ Compliance and medication errors must be continuously monitored and addressed by the entire team, now including the patient, to assure maximum treatment effectiveness.³⁷⁷ And with oral delivery, patient outcomes are also impacted by food and drug interactions, which affect the effectiveness and toxicity of the drug.^{378,379} Research has found that patients' shift from a passive to a more active treatment role has created a need to provide them more information and support to help them comply with their regimens.^{380,381,382,383,384}

Oral therapies, which are often new drugs still under patent protection, are often much more expensive than intravenous treatments. To the extent patients are responsible for the costs of medication, particularly if that cost is very high, that cost might affect their compliance or at least their choice of treatment if infused alternative are available.³⁸⁵ Prior to implementation of the Massachusetts mandate, self-administered drugs would often have proportionately higher cost sharing than would infused drugs, since the self-administered drugs were typically covered under a pharmacy benefit while infused drugs were typically covered under a medical benefit; the former typically has higher cost sharing.

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

RDC for this mandate was calculated as the decrease in PMPM patient cost sharing (defined as the difference between PMPM allowed expenses and PMPM carrier-paid expenses) expenses for all claims reporting a procedure or NDC code indicating an orally-administered cancer medication between 2012 (prior to implementation of the law) and 2014 (after implementation of the law). The lower bound impact estimate was calculated as the difference between the fully-insured cost sharing PMPM and the self-insured cost sharing PMPM for these medications between 2012 and 2014. The analysis does not adjust for expected changes in average cost-sharing for these products between the two years in the absence of a mandate; such an analysis is outside the scope of this study. To the extent that average patient cost-sharing for these products would have been higher in

2014 than 2012 in the absence of the mandate, the effect of the mandate is understated by this methodology. $^{x\nu}$

The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.05, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.05 (or 0.013 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). The fully-insured allowed medical expense PMPM for these services was found to be \$0.02 higher than the self-insured allowed medical expense PMPM, resulting in a lower bound impact estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0.02 PMPM, or 0.004 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 16 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Measures		Sample FI Amount	Sample SI Amount	SI Allowed & Lower and PMPMs
Sample Users, 2014		7,452	4,013	
Sample Units, 2014		1,890,718	1,040,780	
Sample Average Members, 2014		1,437,788	1,432,254	
Decrease in Cost Sharing PMPM, 2012 to 2014	\$	0.05	\$ 0.03	\$ 0.02
Decreased Cost Sharing with Admin	\$	0.05	\$ 0.04	\$ 0.02
	U	pper Bound Impact		 wer Bound Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745		2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	1,378,028		\$ 489,691
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	1,548,347		\$ 550,214
Percent of Total Premium		0.013%		0.004%

Table 16 Oral Chemotherapy Treatment of Cancer Mandate Contribution to Premium

*No significant overlaps were found between this and other mandates.

Prosthetic Devices

The prosthetic device mandate requires coverage for prosthetic devices and repairs under the same terms and conditions that apply to other durable medical equipment covered under the policy; the mandate restricts carriers' use of cost-sharing and coverage limits for prosthetic devices.³⁸⁶

Effect of the mandate on health

Prosthetics are artificial replacements used to assist with ambulation and participation in activities of daily living among those with an amputation, or any loss of a limb or part of a limb.^{387,388} Amputations are performed for several reasons, most often due to dysvascular diseases such as

^{xv} That is, if patient cost sharing is measured at \$0.06 PMPM in 2012 and \$0.01 PMPM in 2014, but in the absence of the mandate patient cost sharing in 2014 would have been \$0.08, \$0.06 PMPM - \$0.01 PMPM = \$0.05 PMPM understates the effect of the mandate, which was actually \$0.08 PMPM - \$0.01 PMPM = \$0.07. Conversely, if for some reason 2014 cost-sharing PMPM would have been lower than 2012 for these products even in the absence of the mandate, \$0.05 PMPM would overstate the effect of the mandate.

diabetes and peripheral arterial disease (54 percent), trauma (45 percent), and cancer (under two percent).^{389,390} An estimated 2.0 million or more Americans live with limb loss, and over 185,000 amputations occur annually in the United States.³⁹¹

To understand prevalence of individuals with limb loss and incidence rates of new amputations, considering patient age is critical. Over 64 percent of dysvascular disease-related amputations occur among adults 65 and older.³⁹² As the population ages and the number of individuals diagnosed with diseases such as diabetes continue to rise, annual new cases of amputations are expected to double by 2050.³⁹³ The severity of the conditions that lead to amputation in this older population limits average life expectancy in that group. Five-year mortality for patients whose vascular disease led to amputations is almost 50 percent, higher than the same measure for breast, colon, Hodgkin's lymphoma, and prostate cancers.³⁹⁴ For patients who need a lower extremity amputation due to diabetes, the five-year mortality rate is up to 74 percent.^{395,396}

By 2050, the number of people living with a lost limb, and thus in need of prosthetics and related services, is estimated to triple.³⁹⁷ This is due to the age of the patients: although only 16 percent of hospital discharges related to amputation are due to trauma, trauma cases account for approximately 45 percent of people living with limb loss, two thirds of whom are adolescents and adults younger than 45.³⁹⁸

In general, amputations are categorized as upper limb (arm and hand) and lower limb (leg and foot).³⁹⁹ Overall, younger patients are more likely to suffer from upper limb loss, and older patients from lower limb loss. Lower limb prosthetics have higher rates of acceptance and daily use, while upper limb prosthetics have higher rates of abandonment.⁴⁰⁰ These findings may be attributable to overall intended functions for each prosthetic type. Lower limb prostheses are designed to accomplish gross motor tasks, including weight-bearing, balance, ambulation, and provide more natural cosmetic appearance,⁴⁰¹ functions "well substituted for by the prosthesis."⁴⁰² For upper limbs, prosthetics must perform fine motor tasks and balance, in addition to movement and natural cosmetic appearance.⁴⁰³ Moreover, in the case of thumb amputation, the prosthesis must provide opposition. Generally, fine motor functions are "not well served by a prosthetic device."⁴⁰⁴ Acceptance rates and functionality improve while abandonment decreases with early prosthetic fittings, which also decreases risk of phantom pain.⁴⁰⁵

Complications related to limb loss include: psycho-social adjustment; soft tissue and muscle atrophy; skin disorders, including increased moisture, blisters, allergic reactions, irritation and breakdown; joint contracture; soft tissue and bone infections; pain and phantom limb sensations; overuse syndromes in remaining extremities and proximal joints; and heterotopic ossification, or an overgrowth of bone instead of scar tissue. ^{406,407,408} In the short-term, prosthetic patients are more likely to experience depression and anxiety, as well as social discomfort and body-image anxiety.⁴⁰⁹

Each type of amputation requires a different prosthetic, each with its own rate of effectiveness. Generally, the functionality of the prosthesis is related to: the number of joints preserved and the length of the residual limb;⁴¹⁰ other orthopedic, cardiovascular, neuromuscular, and respiratory conditions; vascular and visual problems; and a patient's emotional and mental health, activity level, degree of motivation, age, vocation, and support system.⁴¹¹ Psychosocial factors are also important to understanding quality of life and the ability level of patients, as well as their own selfimage and sense of difference.^{412,413} As summarized by one study, prosthetic effectiveness revolves around "what people can practically achieve with a prosthetic limb, and the management of personal information and identity."⁴¹⁴ In fact, while most amputees with prosthetics used them extensively and expressed satisfaction with the device's overall performance and quality, a large number were dissatisfied with their own interpersonal skills with the prosthetic, and almost 33 percent were dissatisfied with their comfort.⁴¹⁵ These psychosocial effects are influenced by such factors as time since amputation, social support, satisfaction with prosthesis, personality disposition, active coping attempts, the level of amputation, and the level of pain and phantom limb sensation.^{416,417} The needs of a patient with an amputation span the patient's lifetime, and can include, besides an artificial limb, associated services such as fittings, repairs, and upgrades based on needs or improved technology.⁴¹⁸ To the extent changes in coverage required under this mandate improve the quality of devices and treatment available to the patient and consequently the patient's recovery experience, including adjusting to limb loss and to a device, they are likely to lead to a better outcome, that is, greater ongoing functionality, for the patient.

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The limb prostheses mandate requires coverage for prosthetic devices and repairs under the same terms and conditions that apply to other durable medical equipment covered under the policy and places restrictions on the use of annual or lifetime limits for prosthetic devices. The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with procedure codes for limb prosthetic devices and repairs. The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.14, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.15 (or 0.04 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured allowed medical expenses for these services were found to be slightly *higher* than fully-insured allowed medical expenses, resulting in a \$0 lower bound impact estimate, including administrative loading. Table 17 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Measures	А	mount	Amount	8	Lower
Sample Users		397	364		
Sample Units		5,517	5,669		
Sample Average Members		1,871,491	1,490,706		
Paid PMPM	\$	0.14	\$ 0.17	\$	-
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.15	\$ 0.19	\$	-
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.15	\$ 0.18	\$	(0.02)
	••	per Bound mpact		-	ver Bound mpact*
Insured Reputation		2 262 745			2 262 745

Table 17 Prosthetic Devices Mandate Contribution to Premium

Sample FI

Sample SI

FI-SI Allowed

	U	pper Bound	Lo	wer Bound
		Impact		Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745		2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	3,868,008	\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	4,346,076	\$	-
Percent of Total Premium		0.04%		0.00%

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the limb prosthesis mandate and the home health mandate.

Scalp Hair Prostheses

The scalp prostheses mandate requires policies providing coverage for any other prosthesis to provide coverage for scalp hair prostheses worn for hair loss suffered as a result of the treatment of cancer or leukemia, in an amount not to exceed \$350 per year.⁴¹⁹

Effect of the mandate on health

Hair loss is a side effect of some cancer treatments, including chemotherapy and radiation to the head.⁴²⁰ These treatments result in "chemotherapy-induced alopecia" (CIA) or damage to the hair follicles leading to the thinning or complete loss of hair. Alopecia is often cited as the "most severe side effect of chemotherapy,"⁴²¹ negatively affecting the quality of life for many cancer patients, especially women and children.^{422,423} Studies have cited loss of self-confidence, depression,⁴²⁴ and humiliation as side effects.⁴²⁵ Likewise, CIA can negatively impact overall quality of life by affecting body image,⁴²⁶ sexuality, self-esteem, and social functioning.⁴²⁷ One study found that "[p]atients who fear CIA may sometimes select regimens with less favorable outcomes or may refuse treatment."⁴²⁸ And while research continues into the management of CIA, methods to prevent the hair loss have not yet proven effective, ⁴²⁹ and no standard of care for treatment exists yet.⁴³⁰

Scalp hair prostheses offer some patients the possibility of mitigating the side effects of hair loss, though some studies have shown that "[r]egrowth of hair and other adaptive processes do not normalize or improve the impaired body image and self-concept."⁴³¹ These researchers have suggested that the impact of CIA may not be "related exclusively to alopecia," but also to the individual's coping with chemotherapy and how that may be further amplified by alopecia.⁴³² Others have suggested that treatment providers should emphasize the psychological support for

patients experiencing CIA, and the use of creative measures, including acquisition of scalp prosthesis even before hair loss, to preserve self-image.⁴³³

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

Scalp hair prostheses offer some patients the possibility of mitigating the side effects of hair loss. The scalp prostheses mandate requires policies providing coverage for any other prosthesis to provide coverage for scalp hair prostheses worn for hair loss suffered as a result of the treatment of cancer or leukemia, in an amount not to exceed \$350 per year. The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with procedure code A9282: "Wig, any type, each." The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.01, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.02 (or 0.004 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Non-GIC self-insured allowed medical expenses for these services were found to be slightly *higher* than fullyinsured and GIC allowed medical expenses, resulting in a \$0 lower bound impact estimate, including administrative loading. Table 18 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Table 18 Scalp Hair Prostheses Mandate Contribution to Premium

		nple FI	Sample SI	&	l Allowed Lower
Measures	Ar	nount	Amount	Bour	nd PMPMs
Sample Users		819	621		
Sample Units		857	654		
Sample Average Members	1	,871,491	1,490,706		
Paid PMPM	\$	0.01	\$ 0.02	\$	-
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.02	\$ 0.02	\$	-
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.02	\$ 0.02	\$	(0.00)
	••	er Bound npact			ver Bound mpact*
Insured Population	2	2,362,745			2,362,745

Contribution to Total Annual Claims\$ 410,990\$ -Contribution to Total Annual Premium\$ 461,787\$ -Percent of Total Premium0.004%0.00%*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the scalp

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the scalp hair prosthesis mandate and the home health mandate.

Speech and Audiology Services

This mandate requires coverage for expenses incurred in the medically-necessary diagnosis and treatment of speech, hearing, and language disorders by licensed speech-language pathologists or audiologists.⁴³⁴

Effect of the mandate on health

Speech and language disorders and delays are associated with a wide variety of conditions, ranging from chronic illnesses such as cerebral palsy and Parkinson's and Huntington's diseases to acute

events such as brain injuries and strokes. The specific problems vary widely, as do treatment methods and modalities. For children, "[p]rimary speech and language delay/disorder is a common developmental difficulty which, if unresolved, can cause difficulties of both learning and socialisation lasting into adolescence and beyond."⁴³⁵ In general, "[s]peech and language therapy aims to maximize ability to communicate through speech, gesture, and/or supplementary means, such as communication aids, and to enable [patients] to become independent communicators."^{436,437}

Most studies reviewed suggest the effectiveness of treatment for speech, hearing, and language disorders in general; however, one large systematic review found that many of the conclusions are based on "clinical opinion' rather than on controlled clinical trials."⁴³⁸ Many investigators cited the need for additional research to be conducted using rigorous scientific methodology, and for the development of more consistent standards of treatment methods and interventions, as well as evidence-based practice guidelines for the variety of conditions requiring speech, hearing, and language therapies.^{439, 440, 441, 442, 443, 444, 445}

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

Regulations on required benefits for 2016 issued pursuant to the ACA (45 CFR §156.115(a)(5)(i)) include in EHBs "habilitative services". They define such services as those that "help a person keep, learn, or improve skills and functioning for daily living (habilitative services). Examples include therapy for a child who is not walking or talking at the expected age. These services may include physical and occupational therapy, speech-language pathology and other services for people with disabilities in a variety of inpatient and/or outpatient settings." But the specific services included, and whether the definitions would include speech and audiology services, are unclear on the surface and left to the states.⁴⁴⁶ For reasons cited in the overview of the methodology, this analysis assumes federal EHB requirements do not address state-mandated speech and audiology services.

					FI	-SI Allowed	
		Sample FI		Sample SI		& Lower	
Measures		Amount		Amount	Bo	und PMPMs	
Sample Users		14,441		12,063			
Sample Units		48,605		57,072			
Sample Average Members		1,871,491		1,490,706			
Paid PMPM	\$	0.25	\$	0.37	\$	-	
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.28	\$	0.41	\$	-	
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.30	\$	0.41	\$	(0.11)	
	U	pper Bound			Lo	ower Bound	
		Impact				Impact*	
Insured Population		2,362,745				2,362,745	
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	7,116,174			\$	-	
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	7,995,701			\$	-	
Percent of Total Premium		0.06%				0.00%	
*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the							

Table 19 Speech and Audiology Services Contribution to Premium

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between th speech and audiology mandate and the children's hearing

aids and home health mandates.

This mandate provides for "expenses incurred in the medically necessary diagnosis and treatment of speech, hearing and language disorders by individuals licensed as speech-language pathologists or audiologists." The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims for speech and audiology procedures where the primary diagnosis indicates a covered speech, hearing, or language disorder. The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.25, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.28 (or 0.06 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured allowed medical costs for these services were found to be *higher* than fully-insured allowed costs, resulting in a lower bound impact estimate of \$0, including administrative loading. Table 19 above displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Mandates with Potential Marginal Direct Cost: Provider-Centered Mandates

This study includes eight "provider mandates," which mandate coverage for specific provider types rather than specific services. An *a priori* assumption that these non-physician providers are cost-effective would be supported by the very small to zero (in fact, negative) lower bound marginal cost estimates for most of these mandates. In many cases, the allowed medical expenses PMPM are higher in the self-insured segment than in the fully insured segment. Based on these results, it would be reasonable to treat these mandates as "zero marginal cost" mandates, though they are treated here as potential-marginal cost mandates (i.e., their RDCs are included in the upper bound estimates).

Categorizing claims by provider type is challenging. In particular, it is generally assumed that the MA APCD does not measure the full volume of services provided by certain allied health professionals, such as advanced practice registered nurses and physician assistants, whose services are generally billed as if performed by the supervising physician in order to maximize reimbursement. However, CHIA is required by M.G.L. Chapter 3 §38C to estimate the cost of these mandates, and the following analysis estimates their costs using all sample claims that could be identified as having been performed by one of the covered practitioners, as the cost of services actually performed by allied health professionals but billed by their supervising physicians is immeasurable within the scope of this study.

In addition, some claims coding schemes identify the service provider as "nurse practitioner or physician assistant." In these cases, Compass grouped ambiguous results under the mandate covering the largest group of members. That is, because the statutory language of the physician assistant mandate includes self-insured GIC products but the nurse practitioner mandate does not, all such ambiguous results were included in the physician assistant mandate sample.

Detailed specifications for the cost calculations for these mandates are available from CHIA upon request.

Certified Nurse Midwives

The certified nurse midwife mandate requires plans to pay for services rendered by certified nurse midwives when the same services are reimbursed when performed by any other practitioner and are within the lawful scope of practice of midwives.⁴⁴⁷

Effect of the mandate on health

Certified nurse-midwives (CNMs) are Advanced Practice Nurses (APRNs) who serve as primary care providers of healthcare to women, providing physical exams, counseling, education, and prenatal, gynecological, labor and delivery, and postpartum care, as well as ordering lab tests and prescribing medications including contraceptives.^{448,449} CNMs are legally authorized to practice, and prescribe drugs, in all fifty states, though regulations and regulatory authority vary.^{450,451,452} In Massachusetts, CNMs have independent practice and prescribing authority,⁴⁵³ but are not recognized as primary care providers.⁴⁵⁴ Reimbursement in all state Medicaid programs, as well as Medicare, is mandatory for CNMs at 100 percent of the physician reimbursement rates.⁴⁵⁵

CNM services focus primarily on reproductive health and gynecological and obstetrical care, but also may be provided to male partners for treatment of sexually transmitted diseases, and to normal newborns during the first month after birth.⁴⁵⁶ In 2013, CNMs and certified midwives attended almost 321,000 births in the United States.⁴⁵⁷ Today, approximately 480 CNMs are licensed in Massachusetts,^{458,459} and over 11,000 nationwide.⁴⁶⁰ As Advanced Practice Nurses, CNMs are also registered nurses or bachelors-prepared nurses who have completed an undergraduate program in nursing as well as, at minimum, a masters-level graduate program in midwifery.⁴⁶¹ Terms of CNM licensure have historically varied widely by state, especially in the degree of physician oversight required. In 2008, the National Council of State Boards of Nursing (NCSBN) adopted the Consensus Model for Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN) Regulation in an attempt to create consistent regulations and legislation across the United States.⁴⁶² The group is attempting to standardize licensure to practice, APRN program accreditation, national certification requirements, and educational requirements.⁴⁶³

When comparing care provided during labor and delivery by physicians versus CNMs, a large systematic review found that: CNMs used fewer interventions, including epidurals, induced labor, and episiotomies; perineal lacerations were lower and breastfeeding rates were higher for CNM patients; and infant outcomes including Apgar scores, birth weight, and neonatal intensive care unit admissions did not differ between physicians and CNMs.⁴⁶⁴ Researchers have found that CNMs "provide a safe and viable alternative to maternity care in the United States, particularly for low to moderate risk women."⁴⁶⁵ Another study of obstetric outcomes in a primary care setting found:⁴⁶⁶

- Low-income, uninsured, and underinsured women who have access to excellent prenatal care with supervised certified nurse-midwives can have obstetric outcomes similar to women having prenatal care with private obstetricians.
- Prenatal care with supervised certified nurse-midwives can reduce the cesarean section rate without compromising infant outcome.
- Utilization of certified nurse-midwives supervised by obstetricians may provide the optimum model for perinatal care, particularly for those women who are at high risk because of social and economic factors and who are currently underserved.

In a study of planned home births, researchers found "that women who have home births attended by CNMs have safety profiles equal to or better than profiles of women who had hospital births in similar populations."⁴⁶⁷ These results were also found in a large outcomes study of CNM-attended homebirths which concluded that "[1]ow-risk women in this cohort experienced high rates of physiologic birth and low rates of intervention without an increase in adverse outcomes."⁴⁶⁸ A study of spontaneous and episiotomy-caused perineal injury during birth found both severity and prevalence were significantly lower in CNM-attended births.⁴⁶⁹

In a joint statement of policy by the American College of Nurse Midwives and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, the professional organizations affirmed their shared goal "of safe women's health care in the United States through the promotion of evidence-based models provided by obstetricians-gynecologists, certified nurse-midwives, and certified midwives." Their statement affirmed their commitment to educational standards, certification, and licensure; the need for options and preferences of women in health care; the need for access to affordable professional liability insurance, hospital privileges, equivalent reimbursement, and support services; and outlined how the organizations differ regarding home birth.⁴⁷⁰

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

				FI-	SI Allowed
:	Sample FI		Sample SI	8	& Lower
	Amount		Amount	Bou	Ind PMPMs
	605		5,232		
	3,227		24,639		
	142,186		990,666		
\$	0.19	\$	0.20	\$	-
\$	0.21	\$	0.22	\$	-
\$	0.20	\$	0.20	\$	(0.01)
U	oper Bound			Lo	wer Bound
	Impact				Impact*
	730,715				730,715
\$	1,624,290			\$	-
\$	1,825,045			\$	-
	0.01%				0.00%
	\$ \$ \$ U I	605 3,227 142,186 \$ 0.19 \$ 0.21 \$ 0.20 Upper Bound Impact 730,715 \$ 1,624,290 \$ 1,825,045 0.01%	→mount 605 3,227 142,186 \$ 0.19 \$ 0.21 \$ 0.20 \$ 0.21 \$ 0.20 \$ 0.20 \$ 730,715 \$ 1,825,045 0.01%	→mount Amount 605 5,232 3,227 24,639 142,186 990,666 900,666 900,666 0.19 \$ 0.20 0.19 \$ 0.20 0.20 \$ 0.20 0.20 \$ 0.20 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	→mount Bount Bound <

Table 20 Certified Nurse Midwives Mandate Contribution to Premium

*No significant overlaps were found between this and other mandates.

The certified nurse midwife mandate requires plans to pay for services rendered by certified nurse midwives when the same services are reimbursed when performed by any other practitioner and are within the lawful scope of practice of midwives. The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with a certified nurse midwife provider type^{xvi} indicator or a procedure code modifier^{xvii} indicating the service was performed by a nurse midwife. The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount was \$0.19, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.21 (or 0.01 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured PMPM allowed expenses for these services were found to be *higher* than fully-insured allowed costs, resulting in a lower bound impact estimate of \$0, including administrative loading. Table 20 above displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists

The certified registered nurse anesthetist mandate requires plans to pay for services rendered by certified registered nurse anesthetists when the same services are reimbursed when performed by any other practitioner and are within the lawful scope of practice of nurse anesthetists.⁴⁷¹

Effect of the mandate on health

Certified registered nurse anesthetists (CRNAs) are Advanced Practice Registered Nurses (APRNs) licensed to provide anesthesia and related care, as well as pain management and some emergency services.⁴⁷² There are more than 40,000 CRNAs practicing in the United States, providing over 40 million anesthetics annually;⁴⁷³ over 1250 CRNAs are licensed in Massachusetts.⁴⁷⁴ According to

^{xvi} Provider types vary by carrier. Compass also used NPI taxonomy codes where possible to identify claims provided by the various mandated providers. ^{xvii} HCPCS Modifier SB: Nurse midwife.

the American Association of Nurse Anesthetists, "[i]n some states, CRNAs are the sole providers in nearly 100 percent of the rural hospitals," and are the primary anesthesia providers in rural America overall, providing care in trauma stabilization, surgical, obstetrical, and pain management cases.⁴⁷⁵

As APRNs, CRNAs are required to complete a baccalaureate degree program in nursing or other appropriate field, a graduate degree program in nurse anesthesia, and they must pass a national certification exam following graduation.⁴⁷⁶ A CRNA must be licensed as a registered nurse (RN), and spend at least one year as an RN in a critical care setting.⁴⁷⁷ In Massachusetts, CRNAs are certified to practice as an Advanced Practice Clinical Nurse in their specific clinical category.⁴⁷⁸

The federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) currently requires that CNRAs be supervised by a physician, unless the state's own regulations do not require the CRNA to be supervised.⁴⁷⁹ States may opt-out of this requirement;⁴⁸⁰ since 2001, 17 states have formally opted-out.^{481,482} However, there is significant disagreement in the number of remaining states in which CRNAs may operate independently without need for the opt-out filing, with estimates ranging from 18 to 40 states; CRNA independence hinges on the definition of "physician supervision" in state regulations.⁴⁸³ In 2008, the National Council of State Boards of Nursing (NCSBN) adopted the Consensus Model for Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN) Regulation in an attempt to create consistent regulations and legislation across the United States.⁴⁸⁴ The group is attempting to standardize licensure to practice, APRN program accreditation, national certification requirements, and educational requirements.⁴⁸⁵

In Massachusetts, CRNAs do not have independent prescribing authority. Instead, they must have a written agreement outlining physician supervision of their prescriptive practice,^{486,487} the physician's name must appear on the prescription, and prescribing practices are regulated for CRNAs by both the state Board of Registration in Nursing and the Board of Medicine.⁴⁸⁸ CRNA prescriptive practice is also limited to "the immediate perioperative care of a patient."⁴⁸⁹ These regulations make Massachusetts the only New England state without full practice authority for CRNAs (although Maine requires CRNAs to practice under physician or dentist supervision).⁴⁹⁰

In a review of seven years of Medicare data analyzing patient safety outcomes for patients provided anesthesia, researchers found that "the change in CMS policy allowing states to opt out of the physician supervision requirement for certified registered nurse anesthetist reimbursement was not associated with increased risks to patients."⁴⁹¹ Other studies comparing rates of complications for obstetrical anesthesia between CRNAs and anesthesiologists found no difference between the two staffing models.^{492,493} In a large study comparing the safety and effectiveness of non-physician anesthetists (NPAs) practicing independently, anesthesiologists, and NPAs supervised or directed by physicians, the researchers found that "[n]o definitive statement can be made about the possible superiority of one type of [anesthesia] care [provider] over another."⁴⁹⁴

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

Measures		Sample FI Amount	Sample SI Amount		-SI Allowed & Lower und PMPMs
Sample Users		17,106	26,987		
Sample Units		210,928	331,510		
Sample Average Members		1,049,386	1,209,745		
Paid PMPM	\$	0.78	\$ 1.02	\$	-
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.88	\$ 1.14	\$	-
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.82	\$ 1.08	\$	(0.27)
	U	lpper Bound Impact		Lo	wer Bound Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745			2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$			\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	24,825,048		\$	-
Percent of Total Premium		0.20%			0.00%

Table 21 Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists Mandate Contribution to Premium

*No significant overlaps were found between this and other mandates.

The certified registered nurse anesthetist mandate requires plans to pay for services rendered by certified registered nurse anesthetists when the same services are reimbursed when performed by any other practitioner and are within the lawful scope of practice of nurse anesthetists. The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with a registered nurse anesthetist provider type indicator or a procedure code modifier indicating the service was performed by a certified registered nurse anesthetist.^{xviii} The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount was \$0.78, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.88 (or 0.20 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured PMPM allowed medical expenses for these services were found to be *higher* than fully-insured allowed medical costs, resulting in a lower bound impact estimate of \$0, including administrative loading. Table 21 above displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Nurse Practitioners

The nurse practitioner (NP) mandate requires plans to cover services of NPs when those services are reimbursed when performed by any other practitioner and are within the lawful scope of practice of NPs.⁴⁹⁵ Also, M.G.L. c. 176R allows NPs to serve as primary care physicians and prohibits carriers from subjecting NPs to reduced coverage limits.⁴⁹⁶

Effect of the mandate on health

Nurse practitioners (NPs) are Advanced Practice Nurses (APNs) who are licensed as Registered Nurses as well as independent practitioners.⁴⁹⁷ NPs practice as primary and/or specialty care providers in the full range of health care settings, emphasizing health promotion and disease

^{xviii} HCPCS Modifier QX: CRNA service: with medical direction by a physician or QZ: CRNA service: without medical direction by a physician.

prevention in addition to diagnosis, treatment and management of chronic and acute illness.⁴⁹⁸ More than 80 percent of nurse practitioners are trained in primary care, most often practicing in family, geriatrics and adults, women's health, and pediatrics.⁴⁹⁹ There were over 192,000 licensed NPs practicing in the United States in 2014, including over 7,700 in Massachusetts;⁵⁰⁰ over 900 million visits are made annually to NPs.⁵⁰¹ In Massachusetts, an NP is certified to practice as an Advanced Practice Clinical Nurse in a specific clinical category.⁵⁰²

As with all APNs, NPs must complete at least four years of undergraduate education and either a master's, post master's, or doctoral-level graduate program for NPs.⁵⁰³ Nurse Practitioners can be licensed and may prescribe medications in all 50 states,^{504,505} although the scope of practice and physician oversight requirements may vary across states.^{506,507} In 2008, the National Council of State Boards of Nursing (NCSBN) adopted the Consensus Model for Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN) Regulation in an attempt to create consistent regulations and legislation across the United States.⁵⁰⁸ The group is attempting to standardize licensure to practice, APRN program accreditation, national certification requirements, and educational requirements.⁵⁰⁹

In Massachusetts, NPs do not have independent prescribing authority, but "must have a collaborative agreement with a physician or a physician's supervision/delegation in order to prescribe drugs."⁵¹⁰ NPs must have a written agreement in place outlining physician supervision of their prescriptive practice,⁵¹¹ the physician's name must appear on the prescription, and prescribing practices are regulated for NPs by both the state Board of Registration in Nursing and the Board of Medicine.⁵¹² These regulations make Massachusetts the only New England state without full practice authority, prompting the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners to place it among the 12 "most restrictive of practice environments in the nation."^{513,514}

In a review of articles comparing the quality and safety of care provided by NPs to that provided medical doctors (MDs), researchers found that outcomes were comparable or better for all 11 outcomes reviewed, including strong evidence that rates were similar for patient satisfaction with provider/care, functional status, numbers of unexpected ED visits, hospitalization rates, patient blood pressure, blood glucose, serum lipids, patient outcomes for mortality, and self-reported perceived health status.⁵¹⁵ Another review of randomized controlled trials found that while longer term outcomes should be assessed through additional studies, "there were few differences in primary care provided by APNs and physicians; for some measures APN care was superior."⁵¹⁶ Another review found that ANPs could help improve primary care of patients with chronic disease, and that independent specialized nurses:

...could achieve health outcomes that were similar to those of doctors, reduce hospital visits and improve certain patient outcomes related to diabetes, coronary artery disease, or heart failure. Patients who had nurse-led care were more satisfied and tended to receive more tests and medications. It is unclear whether specialized nurses improve quality of life or doctor workload.⁵¹⁷

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The nurse practitioner (NP) mandate requires plans to cover services of nurse practitioners (NPs) when the same services are reimbursed when performed by any other practitioner and are within the lawful scope of practice of nurse practitioners. M.G.L. c. 176R allows NPs to serve as Primary Care Physicians and prohibits NPs from being subject to reduced coverage limits. The RDC of this

mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with a nurse practitioner provider type indicator or a procedure code modifier indicating the service was performed by a nurse practitioner.xix The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount was \$1.57, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$1.77 (or 0.41 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Per member per month self-insured allowed expenses for this mandate were found to be \$0.39 lower than fully-insured PMPM allowed expenses, resulting in a lower bound expense estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0.37 PMPM, or 0.08 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 22 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Table 22 Nurse Practitioners Mandate Contribution to Premium

				F	l-SI Allowed
	5	Sample FI	Sample SI		& Lower
Measures		Amount	Amount	Во	und PMPMs
Sample Users		97,794	86,690		
Sample Units		300,640	252,782		
Sample Average Members		1,049,386	1,209,745		
Paid PMPM	\$	1.57	\$ 1.30	\$	0.33
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	1.77	\$ 1.46	\$	0.37
Allowed PMPM	\$	1.85	\$ 1.47	\$	0.39
	Ur	per Bound			ower Bound
	0	Impact			Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745			2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$ 4	44,634,265		\$	9,305,274
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	50,150,860		\$	10,455,364

Percent of Total Premium 0.41% 0.08%
*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the nurse

practitioner mandate and the diabetes, early intervention, and home health mandates.

Physician Assistants

The physician assistant (PA) mandate requires carriers to recognize physician assistants as participating providers and include coverage on a nondiscriminatory basis for care provided by PAs. Such coverage must include benefits for primary care, intermediate care and inpatient care, in a full range of settings, when rendered by a PA who is a participating provider and is practicing within the scope of his or her professional authority. It also allows PAs to serve as primary care physicians.⁵¹⁸

Effect of the mandate on health

PAs are medical professionals nationally certified and licensed to practice medicine as part of a healthcare delivery team.⁵¹⁹ Depending on their specialty, experience, and the setting in which they practice, PAs diagnose and treat illnesses, assist in surgery, counsel patients on preventive care, and manage the care of hospitalized patients.⁵²⁰

xix HCPCS Modifier SA: Nurse practitioner rendering service in collaboration with a physician.

Most PA training programs last 26 months over 3 academic years, and require approximately 3 years of additional healthcare training and experience.⁵²¹ Students fulfill prerequisite courses similar to those required in medical school, and take classes in basic and behavioral sciences as well as clinical medicine.⁵²² PAs are then required to complete at least 2,000 hours of clinical rotation in family, internal, and emergency medicine, pediatrics, psychiatry, surgery, and obstetrics and gynecology.⁵²³

To practice in Massachusetts, PAs must complete a bachelor's degree, obtain certification by passing a national exam administered by the National Commission on Certification of PAs, and obtain state licensure from the Massachusetts Board of Registration of Physician Assistants under the Division of Health Professions Licensure in the Department of Health.^{524,525,526,527} PAs are also required to complete continuing medical education to remain licensed in the state.⁵²⁸ There are approximately 92,000 PAs nationally and 2,250 in Massachusetts.⁵²⁹

While PAs must by supervised by a physician,⁵³⁰ they are able to independently prescribe medications in Massachusetts following guidelines developed with the supervising physician.⁵³¹ Likewise, for major invasive procedures, PAs must follow written protocols developed in partnership with the supervising physician which specify the level of supervision each service requires.⁵³²

Studies of the effectiveness of physician assistants often include nurse practitioners as well, and researchers may report outcomes related to both professions without distinguishing between them. Some studies indicate that PAs are effective and generate outcomes in acute care settings equivalent to those generated by medical residents, providing safe care in the emergency department, as well as the intensive care, critical care, and neonatal intensive care units.^{533,534,535,536,537} However, one meta-analysis concluded that although research may support use of PAs in acute and intensive care settings, the level of evidence provided is often low.⁵³⁸ One study of the provision of primary care by PAs showed results similar to care provided by physicians, although this study also included care provided by nurse practitioners.⁵³⁹

The PA mandate requires carriers to recognize physician assistants as providers for health maintenance, diagnosis, and treatment of patients, and cover PAs practicing within the scope of their licenses for providing primary, intermediate, and inpatient care in hospitals, clinics, professional offices, home and long-term care settings, mental health or substance abuse programs, or other settings.⁵⁴⁰ The mandate deems PAs qualified to be designated as a primary care provider in an insurer network.⁵⁴¹

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with a physician assistant provider type indicator or a procedure code modifier indicating the service was performed by either a physician assistant or a nurse practitioner.^{xx} The estimated RDC PMPM paid

^{xx} HCPCS Modifier AS: Physician assistant, nurse practitioner, or clinical nurse specialist services for assistant at surgery or HCPCS Modifier GF: Non-physician (e.g. nurse practitioner (NP), certified registered nurse

claim amount was \$1.45, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$1.63 (or 0.37 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Per member per month self-insured allowed expenses for this mandate were found to be \$0.09 lower than fully-insured PMPM allowed expenses, resulting in a lower bound expense estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0.08 PMPM, or 0.02 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 23 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Table 23
Physician Assistants Mandate
Contribution to Premium

Measures		Sample FI Amount	Sample SI Amount		-SI Allowed & Lower und PMPMs
Sample Users		97,790	93 <i>,</i> 388		
Sample Units		354,607	327,560		
Sample Average Members		1,049,386	1,209,745		
Paid PMPM	\$	1.45	\$ 1.46	\$	0.07
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	1.63	\$ 1.64	\$	0.08
Allowed PMPM	\$	1.74	\$ 1.65	\$	0.09
	U	lpper Bound Impact		Lo	ower Bound Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745			2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	41,006,587		\$	2,009,567
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	46,074,816		\$	2,257,941
Percent of Total Premium		0.37%			0.02%

*No significant overlaps were found between this and other mandates.

Chiropractors

The chiropractor provider mandate requires coverage by general health insurance corporations for chiropractic services whether performed by a physician or chiropractor, and a related statute (c. 176B § 7) prohibits a medical service corporation from discriminating against chiropractors in providing chiropractic services. Note both chiropractic service (above) and chiropractor provider mandates exist. Chiropractors provide both chiropractic services and non-chiropractic services, and chiropractic services are provided by both chiropractors and other providers.⁵⁴²

Effect of the mandate on health

Chiropractors, or doctors of chiropractic, diagnose and treat conditions primarily through manipulation and realignment of the musculoskeletal and nervous systems.⁵⁴³ The goals of chiropractic care include improved function, pain alleviation, correction of alignment problems, and support to allow the body to naturally heal itself.⁵⁴⁴ In theory, by aligning spinal joints, chiropractors improve the function of the body's nervous system and improve overall health.

Chiropractors are required to complete two to four years of undergraduate education followed by four to five years at a chiropractic college, where the curriculum includes at least 4200 hours of

anesthetist (CRNA), certified registered nurse (CRN), clinical nurse specialist (CNS), physician assistant (PA)) services in a critical access hospital).

classroom, laboratory, and clinical experience.⁵⁴⁵ For licensure in Massachusetts, graduates of a chiropractic college must pass parts I, II, III, and IV and the physiotherapy section of examinations administered by the National Board of Chiropractic Examiners, as well as the Massachusetts jurisprudence examination administered by the state Board of Registration of Chiropractors.⁵⁴⁶ Massachusetts also requires chiropractors to complete 12 hours of continuing education annually to maintain and renew licensure.⁵⁴⁷

Licensed chiropractors are recognized by Medicare for payment as a physician only for manual spinal manipulation treatment of spinal subluxation.⁵⁴⁸ Chiropractors are not eligible to order and/or refer for Part B and DMEPOS (durable medical equipment, prosthetics, orthotics, and supplies) Medicare beneficiaries,⁵⁴⁹ but may act as a supplier of durable medical equipment.⁵⁵⁰

Limited research is available comparing outcomes among provider types who perform spinal manipulation (e.g. chiropractor versus physician). However, one large meta-analysis that reviewed the results of 39 randomized-controlled trials concluded that "[t]he evidence is insufficient to conclude that benefits of manipulation vary according to the profession of the manipulator (chiropractor vs. other clinician trained in manipulation)."⁵⁵¹ Another study found that, when comparing orthopedic surgeons, primary care providers, and chiropractors, the time to functional recovery, complete recovery, and return to work after treatment for lower back pain was similar between all three provider types.⁵⁵² The same study found that costs were lowest for primary care providers, and patient satisfaction highest for chiropractors.⁵⁵³ A more recent article examining the costs of care between chiropractors and other providers was equivocal in its conclusions and called for additional research.⁵⁵⁴

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The chiropractor provider mandate, c. 175 § 108D, requires a payer to pay for chiropractic services whether they are performed by a physician or chiropractor, and c. 176B § 7 statute prohibits a Medical Services Corporation from discriminating against chiropractors in providing chiropractic services. Note that there are both chiropractic service and chiropractor (provider-based) mandates. The chiropractors provide both chiropractic services and non-chiropractic services, and chiropractic services are provided by both chiropractors and other providers.

The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with a chiropractor provider type indicator. The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount was \$0.91, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$1.02 (or 0.07 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Per member per month self-insured allowed expenses for this mandate were found to be \$0.15 lower than fully-insured PMPM allowed expenses, resulting in a lower bound expense estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0.10 PMPM, or 0.01 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 24 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

						-SI Allowed	
	:	Sample FI		Sample SI		& Lower	
Measures		Amount		Amount	Bo	und PMPMs	
Sample Users		4,684		32,762			
Sample Units		72,343		455,012			
Sample Average Members		142,186		990,666			
Paid PMPM	\$	0.91	\$	0.85	\$	0.09	
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	1.02	\$	0.96	\$	0.10	
Allowed PMPM	\$	1.46	\$	1.32	\$	0.15	
	U	pper Bound			Lower Bound		
		Impact				Impact*	
Insured Population		730,715				730,715	
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	7,973,244			\$	810,103	
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	8,958,701			\$	910,228	
Percent of Total Premium		0.07%				0.01%	

Table 24 Chiropractor Provider Mandate Contribution to Premium

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the chiropractic services mandate and the chiropractor provider mandate.

Dentists

This mandate requires a dentist to be considered a physician for purposes of reimbursement for any services covered by the medical policy/contract which dentists are licensed to perform.⁵⁵⁵

Effect of the mandate on health

Dentists are doctors of oral health focused on the diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of diseases of the mouth and maxillofacial area.⁵⁵⁶ To practice general dentistry, dentists must complete an undergraduate degree, as well as four years of dental school; residency training is required as well, spanning an additional two to six years depending on specialty.⁵⁵⁷

To obtain a license, dentists must pass Parts I and II of the National Board Dental Examinations written tests which cover basic biomedical sciences, dental anatomy, ethics, and other clinical subjects including patient management.^{558,559,560,561} All states also require an additional clinical examination which focuses on performing dental procedures on patients;⁵⁶² clinical examinations in Massachusetts are administered by the Commission on Dental Competency Assessments.⁵⁶³ Applicants for dental licensure in Massachusetts must also pass the Massachusetts Dental Ethics and Jurisprudence Exam.⁵⁶⁴ Licensure is available in nine specialties, including: dental public health; endodontics; oral and maxillofacial pathology, radiology, and surgery; orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics; pediatric dentistry; periodontics; and prosthodontics.⁵⁶⁵

Dentists are recognized as physicians by Medicare when providing medically-necessary services while acting within the scope of the dental license.⁵⁶⁶ Dental services – procedures "primarily provided for the care, treatment, removal, or replacement of teeth or structures supporting the teeth" – are generally excluded from Medicare coverage.⁵⁶⁷ In contrast, services that may be considered as medical, even when performed by a dentist, include such procedures as extractions in preparation for radiation treatments of abnormal growths and diseases involving the jaw, and oral

examinations prior to kidney or heart transplants or valve replacements.⁵⁶⁸ Additionally covered may be procedures related to orofacial medical conditions, sleep apnea, myofacial pain, temporomandibular joint disorders, oral dysfunction, trauma to the teeth or jaws, or medically necessary periodontia, implants, or radiography, as well as screenings for oral cancers.⁵⁶⁹

This analysis uncovered no research on the effectiveness of services provided by dentists compared to the identical services provided by physicians when provided under the scope of their respective licenses.

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

This insurance mandate requires a dentist to be considered a physician for purposes of reimbursement for any services covered by the medical policy/contract which dentists are licensed to perform. The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all medical claims with a dentist or oral surgeon^{xxi} provider type indicator. The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount was \$0.16, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.18 (or 0.01 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured PMPM allowed medical expenses for these services were found to be significantly *higher* than fully-insured allowed medical costs, resulting in a lower bound impact estimate of \$0, including administrative loading. Table 25 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.^{xxii}

Table 25 Dentist Mandate Contribution to Premium

Measures Sample Users Sample Units Sample Average Members		Sample FI Amount 616 1,537 142,186	Sample SI Amount 13,635 58,160 990,666	8	61 Allowed Lower nd PMPMs
Paid PMPM	\$	0.16	\$ 0.73	\$	-
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.18	\$ 0.82	\$	-
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.20	\$ 0.79	\$	(0.59)
	Upper Bound			Lov	ver Bound
Insured Population		730,715			730,715
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	1,388,993		\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	1,560,666		\$	-
Percent of Total Premium		0.01%			0.00%

*No significant overlaps were found between this and other mandates.

^{xxi} Maxillo-facial surgeon provider types were not included, as maxillo-facial surgeons hold dual licensure as dentists and medical doctors. Cases where the maxillo-facial and oral surgeon provider types could not be distinguished were also excluded.

^{xxii} These counterintuitive results may be a result of missing, miscoded, or unknown provider identifiers or provider type information in the underlying carrier sample data, and should not be considered conclusive. Compass's investigation into the results was inconclusive, and an alternative analysis using supplemental data did not significantly improve the results.

Optometrists

The optometrist mandate requires coverage for services of optometrists when those services are reimbursed when performed by medical or osteopathic physicians and within the lawful scope of practice of optometrists.⁵⁷⁰

Effect of the mandate on health

Optometrists, or doctors of optometry, are independent health care professionals who diagnose and treat eye and visual system diseases and disorders.⁵⁷¹ Educational requirements for optometrists include four years of undergraduate education and four years of graduate study at a college of optometry.⁵⁷² To practice, optometrists must obtain state licensure, requiring them to pass a set of national examinations administered by the National Board of Examiners in Optometry (NBEO). In Massachusetts, these include five tests, including applied basic science, patient assessment and management (PAM), clinical skills, treatment and management of ocular disease (TMOD), and state jurisprudence.^{573,574} Passing these examinations also grants optometrists certification to use or prescribe diagnostic pharmaceutical agents (DPA) and therapeutic pharmaceutical agents (TPA).⁵⁷⁵ Licenses must be renewed annually⁵⁷⁶ and must include evidence of continuing education.⁵⁷⁷

Medicare considers optometrists to be physicians "with respect to all services the optometrist is authorized to perform under State law or regulation."⁵⁷⁸ This review found no published studies quantifying the efficacy of the work of optometrists specifically, comparing the relative quality of services provided by optometrists with differing amounts of education or training, or comparing the relative quality of services provided by optometrists to services provided by other provider types.

The ACA requires non-grandfathered health plans in the individual and small group markets to cover essential health benefits (EHBs) in ten categories of service or items.⁵⁷⁹ One EHB category, pediatric services, includes coverage for oral and vision care for children. (For plans effective in 2017, pediatric vision care is provided through a supplementary plan under the Federal Vision Insurance Program (FEDVIP), and covers routine eye exams and eyeglasses for children.^{580,581}) However, while coverage for pediatric vision services is required as an EHB, coverage for optometrists per se is not required.⁵⁸² Moreover, routine, non-pediatric eye exam services are excluded from EHBs, even though an EHB benchmark plan may cover them.⁵⁸³ Therefore, the ACA and its EHB requirements do not affect the marginal cost of this mandate.

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The optometrist mandate requires coverage for services of optometrists when services are reimbursed when performed by medical or osteopathic physicians and are within the lawful scope of practice of optometrists. The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with an optometrist provider type indicator. The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount was \$0.71, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.80 (or 0.06 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Self-insured PMPM allowed medical expenses for these services were found to be *higher* than fully-insured allowed medical costs, resulting in a lower

bound impact estimate of \$0, including administrative loading. Table 26 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Table 26 Optometrists Mandate Contribution to Premium

\$

0.00%

					FI-3	Si Allowed
		Sample FI		Sample SI	8	k Lower
Measures		Amount		Amount	Bou	nd PMPMs
Sample Users		9,153		81,626		
Sample Units		12,543		115,173		
Sample Average Members		142,186		990,666		
Paid PMPM	\$	0.71	\$	0.95	\$	-
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.80	\$	1.07	\$	-
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.80	\$	1.04	\$	(0.24)
	Upper Bound Impact					wer Bound mpact*
Insured Population		730,715				730,715
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	6,228,813			\$	-

0.06%

*No significant overlaps were found between this and other mandates.

Contribution to Total Annual Premium \$ 6,998,666

Percent of Total Premium

Podiatrists

The podiatrist mandate requires coverage for services of podiatrists when those services are reimbursed when performed by medical or osteopathic physicians and within the lawful scope of practice of podiatrists.⁵⁸⁴

Effect of the mandate on health

A podiatrist is a doctor of podiatric medicine (DPM) who diagnoses and treats conditions affecting the lower extremity. According to the American Podiatric Medical Association, podiatrists are foot and ankle specialists qualified to: "perform comprehensive medical history and physical examinations; prescribe drugs and order and perform physical therapy; perform surgeries ranging from basic to complex re-constructive surgery; repair fractures and treat sports–related injuries; prescribe and fit orthotics, durable medical goods, and custom–made shoes; and perform and interpret X–rays and other imaging studies."⁵⁸⁵ An estimated 15,000 podiatrists practice in the United States.⁵⁸⁶

To be licensed in Massachusetts, podiatrists are required to complete four years of undergraduate education, four years of graduate education at a podiatric medical college, and three years of residency training in a hospital.^{587,588,589} Additionally, podiatrists must pass oral, written, and/or clinical examinations administered by the state,⁵⁹⁰ and complete fifteen hours of continuing education annually to renew licensure.⁵⁹¹ Massachusetts, however, is one of four states nationally that includes only the foot and does not include the ankle in the scope of practice for podiatrists.⁵⁹²

Medicare considers a podiatrist a physician "only with respect to those functions which he/she is legally authorized to perform in the State."⁵⁹³ Podiatrists are eligible to order and/or refer for Part

B and Durable Medical Equipment, Prosthetics, Orthotics and Supplies (DMEPOS) Medicare beneficiaries.⁵⁹⁴ Further, podiatrists may order and refer for Medicare Part A Home Health Agency (HHA) beneficiary services, the only provider type besides doctors of medicine and osteopathy permitted to do so.⁵⁹⁵

While no evidence was found comparing the effectiveness of podiatric care provided by podiatrists to that provided by nurses, allied health professionals, or non-specialist physicians, some evidence exists that interdisciplinary foot care including podiatric care had a positive impact on outcomes for patients with diabetes, including reductions in urgent surgeries, below-knee amputation rates, major amputations, recurrence of foot ulcers, and death in patients with diabetic lower-extremity ulcerations.^{596,597,598,599} Other studies have found that for patients waiting for an evaluation by an orthopedic surgeon, podiatrists can provide appropriate triage service, resulting in more timely provision of non-surgical care and better targeted use of orthopedic surgical resources.^{600,601}

This review found no published studies quantifying the efficacy of the work of podiatrists specifically (noting the distinction between podiatric care and care by podiatrists), comparing the relative quality of services provided by podiatrists with differing amounts of education or training, or comparing the relative quality of podiatrists services against services provided by other provider types.

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The podiatrist mandate requires coverage for services of podiatrists when services are reimbursed when performed by medical or osteopathic physicians and are within the lawful scope of practice of podiatrists. The RDC of this mandate was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims with a podiatrist provider type indicator. The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount was \$0.58, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.65 (or 0.15 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Per member per month self-insured allowed expenses for this mandate were found to be \$0.04 lower than fully-insured and GIC PMPM allowed expenses, resulting in a lower bound expense estimate, including administrative loading, of \$0.03 PMPM, or 0.01 percent of Commonwealth premium. Table 27 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

					FI	-SI Allowed
	:	Sample FI		Sample SI		& Lower
Measures		Amount		Amount	Bou	und PMPMs
Sample Users		28,137		29,141		
Sample Units		99,823		105,346		
Sample Average Members		1,049,386		1,209,745		
Paid PMPM	\$	0.58	\$	0.62	\$	0.03
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.65	\$	0.70	\$	0.03
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.79	\$	0.75	\$	0.04
		oper Bound			10	wer Bound
	0	Impact				Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745				2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$ 16,383,060				\$	808,388
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$				\$	908,301
Percent of Total Premium		0.15%				0.01%

Table 27Podiatrists MandateContribution to Premium

*Net amounts do not remove overlap in mandated services between the podiatrist mandate and the diabetes and home health mandates.

Aggregated Results of Mandates with Potential Marginal Direct Cost

The aggregated results of the required direct cost measurement for the twenty-five mandates judged to have potential marginal direct cost, with overlap (double-counting) between mandates removed, are summarized in Table 28. The overall RDC was calculated as the sum of paid amounts from all claims extracted for any of the potential marginal direct cost mandates. The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount was \$25.01, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$28.10 (or 6.45 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). The lower bound impact was calculated as the sum of the individual mandate lower bound estimates net of mandate overlaps^{xxiii} with each mandate's lower bound impact estimate lower bounded at zero (i.e., a result of higher self-insured allowed expenses for one mandate did not offset higher fully-insured results found for other mandates). The resulting lower bound expense is \$1.86 PMPM or 0.43 percent of Commonwealth premium. That is, the additional cost of mandated services in plans subject to the mandates compared to those plans not subject to the mandates represents approximately one half of one percent of premium. Table 28 below displays a summary of these results.

^{xxiii} In the overall calculations, each claim extracted in the analysis of any potential marginal direct cost mandate was assigned to one and only one mandate.

			L	ower Bound
Measures	Upp	er Bound Impact		Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745		2,362,745
Paid PMPM	\$	25.01	\$	1.66
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	28.10	\$	1.86
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	709,161,988	\$	46,942,722
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	796,811,223	\$	52,744,631
Percent of Total Premium		6.45%		0.43%

Table 28 Unduplicated Combined Potential Marginal Direct Cost Mandate Results Contribution to Premium

*Results are net of all mandate overlaps.

Neither the RDC estimate in Table 28 (\$796.8 million) nor the lower bound marginal cost estimate of \$52.7 million provides an answer to the question of what additional direct costs are caused by the mandate laws, though the mandate impact should be somewhere in this rather wide range. As discussed in more detail below, it is also not likely to be near either of the two extremes produced by the required direct cost and lower bound marginal cost estimates.

In the next section, we address results for the mandates judged likely to have zero marginal cost.

Mandates Judged Likely to have Zero Marginal Cost

The RDC results for each of the mandates analyzed in the secondary cost analysis phase of the project are described below. As discussed above, carrier input and/or analysis of federal mandate requirements supported the position that these mandates are likely to have little or no marginal direct cost – that is, essentially all the costs of these services would be incurred even if the associated state mandate laws were not in effect. The estimates presented below, then, are for RDCs only, as the marginal costs (and therefore lower bound marginal costs) are assumed to be zero. Detailed specifications for the cost calculations for the six zero marginal cost mandates estimated using the Massachusetts MA APCD are available from CHIA upon request.

Bone Marrow Transplant for Breast Cancer

The bone marrow transplant mandate requires coverage for bone marrow transplants for patients with metastatic breast cancer if they meet criteria set by the Department of Public Health.⁶⁰²

Effect of the mandate on health

Treatment for high-risk breast cancer has evolved significantly over time, with the development of new interventions as well as publication of additional research findings. At one time, high-dose chemotherapy plus autologous bone marrow transplant (HDC-ABMT) was used as a last resort to treat advanced breast cancer, or breast cancer with a high probability of recurrence, as it reduced the probability of relapse.^{603,604}

However, since the mid-1990s, HDC-ABMT has been discredited as a standard treatment regimen due to the serious side effects of the highly toxic chemotherapy, including an increase in treatment-related mortality, and because the treatment did not offer an increased chance of overall survival when compared to standard-dose chemotherapy.^{605,606,607,608,609,610,611,612,613,614} The National Comprehensive Cancer Network has excluded HDC-ABMT from its clinical practice guidelines since 1996.⁶¹⁵

The use of HDC-ABMT for treatment of breast cancer is most often recommended "only…in the context of a clinical trial."^{616,617} Some already-concluded and ongoing trials have shown the potential application of this treatment for more narrowly-defined groups of patients^{618,619,620} and/or with an adjustment to the previously-used chemotherapy regimen, as the specific treatments may increase the disease-free survival rate for certain patients.^{621,622,623} The data are not yet clear, however, and experts continue to press for additional rigorous clinical studies, with several now underway.^{624,625,626}

Despite these recommendations, as HDC-ABMT remains an independently mandated benefit, clinical trials have faltered due to the inability to enroll suitable patients, as nine out of ten patients have chosen to receive the therapy outside of the context of a clinical trial, thereby avoiding the possibility of random assignment to a control cohort.^{627,628}

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

In light of these recommendations, the BMT mandate appears to be redundant to the separate mandate providing benefits for cancer clinical trials, which is also a zero marginal cost mandate (see the sub-section analyzing the cancer clinical trials mandate below).

Cardiac Rehabilitation

The cardiac rehabilitation mandate requires coverage for multidisciplinary, medically necessary treatment of persons with documented cardiovascular disease.⁶²⁹

Effect of the mandate on health

Almost 800,000 Americans die each year from major cardiovascular diseases (CVD), the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the country, accounting for almost 31 percent of all deaths in the U.S.⁶³⁰ In a 2015 report on heart disease and stroke statistics, researchers reported that one in three American adults suffers from some form of heart disease, stroke, or other blood vessel disease; each year, 795,000 will suffer a stroke, and 750,000 will suffer a heart attack.⁶³¹

Cardiac rehabilitation (CR) refers to multidisciplinary programs that combine exercise, education, and psychological support in medically-supervised programs designed to improve physical, mental, and social functioning, reduce health risks and disability, and foster compliance, healthy behaviors, and active lifestyles for people with cardiovascular diseases.⁶³² The goal of CR "is to stabilize, slow, or even reverse the progression of CVD, which in turn reduces the risk of a future cardiac event."⁶³³ Research has shown such programs to be effective in improving coronary heart disease risk factors and health-related quality of life, while reducing clinical events, risk of death, and costs.⁶³⁴

Specifically, CR improves exercise tolerance, symptoms, overall psychosocial well-being, and blood lipid levels while reducing mortality, stress, and cigarette smoking.^{635,636} These outcomes are similar in both center- or home-based programs, although programs provided at home are associated with a higher level of patient adherence to treatment.⁶³⁷

Research so clearly demonstrates the benefit of CR that, in a search for cardiac rehabilitation guidelines issued by U.S.-based organizations, 58 different recommendations and guidelines for use of CR for various conditions are listed on the National Guideline Clearinghouse, a public resource of the U.S. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) for evidence-based clinical practice guidelines.⁶³⁸ Despite this, however, utilization of cardiac rehabilitation programs remains low, "with less than 30 percent of eligible patients participating in a cardiac rehabilitation program after a cardiovascular disease event."⁶³⁹ Patients cite inconvenient clinic location and hours, insurance cost-sharing and other expenses, and a lack of physician referral as reasons for low compliance rates.^{640,641}

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

The cardiac rehabilitation mandate covers the expense of cardiac rehabilitation, i.e., multidisciplinary, medically necessary treatment of persons with documented cardiovascular disease.

For this analysis, the cost of the cardiac rehabilitation mandate reflected in insurance premiums is estimated as the total cost to fully-insured plans subject to the mandate for cardiac rehabilitation procedure codes.^{xxiv} The estimated PMPM RDC paid claim amount for the calendar year 2014 study period was \$0.08, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.09 (or 0.02 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Table 29 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

xxiv HCPCS code 91797, 93798, G0422, or G0423.

			FI-	-SI Allowed
	•	Sample SI		& Lower
	Amount	Amount	Βοι	und PMPMs
	1,252			
	16,215			
	1,871,491			
\$	0.08	N/A		N/A
\$	0.09	N/A		N/A
\$	0.09	N/A		N/A
0	Direct Cost		Lo	wer Bound
	2,362,745			2,362,745
\$	2,279,569		\$	-
\$	2,561,314		\$	-
	0.02%			0.00%
	\$ \$ \$ [16,215 1,871,491 0.08 0.09 0.09 2,362,745 2,279,569 2,2561,314	Amount Amount 1,252 1,252 16,215 1,871,491 1,871,491 N/A \$ 0.08 N/A \$ 0.09 N/A \$ 0.09 N/A \$ 0.09 N/A \$ 0.09 N/A \$ 2,362,745 \$ 2,279,569 \$ 2,561,314 \$ 1000	Sample FI Amount Sample SI Amount Sample SI Amount Sample SI Bottom 1,252 4 4 16,215 16,215 4 16,215 1 4 1,871,491 1 4 \$ 0.08 N/A 4 \$ 0.09 N/A 4 \$ 0.09 N/A 4 \$ 2,362,745 5 5 \$ 2,279,569 \$ 5 5

Table 29 **Cardiac Rehabilitation Mandate Required Direct Cost Estimate**

ELSI Allowed

Required direct cost was estimated using the Massachusestts APCD.

Clinical Trials for Treatment of Cancer

The mandate for coverage of clinical trials for treatment of cancer requires coverage for services for patients enrolled in a qualified clinical trial to the same extent that the services would be covered if the patient was not receiving care in a qualified clinical trial. A qualified clinical trial must be cancer-related and must meet other criteria set forth in the law.⁶⁴²

Effect of the mandate on health

According to the Coalition of Cancer Cooperative Groups, "[a] clinical trial is a carefully monitored medical research study in which people participate as volunteers to test new methods of prevention, screening, diagnosis, or treatment of a disease."⁶⁴³ The National Cancer Institute defines the different types of clinical trials to be for treatment, prevention, screening, or quality of life/supportive/palliative care.⁶⁴⁴ Clinical trials are categorized into four phases:

- Phase I trials, usually the first to involve humans, typically enroll 15 to 30 people, and seek to determine treatment safety, side effects, and optimal mode of administration.⁶⁴⁵
- Phase II trials, usually enrolling 25 to 100 people, attempt to determine if and how the new treatment affects a certain cancer and may vary dosage levels between treatment groups while continuing to monitor side effects.646
- Phase III trials typically enroll from 100 to several thousand participants, and compare the new treatment or use with the current standard, randomizing patients into test groups.⁶⁴⁷ Seventy-five percent of patients in clinical trials are part of phase III trials.⁶⁴⁸
- Phase IV trials, if conducted, include several hundred to several thousand people, and assess long-term safety and effectiveness of a treatment that has already been approved by the FDA.649

Phase 0 trials are also possible, in which patients face lower risk but will not benefit from the trial; these are used to study how the cancer, body, and treatment interact, and are intended to hasten and streamline the approval process.⁶⁵⁰

The National Cancer Institute cites several possible benefits of participation in clinical trials, including access to new treatment, close monitoring by research staff, and the opportunity to help future patients.⁶⁵¹ Trial participants who are randomized into control groups receive the best known standard treatment, while those in the test groups receive the new treatment intended to improve upon the current standard.⁶⁵² The American Cancer Society (ACS) also points out that participation empowers patients to actively decide their cancer treatment, and provides an opportunity to help others and advance research.⁶⁵³ Participation drawbacks may be that the new treatment is not as effective for an individual as the current standard, or may cause different or more severe side effects than the standard treatment protocol; likewise, clinical trials also may require more testing or clinical appointments than would standard treatment.⁶⁵⁴

A 2013 study on public and patient perspectives of clinical trials found that 87 percent of respondents were "somewhat willing" or "very willing" to participate in clinical trials.⁶⁵⁵ Yet ACS reports that the biggest barrier to the completion of trials is that fewer than 5 percent of adults participate in them, with the most common reason being that the patient did not know the studies were an option for them.⁶⁵⁶ Of patients aware of their eligibility, only 25 percent reported participating.⁶⁵⁷ Participants do report a high rate of satisfaction, especially with the quality of their care; over 75 percent report that they would recommend participation to others.⁶⁵⁸ Approximately 60 percent of children under age 15 participate, and this has been credited with the dramatic increase in childhood cancer survival rates in the past few years.⁶⁵⁹

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

The clinical trials for treatment of cancer mandate requires coverage for patient care services for patients enrolled in a qualified clinical trial to the same extent as the services would be covered if the patient was not receiving care in a qualified clinical trial. A qualified clinical trial must be cancer-related and must meet other criteria set forth in the law.

Detailed data do not exist to specifically identify costs associated with clinical trials for the treatment of cancer, but information is available to aid in its estimation. One study estimates that the costs of clinical trials range from 10 percent lower to 23 percent higher compared to standard medical care.⁶⁶⁰ Compass obtained 2013 U.S. cancer prevalence rates by 10-year age band⁶⁶¹ and applied these rates to a U.S. Census Bureau estimate of Massachusetts population by single year of age on July 1, 2014,⁶⁶² yielding an approximate count of people aged 0-59 in Massachusetts living with cancer in 2014 of 74,160. An additional 70,062 cancer patients were aged 60-69. The Census data on Massachusetts population by single year of age indicate that the proportion of the estimated 2014 Massachusetts population aged 60-69 who were aged 60-64 versus 60-69 was 55.1 percent. Applying this proportion to the estimated Massachusetts cancer cases in the age 60-69 age group and adding the result to the cases in the population aged 0-59 yields a 2014 estimate of 112,740 cancer patients aged 0-64 in Massachusetts in 2014. However, Massachusetts has a higher overall incidence rate for cancers versus the nation as a whole. While the national figure for 2008-

12 was estimated at 453.8 cases per 100,000, the Massachusetts number was approximately 6.5 percent higher at 483.1.⁶⁶³ Applying a factor based on this higher rate to the preliminary number of cases raises the estimate of cancer cases in Massachusetts under age 65 to 120,019.

In 2010, the American Cancer Society reported that the proportion of adults with cancer who participate in clinical trials was just 5 percent.⁶⁶⁴ Allowing for a somewhat higher participation rate of 6 percent in Massachusetts, owing to its density of teaching hospitals, brings the estimate of clinical trial patients in Massachusetts to just over 7,200. U.S. Census Bureau insurance coverage data indicate that 74.7 percent of the under-65 population in Massachusetts was privately-insured in 2014.⁶⁶⁵ Compass's insured population membership model estimates that 49.1 percent of the privately-insured have fully-insured medical coverage, resulting in an estimated number of cases of privately-insured under-65 individuals in Massachusetts participating in clinical trials in 2014 of 2,742.

Measures		Sample FI Amount	Sample SI Amount	-SI Allowed & Lower und PMPMs
Sample Users		N/A		
Sample Units		N/A		
Sample Average Members		N/A		
Paid PMPM	\$	0.08	N/A	N/A
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.09	N/A	N/A
Allowed PMPM	N/A		N/A	N/A
	Required Direct Cost			Jpper and wer Bound Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745		2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	2,275,297		\$ -
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	2,556,513		\$ -
Percent of Total Premium		0.02%		0.00%

Table 30 Clinical Trials to Treat Cancer Mandate Required Direct Cost Estimate

* This mandate was judged by carriers to contribute \$0 marginal cost to premiums. Required direct cost was estimated using secondary data sources.

The National Institutes of Health estimated the total 2010 U.S. cost of medical care for cancer at \$102.8 billion dollars.⁶⁶⁶ Applying this amount to a total U.S. 2014 cancer prevalence estimate of 14.1 million⁶⁶⁷ yields a cost per case for cancer care of \$7,270 annually. For the Massachusetts fully insured population under age 65, the cost of cancer care would then be about \$22.8 million in total after trending the 2010 cost estimate forward to 2014. The incremental cost of care in clinical trials for cancer is estimated at 10 percent,⁶⁶⁸ although a later article specifically examining NIH-sponsored clinical trials calculated this figure at 6.5 percent.⁶⁶⁹ Assuming the more conservative 10 percent estimate, the total cost of cancer clinical trials for the 2.4 million Massachusetts fully-insured under 65 population is \$2.3 million, or \$0.08 PMPM. With administrative loading, this

figure rises to \$0.09, or 0.02 percent of the overall \$436 PMPM average 2014 premium. These results are summarized in Table 30 above.

Contraceptive Services

The contraceptive services mandate requires coverage for outpatient contraceptive services (consultations, exams, procedures, etc.) to the same extent as other outpatient services and for prescription contraceptive drugs and devices under the same terms and conditions as other prescription drugs and devices. The mandate provides exclusions for church-affiliated employers.⁶⁷⁰

Effect of the mandate on health

The United States has an estimated 61 million women ages 15-44;⁶⁷¹ of these, 70 percent are sexually active but do not want to become pregnant.⁶⁷² Massachusetts has 1.44 million women of reproductive age, of whom 61 percent are sexually active and do not wish to become pregnant.⁶⁷³ In the United States, more than half of all pregnancies are estimated to be unintended.⁶⁷⁴ Family planning is one of the major objectives of Healthy People 2020, the set of evidence-based national health promotion and disease prevention goals outlined for the next decade by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.⁶⁷⁵ According to Healthy People, "Family planning is one of the 10 great public health achievements of the 20th century. The availability of family planning services allows individuals to achieve desired birth spacing and family size and contributes to improved health outcomes for infants, children, and women."⁶⁷⁶

The benefits of contraception include improved women's health and well-being, reduced maternal mortality, health benefits for mother and child associated with spacing pregnancy, female workforce engagement, and economic self-sufficiency.⁶⁷⁷ Additionally, contraceptive use may decrease menstrual period pain and bleeding, and reduce gynecological disorder risks, including those for ovarian and endometrial cancers.⁶⁷⁸ The negative consequences of unintended pregnancies are numerous. They include: delays in initiating prenatal care; the increased risk of tobacco and alcohol use and of physical violence during pregnancy; premature birth and low birth weight; reduced likelihood of breastfeeding; poor maternal mental health; and lower relationship quality between mother and child.^{679,680} Some studies show that children born from an unintended pregnancy may be more likely to suffer from poor physical and mental health in childhood, and may attain lower educational and behavioral outcomes.^{681,682,683,684,685,686,687}

Outcomes are worse for unintended pregnancies in teen mothers; 82 percent of pregnancies among mothers age 15 to 19 are unintended.⁶⁸⁸ An adolescent who experiences an unintended pregnancy is less likely to graduate from high school or attain a GED by age 30, and will earn approximately \$3500 less per year on average than her peers who delay having children; teen fathers experience similarly lower educational achievement and income.^{689,690} Teen mothers, on average, receive twice as much federal aid for twice as long as non-parent teens.⁶⁹¹ Finally, children of teenagers have more behavioral problems and lower cognitive abilities than others, on average; in fact, sons of teen mothers are more likely to be incarcerated, while daughters are more likely to become pregnant as teens.⁶⁹²

Furthermore, adequate pre-pregnancy planning allows women to receive appropriate preconception care, the importance of which is becoming increasingly evident. Care provided before pregnancy allows providers to reduce the risks of pregnancy to women, as well as some pre-term births and their associated birth defects.⁶⁹³

Contraceptive drugs and devices, used consistently and correctly, and paired with appropriate associated examination and consultation services, can play a significant role in family planning. While 30 percent of women do not need a contraceptive method,⁶⁹⁴ 8 percent of women are at risk of unintended pregnancy but are not using contraception.⁶⁹⁵ Of the women not using contraception and at risk of unintended pregnancy, larger percentages are under 20 years of age, have never married, and are black.⁶⁹⁶

The remaining 62 percent of women of reproductive age are currently using a contraceptive method.⁶⁹⁷ While almost half of women with an unintended pregnancy report using some form of contraception,⁶⁹⁸ 67 percent of women at risk of unintended pregnancy use contraception consistently and correctly, and account for only 5 percent of unintended pregnancies.⁶⁹⁹ Proper use of the most effective methods of contraception "virtually eliminates" the risk of unintended pregnancy, while using any method reduces the chances by 85 percent.⁷⁰⁰

Slightly more than half of pregnancies in the United States each year are unintended; of these, research shows that 95 percent are in women either not using contraception or using it inconsistently.⁷⁰¹ Most women (64 percent) who use contraception rely on non-permanent methods, while the remainder rely on male or female sterilization.⁷⁰²

Success rates depend on either permanency or consistency of use; permanent sterilization methods result in a failure rate of less then 1 percent with typical use, while other methods vary widely, from 1 percent failure rates for implants to 28 percent failure rates for spermicide alone with typical use. However, by preventing unintended pregnancies, "[c]ompared with nonuse, even with a time horizon as short as 1 year, use of any method [of contraception]…results in financial savings and health gains."⁷⁰³ Table 31 summarizes the estimated number of users of each type of contraception and the expected proportion of pregnancies expected for each.

	Us	ers	Number of pregnancies expected per 100 women ⁷⁰⁷		
Method	# (000s)	# (000s) Percent Perfect use		Typical use	
FDA-APPROVED METHODS					
Permanent					
Sterilization Implant for Women (Transcervical Surgical Sterilization Implant)	492 ^{xxv}	1.3 ¹	0.05	0.05	
Sterilization surgery for men	3,084	8.2	0.10	0.15	
Sterilization Surgery for Women, Surgical Implant (Transabdominal Surgical Sterilization)	9,443	25.1	0.5 (tubal only)	0.5 (tubal only)	

Table 31Methods of Birth Control

^{xxv} User number combines permanent sterilization implant and removable implantable rod.

	Us	ers	Number of pregnancies expected per 100 women ⁷⁰⁷		
Method	# (000s)	Percent	Perfect use	Typical use	
Implant					
Implantable rod	492 ¹	1.3 ¹	<1	N/A	
Intrauterine Device (IUD) w/progestin	2 004	10.3	0.2	0.2	
IUD copper	3,884	10.3	0.6	0.8	
Hormonal					
Shot/injection	1,697	4.5	0.2	6	
Oral contraceptives/ combined pill, progestin only and extended/continuous use	9,720	25.9	0.3	9	
Patch	217	0.6	0.3	9	
Vaginal contraceptive ring	759	2.0	0.3	9	
Barrier					
Diaphragm w/spermicide			6	12	
Sponge w/spermicide	133 ^{xxvi}	0.4 ²	9/20	12/24	
Cervical cap w/spermicide		-	N/A	17/23	
Male condom	5,739	15.3	2	18	
Female condom	N/A	N/A	5	21	
Spermicide alone	N/A	N/A	18	28	
Emergency Contraception					
Plan B, Plan B One Step, Next Choice	04	0.2		88 percent ^{xxvii}	
Ella	91	0.2		60-70 percent ³	
OTHER METHODS					
Withdrawal	1,817	4.8	4	22	
Fertility awareness-based ^{xxviii}	509	1.4	0.4-5	24	
No method, at-risk of unintended pregnancy	4,175	N/A	85	85	
No method, not at risk	19,126	N/A	N/A	N/A	

In general, when used correctly and consistently, contraceptives are effective at preventing unintended pregnancies and related negative health impacts on women and children. Contraceptive effectiveness varies by method: permanent sterilization is most effective, and the next most effective contraceptives are long-acting reversible methods. Consistent and effective use of contraception, as well as use of more effective methods, can be improved by reducing cost and other barriers to access, as well as by providing women with access to methods that are medicallyappropriate and consistent with their social, cultural, emotional, and sexual lifestyles.

Under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA), non-grandfathered health insurance plans must fully cover the costs of contraceptive methods and counseling for all women, as prescribed by a health care provider.⁷⁰⁸ When provided by an in-network provider, these services will require no patient cost-sharing (no deductibles, coinsurances or copayments).⁷⁰⁹ Covered methods include at least one type of method within all categories of prescribed contraception

^{xxvi}Also includes female condom, foam, suppository, jelly/cream, and other methods.

^{xxvii} Prevents pregnancy in percent of women who would have otherwise become pregnant. ^{xxviii} Includes cervical mucus methods, body temperature methods, and periodic abstinence.

approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), including sterilization procedures, implanted devices, barrier and hormonal methods, emergency contraception, and education and counseling; over-the-counter contraception, drugs to induce abortions and sterilization surgery for men are not included in this benefit.⁷¹⁰ Health plans sponsored by certain exempt religious organizations may not be covered and may require out-of-pocket payment.⁷¹¹ Some non-profit religious organizations that certify religious objections do not have to contract, arrange, pay, or refer for contraceptive coverage; for these types of organizations, insurers or third party administrators may make separate payments for contraceptive services to in-network providers without patient cost-sharing.⁷¹²

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The contraceptive services mandate provides coverage for outpatient contraceptive services (consultations, exams, procedures, etc.) to the same extent as other outpatient services and for prescription contraceptive drugs and devices under the same terms and conditions as other prescription drugs and devices. The mandate provides exclusions for church-affiliated employers.

The federal ACA requires contraception coverage as an essential health benefit (EHB), and, in addition to requiring all of the benefits of the state mandate, requires all compliant plans to cover at least one product from each of the FDA's 18 approved contraception methods at zero cost-sharing. Therefore, this analysis assumes the Massachusetts contraceptive mandate to be redundant to and superseded by the federal ACA; the marginal cost of the state mandate is therefore zero. The contraception provisions of the ACA were required in all new health insurance plans in effect on or after August 1, 2012; accordingly, the Massachusetts contraception mandate was treated as a potential marginal cost mandate in the first two comprehensive reviews.

Required direct costs (RDCs) of this mandate were determined to consist of paid amounts from all claims for female members for outpatient contraceptive procedures and consultations (IUD insertion, etc.), all claims for evaluation and management (identified by the evaluation and management, or E&M, CPT4 codes) with a contraception-related diagnosis, and all pharmacy claims for contraceptive drugs and devices for the target population. The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount for the calendar year 2014 study period was \$3.32, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$3.73 (or 0.86 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Table 32 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Measures		mple FI mount	Sample SI Amount	FI-SI Allowed & Lower Bound PMPMs
Sample Users		164,542		
Sample Units	32	,706,555		
Sample Average Members	1	,437,788		
Paid PMPM	\$	3.32	N/A	N/A
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	3.73	N/A	N/A
Allowed PMPM	\$	3.50	N/A	N/A

Table 32 Contraception Mandate Required Direct Cost Estimate

	Required Direct Cost	&	I Allowed Lower Id PMPMs
Insured Population	2,362,745		2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$ 94,197,565	\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$105,839,960	\$	-
Percent of Total Premium	0.86%		0.00%

* The requirements of the Massachusetts mandate have been superseded by the ACA. Required direct cost was estimated using the Massachusestts APCD.

Cytological Screening (Pap Smear)

The cytological screening mandate requires coverage for cytological screening annually for women 18 years and older.⁷¹³

Effect of the mandate on health

According to the American Cancer Society, "[c]ervical cancer incidence and mortality rates have decreased by more than 50% over the past three decades, with most of the reduction attributed to screening with the Papanicolaou (Pap) test, which detects cervical cancer and precancerous lesions."^{714,715,716} Further, the survival rate for women with precancerous lesions diagnosed through the Pap test is nearly 100 percent, as cancer is prevented altogether, and women with localized cervical cancer, most often detected early, have a five-year survival rate of 91 percent.^{717,718} Yet approximately half of cervical cancers are not diagnosed until later stages, when five-year survival rates are much lower. The five-year survival rate for regional-stage cervical cancer is 57 percent, and is only 16 percent for distant-stage cervical cancer;⁷¹⁹ most women diagnosed at these stages have not had a Pap screening within the five years prior to diagnosis.⁷²⁰

While the Pap test has been extremely helpful in identifying precancer and early stage cancer in women who are screened, cervical cancer remains the second most common cancer for women worldwide.⁷²¹ Research into the causes and progression of cervical cancer has expanded rapidly in recent years, and these studies have found that almost all cases of cervical cancer are causally related to persistent infection with certain types of human papillomavirus (HPV).⁷²² HPV is the most common sexually transmitted infection in the US, causing 90 percent of all anal cancers, 60

percent of certain types of oropharyngeal cancers, and 40 percent of vaginal, vulvar, and penile cancers.⁷²³ This new understanding of the causes of these cancers has led to a shift from a strategy mostly focused on screening for pre-cancers and cancers, to approaches that include vaccination against HPV to prevent infection, as well as screening not only for precancers and cancers, but also HPV itself.

Initial infection with HPV is common in young women within their first decade of sexual activity.⁷²⁴ However, less than 10 percent of these infections persist and, relatively slowly, become precancer, most often between 5 and 10 years after initial infection.⁷²⁵ From these, a minority of cases progress to invasive cancer; this also most often takes many years or decades, with the risk highest in women 35 to 55 years old.⁷²⁶

Given these statistics, agreement is near-universal on the benefits of cytological screening for women, and many U.S. government agencies and medical societies now agree on a single set of recommendations regarding testing methods and intervals released in March 2012. These recommendations call for less-frequent screening, as researchers have found that:

[S]creening... more often than every 3 years confers little additional benefit, with large increases in harms, including additional procedures and assessment and treatment of transient lesions. Treatment of lesions that would otherwise resolve on their own is harmful because it can lead to procedures with unwanted side effects, including the potential for cervical incompetence and preterm labor. Similarly, the frequency of HPV testing with cytology should not be more often than every 5 years in order to maintain a reasonable balance of benefits and harms similar to that seen with cytology alone every 3 years.⁷²⁷

The cytological screening mandate in Massachusetts requires coverage for screening annually for women 18 years and older, a frequency greater than that in the current guidelines.

The USPSTF currently gives the recommendations for women age 21 to 29 and 30 to 64 grades of "A". Under the ACA, non-grandfathered health insurance plans must fully cover the costs of recommended preventive services graded "A" or "B" without patient cost sharing (no deductibles, coinsurances or copayments).^{728,729} However, the USPSTF recently released its "Final Research Plan for Cervical Cancer Screening", indicating it will again conduct a systematic review of research to form the basis of an updated recommendation.⁷³⁰

Recommending	General	Women age					
organizations	recommendations	21-29	30-64	65+			
 American Cancer Society/ American Society for Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology/American Society for Clinical Pathology (ACS/ASCCP/ASCP) (adopted March 2012)⁷³² US Preventive Services Task Force/American Academy of Family Physicians (USPSTF/AAFP) (adopted March 2012)⁷³³ American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology (ACOG) (adopted December 2013)⁷³⁴ 	 No annual screening No screening for women under age 21 No screening for HPV for women under age 30 No screening for women with total hysterectomy Routine screening should continue for women found to have a high-grade precancerous lesion within past 20 years, regardless of age 	• Pap test every 3 years	 Preferred: HPV and Pap test every 5 years Acceptable: Pap test every 3 years 	No more tests if: • No history of cervical intraspithelial neoplasia 2 or higher within the last 20 years –AND– • Adequate testing history within the last 10 years (most recent test within the past 5 years) of either 3 consecutive negative Pap tests or 2 consecutive negative HPV and Pap tests			

Cytological Screening Recommendations⁷³¹

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

The cytological screen mandate requires coverage for cytological screening (Par smear) annually for women 18 years and older.

For this analysis, the cost of the cytological screening mandate reflected in insurance premiums is estimated as the total cost to fully-insured plans subject to the mandate for cytological screening procedure codes (sample collection and reading and interpretation codes)^{xxix} for women aged 18 or older on the date of service. The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount for the calendar year 2014 study period was \$0.62, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.69 (or 0.16 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Table 33 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

xxix HCPCS codes 88141, 88142, 88143, 88147, 88148, 88155, 88164, 88165, 88174, 88175, P3000, P3001, G0123, G0124, G0141, G0143, G0144, G0145, G0147, G0148, or Q0091.

Measures	•		Sample SI Amount		-SI Allowed & Lower und PMPMs
Sample Users		230,421			
Sample Units		281,588			
Sample Average Members		1,871,491			
Paid PMPM	\$	0.62	N/A		N/A
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.69	N/A		N/A
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.62	N/A		N/A
		equired ect Cost		Lo	Jpper and wer Bound Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745			2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$ 1	7,536,272		\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$ 1	9,703,676		\$	-
Percent of Total Premium		0.16%			0.00%

Table 33 Cytological Screening (Pap Smear) Mandate Required Direct Cost Estimate

* This mandate was judged by carriers to contribute \$0 marginal cost to premiums. Required direct cost was estimated using the Massachusestts APCD.

Hearing Screening for Newborns

This mandate requires coverage for hearing screening for newborns.735

Effect of the mandate on health

Permanent congenital hearing loss (PCHL) affects approximately 1.5 infants screened per thousand in the United States each year.⁷³⁶ In Massachusetts, approximately 1300 newborns each year fail a hearing screening before leaving the hospital, and approximately 220 of these are diagnosed with hearing loss after more extensive testing.⁷³⁷ Hearing loss, if left undetected, can negatively impact a child's development in many ways, resulting in "difficulties later in life, including problems with listening and speaking skills, literacy skills, academic performance, and long-term job opportunities."⁷³⁸ Research suggests that a child's speech and language development is most intensive during the first three years of life, when the brain is creating the nerve pathways necessary for "understanding auditory information."⁷³⁹

Age at diagnosis influences outcomes for children with PCHL: the earlier the detection, the more options and opportunity for treatment, and the better the outcome.^{740,741} As research continues to describe the rapid development of the brain before the age of three,⁷⁴² and positive outcomes are increasingly associated with early enrollment of hearing-impaired children into treatment programs,⁷⁴³ it becomes more critical to lower the age of diagnosis to as early as possible, and at no later than at three months of age.⁷⁴⁴

Universal newborn screening leads to earlier detection and treatment of PCHL.⁷⁴⁵ Newborn screening is the standard of care nationwide, as recommended by the Joint Committee on Infant

Hearing (JCIH), the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders at the U.S. National Institutes of Health, and the U.S. Healthy People 2020 initiative, all of which advocate for universal screening for infants before one month of age.^{746,747,748,749}

The Joint Committee on Infant Hearing (JCIH) endorses early detection of and intervention for infants with hearing loss, "to maximize linguistic competence and literacy development for children who are deaf or hard of hearing."⁷⁵⁰ The group recommends screening for all infants at no later than one month of age, with comprehensive audiological evaluations before three months of age for those who do not pass the initial screening.⁷⁵¹ Before six months of age, those with confirmed hearing "should receive appropriate intervention...from health care and education professionals with expertise in hearing loss and deafness in infants and young children."⁷⁵² The group also recommends that well-child visits for all children include "ongoing surveillance of communicative development beginning at 2 months of age during well-child visits."⁷⁵³

All states have established Early Hearing Detection and Intervention (EHDI), 43 of which mandate newborn hearing screening programs.⁷⁵⁴ These programs are making progress toward the goal of screening all infants, and earlier diagnosis and treatment enrollment for those with hearing loss, as evidenced by a CDC Early Hearing Detection and Intervention survey of 46 U.S. states and territories showing that in 2013, 97 percent of infants were screened for hearing impairments, and 69 percent of infants were diagnosed before three months of age.⁷⁵⁵ In fact, the survey shows improvement in several measures for diagnosis and treatment of PHCL.^{756,757}

	2005	2013	Improvement 2005 to 2013
Infants received hearing screening before age 1 month	80.1%	91.7%	14.5%
Infants received recommended diagnostic follow-up before age 3 months	51.5%	69.2%	34.4%
Infants with hearing loss enrolled in early intervention before age 6 months	57.0%	62.1%	8.9%

CDC EHDI Survey Data for 2005 and 2013

The USPSTF currently gives a "B" rating to screening for hearing loss in all newborns,⁷⁵⁸ although the specific recommendation has been designated "Inactive".⁷⁵⁹ Under the ACA, non-grandfathered health insurance plans must fully cover the costs of recommended preventive services graded "A" or "B" without patient cost sharing (no deductibles, coinsurances or copayments).^{760,761}

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

The hearing screening for newborns mandate requires coverage for newborn hearing screening tests. The cost of the universal newborn hearing screening is based upon the number of newborns in the state who were tested in 2014. The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) reports that 71,573 newborns were tested under the program in 2013.⁷⁶² Applying the statewide 74.7 percent private health insurance rate to the total tested newborns and the 49.1 percent factor representing the proportion of individuals covered by Massachusetts-licensed fully-insured commercial health insurance to that result yields an estimated 26,225 fully-insured and GIC

newborns tested. The average cost of hearing screening tests in the 2014 MA APCD^{xxx} was approximately \$126.56. This brings the total spent by insurers for the newborn screenings to \$3.3 million, or \$3.7 million with an 11 percent administrative load. The total expense PMPM for the 2.4 million privately fully-insured and GIC under-65 individuals is then \$0.13, or 0.03 percent of the total premium. These results are summarized in Table 34 below.

Table 34 Hearing Screening for Newborns Mandate Required Direct Cost Estimate

Measures	Sample FI Amount		Sample SI Amount		-SI Allowed & Lower und PMPMs
Sample Users		N/A			
Sample Units		N/A			
Sample Average Members		N/A			
Paid PMPM	\$	0.12	N/A		N/A
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.13	N/A		N/A
Allowed PMPM		N/A	N/A		N/A
	0	Required Direct Cost		Lo	wer Bound Impact*
Insured Population		2,362,745			2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	3,319,019		\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	3,729,235		\$	-
Percent of Total Premium		0.03%			0.00%

* This mandate was judged by carriers to contribute \$0 marginal cost to premiums. Required direct cost was estimated using secondary data sources.

Hospice Care

The hospice mandate requires coverage for licensed hospice services for terminally ill patients with a life expectancy of six months or less.⁷⁶³

Effect of the mandate on health

Research into the medical effectiveness and efficacy of hospice care is difficult to conduct, given that hospice care is provided to dying patients no longer seeking cures. Hospice care is, instead, "a program of palliative and supportive care services providing physical, psychological, social, and spiritual care for dying persons, their families, and other loved ones."⁷⁶⁴ Services are provided in a variety of settings, including the home, nursing home, and hospital, and are tailored to the needs of individual patients and families. Outcomes of such treatment are variable and subjective, given that care is not intended to improve a disease-state, but is instead a multidisciplinary approach to "caring for the whole person including...physical, emotional, social and spiritual needs."⁷⁶⁵

Measures of the quality of the patient's life are a difficult proxy to use, as data are often difficult to obtain from patients in the period immediately preceding death, and many perceive that a patient's

xxx HCPCS codes 92586, 92587, and 92588.

quality of life often deteriorates until death.⁷⁶⁶ Despite these difficulties, however, some studies have shown hospice care to be associated with a relatively high and stable quality of life,⁷⁶⁷ improved pain control, decreased hospitalizations, and decreased tube feedings for terminal nursing home patients,⁷⁶⁸ improved quality of death,⁷⁶⁹ and a reduction in mortality for the widowed spouse.⁷⁷⁰ A Cochrane review found that home-based hospice care increases the number of patients who die at home versus in the hospital, which is more in line with their personal preferences.⁷⁷¹ Two oft-cited studies found that "for certain well-defined terminally ill populations, among the patients who died, patients who choose hospice care live longer on average than similar patients who do not choose hospice care,"⁷⁷² although the authors point out that more research is needed before generalizing their findings.⁷⁷³

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

In 2009, 22,406 persons received hospice services in Massachusetts through Medicare fee-forservice⁷⁷⁴ at a cost of almost \$231 million.⁷⁷⁵

Assessing the level of hospice spending in Medicare should take into account managed care plan membership, which is not included in the previously cited fee-for-service figures. In 2009, 23 percent of members were enrolled in Medicare Advantage plans.⁷⁷⁶ Assuming that Medicare Advantage members utilize hospice services at the same rate as those in fee-for-service plans, the estimated spending on hospice expense for Medicare would rise to approximately \$300 million in total.

According to the Hospice Association of America, Medicare represents about 84.3 percent of spending for hospice services.⁷⁷⁷ Based on this proportion, overall spending on hospice expenses would be approximately \$356 million in 2009. National Health Expenditures (NHE) data for "other health, residential, and personal care expenditures" reported by for the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) suggests a 5-year inflation rate of 21 percent for this figure,⁷⁷⁸ yielding an estimate of \$431 million in total 2014 hospice spending. The portion of this figure paid by private payers is approximately 7.8 percent,⁷⁷⁹ or \$33.6 million. Applying the 49.1 percent Massachusetts 2014 fully-insured factor provides an estimate of \$16.5 million of hospice spending, assuming similar per-case costs across all private payers. With 11 percent administrative loading, the total spending on hospice care for the under-65 fully-insured member population and self-insured GIC enrollees in Massachusetts in 2014 is estimated at approximately \$18.5 million, or \$0.65 PMPM, representing 0.15 percent of the overall premium. These results are summarized in Table 35 below.

Table 35
Hospice Care Mandate
Required Direct Cost Estimate

Measures		mple FI mount	Sample SI Amount	FI-SI Allowed & Lower Bound PMPMs
Sample Users		N/A		
Sample Units		N/A		
Sample Average Members		N/A		
Paid PMPM	\$	\$ 0.58		N/A
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$ 0.65		N/A	N/A
Allowed PMPM	N/A		N/A	N/A

	Required Direct Cost	Upper and Lower Bound Impact*		
Insured Population	2,362,745		2,362,745	
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$ 16,486,810	\$	-	
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$ 18,524,505	\$	-	
Percent of Total Premium	0.15%		0.00%	

* This mandate was judged by carriers to contribute \$0 marginal cost to premiums. Required direct cost was estimated using secondary data sources.

Lead Poisoning Screening

The lead screening mandate requires coverage for screening for lead poisoning for all children under age six and for others deemed at risk.⁷⁸⁰

Effect of the mandate on health

Elevated blood lead levels can significantly harm many of the body's systems, including cardiovascular, immune, endocrine, and neurological, with irreversible negative impact on cognitive function, especially attention-related behavior and academic achievement.⁷⁸¹ Numerous studies have shown that even low blood lead levels (BLLs; below 10mg/dL) harm children.⁷⁸²

Over time, federal and state legislation has directed the removal of lead from gasoline and residential paints, as well as the reduction of toxic emissions from smelters and other industrial sources.⁷⁸³ This has resulted in a reduction in the median national BLL for children under age 5 from 15 mcg/dL in 1980 (prior to full implementation and effect of legislation) to 3.6 mcg/dL in 1991, and 1.9 mcg/dL by 1999.⁷⁸⁴ According to CDC data, the percentage of children in Massachusetts found to have BLLs greater than 10 mcg/dL has fallen from 3.23 percent in 1997 to 0.32 percent in 2013, a 90 percent reduction over 16 years.⁷⁸⁵

While exposure risk has decreased across the entire population, the prevalence of higher BLLs, as well as risk of exposure, vary significantly within population subgroups and are more frequent among low-income populations more likely to reside in buildings constructed before 1978.⁷⁸⁶

Moreover, research has shifted from focusing on the impact of high BLLs on child health to show the negative impact of lower BLLs (below 10 mcg/dL) on childhood development.⁷⁸⁷

This information has led to a change in public health advocacy from recommending screening of all children for lead exposure, to targeted screening for certain populations and a primary prevention strategy aimed at children and families most likely to live in homes with lead hazards. Many of the recommendations and guidelines issued by public and professional medical organizations have changed over time, as various public health and environmental efforts have been implemented and sometimes phased out, with other approaches evolving and replacing them.⁷⁸⁸

For example, in 2012, the CDC updated its recommendations regarding BLLs in children, and shifted its focus to primary prevention of lead exposure. The new goals are to eradicate BLLs greater than 10 mcg/dL, and eliminate average risk differences that exist "based on race and social class."⁷⁸⁹ The threshold BLL used to identify children who need medical intervention is now lower and will be periodically adjusted, rather than remaining fixed at 10 mcg/dL.⁷⁹⁰ This public health initiative is part of the National Center for Environmental Health's Division of Emergency and Environmental Health Services, and is in line with the Healthy People 2020 program of the federal government, which revised its targets for reducing BLLs for children in 2014, establishing a 10 percent improvement goal for two areas of measurement.⁷⁹¹

According to the American Academy of Pediatrics Bright Futures periodicity table of Recommendations for Preventive Pediatric Health Care, a lead exposure risk assessment is recommended at preventive health visits multiple times during infancy through adolescence.^{792,793} Finger stick blood sample screenings are to be performed at the 12- and 24-month visits if a patient is identified through screening, lives in a high-prevalence area, or is required by Medicaid rules.^{794,795} These rules were updated for children eligible for Medicaid Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and treatment (EPSDT) services in June 2012 by CMS. This policy is now aligned with the CDC recommendations, and supports a targeted screening approach "in States that have sufficient data to support this action."⁷⁹⁶

In Massachusetts, universal screening is required by Department of Public Health regulations, as all children must be screened for lead poisoning at least twice: once between nine and twelve months of age, and again between two and three years of age; children must provide evidence of screening to gain entry to kindergarten.⁷⁹⁷ Children living in areas identified as high risk are also required to be screened at age four.⁷⁹⁸ Children identified by health care providers as high-risk, including those who live in a pre-1978 home that has not been inspected for lead paint, or who have siblings identified with lead poisoning, should be screened every six months between ages six months and three years, and annually at ages four and five.⁷⁹⁹ And children living in a pre-1978 home undergoing renovation and that has not been inspected for lead paint are to be screened within four weeks of the start, monthly during, and once after completion of the renovation.⁸⁰⁰

Only those screenings conducted at age four for children living in areas identified as high risk, or those for children identified by their health care provider as high-risk, are subject to the insurance reimbursement requirements of this mandate.⁸⁰¹

The USPSTF concludes that evidence is insufficient to recommend routine screening for at-risk children, as there is not enough information to "assess the balance between potential benefits and harms."⁸⁰² For children and asymptomatic pregnant women of average risk, the USPSTF has concluded that, "[g]iven the significant potential harms of treatment and residential lead hazard abatement, and no evidence of treatment benefit, ...the harms of [universal] screening...outweigh the benefits."⁸⁰³

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

For this analysis, the cost of the lead screening mandate reflected in insurance premiums is estimated as the total cost to fully-insured plans subject to the mandate for lead screening lab tests (HCPCS code 83655) and collection of capillary blood specimens (HCPCS code 36416) within the week prior to the lab test for children aged 5 or younger on the date of service. The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount for the calendar 2014 study period was \$0.04, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.05 (or 0.01 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). These results are summarized below in Table 36.

Table 36 Lead Poisoning Screening Mandate Required Direct Cost Estimate

Measures		Sample FI Amount	Sample SI Amount	FI-SI Allowed & Lower Bound PMPMs
Sample Users		43,023		
Sample Units		49,226		
Sample Average Members	1,871,491			
Paid PMPM	\$	0.04	N/A	N/A
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.05	N/A	N/A
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.04	N/A	N/A
		Direct Cost		Lower Bound
Insured Population		2,362,745		2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$	1,200,660		\$-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$	1,349,057		\$-

* This mandate was judged by carriers to contribute \$0 marginal cost to premiums. Required direct cost was estimated using the Massachusestts APCD.

0.01%

Mammography

The mammography mandate requires coverage for one "baseline" mammogram between ages 35 and 40, and annual measurements thereafter.⁸⁰⁴

Effect of the mandate on health

Percent of Total Premium

According to the CDC, breast cancer is the most common cancer for women in the United States, and is second only to lung cancer in mortality rate.⁸⁰⁵ Mammography can detect presymptomatic breast

0.00%

cancer which can be more effectively treated at this early stage.⁸⁰⁶ Screening can also reduce breast cancer mortality, especially for women ages 50 to 74. The U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) states that the "strongest evidence for the greatest benefit is among women aged 60 to 69 years."⁸⁰⁷

However, screening also can result in unnecessary additional tests and treatments, as well as the psychological harm associated with false-positive results.⁸⁰⁸ Some cancers found through mammography and treated may not become "clinically apparent during a woman's lifetime", so-called "over-diagnosis", or may become clinically apparent but not result in a shortened life expectancy.⁸⁰⁹ False-positive results are more common in women age 40 to 49, while over-diagnosis is "a greater concern" for women who are older.⁸¹⁰

While experts agree that mammography is effective in identifying breast cancer, the recommended screening schedule is somewhat controversial, particularly regarding the risks and benefits of annual mammography for women of average risk between 40 and 50 years of age. Various organizations have changed their guidelines multiple times within the past 10 to 15 years; the most recent guidelines of seven leading organizations are reflected in the following table.

	Recommendation for Women				
Issuing Organization (Year)	Age 40-49	Age 50-74/75	Age 75+	systematic review	
American Academy of Family Physicians ⁸¹¹ (2013)	Based on counseling and individual decision	Age 50-74 Screen every 1-2 years	Insufficient evidence for recommendation	Yes (USPSTF cited)	
American Cancer Society ⁸¹² (2015)	Screen annually beginning at age 45. Opportunity for annual screening for women age 40- 44.	Screen biennially.		Yes ⁸¹³	
Previous American Cancer Society ⁸¹⁴ (2003; revised 2014)	Screen annually	Screen annually indefinitely in healthy patients		No	
American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists ⁸¹⁵ (2011)	Screen annually	Individualiz		Yes (based on USPSTF)	
American College of Physicians ^{816,817} (2007) (ACP)	Based on counseling and individual decision	Age 50-74 Screen annually Based on counseling and individual decision		Yes	
American College of Radiology ⁸¹⁸ (2013)	Screen annually	Screen annually until life expectancy is less than 5-7 years		No	
Institute for Clinical Systems Improvement ⁸¹⁹ (2013)	Based on counseling and individual decision	Age 50-75 Screen every 1-2 years; consider screening older women based on shared decision making	Based on counseling and individual decision	No (USPSTF cited)	

	Based on			
Issuing Organization (Year)	Age 40-49	Age 50-74/75	Age 75+	systematic review
U.S. Preventive Service Task Force (2009) ⁸²⁰	Based on counseling and individual decision; do not screen routinely	Age 50-74 Screen biennially (Grade B)	Evidence for screening is insufficient	Yes

The Massachusetts mandate is in line with the 2003 American Cancer Society (ACS), American College of Radiology (ACR), and American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) recommendations of annual mammography for women beginning at age 40.^{821, 822,823}

In October 2015, the American Cancer Society revised its guidelines, based on its systematic review of evidence on breast cancer screening published to date, as well as judgment on the benefits and harms of screening that incorporated the values and preferences of patients and providers.⁸²⁴ Screening is now recommended annually for women beginning at age 45.⁸²⁵

The final recommendations of the USPSTF, released in 2016, give a "B" rating to the recommendation for women ages 50 to 74 to receive a biennial mammogram. ⁸²⁶ They again state that evidence in support of screening for women ages 75 and over is insufficient, and that for women between the ages of 40 and 49, "[t]he decision to start screening prior to age 50 years should be an individual one. Women who place a higher value on the potential benefit than the potential harms may choose to begin screening between the ages of 40 and 49 years."⁸²⁷

Under its current recommendations, the USPSTF gave the recommendations for biennial mammography for women age 50 to 74 a grade of "B".⁸²⁸ Under the ACA, non-grandfathered health insurance plans must fully cover the costs of recommended preventive services graded "A" or "B" without patient cost sharing (no deductibles, coinsurances or copayments).^{829,830}

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

The mammography mandate requires coverage for one "baseline" mammogram between ages 35 and 40, and annual measurements thereafter. For this analysis, the cost of the mammography mandate reflected in insurance premiums is estimated as the total cost to fully-insured plans subject to the mandate for one bilateral (HCPCS code 77056 or 77057) or two unilateral mammograms (HCPCS code 77057), plus the first additional thoracic radiological service^{xxxi} incurred subsequent to the mammogram, per woman aged 35 or over receiving at least one mammogram during 2014. The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount for the calendar year 2014 study period was \$0.62, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$0.70 (or 0.16 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). These results are summarized below in Table 37.

^{xxxi} HCPCS codes 77051, 77052, 77053, or 77054.

				FI-S	Allowed
Measures	Samp Amo		•		Lower d PMPMs
Sample Users		251,351			
Sample Units		489,773			
Sample Average Members	1	,871,491			
Paid PMPM	\$	0.62	N/A		N/A
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	0.70	N/A		N/A
Allowed PMPM	\$	0.63	N/A		N/A
		equired ect Cost			er Bound npact*
Insured Population		2,362,745			2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$ 17	,692,055		\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$ 19	9,878,713		\$	-
		0.16%			0.00%

Table 37 Mammography Mandate **Required Direct Cost Estimate**

ELSI Allowed

Required direct cost was estimated using the Massachusestts APCD.

Maternity Care and Minimum Maternity Stay

The maternity care mandate requires coverage for "prenatal care, childbirth and post partum care to the same extent as provided for medical conditions not related to pregnancy" with a "minimum 48 hours of in-patient care following a vaginal delivery and a minimum of 96 hours of inpatient care following a caesarean section (c-section)."831

Effect of the mandate on health

Prenatal care has been practiced widely in the U.S. since the early twentieth century, and has proven effective at minimizing maternal mortality⁸³² and helping to reduce fetal, newborn, and perinatal (associated with birth) mortality.833 Further, studies have shown better control of preeclampsia (pregnancy-related high blood pressure),⁸³⁴ gestational diabetes,⁸³⁵ and HIV⁸³⁶ through prenatal care. Some research also points to a reduction in pre-term delivery, full-term low birth weight, and babies small for their gestational age for women with adequate prenatal care.837

Length of maternity stay

Studies of maternity stays have found that hospital discharges for newborns at any time less than 48 hours "significantly increases the risk for readmission."838 The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) cite a myriad of problems that may arise if a hospital stay is not sufficiently long to identify problems and ensure the mother "is sufficiently recovered and prepared to care for herself and her newborn at home."⁸³⁹ Issues include neonatal cardiopulmonary problems, jaundice, ductal-dependent cardiac lesions, and gastrointestinal obstructions for the newborn, as well as endometritis and other significant

maternal complications.⁸⁴⁰ Services performed in the post-partum/pre-discharge stay include newborn screenings and risk assessment; administration of immunizations; maternal and family counseling and assessments, and perinatal education on issues such as breast-feeding, newborn sleep position, tobacco smoke exposure, car seat safety, mental health including post-partum depression, and domestic violence; and follow-up care planning for mother and baby.⁸⁴¹

Post-partum hospital stays for mother and baby have changed significantly over the last four decades, with stays for vaginal delivery dropping from 3.9 to 1.8 days and for caesarian deliveries from 7.8 to 3.5 days between 1970 and 1998.⁸⁴² Beginning with a movement to "demedicalize" childbirth, followed by continued pressure to reduce costs,⁸⁴³ postpartum lengths of stay continued to decrease until the mid-1990s. In 1992, the AAP and ACOG published joint guidelines for postpartum hospital stays, including a 48-hour stay for an uncomplicated vaginal birth, and a 96-hour stay for an uncomplicated c-section, excluding the day of delivery; their 2007 publication restated these guidelines.⁸⁴⁴ By 1997, 32 states had adopted laws intended to set minimum required lengths of stay following delivery for both mothers and newborns, with the federal government enacting the federal Newborns' and Mothers' Health Protection Act of 1996, effective in 1998.⁸⁴⁵ This federal law provides that "[g]roup health plans that are subject to the Newborns' Act may not restrict benefits for a hospital stay in connection with childbirth to less than 48 hours following a vaginal delivery or 96 hours following a delivery by cesarean section. However, the attending provider may decide, after consulting with the mother, to discharge the mother and/or her newborn child earlier."⁸⁴⁶

In some states, according to the U.S. Department of Labor, "[b]ased on a recent preliminary review of State laws, it appears that State law applies in lieu of the Federal Newborns' Act."^{847,848} This is true in Massachusetts, where the state law pertaining to minimum inpatient stays following birth applies. The Massachusetts statute mandates coverage for "expense of prenatal care, childbirth and postpartum care to the same extent as provided for medical conditions not related to pregnancy" with "minimum 48 hours of inpatient care following a vaginal delivery and a minimum of 96 hours of inpatient care following a caesarean section."⁸⁴⁹

The most current APA and ACOG recommendation from 2013 states that "[t]he length of stay of a healthy term newborn should be based on the unique characteristics of each mother-infant dyad, including the health of the mother, the health and stability of the infant, the ability and confidence of the mother to care for her infant, the adequacy of support systems at home, and access to appropriate follow-up care."^{850,851} AAP and ACOG further outline the minimal criteria that should be met by mother and newborn when the physician and mother want a shortened hospital stay, stating that "[w]hen no complications are present, the postpartum hospital stay usually ranges from 48 hours for vaginal delivery to 96 hours for cesarean delivery, excluding the day of delivery."^{852,853} Other studies echo this conclusion, stating that individualized discharge plans "jointly tailored to a family's needs rather than to a set timescale" are appropriate, as a "lack of readiness" for postpartum discharge was associated with poorer health outcomes and increased health care use by patients (mothers and newborns) in the first 2 to 4 weeks after discharge.⁸⁵⁴

The intended and observed result of legislative mandates targeting postpartum length of stay was to increase average length of stay and to compress variability in length of stay among population

sub-groups.^{855,856} Further, evidence has shown that early discharge legislation has decreased risk for infant readmission,^{857,858} emergency room visits,⁸⁵⁹ morbidity,⁸⁶⁰ and mortality.⁸⁶¹ One study found a 36 percent reduction in infant mortality in its study population,⁸⁶² while another states that "one infant life could be saved for each 1400 normal newborns moved from early discharge (less than 30 h[ours]) to longer length of stay."⁸⁶³ Other research suggests that mothers who stayed only one night after vaginal delivery reported more distress, fatigue, and pediatric problems than mothers who stayed two nights, and used more outpatient services following discharge. Likewise, these mothers were less likely to initiate and/or continue breastfeeding.⁸⁶⁴ Some research suggests, however, that improved mortality and morbidity rates depend on the content of post-partum services, which should be more uniformly defined and administered.^{865,866} On average, the biggest increase in length of stay was for uncomplicated vaginal deliveries, as c-section and more complicated deliveries already resulted in longer stays.⁸⁶⁷ However, other research has shown that the impact on both length of stay and marginal charges is much more moderate than was reported in the years immediately following the passage of the legislation.⁸⁶⁸

Home visits

For mothers and newborns discharged early, (after less than 48 hours for vaginal delivery and 96 hours for cesarean delivery), the mandate provides that post-delivery care must include "home visits, parent education, assistance and training in breast or bottle feeding and the performance of any necessary and appropriate clinical tests."⁸⁶⁹ The first home visit must be "conducted by a registered nurse, physician, or certified nurse midwife," with subsequent clinically-necessary visits to be conducted by a licensed health care provider.

According to the AAP, following post-partum discharge, home visits are intended to verify the overall health, hydration, and extent of jaundice of the infant; identify new problems; assess mother's mental health and maternal-infant bond; conduct additional screens and provide immunizations; and reinforce education and health care planning and maintenance.⁸⁷⁰ Yet while these visits are not common practice in the United States,⁸⁷¹ they are recommended by many health and public organizations, including the AAP,⁸⁷² the US Advisory Board on Child Abuse and Neglect,⁸⁷³ and the CDC's Task Force on Community Preventive Services.^{874,875} These visits have been found to be cost-effective based solely on the observed reduction in costs associated with readmission, and the need for other hospital-based services in the first 10 days of life.⁸⁷⁶ However, beyond these savings, a variety of significant health benefits to both child and mother have resulted from these visits, including a decrease in missed well-infant visits;⁸⁷⁷ identification of psychosocial issues and post-partum depression and improvement in the maternal-child bond;⁸⁷⁸ a reduction of incidence of child abuse or neglect;^{879,880} fewer emergency department visits and unintentional injuries, ingestions, and poisonings;⁸⁸¹ and a reduction in sudden infant death syndrome.⁸⁸²

Under the ACA, non-grandfathered health insurance plans must fully cover the costs of recommended preventive services without patient cost sharing (no deductibles, coinsurances or copayments).^{883,884} These include services graded "A" or "B" by the USPSTF; immunizations recommended by the CDC Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP); and screenings and preventive care for infants, children, adolescents and women listed in the comprehensive

guidelines supported by the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA).⁸⁸⁵ For pregnant women, mandated preventive services include a wide range of screenings and other services.⁸⁸⁶ For newborns, mandated preventive services include screenings listed from the previously cited organizations, as well as from the AAP's Bright Futures Recommendations for Preventive Pediatric Health Care.^{887,888,889}

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

The Massachusetts statute mandates coverage for "expense of prenatal care, childbirth and post partum care to the same extent as provided for medical conditions not related to pregnancy" with "minimum 48 hours of inpatient care following a vaginal delivery and a minimum of 96 hours of inpatient care following a caesarean section."

A January 2013 study estimated average 2010 Massachusetts private-payer costs for prenatal, delivery, and postpartum care at \$16,888 for vaginal births and \$20,620 for cesarean births.⁸⁹⁰ Trending these costs forward to 2014 using the NHE hospital expenditures data⁸⁹¹ results in 2014 expenses per birth of \$21,360 and \$26,080 for vaginal and cesarean births, respectively. The Massachusetts Department of Public Health's 2014 births report indicates there were 13,559 privately-insured cesarean births and 28,426 vaginal births in the state in that year,⁸⁹² resulting in total privately-insured maternity care costs of \$960.8 million. Applying the 49.1 percent fully-insured and GIC factor to this result yields a claims estimate of \$471.3 million, or \$16.62 PMPM. With administrative loading, the total expense is \$529.5 million, or \$18.68 PMPM (4.28 percent of total Commonwealth fully-insured premium). These results are summarized in Table 38.

				FI-	SIAllowed
Ma	Sample FI Amount		Sample SI Amount		& Lower and PMPMs
Measures	P	inount	Amount	DUI	
Sample Users		N/A			
Sample Units		N/A			
Sample Average Members		N/A			
Paid PMPM	\$	16.62	N/A		N/A
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	18.68	N/A		N/A
Allowed PMPM	N/A		N/A		N/A
				ι	Jpper and
	R	equired		Lo	wer Bound
	Direct Cost			-	Impact
Insured Population	2,362,745				2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$471,273,073			\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$529,520,307			\$	-
Percent of Total Premium		4.28%			0.00%

Table 38 Maternity Care Mandate Required Direct Cost Estimate

FI-SI Allowed

* This mandate was judged by carriers to contribute \$0 marginal cost to premiums. Required direct cost was estimated using secondary data sources.

Mental Health Care

The mental health care (or mental health parity) mandate requires coverage for services to treat certain mental illnesses – including schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, affective disorders, eating disorders, PTSD, and autism, and any biologically-based disorders recognized by the Commissioner of the Department of Mental Health – on a nondiscriminatory basis, meaning the policy does not contain any annual or lifetime dollar or unit of service limitation on coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of such mental disorders which is less than any such limitation imposed on coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of physical conditions. The mandate defines the types of services for which coverage is required, including qualifying facilities, levels of care, and provider types (psychiatrist, psychologist, clinical social worker, alcohol and drug counselor, etc.).⁸⁹³

Effect of the mandate on health

Mental illness is the leading cause of disability in America, accounting for 25 percent of all years of life lost to disability and premature mortality.⁸⁹⁴ Moreover, suicide, most often attributable to mental illness, is the tenth leading cause of death in America, with over 40,000 cases each year.⁸⁹⁵

According to Healthy People 2020, mental health is "a state of successful performance of mental function, resulting in productive activities, fulfilling relationships with other people, and the ability to adapt to change and to cope with challenges."⁸⁹⁶ Mental illness occurs when a person experiences an abnormality in thinking (cognition) or perception, emotion or mood, or behavioral integration, such as planning and social interactions.⁸⁹⁷ The American Psychiatric Association (APA)'s Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, 5th edition (DSM-V), defines a mental disorder as:

[A] syndrome characterized by clinically significant disturbance in an individual's cognition, emotion regulation, or behavior that reflects a dysfunction in the psychological, biological, or developmental processes underlying mental functioning. Mental disorders are usually associated with significant distress or disability in social, occupational, or other important activities.⁸⁹⁸

Major diagnostic categories of mental disorders include:899

- Neurodevelopmental disorders
- Schizophrenic spectrum and other psychotic disorders
- Bipolar and related disorders
- Depressive disorders
- Anxiety disorders
- Obsessive-compulsive and related disorders
- Trauma- and stressor-related disorders
- Dissociative disorders
- Somatic symptom and related disorders
- Feeding and eating disorders

- Sleep-wake disorders
- Sexual dysfunctions
- Gender dysphoria
- Disruptive, impulse-control and conduct disorders
- Substance-related and addictive disorders
- Neurocognitive disorders
- Personality disorders
- Paraphilic disorders
- Medication-induced movement disorders and other adverse effects of medication
- Other mental disorders

The National Institutes of Health estimates that 18.5 percent of adults have a mental, behavioral, or emotional disorder (excluding developmental and substance use disorders) diagnosed currently or within the past year of duration sufficient "to meet diagnostic criteria specified within the 4th edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV)."⁹⁰⁰ In a 2013 survey of the population over age 12, 8.2 percent were classified with a substance abuse or dependence disorder based on the DSM-IV.⁹⁰¹ For adults age 18 and over with any mental illness, 17.5 percent abused or were dependent on alcohol or illicit drugs; this number rose to 23 percent for those with a serious mental illness.⁹⁰²

For children ages 13 to 18, the lifetime prevalence of a mental disorder is 43.8 percent, and over 20 percent either currently or at some point in their lives have had a seriously debilitating mental disorder.⁹⁰³ The most common illness for children was attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder with a prevalence rate of 8.6 percent, followed by 3.7 percent with mood disorders, and 2.7 percent with major depression.⁹⁰⁴

In 2014, 14.8 percent of adults in the United States received treatment (inpatient or outpatient counseling or prescription medication) for a mental health problem,⁹⁰⁵ up from 13.4 percent in 2008. Of adults with any mental illness, 44.7 percent received treatment, while 68.5 percent for those with serious mental illness received treatment.⁹⁰⁶ For children ages 8-15 with a diagnosed mental disorder, 50.6 percent used mental health services in the last year.⁹⁰⁷ Overall, for children ages 12-17, 13.6 percent received specialty mental health services in 2014.⁹⁰⁸

Studies linking physical and mental health issues continue to show successful treatment of mental illness is critical to both mental and physical health. Simply put, those with mental illnesses are less able to exercise health-promoting behaviors, while individuals with chronic illnesses are more likely to suffer from mental health issues that may in turn impede treatment and recovery. Treatments generally fall into the broad categories of psychotherapy and medication, and may incorporate multimodal therapy, or a combination of the two. Psychotherapy is used to help patients understand their illnesses, and provides tools to manage symptoms and improve function. It includes such commonly used methods as cognitive behavioral therapy, dialectical behavioral therapy, interpersonal therapy, and family-focused therapy.⁹⁰⁹ Other therapies include psychodynamic, light, expressive or creative arts, animal-assisted, and play.⁹¹⁰ Pharmacological therapy for mental illness generally refers to drugs categorized as antipsychotics, antidepressants, mood stabilizers, antianxiety, and stimulants.⁹¹¹ New treatments include brain stimulation therapy, the direct activation or touching of the brain with electricity, magnets, or implants.⁹¹²

Treatments vary by individual, illness, and other factors that also influence a patient's outcomes; research on effectiveness reflects these and other variables. The seminal 1999 U.S. Surgeon General's report on mental illness noted that "[t]he efficacy of mental health treatments is well documented, and...a range of treatments exists for most mental disorders."⁹¹³ The U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration lists almost 400 mental health and substance abuse interventions in its National Registry of Evidence-Based Programs and Practices.^{914,915}

The National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) published its "Principles of Effective Treatment" for substance abuse disorders, outlining general points that research has shown improve outcomes of

treatment for this chronic disease.⁹¹⁶ In general, NIDA states that while "[e]ach approach to drug treatment is designed to address certain aspects of drug addiction and its consequences for the individual, family, and society," effective treatment is based on the premises that:⁹¹⁷

- Addiction is a complex but treatable disease that affects brain function and behavior.
- No single treatment is appropriate for everyone.
- Treatment needs to be readily available; remaining in treatment for an adequate period of time is critical.
- Many addicted individuals have other mental disorders; effective treatment attends to all needs of the individual, not just drug abuse.
- Behavioral therapies—including individual, family, or group counseling—are the most common forms of drug abuse treatment.
- Medications are an important element of treatment, especially when combined with counseling and other behavioral therapies.

- Medically-assisted detoxification is only the first stage of addiction treatment and by itself does little to change long-term drug abuse.
- A treatment plan must be assessed continually and modified as necessary.
- Treatment does not need to be voluntary to be effective.
- Drug use during treatment must be monitored continuously.
- Treatment programs should test patients for the presence of HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, hepatitis, and other infectious diseases and provide risk-reduction counseling, linking patients to needed treatment.

Research continues on the efficacy of specific treatments for specific mental illnesses and comorbidities, reflected in recommendations such as those from the USPSTF. For example, in a series of 2016 recommendations specific to major depressive disorder (MDD), the USPSTF found that:

[e]ffective treatment of depression in adults generally includes antidepressants or specific psychotherapy approaches (eg, CBT or brief psychosocial counseling), alone or in combination. Given the potential harms to the fetus and newborn child from certain pharmacologic agents, clinicians are encouraged to consider CBT or other evidence-based counseling interventions when managing depression in pregnant or breastfeeding women.⁹¹⁸

For adolescents, the USPSTF concluded that:

[t]reatment options for MDD in children and adolescents include pharmacotherapy, psychotherapy, collaborative care, psychosocial support interventions, and complementary and alternative medicine approaches. Fluoxetine is approved by the FDA for treatment of MDD in children aged 8 years or older, and escitalopram is approved for treatment of MDD in adolescents aged 12 to 17 years. The FDA has issued a boxed warning for antidepressants, recommending that patients of all ages who start antidepressant therapy be monitored appropriately and observed closely for clinical worsening, suicidality, or unusual changes in behavior. Collaborative care is a multicomponent, health care system–level intervention that uses care managers to link primary care providers, patients, and mental health specialists.⁹¹⁹

Under the ACA, non-grandfathered health insurance plans must fully cover the costs of recommended preventive services graded "A" or "B" without patient cost sharing (no deductibles, coinsurances or copayments).^{920,921} For mental health preventive services, the USPSTF currently gives a grade "B" rating to:

• Screening adults, including pregnant and postpartum women, for depression when staff-assisted depression care supports are in place to assure accurate diagnosis, effective treatment, and follow-up⁹²²

- Screening adults 18 years or older for alcohol misuse and providing persons engaged in risky or hazardous drinking with brief behavioral counseling interventions to reduce alcohol misuse⁹²³
- Screening adolescents (12-18 years of age) for major depressive disorder (MDD) when systems are in place to ensure accurate diagnosis, psychotherapy (cognitive-behavioral or interpersonal), and follow-up⁹²⁴

Estimate of the cost of the mandate

The ACA requires coverage for treatment of inpatient and outpatient mental health/substance abuse disorder as an essential health benefit and requires qualified health plans to comply with the Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act of 2008 (MHPAEA). The MHPAEA requires parity between coverage for mental health/substance use disorder benefits and medical/surgical benefits.

The state mental health parity mandate explicitly requires coverage for "intermediate services." The MHPAEA categorizes such services as inpatient or outpatient, and this analysis assumes that such an interpretation applies also to the scope of the services required under the ACA, and therefore the ACA requires coverage even for intermediate services, as well as inpatient and outpatient services. Therefore, this analysis assumes the Massachusetts mental health care mandate to be superseded by federal law; the marginal cost of the state mandate is therefore zero.

The estimated RDC PMPM paid claim amount was \$16.06, with a total PMPM cost, after administrative loading, of \$18.05 (or 4.14 percent of the Commonwealth total premium). Table 39 below displays a summary of these results and related statistics.

Measures	Sample Fl Amount		Sample SI Amount	FI-SI Allowed & Lower Bound PMPMs	
Sample Users	295,071				
Sample Units	5,752,331				
Sample Average Members	1,871,491				
Paid PMPM	\$	16.06	N/A		N/A
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	18.05	N/A		N/A
Allowed PMPM	\$	19.09	N/A		N/A
		equired ect Cost		Low	oper and er Bound npact*
Insured Population		2,362,745 2,362,7		2,362,745	
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$45	5,398,794		\$	-

Table 39 Mental Health Care Mandate Required Direct Cost Estimate

* The requirements of the Massachusetts mandate have been superseded by federal law. Required direct cost was estimated using the Massachusestts APCD.

4.14%

\$

0.00%

Contribution to Total Annual Premium \$511,684,038

Percent of Total Premium

Off-label Use of Prescription Drugs to Treat Cancer

This mandate requires the Commissioner of Insurance to establish a panel of experts to review offlabel uses of prescription drugs for the treatment of cancer for medical appropriateness and to direct insurers to make payments consistent with those recommendations.⁹²⁵

Effect of the mandate on health

The off-label use of prescription drugs to treat cancer mandate requires the Commissioner of Insurance to establish a panel of experts to review off-label uses of prescription drugs for the treatment of cancer for medical appropriateness and to direct insurers to make payments consistent with those recommendations.

The Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetics Act of 1938 created the Food & Drug Administration (FDA) in part to control the activities of pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers in the United States.⁹²⁶ The act specifically regulates manufacturer's activities, but not physician prescribing practices.⁹²⁷

When the FDA approves a drug for market, it also approves its labeling. Labeling is specific to the approved indications for use, dosage, patient population, and method of administration.⁹²⁸ Physicians, however, are not limited to prescribing the drug according to its label, and may prescribe drugs for "off-label" uses, or those not specifically approved by the FDA. However, manufacturers may not provide information about off-label uses to health care providers or patients, except reprints of peer-reviewed research articles as submitted to the FDA, and only for those products for which the manufacturer is seeking supplemental use approval.⁹²⁹ Off-label use is not the same as expanded access or special exemption, which are FDA processes allowing patients not eligible for clinical trials access to investigational treatments not yet FDA-approved.⁹³⁰

The approval process for drugs can take between eight and twelve years; for every 5,000 to 10,000 compounds that begin the process, only one receives marketing approval.⁹³¹ Because of the expense and time needed to obtain FDA-approved use of a drug, off-label prescribing has become "an integral part of contemporary medicine."⁹³² One study found that 57 percent of new drug uses come from field discovery, and not through clinical trials.⁹³³ Another study, published in 2006, found that 21 percent of prescriptions written in the U.S. were for off-label use.⁹³⁴ The practice is so widespread that Consumer Reports magazine publishes a guide to off-label prescription drugs,⁹³⁵ as well as explanations of the risks and benefits of off-label uses.⁹³⁶ A 2008 survey found that 80 percent of oncologists prescribe off-label treatments, and that 50 percent of chemotherapy treatments are off-label uses.⁹³⁷

Off-label use is common in cancer treatment for a variety of reasons. First, certain drugs approved for treatment of specific tumor types are effective against a broader array of tumors. Second, cancer is often treated with drug combinations, including one or more off-label. These combinations change frequently, as evidence gathers about their effectiveness. Third, cancer treatment continues to evolve quickly. Fourth, oncologists often treat terminal patients whose approved treatment options may be exhausted. And finally, oncologists may be more open than are other specialists to experimenting with off-label treatments for their patients.⁹³⁸

But this practice is not without significant risks and controversy. Critics stress the risks of drugs where rigorous scientific evidence does not exist for additional applications; such dangers may range from a drug's ineffectiveness to its causing outright harm. Clinical study protocols and the FDA itself were created to protect patients from the harm of unknown outcomes and experimental practices. While the FDA cannot regulate physician prescribing, malpractice suits against practitioners and class action suits against manufacturers have increasingly admitted the court system into this area of medicine, bringing with them the threat of significant financial risk and, more recently, criminal penalties.^{939,940} The provider community itself is divided; the same survey of oncologists that revealed widespread off-label prescribing found that "attitudes and practices…vary substantially."⁹⁴¹

Despite the risks, approved treatment options remain limited for certain patients, leaving doctors to continue to prescribe off-label uses for drugs. However, no widely systematic or transparent method currently exists to collect information on off-label use, and manufacturers are prohibited from distributing any such information they collect. One study found the use of off-label medication to be quite common in outpatient care, with most (73 percent) occurring "without scientific support."⁹⁴² Further, "[s]tudies suggest that many physicians rely on experience, anecdotal reports, and opinion leaders to guide their treatment decisions, often failing to demand solid evidence for their prescribing choices."⁹⁴³ Since the decision to prescribe the off-label drug is a professional judgment, and the mandate is by nature broad, it is inevitable that some uses are efficacious while others are not.

Professional medical societies defend the rights of physicians to prescribe pharmaceuticals for offlabel uses, although they differ in the strength of their advocacy. The American Medical Association (AMA) "confirms its strong support for the autonomous clinical decision-making authority of a physician and that a physician may lawfully use an FDA approved drug product or medical device for an unlabeled indication when such use is based upon sound scientific evidence and sound medical opinion," and calls for full reimbursement of such prescriptions as "reasonable and necessary medical care."⁹⁴⁴ The American College of Physicians (ACP) states that "physicians should continue to be able to prescribe covered drugs for accepted off-label uses," but "opposes any efforts to weaken FDA authority to demand rigorous evaluations of drugs and medical devices for both safety and effectiveness based on sound scientific and medical evidence and opposes legislative attempts to curtail FDA authority to establish and maintain standards of safety and effectiveness for approval of drugs and medical devices."⁹⁴⁵ While these societies leave treatment decisions to physicians, each encourages its members to study available information to determine whether off-label prescribing is in the best interest of the patient.

For anticancer chemotherapeutic regimens, CMS cites three compendia recognized in the Social Security Act as "authoritative sources for use in the determination of a 'medically-accepted indication' of drugs and biologicals used off-label in an anticancer chemotherapeutic regimen."⁹⁴⁶ These include the American Medical Association Drug Evaluations (AMA-DE), United States Pharmacopoeia-Drug Information (USP-DI), and the American Hospital Formulary Service-Drug Information (AHFS-DI).⁹⁴⁷ Yet a study of these found that while oncologists rely on compendia for off-label indications and reimbursement information, even these "lack transparency, cite little current evidence, and lack systematic methods to review or update evidence."⁹⁴⁸ The ACP states that "[w]hen considering an innovative therapy that has no precedent, the physician should consult with peers, an institutional review board, or other expert group to assess the risks, potential adverse outcomes, potential consequences of foregoing a standard therapy, and whether the innovation is in the patient's best interest."⁹⁴⁹

Reimbursement for off-label prescriptions is inconsistent and complex. Many states, like Massachusetts, mandate coverage for off-label prescriptions for certain types of drugs. Likewise, Medicare Part D only covers payment for drugs with FDA approval, or for uses supported in their approved drug compendia, including DRUGDEX, USP-DI, and AMA-DE.⁹⁵⁰ Further, Part B will pay for oral anticancer drugs with the same active ingredients and indications as chemotherapy drugs, even if they have not received FDA approval for that use.⁹⁵¹ However, as the AMA-DE and USP-DI are no longer published, the issue of acceptable compendia has become even more complex.⁹⁵²

In response to advocates' calls for expanded access to drugs for additional uses, the FDA has done much in recent years to change its rulings and guidance to enable distribution of therapies which have proven effective, especially in cases in which formal approval has not been applied for or granted. The 2007 FDA Amendments Act made changes that impacted off-label prescribing.⁹⁵³ First it expands information collected and studied about drugs following approval. The agency now has more authority to monitor safety after approval, and has funding to set up a stronger postmarketing surveillance system as well as an active monitoring system to discover adverse events involving a drug.⁹⁵⁴ The agency is empowered to use large clinical databases to determine a drug's safety, including when used off-label, and may now order manufacturers to conduct post-approval studies to identify risks.⁹⁵⁵ Second, manufacturers must now register their studies, making the information on off-label use more robust and available to physicians and the public, and further preventing the industry from hiding negative results about their products.⁹⁵⁶ And third, the FDA has more power to act when a product appears harmful, including the ability to change labeling to outline harms of certain off-label drug applications.⁹⁵⁷ An example is labeling changes to antidepressants, long prescribed off-label to teenagers and children without FDA approval; studies demonstrated that these drugs may increase suicidal thoughts and tendencies in younger populations, and the FDA recently added this warning to its labels for prescribers and patients. Furthermore, the FDA can limit distribution of certain drugs only to physicians with specialized training. ⁹⁵⁸ More recently, in 2009, the FDA issued non-binding guidance outlining means by which manufacturers may inform physicians of unapproved uses for approved drugs by distributing articles from independent medical and scientific resources.959

Despite these changes, off-label prescribing is still widespread in the practice of medicine. However, most patients are not aware that it happens at all. Physicians are not required to inform a patient that a prescribed treatment is not FDA approved; therefore, patients may not be aware of the treatment's uncertainty and potential risks, nor of the potential additional cost of an off-label treatment that may not be reimbursable. In fact, one poll has shown that half of patients mistakenly think that doctors may only prescribe drugs for FDA approved uses, while another 25 percent are not sure if a drug must be approved to be prescribed, meaning only one-quarter of patients are aware that drugs may be prescribed for unapproved uses. In the same study, almost half state that doctors should not be able to prescribe off-label uses and 62 percent believe off-label prescribing should be permitted only during an approved clinical trial.⁹⁶⁰ However, as the disclosure that a prescribed drug is used off-label is not legally required and is left to the discretion of the treating physician, the American Academy of Pediatrics has concluded, for example, that "discussion about the off-label status of a drug may, as a matter of professional judgment, be part of the information provided to the patient or parents."⁹⁶¹

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

An estimate of the costs of off-label drug use for cancer treatment would require a large, dedicated research effort, a comprehensive claim database (preferably from Massachusetts), and extensive clinical definition of potential off-label use, associated diagnoses, etc. Even with such an effort, ambiguities would likely remain in the results. Moreover, it was also the opinion of the participating health plans that these costs would be incurred by the plans even without the mandate laws in place (and therefore, the marginal cost of the mandate is zero) because it would be difficult to identify and monitor such prescribing practices. While there was general consensus among the plans about the treatment benefits of using off-label drugs, the cost-effectiveness of such treatments have not been studied comprehensively.

Off-label Use of Prescription Drugs to Treat HIV/AIDS

The general issues arising from the practice of prescribing off-label drugs are outlined in the preceding section on off-label uses of drugs for cancer treatment. This mandate requires coverage for prescription drugs for off-label use in the treatment of HIV/AIDS if the drug is recognized for treatment of such indication in one of the standard reference compendia or in the medical literature.⁹⁶²

Effect of the mandate on health

The preceding section on off-label uses of drugs for cancer treatment outlines the general issues arising from prescribing off-label drugs. Off-label prescriptions do not comply with the diagnostic or condition indications, and/or the administration dosage requirements validated as safe and effective by the FDA.⁹⁶³ Drugs are often used off-label in response to unmet medical needs, the needs of poorly-studied or unstudied populations, or urgent public health needs, when it is reasonable to assume that the drug could effectively treat a given condition.⁹⁶⁴ Yet off-label use is complicated by a lack of information regarding safety and effectiveness, appropriate route, use and dosage, as well as complex reimbursement issues, especially in relation to insurance coverage for non-approved pharmaceuticals. This mandate requires coverage for prescription drugs for off-label use in treating HIV/AIDS if the drug is recognized for treatment of such in one of the standard reference compendia or in the medical literature.

Off-label prescribing became standard practice early in the history of the U.S. AIDS crisis. This was especially true in medicine's attempt to stop or limit the spread of opportunistic infections, as approved-use treatments were not available,⁹⁶⁵ and a large body of scientific evidence had not yet been developed to specifically treat the disease. Doctors learned in the field, finding new uses for

old drugs with similar application or approved for a different population. These treatment attempts were sometimes the only hope of survival for a dying patient.

The HIV/AIDS crisis, and the lack of effective treatments for the condition and its complications, led directly to significant changes by the FDA to: 1) make experimental drugs more widely available to severely ill patients with life threatening diseases; and 2) speed the review and approval process for these treatments.⁹⁶⁶ In 1987, the FDA created expanded access mechanisms that allow patients to use certain investigational drugs outside of a clinical trial because they have no other therapeutic options, as other available treatments have proven ineffective or are not tolerated. These regulations were revised and expanded in 2009.⁹⁶⁷ Moreover, the FDA created parallel track mechanisms in 1992 specifically for those with HIV/AIDS who could not participate in controlled clinical trials; only one drug was submitted to the FDA for consideration.⁹⁶⁸

While investigational therapies have thus become more widely available before formal approval, the FDA has, over time, also created procedures and review designations to reduce approval time for therapies, including the:

- AA priority category (1987) giving all applications for potential AIDS therapies the highest priority in the review process
- So-called Subpart E regulations (1988)
- Accelerated approval regulations (1992)
- Priority review policies (1997)
- Fast-track drug development programs (1997)
- Breakthrough therapy programs (2013)⁹⁶⁹

These systems are intended to prioritize and speed review for new drugs and biologics to encourage their development, and to provide incentives to the developers to pursue formal approval.

Thirty-two therapies are now approved to treat complications related to HIV/AIDS since the first was approved in 1981.⁹⁷⁰ Antiretroviral drugs used to treat the HIV infection, which may prevent or stall progression to AIDS and minimize its complications, were first approved in 1987; 37 anti-retrovirals have received FDA-approval,⁹⁷¹ including 35 for pediatric use⁹⁷² and 33 in generic form.⁹⁷³

Given these developments, the availability of more approved treatments, and research regarding their safety and efficacy, it is not known how widely off-label treatments are used for HIV/AIDS, or their effectiveness. Research on off-label use continues to be scarce, as gathering data regarding these applications is challenging,⁹⁷⁴ and access to these treatments is often limited through actual supply or because of complex reimbursement issues. One recent long-term study of the use of off-label anti-retroviral drugs for children with HIV/AIDS concluded that off-label use was common, as were "adverse events" related to over- or under-dosing; the study authors highlighted the need for more studies to prevent such mis-dosing which may lead to treatment failure.⁹⁷⁵

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

For reasons similar to those presented above for off-label drug use in cancer treatment it is not feasible to measure costs of off-label prescription drug use for the treatment of HIV/AIDS in Massachusetts. It was the opinion of the participating health plans that these costs would be incurred by the plans even without the mandate laws in place because it would be difficult for the health plans to identify and monitor such prescribing practices, and therefore, the marginal cost of the mandate is estimated to be zero.

Preventive Care for Children to Age Six

The preventive care mandate requires coverage for preventive and primary care services for children up to age six, including physical exams, sensory screening, neuropsychiatric evaluation and developmental screening, hereditary and metabolic screening at birth, appropriate immunizations, blood tests, and urinalysis.⁹⁷⁶

Effect of the mandate on health

Child health has been defined as "the extent to which individual children or groups of children are able or enabled to (1) develop and realize their potential; (2) satisfy their needs; and (3) develop the capacities to allow them to interact successfully with their biological, physical, and social environments."⁹⁷⁷ Given this broad definition, pediatric care in America has evolved over time, changing its focus from the prevention and treatment of illness and infection to a focus on prevention and the promotion of healthy physical, cognitive, social, and emotional development,⁹⁷⁸ as well as the family's capacity and functioning.⁹⁷⁹

As care changed, criticism arose as to the inconsistency of the content and quality of well-child care, as well as a lack of research proving the effectiveness of each of its elements.^{980,981} Minority children,⁹⁸² children receiving Medicaid,⁹⁸³ and children without special health care needs⁹⁸⁴ were shown to receive less adequate care than comparison groups. In response to such observations, researchers began to review the content and quality of well-child care as well as the methods by which it is studied; at present, much of pediatric medicine is considered to be "evidence-informed, rather than fully evidence-driven."⁹⁸⁵

Disease detection, disease prevention, health promotion, and anticipatory guidance are now advocated as part of the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP)/Bright Futures model. The Bright Futures program began in 1990 to "to improve the quality of health services for children through health promotion and disease prevention;"⁹⁸⁶ and has developed a robust set of recommendations for providing well-child care, including a newly-revised periodicity schedule that provides evidence of the effectiveness of each recommendation and intervention.⁹⁸⁷ This model, and its periodicity schedule of preventive services, was formally incorporated into the federal ACA in 2010. The law requires that all children enrolled in all individual and group non-grandfathered health care plans are covered without cost-sharing for all routine immunizations recommended by the CDC Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP),⁹⁸⁸ and all evidence-informed preventive care screening and services recommended in the comprehensive guidelines supported by the Health

Resources and Services Administration (HRSA).^{989,990} This latter category includes a schedule of services outlined in the Bright Futures Guidelines for Health Supervision of Infants, Children, and Adolescents,^{991,992} and the Recommendations of the Secretary's Advisory Committee on Heritable Disorders in Newborns and Children, including its Uniform Screening Panel.⁹⁹³ The rationale and evidence for the various elements of the American Academy of Pediatrics Bright Futures Guidelines and the Uniform Screening Panel is summarized in Chapter 13 of the Bright Futures publication.⁹⁹⁴

Discussion of the cost of the mandate

The preventive care mandate requires coverage for preventive and primary care services for children up to age six, including physical exams, sensory screening, neuropsychiatric evaluation and developmental screening, hereditary and metabolic screening at birth, appropriate immunizations, blood tests, and urinalysis.

Under Section 2713 of the ACA, commercial insurance plans must provide coverage for a range of preventive services without imposing cost-sharing requirements (such as copayments, deductibles, or co-insurance). For infants, children, and adolescents, these services include evidenced-informed preventive care and screenings recommended by the Health Resources and Services Administration and outlined in the Bright Futures Guidelines. These preventive health services apply to all commercial plans (individual, small group, large group, and self-insured plans), unlike other essential health benefits (EHBs) that apply only to individual and small group plans.⁹⁹⁵

To calculate the effect of the preventive care mandate on commercial insurance costs in Massachusetts, Compass reviewed a 2005 study that examined components of preventive care for both "not-at-risk" and "at-risk" children. Multiplying each average preventive service cost by an estimated 42,000 children and summing the product results in an estimate of \$106 million, or \$2.95 PMPM. These costs do not include neuropsychiatric evaluations, as they were not included in the cited cost study. However, the costs do include newborn hearing screening, costs for which were estimated in the "Newborn Hearing Screening" section above. Lacking more specific data, Compass assumes that the costs for hearing screening and neuropsychiatric evaluations are approximately equal, and that any difference is within the range of estimation error for the preventive care mandate as a whole.

Based on this assumption, Compass trended the 2005 estimate forward to 2014 using NHE physician and clinical expense private insurer expense data⁹⁹⁶ to obtain a 2014 estimated PMPM paid claim amount for preventive care for children under age 6 of \$4.31 PMPM (\$122.1 million), or a \$4.84 total cost PMPM amount (\$137.2 million) and a 1.11 percent of total Commonwealth premium calculation with 11 percent administrative loading. These results are summarized in Table 40 below.

Measures		nple Fl nount	Sample SI Amount	FI-SI Allowed & Lower Bound PMPMs
Sample Users		N/A		
Sample Units	l	N/A		
Sample Average Members	I	N/A		
Paid PMPM	\$	4.31	N/A	N/A
Paid PMPM With Admin	\$	4.84	N/A	N/A
Allowed PMPM	N/A		N/A	N/A

Table 40 Preventive Care for Children to Age Six Mandate Required Direct Cost Estimate

	Required Direct Cost	Lov	Jpper and wer Bound Impact*
Insured Population	2,362,745		2,362,745
Contribution to Total Annual Claims	\$122,141,048	\$	-
Contribution to Total Annual Premium	\$137,237,132	\$	-
Percent of Total Premium	1.11%		0.00%

* This mandate was judged by carriers to contribute \$0 marginal cost to premiums. Required direct cost was estimated using secondary data sources.

Summary of Mandate Cost Estimates

Table 41 below displays a summary of the cost estimates for all 39 mandates, including those estimated using secondary data sources. The first column displays total required direct costs, or RDCs,^{xxxii} which measure the claim costs for services described in the mandate laws, and so include both costs for services that would be provided voluntarily in the absence of the mandates and incremental costs resulting from the mandates, and are estimated to be \$1.9 billion after elimination of overlaps in cost between mandates, and \$2.1 billion with administrative costs. This estimate is not a measure of the impact of the mandates, as it includes the portion of the costs that would be provided voluntarily in the absence of the mandate laws.

The lower bound marginal claims estimate of \$46.9 million in the second column represents the marginal impact of the mandates on claims spending calculated from per person mandated benefit allowed expensexxiii differences between the fully-insured population subject to the mandates, and the self-insured population not subject to the mandates.^{xxxiv} This difference represents \$1.66 PMPM, or 0.43 percent of premium, meaning that the additional medical claim spending on mandated services in plans subject to the mandates compared to those plans not subject to the mandates represents approximately one half of one percent of premium.

xxxii Required Direct Costs, defined in the report introduction and Appendix B.

xxxiii Allowed Amount = Insurer Paid Amount + Member Cost Sharing Amounts

^{xxxiv} Note that the zero marginal cost mandates have been treated as having zero marginal cost, and that a number of the mandates with potential marginal cost were measured to have zero marginal cost relative to self-insured plan spending.

To measure the mandates' full impact, insurer administrative costs need to be added. In the next two columns of Table 41 the lower bound estimate of \$46.9 million becomes \$52.7 million with administration, and the upper bound estimate becomes \$796.8 million after removing zero marginal cost mandates and adding administrative expense.

The range of the marginal direct cost impact of all 39 mandate laws studied, including administrative costs, is therefore between \$52.7 million and \$796.8 million. The true value is not likely to be near either end of this range. The upper end of the range includes all RDCs except those for mandates judged by the carriers likely to have zero marginal costs, and includes an additional provision for carrier administrative costs. This upper bound estimate assumes that 100 percent of the RDC for mandates with potential marginal direct cost is marginal, and that carriers would pay zero dollars in claims for the services described by the mandates in the absence of the mandate laws.

The lower end of the range subtracts from the RDCs the dollars implied by the per person spending rate in the self-insured market, which is not subject to the mandate laws. This estimate assumes that 100 percent of the spending for the mandates with potential marginal direct cost in the self-insured market would occur in the absence of the mandate laws, and that none of the spending is influenced by the mandated spending levels in the fully-insured market.

The range of estimates is associated with between 0.43 percent of premium for the low-end estimate and 6.45 percent for the high-end estimate. The estimated range does not consider indirect costs, which, as noted above, previous research finds will increase costs for some mandates and offset costs for others.

The two most expensive mandates in the potential marginal direct cost group are home health care services (\$0 to \$289 million gross of mandate overlaps) and diabetes-related services and supplies (\$0 to \$197.5 million gross of mandate overlaps). Both are provided in the self-insured market at the same or higher levels than they are provided in the fully-insured market, suggesting that these benefits are cost-effective, popular with employees, or both. Combined, and with overlaps removed, these two mandates have a low-end estimate of 0 percent of premium and a high-end estimate of 3.8 percent of premium.

Table 41
Summary of Estimated Costs for Massachusetts Mandated Benefits as of 2014
Dollars in Millions (000,000s)

	•	ed Direct Cost ms Estimate	Lower Bound Marginal Claims Estimate		Lower Bound Estimate with Admin Exp		Upper Bound Estimate with Admin Exp		Lower Bound Percent of Premium	Upper Bound Percent of Premium
duplicated Total All Mandates	\$	1,912.96	\$	46.94	\$	52.74	\$	796.81	0.43%	6.45%
andates with Potential Marginal Direct Cost										
rvice Mandates										
Autism Spectrum Disorders Services	\$	39.54	\$	15.25	\$	17.13	\$	44.42	0.14%	0.369
Chiropractic Services	\$	2.68	\$	0.94	\$	1.06	\$	3.01	0.01%	0.029
Child Hearing Aids	\$	6.89	\$	-	\$	-	\$	7.74	0.00%	0.069
Cleft Palate and Lip	\$	3.30	\$	0.10	\$	0.12	\$	3.70	0.00%	0.039
Diabetes-related Services and Supplies	\$	175.79	\$	-	\$	-	\$	197.52	0.00%	1.609
Early Intervention Services	\$	25.72	\$	2.78	\$	3.12	\$	28.90	0.03%	0.239
Home Health Care	Ś	257.25	\$	-	\$	-	Ś	289.04	0.00%	2.34
Hormone Replacement Therapy (HRT)	Ś	11.56	Ś	0.74	Ś	0.83	Ś	12.99	0.01%	0.119
Human Leukocyte Antigen Testing	ŝ	0.02	\$	-	\$	-	\$	0.02	0.00%	0.009
Hypodermic Syringes or Needles	ŝ	1.08	\$	-	\$	-	\$	1.22	0.00%	0.01
Infertility Treatment	Ś		Ş	12.67	\$	14.24	\$	117.67	0.12%	0.959
Low Protein Food Products for Inherited Amino	+									
Acid and Organic Acid Diseases (PKU)	\$	1.53	\$	0.08	\$	0.09	\$	1.71	0.00%	0.01
Nonprescription Enteral Formulas	Ś	0.92	ć		\$	_	\$	1.04	0.00%	0.01
Oral Cancer Drugs	Ś	1.38	\$	0.49	\$	0.55	\$	1.55	0.00%	0.01
Prosthetic Limbs and Associated Services	Ś	3.87	\$	-	\$	0.55	\$	4.35	0.00%	0.01
Scalp Hair Prostheses for Cancer Patients	ş Ş	0.41		-	\$ \$		\$ \$	4.33 0.46	0.00%	0.04
Speech, Hearing and Language Disorders	Ś	7.12		_	ŝ	-	\$	8.00	0.00%	0.06
ovider Mandates	Ş	7.12	Ş	-	Ş	-	Ş	8.00	0.00%	0.06
Certified Nurse Midwives	\$	1.62	\$	-	\$		\$	1.83	0.00%	0.01
Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists	Ś	22.09	\$	_	\$	-	Ś	24.83	0.00%	0.01
Chiropractors	ş Ş	7.97	\$ \$	0.81	\$	0.91	\$ \$	24.85	0.00%	0.20
Dentists	ş	1.39	\$ \$	- 0.81	\$ \$	0.91	\$ \$	1.56	0.01%	0.07
	ş Ş		ې \$		ې \$	10.46	ې \$			
Nurse Practitioners	ş Ş	44.63		9.31		10.46	ş S	50.15 7.00	0.08%	0.41
Optometrists		6.23	\$		\$	-	-		0.00%	0.06
Physician Assistants	\$ \$	41.01		2.01	\$	2.26	\$	46.07	0.02%	0.37
Podiatrists	Ş	16.38	\$	0.81	\$	0.91	\$	18.41	0.01%	0.15
andates Judged to Have Zero Marginal Cost										
Bone Marrow Transplants for Treatment of Breast Cancer	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.00
Cardiac Rehabilitation	\$	2.28	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.00
Clinical Trials (to treat cancer)	\$	2.28	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.00
Contraceptive Services	\$	94.20	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.00
Cytologic Screening	\$	17.54	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.00
Hearing Screening for Newborns	\$	3.32	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.00
Hospice Care	\$	16.49	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.00
Lead Poisoning Screening	\$	1.20	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.00
Mammography	\$	17.69	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.00
Maternity Health Care (including minimum maternity stay)	\$	471.27	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.00
Mental Health Care	ŝ	455.40	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	0.00%	0.00
Preventive Care for Children Up to Age Six	ŝ	122.14	Ś	-	\$	-	Ś		0.00%	0.00
Off-Label Uses of Prescription Drugs to Treat Cancer	Ś	-	Ś	-	\$	-	ś		0.00%	0.00
Off-Label Uses of Prescription Drugs to Treat HIV/AIDS	Ś		ŝ		ŝ	_	Ś	_	0.00%	0.00

We note that, owing in part to general cost inflation but in large part to an expansion of the service codes that carriers have provided as services covered under the mandates, the RDCs in the current study at \$1.9 billion are far higher than the \$1.2 billion in the 2012 study. However, relative to the 2012 results these additional RDCs had a minimal effect on the upper bound estimate because the mental health and contraceptive services coverage are now required by federal law. They also had a minimal impact on the lower bound estimate since self-insured plans also tend to cover both contraceptive services and mental health at or near the levels provided by fully-insured plans, and also cover many of the additional service codes in the carriers' expanded lists.

Discussion and Conclusions

The explicit empirical results of the study produce a wide range of potential impacts of mandated benefits on health insurance direct costs in the fully-insured market. At one extreme, summing the costs of all the benefits described in the 39 mandates in total represented in 2014 approximately \$2.1 billion in required direct costs, including administrative costs, or 17.4 percent of the average fully-insured commercial premium in the Commonwealth. Removing the cost of those benefits that carriers say they would provide even without the mandate laws, the total is \$796.8 million or 6.45 percent of premium. At the other extreme, the difference in allowed expense per-person between fully-insured and self-insured employers implies a direct cost impact of only \$52.7 million, or 0.43 percent of premium. Table 42 displays this impact range in percent of premium, PMPM, and total implied spending in the fully-insured market. Examining the assumptions required to use either of these numbers as an impact estimate makes it clear that the direct cost impact is neither as low as \$52.7 million nor as high as \$796.8 million.

•	-	•
Percent of Premium	PMPM	Dollars (millions)
0.5%	\$ 2.18	\$ 61.81
1.0%	\$ 4.36	\$ 123.62
2.0%	\$ 8.72	\$ 247.24
3.0%	\$ 13.08	\$ 370.85
4.0%	\$ 17.44	\$ 494.47
5.0%	\$ 21.80	\$ 618.09
6.0%	\$ 26.16	\$ 741.71
6.5%	\$ 28.34	\$ 803.52

Table 42
Cost Implications of Impact Assumptions

The \$796.8 million estimate is far too high as a measure of direct costs. This estimate requires us to assume that all mandated benefits would be dropped completely by all insurers in Massachusetts if the laws were repealed. No fully-insured policies would include any of the mandated benefits, including home health care, diabetes services and supplies, nurse practitioner services, or any of the other mandates. If instead, after mandates were hypothetically repealed, some of these benefits were offered and purchased, then the impact estimate of \$796.8 million is too large by the amount of voluntarily offered benefits, since not all of that spending would have been compelled by the state mandate laws. Many of the larger-dollar benefits are offered, perhaps at lower levels, in states without mandate laws, either voluntarily or as a result of federal mandates. Home health, a benefit not likely to be eliminated, accounts for \$289 million of the total, and many other benefits such as nurse practitioners, CRNAs, and diabetes-related services would be unlikely to disappear from benefit packages. Without being able to analytically arrive at an alternative, it would seem that \$796.8 million is hundreds of millions of dollars too high as an impact estimate.

The \$52.7 million estimate implied by the allowed expense difference between fully-insured and self-insured plans requires us to assume that the presence of the mandate laws places no upward

pressure on the benefits offered by self-insured firms. However, the need for self-insured firms to not disadvantage themselves in the labor market in the presence of the fully-insured firms with mandated benefit coverage seems certain to influence benefit levels. The magnitude of any such effect would increase the impact estimate above \$52.7 million, and would vary by mandate. Certain highly-visible and expensive benefits such as infertility treatment (\$117.7 million) would seem most subject to upward pressure of the labor market. On the other hand, for many of the mandates in Table 41, the per-person allowed costs are actually higher in the self-insured market than in the fully-insured market (those with a zero lower-bound), suggesting no upward pressure induced by the fully-insured market.

Applying both these lines of reasoning to narrow the range displayed in Table 42, it seems likely that the direct cost impact of the mandates is somewhere between one percent and four percent of total premium.

In addition to the direct cost impacts, there are indirect cost effects on other service categories not directly affected by the mandate that Compass is not able to address in this study. Some of these indirect costs may increase overall costs, such as additional births resulting from fertility treatment, while others would reduce costs, such as hospitalizations avoided as result of diabetes coverage. To the extent that mandates induce utilization increases within the services addressed by a mandate, such costs are covered in both the RDC upper bound estimates and the lower bound estimates. About 75 percent of the total estimated direct cost stems from three of the mandates: home health, diabetes services and supplies, and infertility; nearly an additional 20 percent is comprised by the provider mandates. Consideration of these eleven mandates and their likely indirect cost effects would provide most of the required information on how the direct costs might be increased or reduced by indirect cost effects. It is possible that after consideration of indirect cost effects, the net impact of these eleven mandates is cost reducing, though we cannot estimate that impact in this study. Finally, there are individual and socially beneficial impacts aside from health care spending that these mandates may, and in many cases certainly do, provide. Benefit mandates are often enacted when such beneficial effects are widely perceived but something short of government provision of the benefit is the balance point of the political process.997

Appendices

- Appendix A: Summary of Health Insurance Benefit Mandates
- Appendix B: Methodology of Cost Estimation
- Appendix C: Estimation of Population Subsets
- Appendix D: Cost by Type of Service for Mandates with Potential Marginal Direct Cost
- Appendix E: List of Study Acronyms

Comprehensive Mandated Benefit Review

Appendix A: Summary of Health Insurance Benefit Mandates

Service mandates

Mandate	Statute	Summary	In 2012 Report
Autism	c.175 §47AA; c.176A §8DD; c.176B §4DD; c.176G §4V; c.32A §25	Mandates coverage for treatment for autism spectrum disorder, on a "non-discriminatory basis," meaning on the same terms as coverage for physical conditions. The mandate includes in the treatment of ASDs: habilitative or rehabilitative care, pharmacy care, psychiatric care, psychological care, therapeutic care, some of which are covered by the mental health services mandate. The primary net effect is to mandate coverage for medically necessary habilitative care, i.e., "professional, counseling, and guidance services and treatment programs, including applied behavior analysis supervised by a Board Certified Behavior Analyst."	Yes
Bone marrow transplants for treatment of breast cancer	c.175 §47R; c.176A §8O; c.176B §4O; c.176G §4F; c.32A §17D	Provides coverage for bone marrow transplants for breast cancer patients who've progressed to metastatic disease if they meet criteria provided by DPH.	Yes
Cardiac rehabilitation	c.175 §47D; c.176A §8G; c.176B §4F; c.176G §4	Covers the expense of cardiac rehabilitation, i.e., multidisciplinary, medically necessary treatment of persons with documented cardiovascular disease.	Yes
Chiropractic services	c.176B §4L	Covers expenses of chiropractic services. Applies to medical service corporations only.	Yes
Cleft palate and cleft lip	c.175 §47BB; c.176A §8EE; c.176G §4W; c.32 §17J	Requires coverage for the cost of treating cleft lip and cleft palate for the child, including medical, dental, oral and facial surgery, surgical management and follow-up care by oral and plastic surgeons, orthodontic treatment and management, preventive and restorative dentistry to ensure good health and adequate dental structures for orthodontic treatment or prosthetic management therapy, speech therapy, audiology, and nutrition services.	No (enacted 2013)
Clinical trials (to treat cancer)	c.175 §110L; c.176A §8X; c.176B §4X; c.176G §4P	Mandates coverage for patient care services for patients enrolled in a qualified clinical trial to the same extent as the services would be covered if the patient was not receiving care in a qualified clinical trial. A qualified clinical trial must be cancer-related and must meet other criteria set forth in the law.	Yes
Contraceptive services	c.175 §47W; c.176A §8W; c.176B §4W; c.176G §4O	Requires coverage for outpatient contraceptive services and prescription contraceptive drugs and devices. Provides exclusions for church-affiliated employers.	Yes

Mandate	Statute	Summary	In 2012 Report
Cytological screening	c.175 §§47G and 110(L); c.176A §8J; c.176G §4	Mandates coverage for cytological screening (Pap smear) annually for women 18 years and older.	Yes
Diabetes-related services and supplies	c.175 §47N; c.176A §8P; c.176B §4S; c.176G §4H; c.32A §17G	Mandates coverage for items medically necessary for diabetics that fall within a category of benefits and services for which coverage is otherwise afforded and that have been prescribed by a healthcare professional: includes blood glucose monitors, monitoring strips, lancets, insulin, syringes, lab tests, urine & lipid profiles, special shoes, etc.	Yes
Early Intervention services	c.175 §47C; c.176A §8B; c.176B §4C; c.176G §4	Mandates coverage for early intervention services from birth to age 3 for children with or at risk for specific developmental delays including chromosomal abnormality, neurological condition, metabolic disorder, visual impairments, permanent hearing loss, and delayed cognitive, physical, communicative, social, or emotional development.	Yes
Hearing aids for children	c.175 §47X; c.176A §8Y; c.176B §4EE; c.176G §4N; c.32 §23	Mandates coverage for any child, 21 years of age or younger for the cost of 1 hearing aid per hearing-impaired ear up to \$2,000 for each hearing aid every 36 months. Coverage includes all related services prescribed by a licensed audiologist or hearing instrument specialist, including the initial evaluation, fitting and adjustments, and supplies, including ear molds.	No (enacted 2013)
Hearing screening for newborns	c.175 §47C (c.111 §67F); c.176A §8B; c.176B §4C (c.111 §67F); c.176G §§4, 4K (c.111 §67F); c.32A §17F	Mandates coverage for newborn hearing screening tests.	Yes
Home health care	c.175 §110(K); c.176A §8I; c.176G §4C	Mandates coverage for home care services: services provided by a home health agency in a patient's residence.	Yes
Hormone replacement therapy	c.175 §47W; c.176A §8W; c.176B §4W; c.176G §4O	Requires policies providing outpatient services to provide hormone replacement therapy for peri- and post-menopausal women.	Yes
Hospice care	c.175 §47S; c.176A §8R; c.176B §4Q; c.176G §4L; c.32A §17B	Mandates coverage for licensed hospice services to terminally ill patients with a life expectancy of six months or less.	Yes
Human leukocyte antigen testing	c.175 §47V; c.176A §8V; c.176B §4V; c.176G §4Q; c.32A §17H	Mandates coverage for the cost of human leukocyte antigen testing or histocompatibility locus antigen testing necessary to establish bone marrow transplant donor suitability.	Yes

Mandate	Statute	Summary	In 2012 Report
Hypodermic syringes or needles	c.175 §47Y; c.176A §8CC; c.176B §4CC; c.176G §4U	Mandates coverage for medically necessary hypodermic syringes or needles.	Yes
Infertility treatment	c.175 §47H; c.176A §8K; c.176B §4J; c.176G §4	Requires policies including pregnancy-related benefits to provide, to the same extent benefits are provided for other pregnancy-related procedures, coverage for medically necessary expenses of diagnosis and treatment of infertility.	Yes
Lead poisoning screening	c.175 §47C; c.176A §8B; c.176B §4C; c.176G §4	Mandates coverage for screening for lead poisoning for all children under age six and others deemed at risk.	Yes
Low protein food products	According to DOI c.175 §47I; c.176A §8L; c.176B §4K; c.176G §4D But possibly c.175 §47C; c.176A §8B; c.176B §4C; c.176G §4	Mandates coverage for low protein food products required to treat infants and children with specified metabolic disorders (for inherited amino acid and organic acid diseases) as well as fetuses of pregnant women with PKU.	Yes
Mammography	c.175 §§47G and 110(L); c.176A §8J; c.176G §4	Mandates coverage for one "baseline" mammogram between ages 35 and 40, and annual measurements thereafter.	Yes
Maternity health care (including minimum maternity stay)	c.175 §47F; c.176A §8H; c.176B §4H; c.176G §§4, 4I; c.32A §17C	Benefits providing for "expense of prenatal care, childbirth and post partum care to the same extent as provided for medical conditions not related to pregnancy" with "minimum 48 hours of in-patient care following a vaginal delivery and a minimum of 96 hours of inpatient care following a caesarean section."	Yes
Mental health care	c.175 §47B; c.176A §8A; c.176B §4A; c.176G §4M; c.32A §22	Requires coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of specified biologically-based mental disorders including schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, affective disorders, eating disorders, PTSD, and autism, and any biologically-based disorders recognized by the Commissioner of the Department of Mental Health.	Yes
Nonprescription enteral formulas	c.175 §47I; c.176A §8L; c.176B §4K; c.176G §4D; c.32A §17A	Mandates coverage for nonprescription enteral formulas for home use when medically necessary to treat malabsorption caused by Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, gastroesophageal reflux, gastrointestinal motility, chronic intestinal pseudo-obstruction, and inherited diseases of amino acids and organic acids, in an amount not to exceed \$2,500 annually.	Yes
Off-label uses of prescription drugs to treat cancer	c.175 §§47K, 47L; c.176A §8N; c.176B §4N; c.176G §4E	Requires the Commissioner of Insurance to establish a panel of experts to review off-label uses of prescription drugs for the treatment of cancer for medical appropriateness and to direct insurers to make payments consistent with those recommendations.	Yes

Mandate	Statute	Summary	In 2012 Report
Off-label uses of prescription drugs to treat HIV/AIDS	c.175 §§47O, 47P; c.176A §8Q; c.176B §4P; c.176G §4G	Mandates coverage for prescription drugs for off-label use in the treatment of HIV/AIDS if the drug is recognized for treatment of such indication in one of the standard reference compendia or in the medical literature.	Yes
Oral chemotherapy	c.175 §47DD; c.176A §8FF; c.176B §4FF; c.176G §4X; c.32 §17K	Mandates medical expense coverage for cancer chemotherapy treatment for prescribed, orally-administered anticancer medications used to kill or slow the growth of cancerous cells on a basis not less favorable than intravenously administered or injected cancer medications that are covered as medical benefits.	No (enacted 2013)
Preventive care for children to age six	c.175 §47C; c.176A §8B; c.176B §4C; c.176G §4	Mandates coverage for preventive and primary care services for children up to age six, including physical exams, sensory screening, neuropsychiatric evaluation and developmental screening, hereditary and metabolic screening at birth, appropriate immunizations, blood tests, and urinalysis.	Yes
Prosthetic Devices	c.175 §47Z; c.176A §8AA; c.176B §4AA; c.176G §4S; c.32A §17I	Requires coverage for prosthetic devices and repairs under the same terms and conditions that apply to other durable medical equipment covered under the policy; however the mandate places restrictions on the use of annual or lifetime limits for prosthetic devices.	Yes
Scalp hair prostheses for cancer patients	c.175 §47T; c.176A §8T; c.176B §4R; c.176G §4J; c.32A §17E	Requires policies providing coverage for any other prosthesis to provide coverage for scalp hair prostheses worn for hair loss suffered as a result of the treatment of cancer or leukemia, in an amount not to exceed \$350 per year.	Yes
Speech and audiology services	c.175 §47X; c.176A §8Y; c.176B §4Y; c.176G §4N; c.32A §23	Mandates coverage for expenses incurred in the medically necessary diagnosis and treatment of speech, hearing and language disorders by individuals licensed as speech-language pathologists or audiologists.	Yes

Provider-centered mandates

Mandate	Statute*	Summary	In 2012 Report
Certified Nurse Midwives	c.175 §47E; c.176B §4G; also c.176B §7	Mandates benefits for services of midwives when services are reimbursed when performed by any other practitioner and are within the lawful scope of practice of midwives. (Not in HMO or HSC statutes.) Also, c. 176B § 7 provides no MSC shall "discriminate in any way against participating nurse midwives in the furnishing of midwifery service." This is redundant to § 4G.	Yes
Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists	c.175 §47Q; c.176A §8S; c.176B §4T; c.176G §4	Mandates benefits for services of nurse anesthetists when services are reimbursed when performed by any other practitioner and are within the lawful scope of practice of nurse anesthetists.	Yes
Nurse Practitioners	c.175 §47Q; c.176A §8S; c.176B §4T; c.176G §4; also c.176R	Statute sections affecting various forms of insurance, plus c. 176R, require all forms of insurance (and GIC under c. 176R) to cover services of nurse practitioners (NPs) when services are reimbursed when performed by any other practitioner and are within the lawful scope of practice of NPs. c. 176R allows NPs to serve as PCPs and prohibits NPs from being subject to smaller coverage limits.	Yes
Chiropractors	c.175 §108D; c.176B §7 see also "chiropractic services" (c.176B §4L)	c. 175 § 108D requires a payer to pay for chiropractic services whether they are performed by a physician or chiropractor, and c. 176B § 7 statute prohibits an MSC from "discriminating" against chiropractors in providing chiropractic services. (Not in HSC or HMO statutes.) This mandate is technically different from the chiropractic services mandate, but analysis of this mandate will probably overlap with it.	Yes
Dentists	c.175 §108B	The insurance statute requires a dentist to be considered a physician for purposes of paying for any oral surgical care, services, or benefits covered by the policy/contract which dentists are licensed to perform. (The insurance statute might reach MSCs. Not in HSC or HMO statutes.)	Yes
Optometrists	c.175 §108(8)(D); c.175 §110(F)	Requires coverage for services of optometrists when services are reimbursed when performed by physicians or optometrists and are within the lawful scope of practice of optometrists. (Not in HSC, MSC, or HMO statutes.)	Yes
Podiatrists	c.175 §110(I); c.176G §1 (See "nondiscriminatory")	Requires coverage for services of podiatrists when services are reimbursed when performed by physicians or podiatrists and are within the lawful scope of practice of podiatrists. (Not in HSC or MSC statute.)	Yes

* Note that many provider-centered mandates, unlike the typical service-centered mandate, are not uniform across the standard forms of health care insurance license (general insurance company, medical and hospital service corporation, HMO).

Appendix B: Methodology of Cost Estimation

Definition of population and costs measured

This study estimates the calendar year 2014 costs to the Massachusetts health care system of state mandates in force during that year. This study estimates health care costs only for that portion of the Massachusetts population with health insurance subject to health benefit mandate laws, which is composed of two segments. First, all of the mandates in the study apply to those with coverage in fully-insured commercial products regulated by the Massachusetts Division of Insurance. Second, a subset of the mandates in this study also applies to coverage for public employees provided under the Group Insurance Commission (GIC). The great majority of the GIC coverage is provided on a self-insured basis, with the remainder included among the fully insured plans subject to all the mandates. However, self-insured GIC plans voluntarily follow all benefit mandates. The fully-insured and GIC segment of the commercial insurance market comprised approximately 49.1 percent of the 4.8 million member under-65 commercial market in 2014, with the other 50.9 percent provided by self-insured employers not subject to state benefit mandates (other than the approximately 261,400 under-65 members of self-insured GIC plans). A more detailed discussion of the study population is contained below.

Costs associated with mandated benefits are a relatively small subset of the total health care costs for the affected population; to begin to address by how much mandate laws impact total costs it will be helpful to define terminology for the purpose of this report. The general cost concepts defined below will aid in interpreting the results of the study. In practice these cost sub-categories are difficult to measure, and no precise measurement of these cost breakouts can be achieved within the scope of this project, although conceptual definition will aid in interpreting the results of the analysis. There are two general types of costs that may be associated with any mandate:

- **Required direct costs**. These are the costs of services that are explicitly described in a mandate law, used by covered members and paid for by the regulated insurance plans, whether or not some or all of the costs would have been incurred in the absence of the mandate through voluntary provision of the benefits. These costs are the primary focus of this study, and are the most easily measurable. Required direct costs (RDCs) are the sum of *base direct costs* and *marginal direct costs*.
 - *Base direct costs* (BDCs) are those costs that would be present even if the mandate law were not in force. Mandate laws may require benefits that would be provided, wholly or in part, voluntarily (by some or all of the market) or that are required by another mandate law (state or federal).
 - *Marginal direct costs* (MDCs) are those additional costs beyond the base direct costs that the imposition of the mandate impels.
- **Indirect costs**. Indirect costs are those costs that may be added as a result of the related delivered services associated with the mandate (e.g., costs of additional complicated births associated with infertility treatment) or those service costs avoided (these would be "negative costs" or cost offsets) as a result of the mandate (e.g., fewer

emergency department visits for diabetics due to coverage for diabetes services and supplies).

While we can measure RDCs reasonably, measuring their breakdown into base and marginal direct costs is far more difficult, and measuring indirect costs even more difficult. As a hypothetical example of the distinction between base and marginal direct costs, if a mandate law requiring coverage of an annual EKG were passed, additional (marginal) direct costs for this service would likely result, but significant dollars are already being covered under existing policies (base direct costs) for this service. Measurement of the RDC for this mandate after passage of the law could be calculated as the number of persons receiving the test once or more per year, times the average cost per test. The resulting RDC would contain a mix of base and marginal RDC, since a large portion of the cost was already being incurred voluntarily (i.e., a large number of covered EKG tests would have been paid for by carriers anyway). Any indirect effects, such as increased interventional cardiology costs or avoided heart attack admissions, would be difficult to quantify directly.

To measure the true cost impact of a mandate law on the regulated insurance product premiums, one would need to include only marginal costs, which would consist of marginal direct costs and marginal indirect costs (those indirect costs associated with the marginal utilization produced by the mandate law). Since marginal indirect costs may be either positive or negative, the net impact of any one mandated benefit on total costs may be either increasing or decreasing, depending on:

- How much of the direct cost associated with the mandate is marginal (i.e., attributable to the imposition of the mandate)
- Whether indirect costs are positive or negative on net
- The size of those indirect costs relative to the direct costs

While not within the scope of this study, a well-conducted multi-variate statistical analysis using multi-state data would be better able to estimate marginal costs that include both direct and indirect components. Some multivariate econometric studies comparing benefit mandates and cost levels across states have shown that some specific mandated benefits decrease costs on net, while others increase costs on net.⁹⁹⁸

This study provides some information that may be useful in understanding the proportion of the required direct costs that are likely to be marginal for the mandates. The scope of this study does not attempt to measure precisely the amount of RDC that is marginal (which would require multi-state data), and the report does not include evaluation of indirect costs. As a result, it is not possible to ascertain from the information in this study the net impact on health care costs in the Commonwealth associated with the mandate laws, but previous research suggests that total RDCs will greatly overstate the net effect of the mandates, that offsetting indirect cost savings can be larger than direct cost effects (making the net effect of a mandate cost decreasing), and that the impact of mandate laws on insurance premium levels will not be directly inferable from the RDC estimates contained herein.⁹⁹⁹

This report does, however, present a comparison of the fully-insured and self-insured GIC population RDCs to the RDCs observed in the Massachusetts' non-GIC self-insured sector not subject to the mandate laws, the difference between which provides one estimate of the direct marginal differences (that is, net direct cost impact) introduced by the mandate legislation. Previous research has found that benefit levels, including mandated benefits, are similar, if not richer, in the self-insured market.¹⁰⁰⁰ Mandate laws may have small effects if firms offer the benefits voluntarily. However, in that employers in Massachusetts that self-insure must compete in the labor market with fully-insured firms that must offer the mandated benefit package and public-sector employers offering GIC plans that voluntarily include all mandated health insurance benefits (even when the text of the mandate laws does not reach the self-insured GIC), the benefits in the non-GIC self-insured firms are likely to be at least somewhat richer than they would be in the absence of the mandate laws. This competitive labor market effect would shrink the cost difference between fully-insured and self-insured GIC plans and non-GIC self-insured plans and understate (or provide a lower bound for) the implied impact of benefit laws on health care costs provided by the difference between fully-insured and self-insured GIC costs and non-GIC self-insured costs.

The measurement of costs in this study was carried out in one of two ways for each of the mandated benefit laws currently in effect in Massachusetts, summarized above in Appendix A.ⁱ The exhibit displays 39 mandated benefit laws, and describes in summary fashion the requirements of the mandate. The next section describes in detail the two approaches used for measurement.

Methodology and data sources

Project organization and study design

In initial project discussions with CHIA, it was decided that major health insurance carriers in Massachusetts would be approached to provide input about the specifications for measuring the cost of each mandate. The following nine carriers provided input on the mandates:

- Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts
- Fallon Community Health Plan
- Harvard Pilgrim Health Care
- Health New England
- Minuteman Health, Inc.
- Neighborhood Health Plan
- Tufts Health Plan
- UniCare
- UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company

Government relations staff at each carrier served as contact points, and in turn consulted their colleagues, including medical directors, other clinical experts, actuarial staff, and data management

ⁱ As discussed above, this list includes mandated benefits and provider mandates. This study does not address population coverage mandates.

and analysis staff. In addition, the Massachusetts Association of Health Plans (MAHP) provided assistance with coordination and communication with its participating member plans.

An initial discussion with participating health plans and MAHP reviewed the process that had been used for the 2012 study and described the new mandates to be added to the current study. In the original 2008 study, a collaborative process with the carriers was used to develop the data to measure the costs of the mandates. At that time, CHIA did not have data available for the analysis, so it was agreed that extraction of claim data from the carriers would be the best approach; it was also clear that this would require significant effort on the part of the carriers if all 26 mandates included in the 2008 analysis were to be studied this way. To reduce the burden on the carriers to a reasonable level, a prioritization process was conducted, during which mandates were categorized into one of two groups. The first group consisted of mandates that were considered by the carriers to be most relevant for the study due to meeting the following criteria:

- The mandate required benefits that were judged likely to be reduced or eliminated if the mandate were to be repealed.
- The mandate covered benefits which were judged to be currently clinically relevant and being drawn on and paid for by the carriers.
- The services related to the mandate could be readily identified and extracted from claim history files.

The mandates meeting these criteria were included in the potential marginal direct cost portion of the study; cost estimates for these mandates relied on primary claim data analysis using claims extracted by the carriers. The mandates failing to meet one or more of the criteria listed above were included in the zero marginal direct cost portion of the study. Cost estimates for these mandates were produced using secondary data sources (e.g., literature review) where possible. These mandates:

- Were judged to require benefits that the carriers would substantially provide regardless of the mandate law, or
- Had become clinically obsolete, or
- Could not be feasibly measured as part of the study, nor monitored by the carriers, regardless of the presence of a mandate.

For both the 2012 study and the present study, the original potential marginal direct cost and zero marginal direct cost mandate designations were reviewed and confirmed by the carriers. In addition, in light of federal benefit requirements in the Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act of 2008 (MHPAEA) and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (ACA), Compass re-classified the mental health and contraceptive services mandates as zero marginal direct cost mandates in the present study.ⁱⁱ RDC estimates for these two mandates were prepared with MA APCD data. In the present study, the MA APCD also allowed estimation of the RDCs for four of the original zero marginal direct cost mandates (cardiac rehabilitation, cytological screening, lead

ⁱⁱ The contraceptive services and mental health mandates were treated as "mandates with potential marginal direct cost" in the 2008 and 2012 studies.

poisoning screening, and mammography) with claim data. RDCs for the remaining zero marginal direct cost mandates identified by the carriers, where measurable, were calculated using secondary data sources.

Each carrier participating in the current study was asked to review the data specifications used for the 2012 study to update them for any changes in clinical practice, coding, or other relevant factors. Five mandates were added to the mandate list for the present study: autism services,ⁱⁱⁱ cleft palate and cleft lip services, hearing aids for children, oral cancer drugs, and physician assistants. The autism services specification developed for the 2012 study by a volunteer carrier was included in the above specification review process, as well as Compass-developed initial specifications for the hearing aids for children, oral cancer drugs, and physician assistant mandates. Two carriers developed specifications for the cleft palate and cleft lip mandate at CHIA's request.

Data sources

Since the initial study was published, CHIA developed health care claim database resources. The allowed amount and paid claims PMPM estimates developed from claim data for the present study drew upon calendar year 2014 data from CHIA's Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database (MA APCD),¹⁰⁰¹ Release 4.0.^{iv} CHIA collects and manages data from commercial carriers, third party administrators, and public programs.¹⁰⁰² CHIA works with each carrier to conduct a quality control process on the MA APCD data, and "clears" data through this process on a carrier-by-carrier basis as this process is complete. This quality-controlled sample of carriers comprises approximately 87 percent of total commercial fully-insured and GIC primary medical membership under age 65 in the Commonwealth.^v Compass relied upon this quality-controlled data sample after verifying basic reasonableness checks on membership and expenses. The analogous figure for pharmacy membership is somewhat lower, at 60 percent; the quality control process is ongoing, and focused on the medical claims initially. Therefore, fewer carriers' pharmacy claims have been cleared through CHIA's quality control process. Cost estimates contained in this report assume that the PMPM costs obtained from the MA APCD sample data are representative of the overall fully-insured commercial under-65 population.

Compass used the MA APCD claims, eligibility, product, and provider data to extract claims and estimate per member costs for services required by the 25 potential marginal direct cost mandates. The MA APCD contains both fully-insured and self-insured claims,^{vi} allowing Compass to compare

¹¹¹ The autism services mandate, effective for policy renewals on or after January 1, 2011, was discussed in the 2012 report, but no cost estimates were presented, given that the report study period was 2009.

 ^{iv} Service year 2014 (paid through June 30, 2015) is the most recent full year available in Release 4.0.
 ^v Total average fully-insured commercial primary medical insurance membership under age 65 reported in the MA APCD for all carriers is approximately 2 million, or 94 percent of Compass's 2014 fully-insured commercial membership estimate of 2.1 million. Total average under-65 fully-insured and self-insured GIC primary medical insurance membership from the MA APCD is 2.1 million, or 90 percent of Compass's 2.4 million population estimate (not all carriers' GIC accounts can be identified in the MA APCD; these accounts are excluded from the 2.1 million estimate).

^{vi} On 1 March, 2016, the U.S. Supreme Court decided, in *Gobeille v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, that self-insured plans regulated under ERISA can not be compelled to submit data to state APCDs. This decision will imply a

the per-person spending level in the fully-insured and self-insured GIC business (subject to the mandates) to the per-person costs in the non-GIC self-insured business (not subject to the mandates) to generate estimates of the mandates' impact.

Table B-1

Service Mandates	
Autism Spectrum Disorders	
Child Hearing Aids	
Chiropractic Services	
Cleft Palate and Lip	
Diabetes-related Services and Supplies	
Early Intervention Services	
Home Health Care	
Hormone Replacement Therapy (HRT)	
Human Leukocyte Antigen Testing	
Hypodermic Syringes or Needles	
Infertility Treatment	
Limb Prostheses	
Low Protein Food Products for Inherited Ami	no
Acid and Organic Acid Diseases (PKU)	
Nonprescription Enteral Formulas	
Oral Cancer Drugs	
Scalp Hair Prostheses for Cancer Patients	
Speech, Hearing and Language Disorders	
Provider Mandates	
Certified Nurse Midwives	
Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists	
Chiropractors	
Dentists	
Nurse Practitioners	
Optometrists	
Physician Assistants	
Podiatrists	

The potential direct marginal cost mandates are shown in Table B-1 below.

In the terminology defined above, for these mandates it was assumed possible that both RDC and MDC were greater than zero, and thus they were the focus of more precise measurement using claim data.

The mandates judged likely to have little or no marginal direct costs are shown in Table B-2 below. Treatment of breast cancer using bone marrow transplant was demonstrated to be clinically obsolete in the 2008 study by analysis of Commonwealth employee claims, and thus was assumed to no longer have marginal cost to the system. As discussed in more detail above, in this study it is included within the clinical trials mandate analysis. Two mandates were judged to be not

significant methodological change in future reports in the likely event that self-insured groups cease MA APCD submissions in light of this decision.

measurable within the scope of the original study: Off-label uses of prescription drugs to treat HIV/AIDS and off-label uses of prescription drugs to treat cancer. Because the off-label uses of prescription drugs are not considered monitorable or manageable, elimination of these mandates would be likely to have little effect on utilization.

The remaining mandates in Table B-2 were judged to be benefits the carriers would likely pay for even if the state mandate law was repealed, due to proven cost-effectiveness, demand from members, or redundancy with federal mandates. In all cases the marginal cost (i.e., cost caused by the presence of the mandate law) associated with the mandates in Table B-2 was assumed to be at or near zero.

In previous studies, RDCs for all measurable zero marginal direct cost mandates were estimated using secondary data sources. In the present study, availability of the MA APCD allowed estimation of the RDCs for six of the zero marginal direct cost mandates (cardiac rehabilitation, contraceptive services, mental health services, cytological screening, lead poisoning screening, and mammography) with claim data. RDCs for the remaining measurable zero marginal direct cost mandates were calculated using secondary data sources. Compass reviewed and updated these models, using Massachusetts (rather than national or regional) data wherever possible for the utilization rates, prevalence figures, and other components underlying the calculations.

With marginal costs assumed to be zero, the estimated total RDCs for these 14 mandates were added to the RDC costs, but no additional costs were included in the marginal cost estimates for these mandates (more precisely, zero was added to the marginal cost estimates).

The methodologies used in the analysis of both the potential marginal direct cost and zero marginal direct cost mandates are discussed in detail further below.

Bone Marrow Transplants for Treatment of Breast Cancer
Cardiac Rehabilitation
Clinical Trials (to treat cancer)
Contraceptive Services
Cytologic Screening
Hearing Screening for Newborns
Hospice Care
Lead Poisoning Screening
Mammography
Maternity Health Care (including minimum maternity stay)
Mental Health Care
Preventive Care for Children Up to Age Six
Off-Label Uses of Prescription Drugs to Treat Cancer
Off-Label Uses of Prescription Drugs to Treat HIV/AIDS

Table B-2Mandates Judged to Have Zero Marginal Cost

Applicable population

Laws mandating insurance benefits in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts vary in the populations to which they apply. This study estimates the effect of mandates on health care costs only for people in Massachusetts with health insurance plans subject to health benefit mandate laws; those plans fall into two main groups. First, all mandates in the study apply to fully-insured commercial plans regulated by the Massachusetts Division of Insurance. Second, a subset of the mandates in this study also applies to coverage for public employees provided under the GIC. The great majority of the GIC coverage is provided on a self-insured basis, with the remainder included among the fully-insured plans subject to all the mandates. However, self-insured GIC plans voluntarily follow all benefit mandates. Therefore, in this analysis Compass has treated both fully-insured and self-insured GIC plans as part of the mandate-affected population for all mandates.

State health insurance benefit mandates do not apply to individuals covered under:

- Self-insured policies (except the GIC population, as discussed throughout this appendix), as these policies are governed by federal ERISA statutes and not subject to state mandate laws
- Medicare and Medicare Advantage plans, the benefits of which are qualified by Medicare
- Federally-funded plans including the Veterans Administration, TRICARE (covering military personnel and dependents), and the Federal Employee's Health Benefit Plan

This analysis excludes members of fully-insured plans over 64 years of age, and does not address potential effects on Medicare supplement plans (which generally cover patient cost sharing within the Medicare benefit structure) even to the extent they are regulated by state law. Finally, some Massachusetts mandate laws affect MassHealth, which administers the Massachusetts Medicaid program; however, this analysis does not address the potential effect of those mandates on MassHealth expenditures.

U.S. Census Bureau data on the Massachusetts population and percent covered by employersponsored plans and MA APCD eligibility data¹⁰⁰³ lead to an estimate of 3.8 million Massachusetts residents under age 65 covered by employer-sponsored plans in 2014, approximately 1.8 million of whom are fully-insured. Compass used Massachusetts Department of Insurance (DOI),^{1004,1005} MA APCD eligibility,¹⁰⁰⁶ and CHIA enrollment trends¹⁰⁰⁷ data to develop an estimate of approximately 139,000 additional individuals under age 65 residing in other states are covered by Massachusettsissued fully-insured employer-sponsored insurance subject to the mandates. Finally, MA APCD eligibility data¹⁰⁰⁸ yielded an estimate of approximately 170,000 persons under age 65 purchased insurance in the non-group market in 2014, for a total estimate of 2.1 million fully-insured members.

Because self-insured GIC plans follow the mandates voluntarily, an additional 261,000 members are added to the covered population (based on GIC annual reports)¹⁰⁰⁹ for a total of 2.4 million individuals. Appendix C contains more details about these population calculations.

The statutory language varies across the mandates as to which of the geographic categories and license types contained in the insurance statutes the mandate is applicable. Generally, the

mandates apply to residents of Massachusetts and to those with a principal place of employment in Massachusetts, and so effectively apply to all members covered by fully-insured policies issued in Massachusetts. There are a few exceptions to this general case apparent in the statutory language. First, the infertility mandate applies only to Massachusetts residents. The infertility sample cost estimates therefore include only those claims and members indicating a member state of residence of Massachusetts, and the population paid expenses PMPM are calculated over the member-resident insured population only. Second, four provider mandates (certified nurse midwives, chiropractors, dentists, and optometrists) do not have language in Chapter 176G (the HMO license). As a result, in our calculations we have not applied the cost estimates to this population for these four mandates. Third, the chiropractic services mandate applies only to medical service corporations (Chapter 176B), and as a result the cost estimates are applied only to the BCBSMA membership.

		Estimated	Est. Effective Membership		
		Statute			
Mandate	Applicable Population	Membership	(incl. SI GIC)		
Certified Nurse Midwives	Indonesity and Dive Cross Dive				
Chiropractors	Indemnity and Blue Cross Blue	479,865	730,715		
Dentists	Shield fully-insured members				
Optometrists					
Chiropractic Services	Blue Cross Blue Shield fully-				
	insured members, excluding HMO	165,174	165,174		
	Blue				
Infertility Services	All fully-insured Massachusetts-	1,962,021	2,206,099		
Contra d Destado e da Norre da Arresta da Maria	resident members				
Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists					
Early Intervention					
Home Health Care					
HRT					
Infertility					
Low Protein Foods					
Nurse Practitioner					
Podiatrist					
Syringe	All fully-insured members	2,101,336	2,362,745		
Cardiac Rehab	,	, ,			
Clinical Trials for Cancer					
Contraception					
Cytologic Screening					
Lead Screening					
Mammography					
Off-label Uses of Prescription Drugs - Cancer					
Off-label Uses of Prescription Drugs - HIV/AIDS					
Preventive Care to Age 6					
Autism Services					
Child Hearing Aids					
Cleft Palate and Lip					
Diabetes					
HLA Testing					
Limb Prosthesis					
Mental Health	All fully-insured members and all				
Nonprescription. Enteral Formulas	GIC members (fully and self-	2,362,745	2,362,745		
Oral Cancer Drugs	insured)				
Physician Assistants					
Scalp Hair Prosthesis					
Speech & Hearing					
Bone Marrow Transplants for Breast Cancer					
Hearing Screening for Newborns					
Hospice Care					
Maternity Care					

Table B-3Populations to Which Mandates Apply

Table B-3 summarizes the license types and populations to which the mandates apply per the statutory language, and the applicable population used in the Compass analysis (which always includes the self-insured GIC). The PMPM cost estimate from our sample data for each mandate was multiplied by the indicated estimated member population number to arrive at the total dollar cost estimate for each mandate.^{vii}

For calculating the percent of premium, the analysis uses as a member-months denominator the sum of member-months for all license types (for Massachusetts residents and non-residents with a principal place of employment in Massachusetts), since it estimates the per-person costs of the

^{vii} As discussed below, for aggregated cost estimates, overlap between mandates is removed when summing total dollars.

benefits with respect to the overall average fully-insured health insurance premium. However, for the five mandates that apply to less than the entire fully-insured population, estimated claims were included in the numerator only for the sub-groups indicated in Table B-3, as these are the only claims related to benefits required by those mandates. The self-insured GIC was included in both the numerator claims and denominator membership for all mandates. The resulting estimates represent the impact on the average fully-insured premium, not on the premium for the subgroup(s) to which the mandate applies.

Sample population

To develop the dollar estimates in the study, PMPM claim expense estimates were developed from the data sources described above. Paid claim expenses PMPM from representative samples were developed, and then multiplied by the applicable populations discussed in the preceding section. In general, the PMPM claim expense estimates developed from claim data drew upon CHIA's MA APCD Release 4.0. The MA APCD quality-controlled medical claim data sample described above in the data sources section includes 27 carriers (including MassHealth). This quality-controlled sample comprises approximately 2 million members, or 87 percent of Compass's estimate of 2.4 million total commercial fully-insured and GIC primary medical membership under age 65 in the Commonwealth. ^{viii}

Compass joined claims for the 27 quality-controlled medical carriers to de-duplicated eligibility data to review match rates and average PMPM allowed amount expenses by carrier. The 11 medical carriers with at least 95 percent of claims matching to a primary medical insurance eligibility span and a reasonable resulting "matched" 2014 average PMPM allowed expenditure comprised the analytical sample. Combined fully-insured, self-insured, and GIC matched 2014 average PMPM allowed expenditures by payer in the medical sample ranged from \$214 for one small individual-market carrier to \$402 for a carrier whose sample data are likely comprised almost exclusively of GIC accounts, as described below.

The average fully-insured and self-insured GIC medical membership subject to the mandates represented in the 11-carrier sample passing this additional quality-control step for 2014 is 1.9 million, or 79 percent of the estimated 2.4 million total average membership for the fully-insured, self-insured GIC, non-Medigap population under age 65 in Massachusetts.

The MA APCD quality-controlled pharmacy claim data sample includes four carriers (including MassHealth). The average membership under age 65 represented in this sample for commercial fully-insured non-Medigap and self-insured GIC products for calendar year 2014 was 1.4 million. This represents 60 percent of the 2.4 million total average fully-insured and self-insured GIC population. Combined fully-insured, self-insured, and GIC matched 2014 average PMPM allowed expenditures by payer in the pharmacy sample ranged from \$81 to \$88, and the claims to eligibility

viii Total average fully-insured commercial primary medical insurance membership under age 65 reported in the MA APCD is approximately 2 million, or 94 percent of Compass's 2014 fully-insured commercial membership estimate of 2.1 million. Total average under-65 fully-insured and self-insured GIC primary medical insurance membership from the MA APCD is 2.1 million, or 90 percent of Compass's 2.4 million population estimate (not all carriers' GIC accounts can be identified in the MA APCD; these accounts are excluded from the 2.1 million estimate).

match rate for the three quality-controlled pharmacy carriers ranged from 94 to 99 percent. Data for all three commercial carriers in CHIA's quality-controlled sample were therefore used in the analysis. Cost estimates contained in this report assume that the PMPM costs obtained from the MA APCD sample data are representative of the overall fully-insured commercial under-65 population.

In general, the entire database sample population was used for calculations. Exclusions from the sample data were made where the analysis of applicable populations above indicated this would be appropriate:

- For one carrier, the sample includes only the 38 percent of claims and 24 percent of reported membership identifiable as indemnity products. The remaining 62 percent of claims volume for this payer matched to products with a medical services corporation/hospital services plan carrier license type, or matched to products for which carrier license type could not be determined. Given that the carrier is not licensed as a medical service corporation or hospital service plan in Massachusetts, the medical service corporation/hospital service plan and license type unknown volume were excluded from this analysis under the assumption the situs of the plans was not Massachusetts (no situs indicator was available on Release 4.0 of the MA APCD). Upon further review of the indemnity portion of the data, Compass noted that although the products were not identified as GIC products in the MA APCD, the associated membership was a near-match to the GIC's reported membership for the same carrier for fiscal year 2014. Given this fact, and the high matched 2014 average allowed expenses PMPM for these products (\$402), suggesting rich benefits on average, Compass treated these indemnity claims and eligibility as GIC products.
- The chiropractic services mandate applies only to Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts (BCBSMA), the data for which are represented in the MA APCD sample. Therefore, only BCBSMA data were used to calculate the PMPM for this mandate.^{ix}
- For the six mandates including pharmaceuticals among their mandated services, all of which also include medical components, only the three commercial carriers in the MA APCD pharmacy sample were used to calculate both the medical and pharmacy PMPMs.
- Identifying claims by provider type required knowledge and coding of carrier-specific provider type identifiers. Therefore, for the eight provider-centered mandates, only data for the three largest carriers (all of whom provided guidance in their specification review responses on identifying the provider types in their data) were used to calculate the PMPMs for these mandates. Review of preliminary results indicated that the provider type and specialty information provided by one carrier did not reliably identify claims performed by the specific provider types in question. Therefore, this carrier's data were dropped from the sample, leaving two of the three largest carriers in the initial provider mandate sample.

^{ix} In this case, since the applicable population membership and the sample population membership are the same, the dollars measured in the MA APCD data were used directly as the aggregate dollar impact of the mandate. In most cases, however, the sample is smaller than the population, and the resulting sample PMPM was multiplied times the larger population membership estimate to arrive at a population estimate for aggregate dollars.

• Furthermore, four of the eight provider-centered mandates do not apply to HMO licenses. Review of the preliminary results for these four mandates showed that effectively all fully-insured volume for the smaller of the two carriers in the initial provider mandate sample was identified as HMO-licensed. Therefore, this carrier was dropped from the sample for these four mandates (chiropractors, certified nurse midwives, dentists, and optometrists). Both carriers' data were used for the four provider mandates including all license types (certified registered nurse anesthetists, podiatrists, nurse practitioners, and physician assistants).

In addition, not all carriers' GIC accounts can be identified in the MA APCD; these accounts are excluded from the 1.9 million fully-insured and self-insured GIC sample population estimate. In the analysis, these products, where applicable, are included in the 1.5 million member non-GIC self-insured comparison population.

With respect to data extraction from the MA APCD, there was one additional relevant issue related to the study population. Identifying average costs for the six mandates including pharmaceuticals must take into account that the carriers have some accounts that use a third-party pharmacy benefit manager (PBM), and that for some of these accounts (particularly those that are self-insured) pharmacy claims were not included in the three-carrier MA APCD sample. As a result, the sample pharmacy membership and their associated claims are smaller than the medical membership and associated claims. To address this issue, medical PMPMs were calculated for the medical data using the medical membership, and the pharmacy data PMPMs were calculated using the pharmacy membership. The PMPMs were then added together, and were multiplied by the population membership to calculate the estimated total dollar impact. The total dollar estimates were then divided by medical membership to derive combined pharmacy and medical PMPMs. This prevented a downward bias to the PMPM estimates that would otherwise have been caused by missing pharmacy claims. For estimates of the total dollar impact in the Commonwealth, the full population membership (all fully-insured and self-insured GIC members in the Commonwealth) is multiplied by the estimated PMPMs calculated without carved out pharmacy benefit accounts.^x

Cost estimation methodology for mandates with potential marginal direct cost

The mandates with potential marginal direct cost were analyzed using detailed clinical data specifications applied to detailed claim data. CHIA provided an extract from the Massachusetts MA APCD Release 4.0 as the data source for required direct cost estimates of the mandated benefits shown in Table B-2. Compass studied calendar year 2014 (paid through June 30, 2015, the most recent full year of data available in this extract) claims and membership from the extract for this review.

The availability of the MA APCD data (and the Health Care Quality and Cost Containment 2009 data extract made available to Compass by CHIA for the 2012 study) allowed Compass to address two

^x Note that this assumes that the overall PMPM cost profiles (including pharmaceuticals) for the plans with and without carved-out pharmacy benefits are similar.

significant shortcomings in other state-level impact analyses that were reviewed prior to commencing this study.¹⁰¹⁰ First, the data used in the study are specifically from Massachusetts, rather than national data or data from other states. The MA APCD medical data sample used in the analysis represents approximately 79 percent of the fully-insured and self-insured GIC population under age 65 in Massachusetts. Second, the data largely allow measurement specifically of the fully-insured population subject to the mandate laws and the self-insured GIC population voluntarily provided the mandated benefits even when not required by law, and allow for a comparison to the non-GIC self-insured population (unregulated and not subject to mandate laws), rather than inappropriately mixing these populations together.

The approach taken to RDC measurement involved rigorous definition of costs associated with the mandate laws' required benefits, and careful measurement based on the definitions.

There were four general steps in the cost measurement:

- Review and updating of specifications developed for the previous comprehensive mandate review study, and development of new specifications for more recently enacted mandates.
- Quality control assessment of specifications and follow-up by Compass.
- Extracting and quality checking the data using programming language to implement the specifications.
- Summarization of totals and adjustments to arrive at meaningful aggregate values.

The specification of the data requirements included the following steps:

- *Initial Completion or Revision of Data Specification Templates.* Each carrier participating in the current study was asked to review the data specifications used or developed for the 2012 study and Compass-developed initial specifications for the hearing aids for children, oral cancer drugs, and physician assistant mandates to edit them for any changes in clinical practice, coding, or other relevant factors. Two carriers developed specifications for the cleft palate and cleft lip mandate at CHIA's request.
- *Review and refinement of the specifications.* Compass reviewed the feedback for each specification and translated each of the specifications into programming code to extract and summarize the data. In general, carrier-recommended additions of services, products, or diagnoses were incorporated into the specifications. Compass did not remove services, products, or diagnoses from the specifications at a carrier's recommendation unless independent research of the codes marked for removal validated the recommendation.
- *Quality checking the data.* The data extracted for each mandate included in the 2012 study were summarized and compared to the 2012 results. Results for newly-enacted mandates were compared to CHIA's prospective mandated benefit review studies, the results for similar, previously-studied mandates, and/or independent publically-available data sources. Where mandate results diverged significantly from the previous

study or other benchmarks, Compass reviewed the specifications and programming code for errors and corrected results as necessary. Where these results continued to diverge from expected results, Compass drilled into the results (by carrier, code, etc.) and performed further research to validate or further refine the results.

Comparing the present study to the 2012 reports shows that RDC results for some mandates have changed dramatically; most notably, the RDC estimates for diabetes services and supplies and mental health care show nearly three-fold and two-fold increases, respectively. The main drivers of these and other significant differences, illustrated by selected examples, follow.

- Carrier Input
 - For the mental health mandate, the carriers provided an extensive list of procedure and diagnosis codes to be added to the cost model specifications they had provided in the two previous iterations of this study (2008 and 2012).
 - This was also true for the speech, hearing, and language and the non-prescription enteral formulas mandates, which had many-fold cost increases (but very small absolute RDCs even after the large increases shown in this study).
 - Significant additions were also made to the diabetes services and supplies specification to include new products, such as the new insulin pumps discussed below.
- Price and service mix changes
 - $\circ~$ A recent study found that the average price of insulin has tripled in the past decade. 1011
 - New and expensive insulin pumps have also become popular with clinicians and diabetes patients in recent years.¹⁰¹²
- Clinical practice and guideline changes
 - Decreased frequency guidelines for mammographic and cytological screening (Pap smear) have been released by U.S. government agencies and medical societies since the previous study period.^{1013,1014}

After completion of the quality control process, a number of calculations were carried out to produce the results of the study. Prior to executing those calculations, a claim analysis was performed to eliminate overlap between mandates. Claims for which coverage is mandated by multiple mandates in the study ("mandate overlap") must be identified and quantified to avoid double-counting in aggregate analyses. To quantify overlaps, all claims in the MA APCD sample were flagged for inclusion in each mandate. Areas of overlap were identified where the same claim was flagged for inclusion in multiple mandates. Total sample claims expense (in millions of dollars) for the observed areas of overlap are summarized in Table B-4.

	Mandate	Α	В	с	D	E	F	G	н	Т	J	к	L	М	Ν	0	Р
Α	Autism Services Mandate							\$ 0.1	\$23.8								
в	Children's Hearing Aids Mandate															\$ 1.0	
С	Chiropractor Provider Mandate				\$ 0.6												
D	Chiropractic Services Mandate																
Ε	Cleft Palate and Lip Mandate								\$ 0.1								
F	Diabetes Services Mandate								\$12.1				\$ 0.2	\$ 0.1			\$ 0.5
G	Early Intervention Services Mandate								\$14.9				\$ 0.3				
н	Home Health Services Mandate									\$ 2.7	\$ 1.2	\$ 0.7	\$ 0.3	\$ 0.1	\$ 0.3	\$ 0.2	
1	Limb Prosthesis Mandate																
J	Low Protein Foods Mandate											\$ 0.4					
к	Nonprescription Enteral Formulas Mandate																
L	Nurse Practitioner Provider Mandate																
м	Podiatrist Provider Mandate																
Ν	Scalp Hair Prosthesis Mandate																
0	Speech, Hearing, and Language Services Mandate																
Р	Syringe and Needle Mandate																

Table B-4 Summary of Mandate Overlaps (in millions of dollars)

Overlap amounts must be subtracted from the totals for the mandates when calculating: (i) costs across mandates, or (ii) the incremental cost attributable to the given mandate, i.e. the amount that mandated coverage costs to the Massachusetts healthcare system would be reduced if a given mandate, and only that mandate, were repealed. The mandate-level results *include* the overlap amounts; the overall aggregated result for all mandates with potential marginal direct cost removed the overlapping (double-counted) amounts, that is, each claim identified as a mandated service for any primary data analysis mandate is only summed once in these aggregated results.^{xi}

Paid claim expenses PMPM were calculated for each mandate, and administrative loading (the additional costs over and above health care claim costs required to administer the health plan) was added. According to CHIA's September 2016 report on the performance of the Massachusetts health care system,¹⁰¹⁵ average administrative loading (including profit) in the fully-insured commercial market was estimated to be 11 percent in 2014. Therefore, to arrive at estimates of total healthcare premium costs, claim costs were divided by one minus the 11 percent administrative load (1 - 0.11), or 0.89.^{xii} Individual mandates may add more or less administrative cost than the average; determining the level of additional administrative cost required for any individual mandate would require more effort than is required to estimate the medical expense portion of the estimate, but only represents about 11 percent of total costs. Variations in the relatively small administrative cost levels around the average would be covered by the ranges provided for the cost impacts contained in this study.

^{xi} Amounts larger than those shown in Table B-4 were removed from the aggregated study totals, as the sample amounts shown in the table were adjusted to the total population level at the same time that the sample PMPMs were adjusted to the population-level RDCs.

^{xii} This assumes that the carriers apply the same percentage gross up for these incremental claim expenses as for their baseline claim expenses. If a carrier elects to only apply incremental variable expenses, then the incremental premium may be 2-3 percent lower, based on an assumption that 2-3 percent of a carrier's administrative cost structure represents fixed overhead that is independent of claim volume. The actual percentages would vary by carrier.

Total cost in the healthcare system associated with each mandated benefit was computed by multiplying the paid claim plus administration PMPM estimate by the estimated number of persons subject to Commonwealth mandates from Table B-3.

These estimated premium amounts were calculated as an approximate percentage of healthcare premiums in Massachusetts by using the estimated average commercial fully-insured 2014 premium of \$436.00 from CHIA's September 2016 report.¹⁰¹⁶

As discussed in the introduction, we are unable within the scope of this study to produce precise estimates of the marginal cost of the mandates to the system, the focus of this study being primarily on required direct cost, that is, the total cost to the system of benefits described in the statutory language of the various mandates. The only information available for the study that can shed some light on the question of marginal costs is the MA APCD non-GIC self-insured data. Since these self-insured plans are subject to Federal ERISA law and are not regulated by The Division of Insurance, they are not required to comply with the mandates, and are free (subject to competitive labor market constraints) to reduce or remove these benefits from their health benefit packages. Because labor market pressures may compel the non-GIC self-insured employers to offer richer benefits than they would if other employers (fully-insured employers or those offering GIC plans voluntarily including the mandated benefits) were not required to offer the mandated benefits, any differences identified between the non-GIC self-insured and fully-insured and self-insured GIC benefit costs are likely to be underestimates of the true impact of the mandate. However, they may provide useful lower bound estimates of the marginal direct cost, or actual direct mandate cost impact to the system.

In the cost estimates displayed in the Results section, these lower-bound estimates are derived from the difference between insurer spending in the fully-insured and self-insured GIC population for the mandated benefit and the insurer spending in the non-GIC self-insured population for the same benefit. To reduce the impact that differences in average patient cost sharing between these populations may have on the result, the calculation is performed by computing the percentage by which the fully-insured and self-insured GIC allowed (before cost sharing) expense PMPM exceeds the non-GIC self-insured allowed expense PMPM, and applying that percentage to the fully-insured and self-insured GIC paid claim expense PMPM. The result is a lower-bound estimate of the impact of the mandate on fully-insured and self-insured GIC health insurance expenditures. Where the non-GIC self-insured allowed expense PMPM is higher than the fully-insured and self-insured GIC allowed expense PMPM, we treat the impact as zero, rather than negative; we assume that if non-GIC self-insured firms on average have a higher spending level than fully-insured and self-insured GIC products subject to the mandates, it is not caused by the existence of the mandate. That is:

Lower Bound Marginal Cost = [(FIxiii Allowed – SI Allowed)/FI Allowed]*FI paid RDC, if FI Allowed – SI Allowed > 0

Lower Bound Marginal Cost = 0, *otherwise*

xⁱⁱⁱ In this and other equations and exhibits in this report, the abbreviation "FI" refers to the fully-insured and self-insured GIC population subject to the mandates, and "SI" refers to the non-GIC self-insured comparison population.

An upper-bound claim cost estimate is also provided for each mandate, which includes the entire RDC, except for those mandates judged by the carriers likely to have zero marginal costs. This upper-bound estimate assumes that 100 percent of the RDC for mandates with potential marginal direct cost is marginal, and that carriers would pay zero dollars in claims for the services described by the mandates in the absence of the mandate laws. For most mandates there is good reason to believe the actual marginal cost is far lower, though we do not have a direct method of estimating by how much. For example, home health care services are widely considered to be cost-effective in many contexts. In all likelihood carriers would cover this benefit, if at a somewhat lower level, in the absence of the mandate.

Cost estimation methodology for mandates judged likely to have zero marginal cost

As described above, 14 mandates were judged likely to have zero marginal cost. Also as discussed above, it was not feasible to calculate RDCs for three of the mandates (bone marrow transplants for treatment of breast cancer and off-label uses of prescription drugs to treat cancer and HIV/AIDS). For another six of the 14 mandates (cardiac rehabilitation services, contraception services, cytological screening, child lead screening, mammography, and mental health) RDCs were calculated from the MA APCD following the upper-bound methodology described above for the potential marginal direct cost mandates.

The estimation process for the remaining five mandates (clinical trials for the treatment of cancer, hospice care, maternity care, newborn hearing screening, and preventive care up to age six) judged likely to have zero marginal cost drew upon secondary data sources rather than primary claim and membership data from the MA APCD. The modeling for these five mandates had the following methodological features in common:

- Estimates were produced for the same under-65, commercial, fully-insured and selfinsured GIC Massachusetts population analyzed for the 25 potential marginal direct cost mandates.
- Literature and internet data sources, along with some calculations using MA APCD data, were drawn upon for the individual facts that were combined into calculations for the estimated cost of each mandate.
- For each mandate, adjustments were made to make the estimate applicable to the relevant population. For example, if a national commercial population estimate was available and deemed to be reasonably applicable to Massachusetts, the national per person rate was applied to the number of persons in the under-65 commercial fully-insured and self-insured GIC population in Massachusetts.
- Total cost, PMPM cost, and percent of premium estimates were calculated using the population numbers from Table B-3 and the same \$436.00 average premium and 11 percent administrative load figures cited above.
- The enabling statutory language for each mandate was adhered to as closely as possible given the limitations of the approach described.

The form of each calculation was dependent to a significant extent on the data available. For example, in some cases cost per person per year data were available, but in others data on

incidence of an illness and cost per episode of that illness were multiplied together to produce the estimate. In all cases, the costs estimated were total required direct costs. As discussed above, marginal direct cost for each mandate in the secondary cost group is assumed to be zero.

Most of the estimates relying on secondary data drew on sources that were not specific to the fullyinsured population in Massachusetts. As a result, data from broader populations (e.g., Massachusetts statewide) had to be adjusted to the sub-population using population estimates drawn from a number of sources, including Census Bureau data and a model of the Massachusetts insured population developed by Compass for its work for CHIA. These estimates and their sources are summarized in Appendix C.

Appendix C: Estimation of Population Subsets

Membership potentially affected by a proposed mandate may include Massachusetts residents with fully-insured employer-sponsored health insurance issued by a Massachusetts licensed company (including through the GIC), non-residents with fully-insured employer-sponsored insurance issued in Massachusetts, Massachusetts residents with individual (direct) health insurance coverage, and lives covered by GIC self-insured coverage (which complies with the mandates voluntarily). Membership projections for 2017 to 2021 are derived from the following sources.

The 2014 Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database (MA APCD) formed the base for the projections. The APCD provided fully-insured and self-insured membership by insurance carrier. The APCD was also used to estimate the number of non-residents covered by a Massachusetts policy. These are typically cases in which a non-resident works for a Massachusetts employer offering employersponsored coverage.

The Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis (CHIA) uses supplemental information beyond the data in the MA APCD to develop their enrollment trends reports and provided us with information on where they sourced the data in their report (MA APCD and supplemental carrier information). We adjusted our membership estimates for the data not in the MA APCD where appropriate.

The 2014 combined membership projection by carrier was compared to Massachusetts Department of Insurance (DOI) reports estimating fully-insured covered members by insurance carrier. The membership projections were increased to include insurance carriers that were reported by the DOI but not in the MA APCD or CHIA supplementary report. These were typically insurance carriers with small membership in the state.

The distribution of members by age and gender was estimated using MA APCD population distribution ratios and was checked for reasonableness and validated against the U.S. Census¹⁰¹⁷. Membership was projected forward from the 2014 base year through 2021 using Census Bureau population growth rate estimates by age and gender¹⁰¹⁸.

Projections for the GIC self-insured lives were developed using GIC base data for 2013,¹⁰¹⁹ 2014,¹⁰²⁰ and 2015,¹⁰²¹ and the same projected growth rates from the Census Bureau that were used for the Massachusetts population. Breakdowns of the GIC self-insured lives by gender and age were based on the Census Bureau distributions.

Appendix D: Cost by Type of Service for Mandates with Potential Marginal Direct Cost

This appendix presents required direct claims cost (RDC) broken down by service category for the twenty-five mandates judged to have potential marginal direct cost that were analyzed using the MA APCD.

Table D-1: Autism Spectrum Disorders

Autism Spectrum Disorders Mandate

Summary of Services Used by Category

		Adjusted to		
		Fully Insured		
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PI	MPM
Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services	\$31,316,705	\$39,537,136	\$	1.39
All Services	\$31,316,705	\$39,537,136	\$	1.39

Table D-2: Chiropractic Medicine

Chiropractic Medicine Mandate

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Chiropractic Manipulative Treatment	\$2,304,438	\$2,677,008	\$ 1.35
All Services	\$2,304,438	\$2,677,008	\$ 1.35

Table D-3: Cleft lip and Cleft palate

Cleft lip and Cleft palate Mandate

Adjusted to: Full surver Category Rav Sample Claim Populato PMPM Inpatient Services 5690,412 \$871,64 \$0.031 Surgery, Digetive System 5252,878 \$6563,917 \$0.023 Anesthesia \$275,765 \$348,151 \$0.012 Surgery, Nespiratory System \$160,822 \$203,030 \$0.005 Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$102,106 \$128,908 \$0.005 Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$81,405 \$100,701 \$0.001 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$81,405 \$100,701 \$0.002 Pathology & Laboratory \$35,582 \$44,923 \$0.001 Dental Procedures \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Enteral and Parenteral Therapy \$30,534 \$30,012 \$0.001 Durgery, National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$13,828 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$31,8245 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$13,800 \$14,824 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,800 \$14	-			
Category Raw Sample Claim Population PMMM Inpatient Services \$690,412 \$871.41 \$0.031 Surgery, Digestive System \$525,878 \$663,917 \$0.023 Anesthesia \$275,765 \$348,151 \$0.012 Surgery, Respiratory System \$156,818 \$197,992 \$0.007 Hospital Observation Services \$102,106 \$128,908 \$0.005 Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$98,350 \$124,416 \$0.003 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$814,05 \$102,773 \$0.004 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$41,161 \$51,966 \$0.002 Pathology & Laboratory \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Dental Procedures \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$32,347 \$41,003 \$0.001 Surgery, National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$			-	
Inpatient Services \$60,412 \$871,41 \$0.031 Surgery, Digestive System \$525,878 \$663,917 \$0.023 Anesthesia \$275,765 \$348,151 \$0.012 Surgery, Respiratory System \$160,822 \$203,077 \$0.007 Office/Other Outpatient Services \$1107,889 \$136,210 \$0.005 Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$102,889 \$136,210 \$0.004 Special Otthinolaryngologic Services \$81,405 \$102,773 \$0.004 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical C: \$71,858 \$90,270 \$0.003 Pathology & Laboratory \$35,582 \$44,922 \$0.002 Pathology & Laboratory \$33,183 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Hospital Inpatient Services \$16,754 \$21,152 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,74 \$21,152 \$0.001 Durabl Medicinal Ervices \$16,754 \$21,			-	
Surgery, Digestive System \$252,878 \$663,817 \$0.023 Anesthesia \$275,765 \$348,151 \$0.012 Office/Other Outpatient Services \$160,822 \$203,037 \$0.007 Hospital Observation Services \$107,889 \$107,889 \$0.007 Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$102,106 \$128,908 \$0.005 Surgery, Integumentary System \$98,350 \$124,166 \$0.004 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$81,405 \$102,106 \$0.003 Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services \$41,161 \$51,562 \$0.001 Pathology & Laboratory \$32,877 \$41,003 \$0.001 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Bradiology \$14,483 \$18,285 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Transport Services \$10,223 \$14,277 \$0.001 Draspot Envices \$10,253 \$				
Anesthesia \$275,765 \$348,151 \$0.012 Surgery, Repiratory System \$160,822 \$200,377 \$0.007 Hospital Observation Services \$107,889 \$136,210 \$0.005 Surgery, Nusculoskielal System \$102,106 \$128,4166 \$0.004 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$81,405 \$102,773 \$0.004 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$81,405 \$102,773 \$0.004 Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services \$41,161 \$51,966 \$0.002 Pathology & Laboratory \$35,582 \$44,922 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$32,319 \$40,638 \$0.001 Emporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,319 \$30,534 \$38,549 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,307 \$30,534 \$38,549 \$0.001 Darable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,574 \$21,152 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$12,210 \$15,277 \$0.001 Drasport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,483	Inpatient Services			-
Surgery, Respiratory System \$160,822 \$203,037 \$0.007 Office/Other Outpatient Services \$136,818 \$137,982 \$0.005 Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$102,106 \$128,908 \$0.005 Surgery, Integumentary System \$98,350 \$112,788 \$300,720 \$0.004 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical C: \$71,858 \$90,720 \$0.002 Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services \$41,161 \$510,773 \$0.001 Pathology & Laboratory \$32,189 \$44,922 \$0.002 Dental Procedures \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$32,307 \$30,182 \$0.001 Radiology \$14,443 \$18,285 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,674 \$21,125 \$0.001 Draso therwise Including Ambulance \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$13,222 \$14,244 \$0.000 CMSHospital Outpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,765 \$0.000	Surgery, Digestive System			
Office/Other Outpatient Services \$156,818 \$197,982 \$0.007 Hospital Observation Services \$107,839 \$112,100 \$128,908 \$0.005 Surgery, Mucculoskeltal System \$98,350 \$124,166 \$0.004 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$81,405 \$102,106 \$128,908 \$0.002 Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services \$41,161 \$51,966 \$0.002 Pathology & Laboratory \$35,582 \$44,922 \$0.001 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,189 \$40,638 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$33,534 \$30,534 \$38,549 \$0.001 Burgery, Auditory System \$32,175 \$2.001 Radiology \$14,483 \$16,674 \$21,152 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,380 \$16,674 \$21,152 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,322 \$11,322 \$14,483 \$16,675 \$0.000 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,326 \$0.000 \$13,005 \$0.000 Consultations <t< td=""><td>Anesthesia</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Anesthesia			
Hospital Observation Services \$107,889 \$136,210 \$0.005 Surgery, Nusculoskeletal System \$102,106 \$124,166 \$0.004 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$81,405 \$102,773 \$0.004 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Ci \$71,858 \$90,720 \$0.002 Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services \$41,161 \$51,966 \$0.002 Pathology & Laboratory \$35,552 \$44,922 \$0.001 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,189 \$40,633 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Radiology \$14,443 \$18,825 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,443 \$18,825 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,557 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$4,163 \$5,209 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$4,205	Surgery, Respiratory System	\$160,822	\$203 <i>,</i> 037	\$0.007
Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$102,106 \$128,908 \$0.005 Surgery, Integumentary System \$98,350 \$11,405 \$10,073 Special Otrohinolaryngologic Services \$81,405 \$102,773 \$0.004 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Cr \$71,858 \$90,720 \$0.003 Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services \$41,161 \$55,582 \$44,922 \$0.001 Dental Procedures \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,307 \$30,812 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,812 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,812 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,130 \$16,640 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,322 \$11,322 \$11,322 \$11,322 \$0.001 Drasp Other Than Chemotherapy \$12,101 \$15,777 \$0.001 Drasp Other Than Chemotherapy \$12,201 \$11,322 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombin	Office/Other Outpatient Services	\$156,818	\$197,982	\$0.007
Surgery, Integumentary System \$98,350 \$124,166 \$0.004 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$81,405 \$102,773 \$0.004 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical C: \$71,858 \$90,720 \$0.003 Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services \$41,161 \$51,966 \$0.002 Pathology & Laboratory \$33,582 \$44,922 \$0.001 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Radiology \$14,483 \$18,285 \$0.011 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.010 Drugs Otter Than Chemotherapy \$11,322 \$14,244 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,244 \$0.001 Consultations \$10,531 \$13,005 \$0.000 CMM Hobpital Dutpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,757 \$0.001 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,935 \$0.000	Hospital Observation Services	\$107 <i>,</i> 889	\$136,210	\$0.005
Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$81,405 \$102,773 \$0.004 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical C: \$71,858 \$90,720 \$0.003 Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services \$41,161 \$51,966 \$0.002 Dental Procedures \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,189 \$40,638 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Hospital Inpatient Services \$16,754 \$21,152 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,025 \$10,000 \$14,248 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,523 \$13,268 \$0.000 \$14,253 <td< td=""><td>Surgery, Musculoskeletal System</td><td>\$102,106</td><td>\$128,908</td><td>\$0.005</td></td<>	Surgery, Musculoskeletal System	\$102,106	\$128,908	\$0.005
Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Cr \$71,858 \$90,720 \$0.003 Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services \$41,161 \$51,966 \$0.002 Pathology & Laboratory \$335,582 \$44,922 \$0.002 Dental Procedures \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$33,534 \$38,549 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$33,825 \$0.001 Hospital Inpatient Services \$16,754 \$21,152 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,6640 \$0.001 Durab Other Than Chemotherapy \$12,101 \$15,277 \$0.001 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,3005 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,523 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$1,924 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$4,205 \$5,309 \$0.000 Surgery, Mal	Surgery, Integumentary System	\$98,350	\$124,166	\$0.004
Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services \$41,161 \$51,966 \$0.002 Pathology & Laboratory \$35,582 \$44,922 \$0.002 Dental Procedures \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Emporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,389 \$40,638 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Hospital Inpatient Services \$16,754 \$21,152 \$0.001 Radiology \$14,483 \$18,285 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,245 \$0.001 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,205 \$0.000 Consultations \$0.001 \$13,005 \$0.000 Comporary National Codes Est. by Medicaid \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$0.000 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System	Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services	\$81,405	\$102,773	\$0.004
Pathology & Laboratory \$35,582 \$44,922 \$0.002 Dental Procedures \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,139 \$40,638 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Hospital Inpatient Services \$16,754 \$21,152 \$0.001 Radiology \$14,483 \$18,285 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$12,101 \$15,277 \$0.001 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 Consultations \$9,322 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,662 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 <td>Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Ca</td> <td>\$71,858</td> <td>\$90,720</td> <td>\$0.003</td>	Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Ca	\$71,858	\$90,720	\$0.003
Dental Procedures \$32,477 \$41,003 \$0.001 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,189 \$40,638 \$0.001 Enteral and Parenteral Therapy \$30,534 \$38,549 \$0.001 Hospital Inpatient Services \$16,754 \$21,152 \$0.001 Radiology \$14,483 \$18,285 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,294 \$0.001 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Consultation Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.0000	Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services	\$41,161	\$51,966	\$0.002
Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$32,189 \$40,638 \$0.001 Enteral and Parenteral Therapy \$30,334 \$38,549 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Hospital Inpatient Services \$16,754 \$21,152 \$0.001 Radiology \$14,483 \$18,285 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,294 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Immegrey Department Services \$2,567 \$3,240 \$0.000 Immegrey Department Services \$2,577 \$3,240 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$4,155 \$2,243 \$0.000 Immorization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids	Pathology & Laboratory	\$35 <i>,</i> 582	\$44,922	\$0.002
Enteral and Parenteral Therapy \$30,534 \$38,549 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Hospital Inpatient Services \$16,754 \$21,152 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$12,101 \$15,277 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,294 \$0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,479 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$2,2567 \$3,243 \$0.000 Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,944 \$0.000 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$1,657 \$2,023 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,203	Dental Procedures	\$32,477	\$41,003	\$0.001
Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Hospital Inpatient Services \$16,754 \$21,152 \$0.001 Radiology \$14,483 \$18,285 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,294 \$0.001 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 CMS Hospital Outpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,944 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,023 \$0.000 Syschiatry \$1,184 \$1,449 </td <td>Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers</td> <td>\$32,189</td> <td>\$40,638</td> <td>\$0.001</td>	Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers	\$32,189	\$40,638	\$0.001
Surgery, Auditory System \$23,907 \$30,182 \$0.001 Hospital Inpatient Services \$16,754 \$21,152 \$0.001 Radiology \$14,483 \$18,285 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,294 \$0.001 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 CMS Hospital Outpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,944 \$2,000 \$0,000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,022 \$2,811 \$0.000 \$0.000	Enteral and Parenteral Therapy	\$30,534	\$38,549	\$0.001
Hospital Inpatient Services \$16,754 \$21,152 \$0.001 Radiology \$14,483 \$18,285 \$0.011 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$12,101 \$15,277 \$0.001 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 CMM Hospital Outpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,438 \$10,653 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,023 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,023 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,023 \$0.000 Phychiatry \$1,144				
Radiology \$14,483 \$18,285 \$0.001 Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$12,101 \$15,277 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,244 \$0.001 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,001 \$13,005 \$0.000 CMS Hospital Outpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,4153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,944 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,203 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td>				-
Durable Medical Equipment \$13,180 \$16,640 \$0.001 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$12,101 \$15,277 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,294 \$0.001 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 CMS Hospital Outpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$4,205 \$5,309 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,023 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,144 \$0.000 \$1,657 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>				
Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$12,101 \$15,277 \$0.001 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,294 \$0.001 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 CMS Hospital Outpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$4,205 \$5,309 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$4,205 \$5,309 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,203 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Statified Services \$979 \$1,236 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024				
Transport Services Including Ambulance \$11,322 \$14,294 \$0.001 Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 CMS Hospital Outpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Unclassified Services \$4,4205 \$5,309 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Vendical & Surgical Supplies \$1,745 \$2,203 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000				-
Preventive Medicine Services \$10,523 \$13,286 \$0.000 Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 CMS Hospital Outpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Medicaid \$8,438 \$10,653 \$0.000 Unclassified Services \$4,205 \$5,309 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Emergency Department Services \$2,567 \$3,240 \$0.000 Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$1,745 \$2,203 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$794 \$1,003 \$0				
Consultations \$10,301 \$13,005 \$0.000 CMS Hospital Outpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Medicaid \$8,438 \$10,653 \$0.000 Unclassified Services \$4,205 \$5,309 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$2,567 \$3,240 \$0.000 Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$1,745 \$2,203 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$794 \$1,033 \$0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$355	-			
CMS Hospital Outpatient Payment System \$9,322 \$11,769 \$0.000 Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Medicaid \$8,438 \$10,653 \$0.000 Unclassified Services \$4,205 \$5,309 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,002 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,174 \$2,203 \$0.000 Needical & Surgical Supplies \$1,745 \$2,203 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$979 \$1,236 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024				
Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods \$8,679 \$10,957 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Medicaid \$8,438 \$10,653 \$0.000 Unclassified Services \$4,205 \$5,309 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Emergency Department Services \$2,567 \$3,240 \$0.000 Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$979 \$1,236 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$794 \$1,003 <				
Temporary National Codes Est. by Medicaid \$8,438 \$10,653 \$0.000 Unclassified Services \$4,205 \$5,309 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Emergency Department Services \$2,567 \$3,240 \$0.000 Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$1,745 \$2,203 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$794 \$1,003 \$0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$355 \$675 \$0.000 Newborn Care Services \$362 \$457 \$0.000 Pulmonary \$102 \$102 \$102				-
Unclassified Services\$4,205\$5,309\$0.000Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$4,153\$5,243\$0.000Surgery, Male Genital System\$3,217\$4,062\$0.000Emergency Department Services\$2,567\$3,240\$0.000Ophthalmology\$2,226\$2,811\$0.000Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M\$1,904\$2,403\$0.000Medical & Surgical Supplies\$1,745\$2,203\$0.000Cardiovascular\$1,657\$2,092\$0.000Psychiatry\$1,184\$1,494\$0.000Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention\$1,177\$1,486\$0.000Temporary Procedures & Professional Services\$979\$1,236\$0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$811\$1,024\$0.000Critical Care Services\$794\$1,033\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$362\$457\$0.000Newborn Care Services\$362\$457\$0.000Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia\$66\$84\$0.000Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir\$41\$51\$0.000Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$335\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Currey, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000				
Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$4,153 \$5,243 \$0.000 Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Emergency Department Services \$2,567 \$3,240 \$0.000 Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$1,745 \$2,203 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$979 \$1,236 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$794 \$1,003 \$0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$535 \$675 \$0.000 Newborn Care Services \$362 \$457 \$0.000 Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia \$66 \$84 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
Surgery, Male Genital System \$3,217 \$4,062 \$0.000 Emergency Department Services \$2,567 \$3,240 \$0.000 Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,203 \$0.000 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$1,745 \$2,203 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$794 \$1,003 \$0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$535 \$675 \$0.000 Newborn Care Services \$362 \$457 \$0.000 Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia \$66 \$84 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir \$41 \$51 \$0.000 Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr \$28 <				
Emergency Department Services \$2,567 \$3,240 \$0.000 Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$1,745 \$2,203 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$979 \$1,236 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$794 \$1,003 \$0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$535 \$675 \$0.000 Newborn Care Services \$362 \$447 \$0.000 Pulmonary \$102 \$129 \$0.000 Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia \$66 \$84 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir \$41 \$51 \$0.000 Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr \$28<				-
Ophthalmology \$2,226 \$2,811 \$0.000 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$1,745 \$2,203 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$979 \$1,236 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$794 \$1,003 \$0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$362 \$457 \$0.000 Newborn Care Services \$362 \$457 \$0.000 Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia \$66 \$84 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir \$41 \$51 \$0.000 Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr \$28 \$35 \$0.000 Qualifying Circumstances & Procedures \$2				
Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, M \$1,904 \$2,403 \$0.000 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$1,745 \$2,203 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$979 \$1,236 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$794 \$1,03 \$0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$535 \$675 \$0.000 Newborn Care Services \$362 \$457 \$0.000 Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia \$66 \$84 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir \$41 \$51 \$0.000 Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr \$28 \$35 \$0.000 Qualifying Circumstances & Procedures \$23 \$28 \$0.000 Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equi				
Medical & Surgical Supplies \$1,745 \$2,203 \$0.000 Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$979 \$1,236 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$794 \$1,003 \$0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$535 \$675 \$0.000 Newborn Care Services \$362 \$447 \$0.000 Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia \$66 \$84 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir \$41 \$51 \$0.000 Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr \$28 \$35 \$0.000 Other Services & Procedures \$23 \$28 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$19 \$23 \$0.000				
Cardiovascular \$1,657 \$2,092 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$1,184 \$1,494 \$0.000 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$1,177 \$1,486 \$0.000 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$979 \$1,236 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$811 \$1,024 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$794 \$1,003 \$0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$535 \$675 \$0.000 Newborn Care Services \$362 \$447 \$0.000 Pulmonary \$102 \$129 \$0.000 Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia \$66 \$84 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir \$41 \$51 \$0.000 Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr \$28 \$35 \$0.000 Other Services & Procedures \$23 \$28 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$19 \$23 \$0.000				-
Psychiatry\$1,184\$1,494\$0.000Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention\$1,177\$1,486\$0.000Temporary Procedures & Professional Services\$979\$1,236\$0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$811\$1,024\$0.000Critical Care Services\$794\$1,003\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$535\$675\$0.000Newborn Care Services\$362\$457\$0.000Pulmonary\$102\$129\$0.000Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia\$66\$84\$0.000Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir\$41\$51\$0.000Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$35\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000				
Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention\$1,177\$1,486\$0.000Temporary Procedures & Professional Services\$979\$1,236\$0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$811\$1,024\$0.000Critical Care Services\$794\$1,003\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$535\$675\$0.000Newborn Care Services\$362\$457\$0.000Pulmonary\$102\$129\$0.000Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia\$66\$84\$0.000Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir\$41\$51\$0.000Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$35\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000				
Temporary Procedures & Professional Services\$979\$1,236\$0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$811\$1,024\$0.000Critical Care Services\$794\$1,003\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$535\$675\$0.000Newborn Care Services\$362\$457\$0.000Pulmonary\$102\$129\$0.000Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia\$66\$84\$0.000Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir\$41\$51\$0.000Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$35\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000				
Vaccines, Toxoids\$811\$1,024\$0.000Critical Care Services\$794\$1,003\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$535\$675\$0.000Newborn Care Services\$362\$457\$0.000Pulmonary\$102\$129\$0.000Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia\$66\$84\$0.000Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir\$41\$51\$0.000Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$35\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000	-			-
Critical Care Services\$794\$1,003\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$535\$675\$0.000Newborn Care Services\$362\$457\$0.000Pulmonary\$102\$129\$0.000Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia\$66\$84\$0.000Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir\$41\$51\$0.000Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$35\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000				
Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$535\$675\$0.000Newborn Care Services\$362\$457\$0.000Pulmonary\$102\$129\$0.000Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia\$66\$84\$0.000Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir\$41\$51\$0.000Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$35\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000				
Newborn Care Services\$362\$457\$0.000Pulmonary\$102\$129\$0.000Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia\$66\$84\$0.000Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir\$41\$51\$0.000Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$35\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000				
Pulmonary\$102\$129\$0.000Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia\$66\$84\$0.000Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir\$41\$51\$0.000Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$35\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000			-	
Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia\$66\$84\$0.000Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir\$41\$51\$0.000Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$35\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000			•	
Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir\$41\$51\$0.000Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$35\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000	•			
Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr\$28\$35\$0.000Other Services & Procedures\$23\$28\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000			-	
Other Services & Procedures \$23 \$28 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$19 \$23 \$0.000	Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & In	\$41	\$51	\$0.000
Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$19\$23\$0.000	Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carr	\$28	\$35	\$0.000
	Other Services & Procedures	\$23	\$28	\$0.000
All Services \$2,610,049 \$3,295,170 \$ 0.12	Surgery, Cardiovascular System			
	All Services	\$2,610,049	\$3,295,170	\$ 0.12

Table D-4: Diabetes-related Services and Supplies

Diabetes-related Services and Supplies Mandate

Adjusted to Fully Category Raw Sample Claims Insured Population PMPM Pharmacy Claims \$87,417,466 \$143,654,795 \$5.067 Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational \$4,891,877 \$8,038,916 \$0.284 Pathology & Laboratory \$4,101,261 \$6,739,681 \$0.238 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$3,853,956 \$6,333,280 \$0.223 **Durable Medical Equipment** \$3,391,982 \$5,574,109 \$0.197 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$1,496,366 \$2,459,007 \$0.087 Medical Nutrition Therapy \$1,117,904 \$1,837,073 \$0.065 Ophthalmology \$387,196 \$636,286 \$0.022 Surgery, Integumentary System \$187,048 \$307,380 \$0.011 Endocrinology \$54,092 \$88,890 \$0.003 **Preventive Medicine Services** \$44,919 \$73,816 \$0.003 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$13,032 \$21,416 \$0.001 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$10,795 \$17,740 \$0.001 Orthotics \$5,758 \$9,462 \$0.000 All Services \$106,973,652 \$175,791,850 \$ 6.20

Summary of Services Used by Category

Table D-5: Early Intervention Services

Early Intervention Services Mandate

Summary of Services Used by Category

		Adjusted to	
		Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services	\$14,216,047	\$17,947,666	\$0.633
Temporary National Codes Est. by Medicaid	\$4,683,775	\$5,913,236	\$0.209
Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention	\$1,469,498	\$1,855,232	\$0.065
Consultations	\$225	\$284	\$0.000
Office/Other Outpatient Services	\$171	\$216	\$0.000
Preventive Medicine Services	\$57	\$72	\$0.000
All Services	\$20,369,774	\$25,716,707	\$ 0.91

Table D-6: Hearing Aids for Children

Hearing Aids for Children Mandate

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services	\$4,701,980	\$5,936,219	\$0.209
Hearing Services	\$753,459	\$951,237	\$0.034
Surgery, Auditory System	\$4,344	\$5,485	\$0.000
All Services	\$5,459,783	\$6,892,940	\$ 0.24

Table D-7: Home Health Care

Home Health Care Mandate

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy	\$54,578,177	\$68,904,593	\$2.430
Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services	\$40,163,888	\$50,706,647	\$1.788
Durable Medical Equipment	\$26,135,778	\$32,996,250	\$1.164
Medical & Surgical Supplies	\$18,237,749	\$23,025,039	\$0.812
Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers	\$13,660,316	\$17,246,060	\$0.608
Unclassified Services	\$9,529,481	\$12,030,907	\$0.424
Orthotics	\$7,042,962	\$8,891,693	\$0.314
Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational	\$6,760,780	\$8,535,441	\$0.301
Temporary Procedures & Professional Services	\$5,592,887	\$7,060,983	\$0.249
Enteral and Parenteral Therapy	\$5,068,539	\$6,398,998	\$0.226
Inpatient Services	\$4,804,697	\$6,065,899	\$0.214
Prosthetics	\$3,171,974	\$4,004,596	\$0.141
Temporary Codes for Durable Medical Equipment Regional Carriers	\$2,506,788	\$3,164,803	\$0.112
Home Health Procedures/Services	\$2,058,987	\$2,599,457	\$0.092
Temporary National Codes Est. by Medicaid	\$1,332,662	\$1,682,477	\$0.059
Psychiatry	\$537,907	\$679,104	\$0.024
Pulmonary	\$524,226	\$661,831	\$0.023
Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation	\$291,259	\$367,713	\$0.013
Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services	\$260,045	\$328,305	\$0.012
Home Services	\$252,856	\$319,229	\$0.011
Vision Services	\$219,560	\$277,194	\$0.010
Pathology & Laboratory	\$173,408	\$218,926	\$0.008
Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS	\$155,657	\$196,516	\$0.007
Chemotherapy Drugs	\$103,538	\$130,716	\$0.005
Surgery, Musculoskeletal System	\$94,206	\$118,935	\$0.004
Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods	\$70,925	\$89,542	\$0.003
Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures	\$67,448	\$85,153	\$0.003
Hearing Services	\$62,335	\$78,697	\$0.003
Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention	\$54,879	\$69,285	\$0.002
Dialysis	\$45,710	\$57,708	\$0.002
Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery	\$28,763	\$36,314	\$0.001
Vaccines, Toxoids	\$20,090	\$25,363	\$0.001
Transport Services Including Ambulance	\$18,439	\$23,279	\$0.001
Surgery, Nervous System	\$17,000	\$21,462	\$0.001
Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections &			
Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or			
Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration	\$13,844	\$17,478	\$0.001
Cardiovascular	\$13,547	\$17,103	\$0.001
Preventive Medicine Services	\$10,153	\$12,819	\$0.000
Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care Services	\$10,110	\$12,764	\$0.000
Hospital Inpatient Services	\$8,770	\$11,073	\$0.000
Office/Other Outpatient Services Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive,	\$8,118	\$10,249	\$0.000
Mental Status, Speech Testing)	\$6,869	\$8,673	\$0.000
Domiciliary, Rest Home (assisted living facility) or Home Plan			
Oversight Services	\$6,684	\$8,439	-
Laboratory Services	\$6,122	\$7,729	\$0.000

Home Health Care Mandate

Summary of Services Used by Category (cont'd)

		Adjusted to	
		Fully Insured Population	РМРМ
Anesthesia	\$5,608	\$7,080	
Education & Training for Patient Self-Management	\$4,270	\$5,390	\$0.000
Special Dermatological Procedures	\$2,943	\$3,715	\$0.000
Surgery, Integumentary System	\$2,602	\$3,285	\$0.000
Radiology	\$1,869	\$2,360	\$0.000
Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids	\$1,640	\$2,070	\$0.000
Ophthalmology	\$1,636	\$2,065	\$0.000
Special Services, Procedures, and Reports	\$1,525	\$1,925	\$0.000
Diagnostic Radiology Services	\$1,331	\$1,680	\$0.000
Surgery, Eye & Ocular Adnexa	\$1,250	\$1,578	\$0.000
Care Plan Oversight Services	\$1,228	\$1,550	\$0.000
Surgery, Male Genital System	\$1,126	\$1,422	\$0.000
Other Services & Procedures	\$966	\$1,220	\$0.000
Surgery, Cardiovascular System	\$774	\$977	\$0.000
Surgery, Digestive System	\$706	\$891	\$0.000
Newborn Care Services	\$655	\$827	\$0.000
Consultations	\$591	\$746	\$0.000
Chiropractic Manipulative Treatment	\$534	\$674	\$0.000
Case Management Services	\$380	\$480	\$0.000
Nursing Facility Services	\$261	\$330	\$0.000
Surgery, Auditory System	\$138	\$175	\$0.000
Other Evaluation and Management Services	\$115	\$145	\$0.000
Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies	\$107	\$135	\$0.000
Surgery, Female Genital System	\$81	\$102	\$0.000
Medical Nutrition Therapy	\$79	\$100	\$0.000
Surgery, Respiratory System	\$77	\$98	\$0.000
Moderate (conscious) Sedation	\$74	\$93	\$0.000
Surgery, Urinary System	\$73	\$92	\$0.000
Allergy & Clinical Immunology	\$2	\$3	\$0.000
Prolonged Services	\$0	\$0	\$-
All Services	\$203,760,773	\$257,246,649	\$ 9.07

Table D-8: Hormone Replacement Therapy

Hormone Replacement Therapy Mandate

Summary of Services Used by Category

	Adjusted to		
		Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Pharmacy Claims	\$5,873,488	\$9,652,016	\$0.340
Office/Other Outpatient Services	\$711,427	\$1,169,101	\$0.041
Preventive Medicine Services	\$398,042	\$654,110	\$0.023
Pathology & Laboratory	\$23,108	\$37,974	\$0.001
Consultations	\$15,544	\$25,544	\$0.001
Surgery, Integumentary System	\$11,183	\$18,377	\$0.001
Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy	\$4,154	\$6,827	\$0.000
All Services	\$7,036,946	\$11,563,949	\$ 0.41

Table D-9: Human Leukocyte Antigen Testing

Human Leukocyte Antigen Testing Mandate

Summary of Services Used by Category

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Pathology & Laboratory	\$14,526	\$18,339	\$0.001
All Services	\$14,526	\$18,339	\$0.001

Table D-10: Hypodermic Syringes or Needles

Hypodermic Syringes or Needles Mandate

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Pharmacy	\$496,900	\$816,566	\$0.029
Medical & Surgical Supplies	\$162,308	\$266,724	\$0.009
All Services	\$659 <i>,</i> 209	\$1,083,290	\$ 0.04

Table D-11: Infertility Treatment

Infertility Treatment Mandate

Summary of Services Used by Category

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Pharmacy Claims	\$28,614,597	\$54,302,681	\$2.051
Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers	\$17,916,345	\$34,000,324	\$1.284
Surgery, Female Genital System	\$3,677,979	\$6,979,798	\$0.264
Pathology & Laboratory	\$2,224,355	\$4,221,218	\$0.159
Office/Other Outpatient Services	\$1,641,581	\$3,115,273	\$0.118
Radiology	\$431,432	\$818,741	\$0.031
Preventive Medicine Services	\$239,984	\$455,424	\$0.017
Surgery, Auditory System	\$224,577	\$426,186	\$0.016
Consultations	\$150,025	\$284,707	\$0.011
Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services	\$35,647	\$67,649	\$0.003
Surgery, Digestive System	\$20,129	\$38,200	\$0.001
Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery	\$8,990	\$17,060	\$0.001
All Services	\$55,185,642	\$104,727,260	\$ 3.96

Table D-12: Low Protein Foods (LPF)

Low Protein Foods (LPF) Mandate

Summary of Services Used by Category

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Enteral and Parenteral Therapy	\$1,144,495	\$1,444,918	\$0.051
Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers	\$64,152	\$80,992	\$0.003
All Services	\$1,208,647	\$1,525,909	\$ 0.05

Table D-13: Nonprescription Enteral Formulas

Nonprescription Enteral Formulas Mandate

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Enteral and Parenteral Therapy	\$732,663	\$924,982	\$0.033
All Services	\$732,663	\$924,982	\$ 0.03

Table D-14: Oral Chemotherapy Treatment of Cancer

As discussed above in the report body, the oral chemotherapy mandate is a cost-sharing mandate only. The claims summarized below include all 2014 sample and estimated population carrier payments for oral cancer drugs claims used to derive the mandate cost estimate, and will therefore not match the oral chemotherapy mandate results presented above.

Oral Chemotherapy Treatment of Cancer Mandate

Summary of Services Used by Category

		Adjusted to	
		Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Pharmacy	\$44,508,253	\$73,141,263	\$2.580
Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy	\$12,323	\$20,251	\$0.001
All Services	\$44,520,576	\$73,161,515	\$ 2.58

Table D-15: Prosthetic Devices

Prosthetic Devices Mandate

Summary of Services Used by Category

	Adjusted to Fully Insured			
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM	
Prosthetics	\$3,063,784	\$3,868,008	\$0.136	
All Services	\$3,063,784	\$3,868,008	\$ 0.14	

Table D-16: Scalp Hair Prostheses

Scalp Hair Prostheses

			Adjusted to	
			Fully Insured	
Procedure Code	Description	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
A9282	Wig, any type, each	\$325,539	\$410,990	\$0.014
All Services		\$325,539	\$410,990	\$ 0.01

Table D-17: Speech and Audiology Services

Speech and Audiology Services

		Adjusted to	
		Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services	\$3,210,954	\$4,053,808	\$0.143
Hearing Services	\$735,387	\$928,422	\$0.033
Surgery, Auditory System	\$711,401	\$898,140	\$0.032
Prosthetics	\$600,349	\$757 <i>,</i> 937	\$0.027
Inpatient Services	\$280,689	\$354,368	\$0.012
Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-			
Cognitive, Mental Status, Speech Testing)	\$37,459	\$47,292	\$0.002
Temporary Procedures & Professional Services	\$24,772	\$31,275	\$0.001
Surgery, Digestive System	\$7,928	\$10,009	\$0.000
Hospital Observation Services	\$7,618	\$9,617	\$0.000
Surgery, Integumentary System	\$3,258	\$4,113	\$0.000
Radiology	\$3,073	\$3,880	\$0.000
Surgery, Musculoskeletal System	\$2,927	\$3 <i>,</i> 695	\$0.000
Pathology & Laboratory	\$2,879	\$3 <i>,</i> 635	\$0.000
Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy	\$2,612	\$3,297	\$0.000
Cardiovascular	\$1,833	\$2,314	\$0.000
Anesthesia	\$1,669	\$2,108	\$0.000
Medical & Surgical Supplies	\$618	\$780	\$0.000
Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures	\$517	\$653	\$0.000
Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers	\$305	\$385	\$0.000
CMS Hospital Outpatient Payment System	\$177	\$223	\$0.000
Pulmonary	\$97	\$122	\$0.000
Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS	\$71	\$89	\$0.000
Surgery, Cardiovascular System	\$9	\$12	\$0.000
Ophthalmology	\$2	\$2	\$0.000
Surgery, Respiratory System	\$0	\$0	\$0.000
Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational	\$0	\$0	\$-
All Services	\$5,636,603	\$7,116,174	\$ 0.25

Table D-18: Certified Nurse Midwives

Certified Nurse Midwife Services

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery	\$187,264	\$962,380	\$ 0.110
Preventive Medicine Services	\$29,820	\$153,249	\$ 0.017
Pathology & Laboratory	\$26,547	\$136,430	\$ 0.016
Unclassified Services	\$23,392	\$120,216	\$ 0.014
Office/Other Outpatient Services	\$20,466	\$105,178	\$ 0.012
Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy	\$15,298	\$78 <i>,</i> 618	\$ 0.009
Vaccines, Toxoids	\$3,830	\$19,685	\$ 0.002
Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids	\$3,332	\$17,123	\$ 0.002
Surgery, Female Genital System	\$2,533	\$13,018	\$ 0.001
Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS	\$822	\$4,222	\$ 0.000
Surgery, Integumentary System	\$591	\$3,037	\$ 0.000
Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Che	\$571	\$2,932	\$ 0.000
Hospital Observation Services	\$556	\$2 <i>,</i> 858	\$ 0.000
Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods	\$467	\$2 <i>,</i> 399	\$ 0.000
Home Services	\$156	\$802	\$ 0.000
Emergency Department Services	\$149	\$764	\$ 0.000
Surgery, Male Genital System	\$99	\$511	\$ 0.000
Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers	\$90	\$463	\$ 0.000
Surgery, Cardiovascular System	\$79	\$406	\$ 0.000
Hospital Inpatient Services	\$0	\$0	\$-
All Services	\$316,062	\$1,624,290	\$ 0.19

Table D-19: Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists

Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist Services

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	РМРМ
Anesthesia	\$9,772,491	\$22,003,254	
Surgery, Nervous System	\$11,644	\$26,218	\$ 0.001
Preventive Medicine Services	\$4,596	\$10,347	\$ 0.000
Surgery, Digestive System	\$3,653	\$8,224	\$ 0.000
Surgery, Eye & Ocular Adnexa	\$3,494	\$7,866	\$ 0.000
Office/Other Outpatient Services	\$3,067	\$6,905	\$ 0.000
Surgery, Cardiovascular System	\$2,859	\$6,437	\$ 0.000
Radiology	\$2,074	\$4,669	\$ 0.000
Surgery, Female Genital System	\$2,068	\$4,656	\$ 0.000
Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy	\$1,725	\$3,884	\$ 0.000
Surgery, Musculoskeletal System	\$1,300	\$2,927	\$ 0.000
Hospital Inpatient Services	\$1,293	\$2,911	\$ 0.000
Moderate (conscious) Sedation	\$1,068	\$2,405	\$ 0.000
Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical			
Care Services	\$825	\$1,858	\$ 0.000
Cardiovascular	\$750	\$1,689	\$ 0.000
Qualifying Circumstances for Anesthesia	\$666	\$1,499	\$ 0.000
Consultations	\$425	\$957	\$ 0.000
Surgery, Urinary System	\$382	\$861	\$ 0.000
Surgery, Respiratory System	\$256	\$576	\$ 0.000
Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections &			
Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or			
Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration	\$218	\$492	\$ 0.000
Emergency Department Services	\$210	\$473	\$ 0.000
Pulmonary	\$196	\$441	\$ 0.000
Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids	\$131	\$295	\$ 0.000
Vaccines, Toxoids	\$107	\$241	\$ 0.000
Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery	\$82	\$186	\$ 0.000
Pathology & Laboratory	\$46	\$104	\$ 0.000
Ophthalmology	\$6	\$14	\$ 0.000
Unclassified Services	-\$2,707	-\$6,095	\$(0.000)
All Services	\$9,812,925	\$22,094,293	\$ 0.78

Table D-20: Nurse Practitioners

Nurse Practitioner Services

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Office/Other Outpatient Services	\$11,107,518	\$25,009,134	-
Preventive Medicine Services	\$3,039,299	\$6,843,134	
Psychiatry	\$934,552	\$2,104,191	
Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids	\$672,655	\$1,514,516	
Chemotherapy Drugs	\$513,553	\$1,156,290	
Vaccines, Toxoids	\$475,106	\$1,069,724	\$ 0.038
Surgery, Integumentary System	\$435,571	\$980,709	\$ 0.035
Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy	\$263,777	\$593 <i>,</i> 908	\$ 0.021
Allergy & Clinical Immunology	\$262,762	\$591,621	\$ 0.021
Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services	\$241,484	\$543,712	\$ 0.019
Temporary Procedures & Professional Services	\$230,139	\$518,170	\$ 0.018
Hospital Inpatient Services	\$223,490	\$503,199	\$ 0.018
Emergency Department Services	\$210,139	\$473,139	\$ 0.017
Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or Highly Complex			
Biologic Agent Administration	\$202,404	\$455,722	\$ 0.016
Consultations	\$115,437	\$259,912	\$ 0.009
Temporary National Codes Est. by Medicaid	\$100,044	\$225,254	\$ 0.008
Pathology & Laboratory	\$88,411	\$199,062	\$ 0.007
Surgery, Cardiovascular System	\$78,101	\$175,849	\$ 0.006
Surgery, Musculoskeletal System	\$64,701	\$145,678	
Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Care			
Services	\$50,337	\$113,337	-
Surgery, Respiratory System	\$49,570	\$111,609	
Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS	\$33,266	\$74,901	\$ 0.003
Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Mental			
Status, Speech Testing)	\$33,186	\$74,721	\$ 0.003
Surgery, Female Genital System	\$30,924	\$69,626	
Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services	\$27,710	\$62,391	
Surgery, Urinary System	\$27,235	\$61,321	\$ 0.002
Home Health Procedures/Services	\$25,078	\$56,463	-
Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers	\$25,070	\$56 <i>,</i> 447	\$ 0.002
Cardiovascular	\$24,816	\$55 <i>,</i> 874	\$ 0.002
Nursing Facility Services	\$20,998	\$47,278	\$ 0.002
Pulmonary	\$20,552		\$ 0.002
Surgery, Digestive System	\$17,243	\$38,824	\$ 0.001
Hospital Observation Services	\$17,091	\$38,481	\$ 0.001
Surgery, Nervous System	\$15,720	\$35,393	\$ 0.001
Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery	\$14,362	\$32,336	\$ 0.001
Critical Care Services	\$14,178	\$31,923	\$ 0.001
Surgery, Auditory System	\$14,034	\$31,599	\$ 0.001
Newborn Care Services	\$14,031	\$31,591	\$ 0.001
Photodynamic Therapy	\$13,964	\$31,441	
Anesthesia	\$13,051	\$29,386	
Radiology	\$10,609	\$23,887	
Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures	\$9,732	\$21,913	

Nurse Practitioner Services

Summary of Services Used by Category (cont'd)

Category	Raw Sample Claims	Adjusted to Fully Insured Population	F	PMPM
Gastroenterology	\$6,780	\$15,266	\$	0.001
Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation	\$6,733	\$15,160		0.001
Special Services, Procedures, and Reports	\$4,732	\$10,654	\$	0.000
Medical Nutrition Therapy	\$4,199	\$9,454	\$	0.000
Orthotics	\$3,713	\$8,360	\$	0.000
Home Services	\$2,929	\$6 <i>,</i> 595	\$	0.000
Endocrinology	\$2,377	\$5 <i>,</i> 353	\$	0.000
Surgery, Male Genital System	\$2,111	\$4,754	\$	0.000
Surgery, Eye & Ocular Adnexa	\$1,600	\$3 <i>,</i> 603	\$	0.000
Prolonged Services	\$1,462	\$3,292	\$	0.000
Special Dermatological Procedures	\$1,066	\$2 <i>,</i> 399	\$	0.000
Other Services & Procedures	\$1,063	\$2 <i>,</i> 394	\$	0.000
Surgery, Hemic and Lymphatic Systems	\$945	\$2,128	\$	0.000
Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies	\$742	\$1 <i>,</i> 670	\$	0.000
Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods	\$638	\$1,437	\$	0.000
Surgery, General	\$573	\$1,290	\$	0.000
Medical & Surgical Supplies	\$448	\$1,009	\$	0.000
Durable Medical Equipment	\$410	\$922	\$	0.000
Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention	\$358	\$806	\$	0.000
Surgery, Endocrine System	\$289	\$651	\$	0.000
Ophthalmology	\$289	\$651	\$	0.000
Moderate (conscious) Sedation	\$152	\$343	\$	0.000
Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care Services	\$142	\$320	\$	0.000
Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational	\$108	\$244	\$	0.000
Chiropractic Manipulative Treatment	\$14	\$32	\$	0.000
Hearing Services	\$13	\$28	\$	0.000
Unclassified Services	-\$1,993	-\$4,487		(0.000)
All Services	\$19,823,794	\$44,634,265	\$	1.57

Table D-21: Physician Assistants

Physician Assistant Services

Category Paw Sample Claims Population PMPM Office/Other Outpatient Services \$3,225,276 \$0,653 Preventive Medicine Services \$3,215,276 \$0,258,208 \$0,089 Surgery, Musculoskeltal System \$1,124,869 \$25,526,88 \$0,089 Pathology & Laboratory \$733,004 \$1,785,488 \$0,052 Surgery, Integumentary System \$365,647 \$1,147,8023 \$0,052 Vaccines, Toxoids \$505,590 \$1,133,361 \$0,009 Psychiatry \$369,187 \$831,243 \$0,029 Hospital Inpatient Services \$317,172 \$0,027 Surgery, Digestive System \$335,418 \$777,726 \$0,027 Inmunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$222,408 \$500,5762 \$0,018 Surgery, Nervous System \$1517,717 \$387,652 \$0,014 Surgery, Nervous System \$1514,704 \$348,324 \$0,010 Surgery, Nervous System \$1514,704 \$348,324 \$0,010 Surgery, Nervous System \$110,779 \$276,368 \$0,011			Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Preventive Medicine Services \$3,225,276 \$7,261,871 \$0.256 Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$1,124,869 \$2,322,698 \$0,089 Pathology & Laboratory \$536,993 \$1,785,488 \$0,063 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$565,647 \$1,478,023 \$0,023 Vaccines, Toxoids \$505,590 \$1,138,361 \$0,040 Yaccines, Toxoids \$536,993 \$12,09,066 \$0,029 Hospital Inpatient Services \$367,589 \$827,645 \$0,029 Surgery, Digestive System \$345,418 \$777,726 \$0,027 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$286,280 \$644,574 \$0,023 Surgery, Nervous System \$157,655 \$334,418 \$0,012 Surgery, Nervous System \$152,765 \$344,818 \$0,012 Surgery, Nervous System \$152,765 \$345,496 \$0,013 Surgery, Nervous System \$152,765 \$349,498 \$0,012 Surgery, Nervous System Services \$122,731 \$227,633 \$0,010 Surgery, Nervous System Services \$74,723	Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$1,124,869 \$2,532,698 \$0.089 Pathology & Laboratory \$739,004 \$1,785,488 \$0.063 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$556,693 \$1,209,066 \$0.043 Vaccines, Toxoids \$536,993 \$1,209,066 \$0.043 Vaccines, Toxoids \$536,993 \$1,209,066 \$0.043 Vaccines, Toxoids \$536,993 \$827,645 \$0.029 Hospital Inpatient Services \$367,589 \$827,645 \$0.029 Surgery, Digestive System \$345,418 \$577,7726 \$0.027 Allergy & Clinical Immunology \$222,408 \$500,762 \$0.018 Surgery, Female Genital System \$157,555 \$354,968 \$0.013 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.009 Horspital Observation Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.005 Flydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$16,371 \$36,716 <td< td=""><td>Office/Other Outpatient Services</td><td>\$8,227,023</td><td>\$18,523,554</td><td>\$0.653</td></td<>	Office/Other Outpatient Services	\$8,227,023	\$18,523,554	\$0.653
Pathology & Laboratory \$793,004 \$1,785,488 \$0.063 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$656,647 \$1,787,8023 \$0.052 Surgery, Integumentary System \$536,939 \$1,209,066 \$0.043 Vaccines, Toxoids \$536,7590 \$81,243 \$0.029 Psychiatry \$363,7589 \$827,645 \$0.027 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$286,280 \$644,574 \$0.027 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$127,217 \$337,652 \$0.018 Surgery, Nerous System \$151,7655 \$354,968 \$0.013 Surgery, Nerous System \$152,705 \$324,968 \$0.013 Surgery, Nerous System \$152,706 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$122,731 \$276,336 \$0.000 Surgery, Naternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$280,422 \$0.006 Pulmonary \$218,107 \$0.027 \$181,970 \$0.000 Surgery, Nerous System \$154,704 \$343,424 \$0.006 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.000 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery	Preventive Medicine Services	\$3,225,276	\$7,261,871	\$0.256
Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$656,447 \$1,478,023 \$0.052 Surgery, Integumentary System \$536,590 \$1,128,361 \$0.040 Yaccines, Toxolds \$505,590 \$1,138,361 \$0.000 Psychiatry \$369,187 \$831,243 \$0.029 Hospital Inpatient Services \$367,589 \$827,645 \$0.029 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxolds \$286,280 \$644,574 \$0.023 Allergy & Clinical Immunology \$222,408 \$500,752 \$0.018 Surgery, Nervous System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.012 Surgery, Nervous System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.013 Surgery, Nervous System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.016 Surgery, Nervous System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.006 Surgery, Naternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.006 Nursing Facility Services \$74,543 \$151,840 \$0.006 Surgery, Naternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.006 Hospital Observation Services \$74,545	Surgery, Musculoskeletal System	\$1,124,869	\$2,532,698	\$0.089
Surgery, Integumentary System \$536,993 \$1,209,066 \$0.043 Vaccines, Toxoids \$505,590 \$1,138,361 \$0.040 Psychiatry \$367,589 \$827,645 \$0.029 Hospital Inpatient Services \$367,589 \$827,645 \$0.027 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$286,280 \$644,574 \$0.023 Allergy & Clinical Immunology \$222,408 \$500,762 \$0.018 Surgery, Nervous System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.012 Surgery, Nervous System \$123,065 \$277,086 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$123,065 \$277,086 \$0.010 Surgery, Naternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.009 Nursing Facility Services \$747,23 \$168,242 \$0.010 Surgery, Antonal Codes Est. by Private Payers \$74,543 \$167,842 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,543 \$167,842 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,543 \$167,842 \$0.006 Surgery, Antonal Codes Est. by Private Payers <td< td=""><td>Pathology & Laboratory</td><td>\$793,004</td><td>\$1,785,488</td><td>\$0.063</td></td<>	Pathology & Laboratory	\$793,004	\$1,785,488	\$0.063
Vaccines, Toxoids \$505,590 \$1,138,361 \$0.040 Psychiatry \$367,589 \$831,243 \$0.029 Hospital Inpatient Services \$367,589 \$827,645 \$0.029 Surgery, Digestive System \$345,418 \$777,726 \$0.027 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$222,408 \$500,762 \$0.018 Emergency Department Services \$172,711 \$387,552 \$0.014 Surgery, Nerous System \$153,7655 \$354,968 \$0.013 Surgery, Penale Genital System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$122,731 \$277,086 \$0.010 Surgery, Naternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.006 Fortical Care Services \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.006 Fungionary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.006 Surgery, Urinary System \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.002 Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration <t< td=""><td>Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy</td><td>\$656,447</td><td>\$1,478,023</td><td>\$0.052</td></t<>	Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy	\$656,447	\$1,478,023	\$0.052
Psychlatry \$369,187 \$831,243 \$0.029 Hospital Inpatient Services \$367,589 \$827,645 \$0.029 Surgery, Digestive System \$3457,589 \$827,645 \$0.029 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$286,280 \$644,574 \$0.023 Allergy & Clinical Immunology \$222,408 \$500,762 \$0.014 Surgery, Nervous System \$157,655 \$354,968 \$0.013 Surgery, Female Genital System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$123,065 \$277,086 \$0.010 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.006 Gritical Care Services \$74,723 \$168,742 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.001 Hugishy Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$10,265 \$0.002 Pulmonary \$113,146 \$70,578 \$0.002 Surgery, Vinary System \$16,207 \$36,716	Surgery, Integumentary System	\$536,993	\$1,209,066	\$0.043
Hospital Inpatient Services \$367,589 \$827,645 \$0.029 Surgery, Digestive System \$345,418 \$777,726 \$0.027 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$248,6280 \$644,574 \$0.028 Allergy & Clinical Immunology \$222,408 \$500,762 \$0.018 Emergency Department Services \$177,171 \$387,652 \$0.014 Surgery, Fenale Genital System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.012 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$122,731 \$276,336 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$122,731 \$276,336 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$168,242 \$0.006 Hospital Observation Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$117,79 \$249,425 \$0.002 Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544	Vaccines, Toxoids	\$505,590	\$1,138,361	\$0.040
Surgery, Digestive System \$345,418 \$777,726 \$0.027 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$228,280 \$644,574 \$0.023 Allergy & Clinical Immunology \$222,408 \$500,762 \$0.018 Surgery, Department Services \$177,171 \$387,652 \$0.014 Surgery, Female Genital System \$157,655 \$354,968 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$123,065 \$277,086 \$0.010 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$80,820 \$181,970 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Gurgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Allerght Biologic Agent Administration \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,575 \$0.002 Pulmonary \$28,644 \$64,954 \$0.025 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.002 Pulmonary \$28,644 \$64,949 \$0.002 <td>Psychiatry</td> <td>\$369,187</td> <td>\$831,243</td> <td>\$0.029</td>	Psychiatry	\$369,187	\$831,243	\$0.029
Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$286,280 \$644,574 \$0.023 Allergy & Clinical Immunology \$222,408 \$500,762 \$0.018 Emergency Department Services \$172,171 \$387,655 \$0.013 Surgery, Nervous System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.012 Surgery, Mervoite Services \$123,065 \$277,086 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$122,731 \$268,320 \$0.019 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.000 Hospital Observation Services \$80,820 \$181,970 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.006 Cremporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.002 Pulmonary \$21,843 \$72,461 \$0.003 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$69,878 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro	Hospital Inpatient Services	\$367,589	\$827,645	\$0.029
Allergy & Clinical Immunology \$222,408 \$500,762 \$0.018 Emergency Department Services \$172,171 \$387,652 \$0.013 Surgery, Nervous System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.012 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$123,065 \$277,086 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$122,731 \$276,336 \$0.010 Surgery, Renale Genital System \$10,779 \$249,425 \$0.009 Hospital Observation Services \$80,820 \$113,979 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.005 \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Temporary Notional System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Surge	Surgery, Digestive System	\$345,418	\$777,726	\$0.027
Emergency Department Services \$172,171 \$387,652 \$0.014 Surgery, Nervous System \$157,655 \$354,968 \$0.013 Surgery, Female Genital System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$122,731 \$276,336 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$122,731 \$276,336 \$0.010 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.000 Hospital Observation Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$147,169 \$0.002 Health & Behavior Assesment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Temporary Qodes Assigned by CMS \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001	Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids	\$286,280	\$644,574	\$0.023
Emergency Department Services \$172,171 \$387,652 \$0.014 Surgery, Nervous System \$157,655 \$354,968 \$0.013 Surgery, Female Genital System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$122,731 \$276,336 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$122,731 \$276,336 \$0.010 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.000 Hospital Observation Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$147,169 \$0.002 Health & Behavior Assesment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Temporary Qodes Assigned by CMS \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001	Allergy & Clinical Immunology	\$222,408	\$500,762	\$0.018
Surgery, Nervous System \$157,655 \$334,968 \$0.013 Surgery, Female Genital System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.012 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$122,731 \$277,086 \$0.010 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.009 Hospital Observation Services \$80,820 \$181,970 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$74,755 \$157,655 \$80,820 \$111,779 \$249,425 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.006 Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.002 Surgery, Uninary System Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Surgery, Nespiratory System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Surgery, Uninary System \$16,307 \$34,510 \$0				
Surgery, Female Genital System \$154,704 \$348,324 \$0.012 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$123,065 \$277,086 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.009 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.009 Hospital Observation Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.005 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$141,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Surgery, Male Genital System \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Respiratory System \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical \$39,316 \$20,976	Surgery, Nervous System	\$157,655		
Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$123,065 \$277,086 \$0.010 Nursing Facility Services \$122,731 \$276,336 \$0.010 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.009 Hospital Observation Services \$80,820 \$181,970 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.005 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Mental Status, Speech Testing) \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Respiratory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.001 Surgery, Multory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.001 Surgery, Nule Genital System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.001 Surgery, Nule Genital System \$14	Surgery, Female Genital System			
Nursing Facility Services \$122,731 \$276,336 \$0.010 Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.009 Hospital Observation Services \$80,820 \$181,970 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$455,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.005 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Mental Status, Speech Testing) \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Auditory System \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Respiratory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Care Servi	Temporary Procedures & Professional Services		\$277,086	\$0.010
Surgery, Maternity Care & Delivery \$110,779 \$249,425 \$0.009 Hospital Observation Services \$80,820 \$181,970 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$147,169 \$0.005 Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.007 Anesthesia \$74,545 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.002 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Wental Status, Speech Testing) \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.001 Surgery, Respiratory System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$116,807 \$34,510 \$0.011 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065	Nursing Facility Services			
Hospital Observation Services \$80,820 \$181,970 \$0.006 Critical Care Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.002 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Mental Status, Speech Testing) \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Respiratory System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$16,307 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$11,844 \$26,758 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.011 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System				-
Critical Care Services \$74,723 \$168,242 \$0.006 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$74,545 \$167,842 \$0.006 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.003 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Mental Status, Speech Testing) \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.001 Surgery, Respiratory System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.001 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$11,884 \$26,758 \$0.011 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Syngery, Male Genital System <				-
Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers\$74,545\$167,842\$0.006Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$69,213\$155,836\$0.005Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or\$65,363\$147,169\$0.005Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration\$65,363\$147,169\$0.007Anesthesia\$45,544\$102,545\$0.000Pulmonary\$32,183\$72,616\$0.003Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention\$31,346\$70,578\$0.002Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS\$31,045\$69,899\$0.002Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Mental Status, Speech Testing)\$28,644\$64,494\$0.002Surgery, Urinary System\$16,207\$36,716\$0.001Surgery, Auditory System\$15,327\$34,510\$0.001Surgery, Auditory System\$11,884\$26,758\$0.001Surgery, Male Genital System\$9,678\$21,790\$0.001Surgery, Male Genital System\$9,316\$20,976\$0.001Surgery, Male Genital System\$9,316\$20,976\$0.001Unclassified Services\$8,038\$18,098\$0.001Unclassified Services\$7,614\$17,144\$0.001Special Dermatological Procedures\$6,486\$14,603\$0.01Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$5,400\$12,159\$0.001				
Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$69,213 \$155,836 \$0.005 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Mental Status, Speech Testing) \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Auditory System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$11,884 \$26,758 \$0.01 Surgery, Male Genital Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Unclassified Services \$9,9678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,916 \$20,976 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,911 \$20,650 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,911 \$20,650 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital S			. ,	
Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.002 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$31,045 \$66,494 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Mental Status, Speech Testing) \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Cardiovascular \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.01 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,678 \$14,005 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 <				
Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.003 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 \$0.001 Cardiovascular \$115,327 \$34,510 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$11,844 \$26,758 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$11,844 \$26,758 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$9,171<		+ •••)===•	+/	
Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$65,363 \$147,169 \$0.005 Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.003 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Mental Status, Speech Testing) \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Cardiovascular \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$11,884 \$26,578 \$0.01 Surgery, Male Genital Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Carto Services \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$9,171 \$20,505 \$0.001 Orthotics \$8,038 \$18,098 \$0.001 Unclassified Services \$7,614 \$17,144 \$0.001 Special Dermatological Procedures \$6,486 <				
Anesthesia \$45,544 \$102,545 \$0.004 Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.003 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Mental Status, Speech Testing) \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.011 Cardiovascular \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.011 Surgery, Auditory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.011 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.011 Surgery, Male Genital Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Care Services \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.011 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.011 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.011 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.011 <td></td> <td>\$65 363</td> <td>\$147 169</td> <td>\$0.005</td>		\$65 363	\$147 169	\$0.005
Pulmonary \$32,183 \$72,461 \$0.003 Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.011 Cardiovascular \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.011 Surgery, Respiratory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.011 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.011 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.011 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$11,884 \$26,758 \$0.011 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.011 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Orthotics \$8,038 \$18,098 \$0.001 Unclassified Services \$7,614 \$17,144 \$0.001 Special Dermatological Procedures				
Health & Behavior Assessment/Intervention \$31,346 \$70,578 \$0.002 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Cardiovascular \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Respiratory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Care Services \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,171 \$20,650 \$0.011 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$9,171 \$20,650 \$0.001 Orthotics \$8,038 \$18,098 \$0.001 Unclassified Services \$7,614 \$17,144 \$0.001 Special Dermatological Procedures \$6,486 \$14,603 \$0.001 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding				-
Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$31,045 \$69,899 \$0.002 Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Cardiovascular \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Respiratory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.001 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$11,884 \$26,758 \$0.001 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Orthotics \$8,038 \$18,098 \$0.001 Unclassified Services \$7,614 \$17,144 \$0.001 Special Dermatological Procedures \$6,486 \$14,603 \$0.001 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boar				-
Central Nervous System Assessments/Tests (Neuro-Cognitive, Mental Status, Speech Testing) \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Cardiovascular \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Respiratory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.001 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$11,884 \$26,758 \$0.001 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$9,171 \$20,650 \$0.001 Orthotics \$8,038 \$18,098 \$0.001 Unclassified Services \$7,614 \$17,144 \$0.001 Special Dermatological Procedures \$6,486 \$14,603 \$0.001 Omiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$5,400 \$12,159 \$0.000	-			-
Mental Status, Speech Testing) \$28,644 \$64,494 \$0.002 Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Cardiovascular \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Respiratory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.001 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$11,884 \$26,758 \$0.001 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$9,171 \$20,650 \$0.001 Orthotics \$8,038 \$18,098 \$0.001 Unclassified Services \$7,614 \$17,144 \$0.001 Special Dermatological Procedures \$6,486 \$14,603 \$0.001 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$5,400 \$12,159 \$0.000		Ş51,045	ĴUJ,UJJ	90.00Z
Surgery, Urinary System \$16,307 \$36,716 \$0.001 Cardiovascular \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Respiratory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.001 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$11,884 \$26,758 \$0.001 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Care Services \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$9,171 \$20,650 \$0.001 Orthotics \$8,038 \$18,098 \$0.001 Unclassified Services \$7,614 \$17,144 \$0.001 Special Dermatological Procedures \$6,486 \$14,603 \$0.001 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$5,400 \$12,159 \$0.000		¢ 70 611	\$61 101	¢0.002
Cardiovascular \$16,243 \$36,573 \$0.001 Surgery, Respiratory System \$15,327 \$34,510 \$0.001 Surgery, Auditory System \$14,065 \$31,667 \$0.001 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$11,884 \$26,758 \$0.001 Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Care Services \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$9,171 \$20,650 \$0.001 Orthotics \$8,038 \$18,098 \$0.001 Unclassified Services \$7,614 \$17,144 \$0.001 Special Dermatological Procedures \$6,486 \$14,603 \$0.001 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$5,400 \$12,159 \$0.001				-
Surgery, Respiratory System\$15,327\$34,510\$0.001Surgery, Auditory System\$14,065\$31,667\$0.001Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$11,884\$26,758\$0.001Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical\$9,678\$21,790\$0.001Care Services\$9,678\$20,976\$0.001Surgery, Male Genital System\$9,316\$20,976\$0.001Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation\$9,171\$20,650\$0.001Orthotics\$8,038\$18,098\$0.001Unclassified Services\$7,614\$17,144\$0.001Special Dermatological Procedures\$6,486\$14,603\$0.001Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$5,400\$12,159\$0.000				
Surgery, Auditory System\$14,065\$31,667\$0.001Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$11,884\$26,758\$0.001Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical\$9,678\$21,790\$0.001Care Services\$9,678\$20,976\$0.001Surgery, Male Genital System\$9,316\$20,976\$0.001Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation\$9,171\$20,650\$0.001Orthotics\$8,038\$18,098\$0.001Unclassified Services\$7,614\$17,144\$0.001Special Dermatological Procedures\$6,486\$14,603\$0.001Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$5,400\$12,159\$0.000				-
Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$11,884\$26,758\$0.001Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Care Services\$9,678\$21,790\$0.001Surgery, Male Genital System\$9,316\$20,976\$0.001Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation\$9,171\$20,650\$0.001Orthotics\$8,038\$18,098\$0.001Unclassified Services\$7,614\$17,144\$0.001Special Dermatological Procedures\$6,486\$14,603\$0.001Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$5,400\$12,159\$0.000				
Inpatient Neonatal Intensive, and Pediatric/Neonatal Critical Care Services\$9,678\$21,790\$0.001Surgery, Male Genital System\$9,316\$20,976\$0.001Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation\$9,171\$20,650\$0.001Orthotics\$8,038\$18,098\$0.001Unclassified Services\$7,614\$17,144\$0.001Special Dermatological Procedures\$6,486\$14,603\$0.001Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$5,400\$12,159\$0.000				-
Care Services \$9,678 \$21,790 \$0.001 Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$9,171 \$20,650 \$0.001 Orthotics \$8,038 \$18,098 \$0.001 Unclassified Services \$7,614 \$17,144 \$0.001 Special Dermatological Procedures \$6,486 \$14,603 \$0.001 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$5,400 \$12,159 \$0.000		\$11,884	\$26,758	\$0.001
Surgery, Male Genital System \$9,316 \$20,976 \$0.001 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$9,171 \$20,650 \$0.001 Orthotics \$8,038 \$18,098 \$0.001 Unclassified Services \$7,614 \$17,144 \$0.001 Special Dermatological Procedures \$6,486 \$14,603 \$0.001 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$5,400 \$12,159 \$0.000		¢0.670	624 700	¢0.001
Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation\$9,171\$20,650\$0.001Orthotics\$8,038\$18,098\$0.001Unclassified Services\$7,614\$17,144\$0.001Special Dermatological Procedures\$6,486\$14,603\$0.001Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$5,400\$12,159\$0.000				-
Orthotics\$8,038\$18,098\$0.001Unclassified Services\$7,614\$17,144\$0.001Special Dermatological Procedures\$6,486\$14,603\$0.001Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$5,400\$12,159\$0.000				-
Unclassified Services\$7,614\$17,144\$0.001Special Dermatological Procedures\$6,486\$14,603\$0.001Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$5,400\$12,159\$0.000				
Special Dermatological Procedures\$6,486\$14,603\$0.001Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$5,400\$12,159\$0.000				-
Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial CareServices\$5,400\$12,159\$0.000			. ,	
Services \$5,400 \$12,159 \$0.000		\$6,486	\$14,603	\$0.001
		i	4	4
Kadiology \$4,566 \$10,281 \$0.000				-
	каатотоду	\$4,566	\$10,281	\$0.000

Physician Assistant Services

Summary of Services Used by Category (cont'd)

		Adjusted to	
		Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Surgery, Endocrine System	\$4,460	\$10,042	\$0.000
Special Services, Procedures, and Reports	\$4,411	\$9 <i>,</i> 933	\$0.000
Consultations	\$3,889	\$8,757	\$0.000
Medical Nutrition Therapy	\$3,883	\$8 <i>,</i> 744	\$0.000
Behavioral Health and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Services	\$3,720	\$8 <i>,</i> 376	\$0.000
Surgery, Operating Microscope	\$3 <i>,</i> 286	\$7,398	\$0.000
Newborn Care Services	\$2,862	\$6,445	\$0.000
Immune Globulins, Serum, or Recombinant Prods	\$2,619	\$5,897	\$0.000
Chemotherapy Drugs	\$2,377	\$5,351	\$0.000
Surgery, Eye & Ocular Adnexa	\$1,891	\$4,259	\$0.000
Home Services	\$1 <i>,</i> 854	\$4,175	\$0.000
Surgery, Hemic and Lymphatic Systems	\$1,787	\$4,024	\$0.000
Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures	\$1,516	\$3,413	\$0.000
Medical & Surgical Supplies	\$1,012	\$2,278	\$0.000
Other Services & Procedures	\$964	\$2,171	\$0.000
Surgery, Mediastinum & Diaphragm	\$845	\$1,902	\$0.000
Prolonged Services	\$693	\$1,559	\$0.000
Durable Medical Equipment	\$648	\$1,460	\$0.000
Photodynamic Therapy	\$468	\$1,053	\$0.000
Gastroenterology	\$352	\$793	\$0.000
Surgery, General	\$292	\$658	\$0.000
Chiropractic Manipulative Treatment	\$35	\$78	\$0.000
Temporary National Codes Est. by Medicaid	\$15	\$34	\$0.000
Laboratory Services	\$10	\$23	\$0.000
Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational	\$0	\$0	\$-
All Services	\$18,212,602	\$41,006,587	\$ 1.45

Table D-22: Chiropractors

Chiropractor Provider Mandate Services

	Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims Population PMP	M
Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation	\$795,453 \$4,087,950 \$0.4	66
Chiropractic Manipulative Treatment	\$603,976 \$3,103,920 \$0.3	54
Office/Other Outpatient Services	\$139,158 \$715,154 \$0.0	82
Radiology	\$11,883 \$61,068 \$0.0	07
Psychiatry	\$464 \$2,385 \$0.0	00
Temporary Procedures & Professional Services	\$320 \$1,645 \$0.0	00
Medical Nutrition Therapy	\$130 \$668 \$0.0	00
Osteopathic Manipulative Treatment	\$66 \$341 \$0.0	00
Surgery, Cardiovascular System	\$22 \$113 \$0.0	00
Ophthalmology	\$0 \$0\$-	
Special Services, Procedures, and Reports	\$0 \$0\$-	
All Services	\$1,551,472 \$7,973,244 \$ 0.	.91

Table D-23: Dentists

Dentist Services

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Durable Medical Equipment	\$55,029	\$282,803	\$0.032
Office/Other Outpatient Services	\$53,189	\$273,346	\$0.031
Dental Procedures	\$50,663	\$260,365	\$0.030
Surgery, Musculoskeletal System	\$32,024	\$164,578	\$0.019
Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers	\$24,826	\$127,584	\$0.015
Surgery, Digestive System	\$23,568	\$121,119	\$0.014
Surgery, Respiratory System	\$10,174	\$52 <i>,</i> 285	\$0.006
Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation	\$7,472	\$38,400	\$0.004
Radiology	\$4,656	\$23 <i>,</i> 927	\$0.003
Pathology & Laboratory	\$3,996	\$20 <i>,</i> 538	\$0.002
Hospital Inpatient Services	\$1,326	\$6,812	\$0.001
Surgery, Integumentary System	\$1,146	\$5 <i>,</i> 890	\$0.001
Surgery, Female Genital System	\$1,000	\$5,139	\$0.001
Surgery, Nervous System	\$472	\$2,424	\$0.000
Moderate (conscious) Sedation	\$396	\$2,037	\$0.000
Surgery, Auditory System	\$227	\$1,169	\$0.000
Medical & Surgical Supplies	\$80	\$411	\$0.000
Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Ir	\$32	\$167	\$0.000
Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy	\$0	\$0	\$-
Temporary National Codes Est. by Medicaid	\$0	\$0	\$-
All Services	\$270 <i>,</i> 277	\$1,388,993	\$ 0.16

Table D-24: Optometrists

Optometrist Services

		Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Category	Raw Sample Claims	Population	PMPM
Ophthalmology	\$1,070,692	\$5,502,446	\$0.628
Office/Other Outpatient Services	\$81,961	\$421,210	\$0.048
Vision Services	\$34,101	\$175,250	\$0.020
Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers	\$14,213	\$73,043	\$0.008
Surgery, Eye & Ocular Adnexa	\$4,832	\$24,831	\$0.003
Surgery, Musculoskeletal System	\$3,659	\$18,806	\$0.002
Psychiatry	\$610	\$3,134	\$0.000
Radiology	\$570	\$2,928	\$0.000
Orthotics	\$497	\$2,557	\$0.000
Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures	\$355	\$1,826	\$0.000
Surgery, Integumentary System	\$329	\$1,688	\$0.000
Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation	\$213	\$1,093	\$0.000
All Services	\$1,212,032	\$6,228,813	\$ 0.71

Table D-25: Podiatrists

Podiatrist Services

Category Raw Sample Claims Population PMPM Office/Other Outpatient Services \$3,567,939 \$8,033,394 \$0,283 Surgery, Integumentary System \$1,221,009 \$2,749,163 \$0,097 Orthotics \$228,594 \$67,230 \$0,097 Radiology \$213,312 \$440,282 \$0,017 Surgery, Nervous System \$228,594 \$572,305 \$0,007 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$76,949 \$173,7254 \$0,000 Consultations \$32,225 \$74,807 \$0,000 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$24,132 \$54,335 \$0,000 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$23,549 \$53,022 \$0,000 Hospital Inpatient Services \$11,746 \$226,448 \$0,000 Temporary National Codes Assigned by CMS \$5,553 \$11,840 \$0,000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$0,000 Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$1,414 \$3,318 \$0,000 Norinsparcility Services \$1,4131			Adjusted to Fully Insured	
Office/Other Outpatient Services \$3,567,939 \$8,033,394 \$0.283 Surgery, Integumentary System \$1,680,783 \$3,784,368 \$0.133 Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$2,749,163 \$0.097 Orthotics \$298,594 \$672,300 \$0.024 Radiology \$213,312 \$480,282 \$0.017 Surgery, Nervous System \$82,818 \$186,669 \$0.007 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$76,949 \$173,254 \$0.003 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$24,132 \$54,335 \$0.002 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$223,549 \$53,022 \$0.001 Pathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,956 \$0.001 Other Services & Procedures \$8,977 \$20,213 \$0.001 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$0.000 Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$1,811 \$4,078 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,131 \$2,745 \$0.000 Prosthetics \$1,231 \$2,745 \$0.000	Category	Raw Sample Claims	-	PMPM
Surgery, Integumentary System \$1,680,783 \$3,784,368 \$0.133 Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$1,221,009 \$2,749,163 \$0.097 Orthotics \$298,594 \$677,300 \$0.024 Radiology \$213,312 \$480,282 \$0.007 Surgery, Nervous System \$82,818 \$186,469 \$0.007 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$76,949 \$173,254 \$0.006 Consultations \$33,225 \$74,807 \$0.002 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$24,132 \$54,335 \$0.002 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$23,549 \$53,022 \$0.001 Pathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,956 \$0.001 Pemporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$55,53 \$11,490 \$0.000 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$55,53 \$11,490 \$0.000 Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$14,499 \$3,376 \$0.000 Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Silo & \$1,4131 \$4,078 \$0.000 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$8				\$ 0.283
Surgery, Musculoskeletal System \$1,221,009 \$2,749,163 \$0.097 Orthotics \$298,994 \$672,300 \$0.024 Radiology \$213,12 \$480,225 \$0.017 Surgery, Nervous System \$82,818 \$186,469 \$0.007 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$76,949 \$173,254 \$0.007 Consultations \$33,225 \$74,807 \$0.002 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$24,132 \$54,335 \$0.002 Pusp Other Than Chemotherapy \$23,549 \$53,022 \$0.001 Pathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,545 \$0.001 Other Services & Procedures \$8,977 \$20,213 \$0.001 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$5,553 \$11,740 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$0.000 Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$1,411 \$4,078 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,4174 \$3,318 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,413	-			
Orthotics \$298,594 \$672,300 \$0.024 Radiology \$213,312 \$480,282 \$0.017 Surgery, Nervous System \$82,818 \$186,469 \$0.007 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$76,949 \$173,254 \$0.007 Ontubations \$33,225 \$74,807 \$0.003 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$24,132 \$54,335 \$0.002 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$23,549 \$53,022 \$0.001 Pathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,956 \$0.001 Other Services & Procedures \$8,977 \$20,03 \$1,040 \$0.000 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$55,553 \$12,503 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,223 \$2,754 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,223 \$				
Radiology \$213,312 \$480,282 \$0.017 Surgery, Nervous System \$82,818 \$186,469 \$0.007 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$76,949 \$173,254 \$0.003 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$24,132 \$54,335 \$0.002 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$23,549 \$53,022 \$0.002 Pathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,556 \$0.001 Other Services & Procedures \$8,977 \$20,213 \$0.000 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$5,513 \$11,490 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Durable Medical Equipment \$1,499 \$3,376 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,174 \$3,318 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$1,223 \$2,754 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$334 \$755 \$0.000 <tr< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></tr<>				
Surgery, Nervous System \$82,818 \$186,469 \$0.007 Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$76,949 \$173,254 \$0.003 Consultations \$33,225 \$74,807 \$0.003 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$224,132 \$54,335 \$0.002 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$23,549 \$53,022 \$0.002 Hospital Inpatient Services \$11,746 \$26,448 \$0.001 Pathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,545 \$0.001 Other Services & Procedures \$8,977 \$20,213 \$0.000 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$5,553 \$11,490 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$44,808 \$10,826 \$0.000 Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$1,811 \$4,078 \$0.000 Durable Medical Equipment \$1,439 \$3,376 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,946 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,947 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,947	Radiology			
Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation \$76,949 \$173,254 \$0.006 Consultations \$33,225 \$74,807 \$0.003 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$24,32 \$55,3022 \$0.002 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$23,549 \$53,022 \$0.002 Hospital Inpatient Services \$11,746 \$26,448 \$0.001 Pathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,556 \$0.001 Comporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$55,553 \$12,503 \$0.000 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$5,103 \$11,490 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$0.000 Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$1,471 \$4,3318 \$0.000 Durable Medical Equipment \$1,499 \$3,376 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$11,174 \$0.300 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$1423 \$2,754 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$21,174 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$326				
Consultations \$33,225 \$74,807 \$ 0.003 Medical & Surgical Supplies \$24,132 \$54,335 \$ 0.002 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$23,549 \$53,022 \$ 0.001 Hospital Inpatient Services \$11,746 \$26,448 \$ 0.001 Pathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,956 \$ 0.001 Other Services & Procedures \$8,977 \$20,213 \$ 0.000 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$5,553 \$12,503 \$ 0.000 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$\$4,808 \$10,826 \$ 0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$ 0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$1,811 \$4,078 \$ 0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,318 \$ 0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$1,223 \$2,744 \$ 0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$521 \$1,174 \$ 0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,383 <t< td=""><td></td><td>. ,</td><td></td><td></td></t<>		. ,		
Medical & Surgical Supplies \$24,132 \$54,335 \$0.002 Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$23,549 \$53,022 \$0.002 Hospital Inpatient Services \$11,746 \$22,448 \$0.001 Dathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,956 \$0.001 Other Services & Procedures \$8,977 \$20,213 \$0.001 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$5,553 \$12,603 \$0.000 Temporary Notional Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$1,811 \$4,078 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,986 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$2,123 \$2,744 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$334 \$753 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,841 \$0.000 Non	-			
Drugs Other Than Chemotherapy \$23,549 \$53,022 \$ 0.002 Hospital Inpatient Services \$11,746 \$26,448 \$ 0.001 Pathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,956 \$ 0.001 Other Services & Procedures \$8,977 \$20,213 \$ 0.000 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$5,553 \$11,240 \$ 0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$ 0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$1,811 \$4,078 \$ 0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,213 \$2,545 \$ 0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,213 \$2,548 \$ 0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$1,821 \$4,078 \$ 0.000 Noninasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$1,131 \$2,548 \$ 0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,986 \$ 0.000 Noninasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$251 \$1,174 \$ 0.000 Critical Care Services \$3307 \$691 \$ 0.000	Medical & Surgical Supplies			
Hospital Inpatient Services \$11,746 \$26,448 \$ 0.001 Pathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,956 \$ 0.001 Other Services & Procedures \$8,977 \$20,213 \$ 0.001 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$5,553 \$11,740 \$0.001 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$5,103 \$11,040 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$ 0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$1,811 \$4,078 \$ 0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,316 \$ 0.000 Porosthetics \$1,223 \$2,754 \$ 0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$1,213 \$2,548 \$ 0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$1,131 \$2,548 \$ 0.000 Critical Care Services \$334 \$753 \$ 0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$3307 \$691 \$ 0.000 Proinonged Services \$326 \$735 \$ 0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$3307 \$691 \$ 0.000 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
Pathology & Laboratory \$10,640 \$23,956 \$ 0.001 Other Services & Procedures \$8,977 \$20,213 \$ 0.001 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$5,553 \$12,503 \$ 0.000 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$5,553 \$11,490 \$ 0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$ 0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$ 0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,376 \$ 0.000 Prosthetics \$ 1,423 \$2,754 \$ 0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$ 1,474 \$ 3,318 \$ 0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$ 882 \$ 1,481 \$ 2,548 \$ 0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$ 5211 \$ 1,174 \$ 0.000 Critical Care Services \$ 3266 \$ 733 \$ 0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$ 326 \$ 592 \$ 0.000 Prev				
Other Services & Procedures \$8,977 \$20,213 \$ 0.001 Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$5,553 \$12,503 \$ 0.000 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$5,103 \$11,490 \$ 0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$ 0.000 Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$1,811 \$4,078 \$ 0.000 Durable Medical Equipment \$1,499 \$3,376 \$ 0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,174 \$ 3,318 \$ 0.000 Prosthetics \$1,223 \$2,754 \$ 0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,986 \$ 0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$521 \$1,174 \$ 0.000 Critical Care Services \$334 \$753 \$ 0.000 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$226 \$735 \$ 0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$307 \$691 \$ 0.000 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$226 \$735 \$ 0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System				
Temporary Codes Assigned by CMS \$5,553 \$12,503 \$0.000 Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$5,103 \$11,490 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$1,811 \$4,078 \$0.000 Purable Medical Equipment \$1,499 \$3,376 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Prosthetics \$1,223 \$2,754 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$1,311 \$2,548 \$0.000 Services \$326 \$735 \$0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$307 \$691 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$326 \$735 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$251 \$1,174 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$326 \$735 \$0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$307 \$691 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$263 \$592 \$0.000 S				
Temporary Procedures & Professional Services \$5,103 \$11,490 \$0.000 Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers \$4,808 \$10,826 \$0.000 Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or \$1,811 \$4,078 \$0.000 Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$1,811 \$4,078 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Prosthetics \$1,223 \$2,754 \$0.000 Nonivasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$1,131 \$2,548 \$0.000 Nonivasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$321 \$1,174 \$0.000 Ormicilary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$326 \$735 \$0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$307 \$691 \$0.000 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$225 \$507 \$0.000 Prolonged Services, Toxoids \$283 \$183 \$187 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$0.000 Irmunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids				
Temporary National Codes Est. by Private Payers\$4,808\$10,826\$ 0.000Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug orHighly Complex Biologic Agent Administration\$1,811\$4,078\$ 0.000Durable Medical Equipment\$1,474\$3,318\$ 0.000Nursing Facility Services\$1,474\$3,318\$ 0.000Prosthetics\$1,223\$2,754\$ 0.000Surgery, Digestive System\$882\$1,986\$ 0.000Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies\$521\$1,174\$ 0.000Critical Care Services\$334\$753\$ 0.000Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$225\$000Prolonged Services\$307\$691\$ 0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$228\$468\$ 0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$96\$216\$ 0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$283\$187\$ 0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$96\$216\$ 0.000Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$83\$187\$ 0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$ 0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$39\$89\$ 0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$ 0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$ 0.000Critical Care Services\$39\$89\$ 0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System<				
Hydration, Therapeutic, Prophylactic, Diagnostic Injections & Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$1,811 \$4,078 \$0.000 Durable Medical Equipment \$1,499 \$3,376 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Prosthetics \$1,223 \$2,754 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,986 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$521 \$1,174 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$334 \$753 \$0.000 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$326 \$735 \$0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$3307 \$691 \$0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$263 \$592 \$0.000 Prolonged Services \$225 \$507 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$228 \$468 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$0.000				
Infusions, and Chemotherapy & Other Highly Complex Drug or Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$1,811 \$4,078 \$0.000 Durable Medical Equipment \$1,499 \$3,376 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Prosthetics \$1,223 \$2,754 \$0.000 Home Services \$1,131 \$2,548 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,131 \$2,548 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$521 \$1,174 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$334 \$753 \$0.000 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$326 \$735 \$0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$337 \$691 \$0.000 Prolonged Services \$223 \$557 \$0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$228 \$468 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$83 \$187 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$0.000		<i> </i>	<i>\\</i> \\\\\\\\\\\\\	Ŷ UIUUU
Highly Complex Biologic Agent Administration \$1,811 \$4,078 \$0.000 Durable Medical Equipment \$1,499 \$3,376 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Prosthetics \$1,223 \$2,754 \$0.000 Home Services \$1,131 \$2,548 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,986 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$521 \$1,174 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$334 \$755 \$0.000 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$326 \$735 \$0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$337 \$691 \$0.000 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$225 \$507 \$0.000 Prolonged Services \$225 \$507 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$0.000 Chemotherapy Drugs \$82 \$187 \$0.000 Emergency Department Services \$75 \$169 \$0.000				
Durable Medical Equipment \$1,499 \$3,376 \$0.000 Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Prosthetics \$1,223 \$2,754 \$0.000 Home Services \$1,131 \$2,548 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,986 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$521 \$1,174 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$334 \$753 \$0.000 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$326 \$735 \$0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$3307 \$691 \$0.000 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$2263 \$592 \$0.000 Prolonged Services \$225 \$507 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$83 \$187 \$0.000 Chemotherapy Drugs \$82 \$186 \$0.000 Emergency Department Services \$75 \$169 \$0.000 Speci		\$1.811	\$4.078	\$ 0.000
Nursing Facility Services \$1,474 \$3,318 \$0.000 Prosthetics \$1,223 \$2,754 \$0.000 Home Services \$1,131 \$2,548 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,986 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$521 \$1,174 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$334 \$753 \$0.000 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$326 \$735 \$0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$307 \$691 \$0.000 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$263 \$522 \$0.000 Prolonged Services \$208 \$468 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$263 \$521 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$263 \$520 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$263 \$117 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$265 \$0.000 \$000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$83 \$117 \$0.000				
Prosthetics \$1,223 \$2,754 \$0.000 Home Services \$1,131 \$2,548 \$0.000 Surgery, Digestive System \$882 \$1,986 \$0.000 Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies \$521 \$1,174 \$0.000 Critical Care Services \$334 \$753 \$0.000 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$326 \$735 \$0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$307 \$691 \$0.000 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$263 \$592 \$0.000 Prolonged Services \$225 \$507 \$0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$83 \$187 \$0.000 Chemotherapy Drugs \$82 \$186 \$0.000 Emergency Department Services \$75 \$169 \$0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$56 \$126 \$0.000 Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures \$39 \$89 \$0.000				
Home Services\$1,131\$2,548\$ 0.000Surgery, Digestive System\$882\$1,986\$ 0.000Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies\$521\$1,174\$ 0.000Critical Care Services\$334\$753\$ 0.000Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$326\$735\$ 0.000Preventive Medicine Services\$307\$691\$ 0.000Transport Services Including Ambulance\$263\$592\$ 0.000Prolonged Services\$225\$507\$ 0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$208\$468\$ 0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$96\$216\$ 0.000Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$83\$187\$ 0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$ 0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$ 0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$ 0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$ 0.000Unclassified Services\$12\$26\$ 0.000				
Surgery, Digestive System\$882\$1,986\$0.000Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies\$521\$1,174\$0.000Critical Care Services\$334\$753\$0.000Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$326\$735\$0.000Preventive Medicine Services\$307\$691\$0.000Transport Services Including Ambulance\$263\$592\$0.000Prolonged Services\$225\$507\$0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$228\$468\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$96\$216\$0.000Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$83\$187\$0.000Chemotherapy Drugs\$82\$166\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$0.000Unclassified Services\$12\$26\$0.000Special Services\$12\$26\$0.000				
Noninvasive Vascular Diagnostic Studies\$521\$1,174\$0.000Critical Care Services\$334\$753\$0.000Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care\$326\$735\$0.000Preventive Medicine Services\$307\$691\$0.000Transport Services Including Ambulance\$263\$592\$0.000Prolonged Services\$225\$507\$0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$208\$468\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$96\$216\$0.000Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$83\$187\$0.000Emergency Department Services\$75\$169\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$33\$73\$0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$0.000Unclassified Services\$12\$26\$0.000Unclassified Services\$12\$26\$0.000				
Critical Care Services \$334 \$753 \$ 0.000 Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial Care \$326 \$735 \$ 0.000 Services \$307 \$691 \$ 0.000 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$263 \$592 \$ 0.000 Prolonged Services \$225 \$507 \$ 0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$208 \$468 \$ 0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$ 0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$833 \$187 \$ 0.000 Chemotherapy Drugs \$822 \$186 \$ 0.000 Emergency Department Services \$755 \$169 \$ 0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$56 \$126 \$ 0.000 Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures \$33 \$73 \$ 0.000 Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational \$33 \$73 \$ 0.000 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$12 \$26 \$ 0.000 Unclassified Services -\$3,473 -\$7,820 \$(0.000)				
Domiciliary, Rest Home (boarding home) or Custodial CareServices\$326\$735\$0.000Preventive Medicine Services\$307\$691\$0.000Transport Services Including Ambulance\$263\$592\$0.000Prolonged Services\$225\$507\$0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$208\$468\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$96\$216\$0.000Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$83\$187\$0.000Chemotherapy Drugs\$82\$186\$0.000Emergency Department Services\$75\$169\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$0.000Unclassified Services\$3,473-\$7,820\$(0.000)	-			
Services \$326 \$735 \$ 0.000 Preventive Medicine Services \$307 \$691 \$ 0.000 Transport Services Including Ambulance \$263 \$592 \$ 0.000 Prolonged Services \$225 \$507 \$ 0.000 Vaccines, Toxoids \$208 \$448 \$ 0.000 Surgery, Cardiovascular System \$96 \$216 \$ 0.000 Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids \$83 \$187 \$ 0.000 Emergency Department Services \$75 \$169 \$ 0.000 Special Services, Procedures, and Reports \$326 \$126 \$ 0.000 Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures \$33 \$73 \$ 0.000 Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$12 \$26 \$ 0.000 Unclassified Services \$12 \$26 \$ 0.000		,	1	1
Preventive Medicine Services\$307\$691\$0.000Transport Services Including Ambulance\$263\$592\$0.000Prolonged Services\$225\$507\$0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$208\$468\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$96\$216\$0.000Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$83\$187\$0.000Chemotherapy Drugs\$82\$186\$0.000Emergency Department Services\$75\$169\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$0.000Unclassified Services\$12\$26\$0.000		\$326	\$735	\$ 0.000
Transport Services Including Ambulance\$263\$592\$0.000Prolonged Services\$225\$507\$0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$208\$468\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$96\$216\$0.000Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$83\$187\$0.000Chemotherapy Drugs\$82\$186\$0.000Emergency Department Services\$75\$169\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$0.000Unclassified Services-\$3,473-\$7,820\$(0.000)		•		
Prolonged Services\$225\$507\$0.000Vaccines, Toxoids\$208\$468\$0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$96\$216\$0.000Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$83\$187\$0.000Chemotherapy Drugs\$82\$186\$0.000Emergency Department Services\$75\$169\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$0.000Unclassified Services-\$3,473-\$7,820\$(0.000)				
Vaccines, Toxoids\$208\$468\$ 0.000Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$96\$216\$ 0.000Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$83\$187\$ 0.000Chemotherapy Drugs\$82\$186\$ 0.000Emergency Department Services\$75\$169\$ 0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$ 0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$ 0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$ 0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$ 0.000Unclassified Services-\$3,473-\$7,820\$(0.000)				
Surgery, Cardiovascular System\$96\$216\$ 0.000Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$83\$187\$ 0.000Chemotherapy Drugs\$82\$186\$ 0.000Emergency Department Services\$75\$169\$ 0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$ 0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$ 0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$ 0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$ 0.000Unclassified Services-\$3,473-\$7,820\$(0.000)	-		-	
Immunization Administration for Vaccines/Toxoids\$83\$187\$0.000Chemotherapy Drugs\$82\$186\$0.000Emergency Department Services\$75\$169\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$0.000Unclassified Services-\$3,473-\$7,820\$(0.000)			•	•
Chemotherapy Drugs\$82\$186\$0.000Emergency Department Services\$75\$169\$0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$0.000Unclassified Services-\$3,473-\$7,820\$(0.000)				
Emergency Department Services\$75\$169\$ 0.000Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$ 0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$ 0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$ 0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$ 0.000Unclassified Services-\$3,473-\$7,820\$(0.000)				
Special Services, Procedures, and Reports\$56\$126\$ 0.000Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$ 0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$ 0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$ 0.000Unclassified Services-\$3,473-\$7,820\$(0.000)				
Neurology & Neuromuscular Procedures\$39\$89\$0.000Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$0.000Unclassified Services-\$3,473-\$7,820\$(0.000)				
Administrative, Miscellaneous & Investigational\$33\$73\$ 0.000Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services\$12\$26\$ 0.000Unclassified Services-\$3,473-\$7,820\$(0.000)				
Special Otorhinolaryngologic Services \$12 \$26 \$ 0.000 Unclassified Services -\$3,473 -\$7,820 \$(0.000)				
Unclassified Services -\$3,473 -\$7,820 \$(0.000)	-			

Appendix E: List of Study Acronyms

AAFP	American Academy of Family Physicians
AAP	American Academy of Pediatrics
ABA	Applied Behavior Analysis
ACA	Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act
ACIP	Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices
ACOG	American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology
ACOG	American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists
ACP	American College of Physicians
ACR	American College of Radiology
ACS	American Cancer Society
ADDM	Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring
AHFS-DI	American Hospital Formulary Service-Drug Information
AHRQ	The National Guideline Clearing House under the federal Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
AMA	American Medical Association
AMA-DE	American Medical Association Drug Evaluations
APA	American Psychiatric Association
APN	Advanced Practice Nurse
APRN	Advanced Practice Registered Nurse
ART	Assisted Reproduction Techniques
ASD	Autism Spectrum Disorder
ASCP	American Society for Clinical Pathology
ASCCP	American Society for Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology
BDC	Base Direct Cost
BLL	Blood Lead Level
BMT	Bone Marrow Transplant
C-Section	Caesarean Section
САМ	Complementary and Alternative Medicine
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CHIA	Center for Health Information and Analysis
СНТ	Combined Hormone Therapy

CIA	Chemotherapy-Induced Alopecia
CMS	Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
CNM	Certified Nurse-Midwife
СОН	Controlled Ovarian Hyperstimulation
CR	Collaborative Reanalysis
CR	Cardiac Rehabilitation
CRNA	Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
DIR	Developmental, Individual Differences, Relationship-Based Approach
DMEPOS	Durable Medical Equipment, Prosthetics, Orthotics, and Supplies
DPA	Diagnostic Pharmaceutical Agents
DPM	Doctor of Podiatric Medicine
DSM	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
DSM-IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4 th Edition
DSM-V	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5 th edition
DTT	Discrete Trial Training
DVT	Deep Vein Thrombosis
EHB	Essential Health Benefit
EHDI	Early Hearing Detection and Intervention
EIBI	Early Intensive Behavioral Intervention
EN	Enteral Nutrition
EPC	Evidence-based Practice Center
EPSDT	Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment
ET	Estrogen Therapy
FDA	Food & Drug Administration
FEDVIP	Federal Vision Insurance Program
HDC-ABMT	High-dose Chemotherapy plus Autologous Bone Marrow Transplant
HEN	Home Enteral Nutrition
HHA	Home Health Agency
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
НМО	Health Maintenance Organization
HPV	Human Papillomavirus

HRSA	Health Resources and Services Administration
HRT	Hormone Replacement Therapy
HSC	Health Service Corporation
HSCT	Hematopoietic (blood) Stem Cell Transplants
ICSI	Intracytoplasmic Sperm Injection
IDEA	Public Law 108-77: Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (2004)
IVF	In-Vitro Fertilization
JCIH	Joint Committee on Infant Hearing
Kuvan	Sapropterin Dihydrochloride
LPF	Low Protein Food
MD	Medical Doctor
MDC	Marginal Direct Cost
MDD	Major Depressive Disorder
MEPS	Medical Expenditure Panel Survey
MSC	Medical Service Corporation
MWS	Million Women Study
NBEO	National Board of Examiners in Optometry
NCSBN	National Council of State Boards of Nursing
NIDA	National Institute for Drug Abuse
NMDP	The National Marrow Donor Program
NP	Nurse Practitioner
NPA	Non-Physician Anesthetists
NPDC-ASD	The National Professional Development Center on Autism Spectrum Disorder
PA	Physician Assistants
PAM	Patient Assessment and Management
PCHL	Permanent Congenital Hearing Loss
PECS	Picture Exchange Communication System
Phe	Phenylalanine
PKU	Phenylketonuria
PRT	Pivotal Response Training
RDC	Required Direct Cost
RN	Registered Nurse

SNF	Skilled Nursing Facility
SNRI	Selective Serotonin/Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitors
SSRI	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors
ТЕАССН	Treatment and Education of Autistic and Related Communication Handicapped Children
TMOD	Treatment and Management of Ocular Disease
TPA	Therapeutic Pharmaceutical Agents
USP-DI	United States Pharmacopoeia-Drug Information
USPSTF	U.S. Preventive Services Task Force
VBI	Verbal Behavior Intervention
WHI	Women's Health Initiative

Endnotes

¹ Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis. State-mandated health insurance benefits and health insurance costs in Massachusetts, Prepared by Compass Health Analytics, Inc. Jul 2008. Accessed 28 April 2016: http://www.chiamass.gov/assets/docs/r/pubs/mandates/comp-rev-mand-benefits.pdf.

² Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis. State-mandated health insurance benefits and health insurance costs in Massachusetts, Prepared by Compass Health Analytics, Inc. January 2013. Accessed 28 April, 2016: http://www.chiamass.gov/assets/docs/r/pubs/13/comprehensive-mandate-review-report-2013-1-10.pdf.

³ Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, 42 U.S.C. § 18001 et seq. (2010); Paul Wellstone and Pete Domenici Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act of 2008 (MHPAEA), 29 U.S.C.§ 1185a et seq.

⁴ Summers, L.H. Some simple economics of mandated benefits. American Economic Review 1989 79(2), 177-83.

⁵ Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis. State-mandated health insurance benefits and health insurance costs in Massachusetts, Prepared by Compass Health Analytics, Inc. January 2013. Accessed 28 April, 2016: http://www.chiamass.gov/assets/docs/r/pubs/13/comprehensive-mandate-review-report-2013-1-10.pdf.

⁶ Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis. State-mandated health insurance benefits and health insurance costs in Massachusetts, Prepared by Compass Health Analytics, Inc. Jul 2008. Accessed <u>28</u> April, 2016: http://www.chiamass.gov/assets/docs/r/pubs/mandates/comp-rev-mand-benefits.pdf.

⁷ Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis. Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database. Member Eligibility table: http://www.chiamass.gov/MA-APCD/.

⁸ Massachusetts Office of Consumer Affairs and Business Regulation. 2014 HMO Membership Reports. Membership by HMO and county: 4th quarter. 15 September 2016:

http://www.mass.gov/ocabr/insurance/providers-and-producers/insurance-companies/group-products-and-plans/hmo-membership-reports/2014-hmo-membership-reports.html.

⁹ Massachusetts Office of Consumer Affairs and Business Regulation. 2014 Preferred Providers Information: Medical Plans. 15 September 2016: http://www.mass.gov/ocabr/insurance/providers-and-producers/insurancecompanies/group-products-and-plans/insured-preferred-provider-membership/2014-preferred-providersinformation.html.

¹⁰ *Op. cit.* Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis: Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database. Member Eligibility table.

¹¹ Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis. Enrollment Trends, July 2016 Edition. Databook. 14 September 2016: http://www.chiamass.gov/enrollment-in-health-insurance/.

¹² *Op. cit.* Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis: Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database. Member Eligibility table.

¹³ Group Insurance Commission. GIC Health Plan Membership by Insured Status FY2014. Accessed 28 March 2016: http://www.mass.gov/anf/docs/gic/annual-report/fy2014annual-report.pdf.

¹⁴ *Op. cit.* Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis: Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database. Member Eligibility table.

¹⁵ *Op. cit.* Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis: Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database.

¹⁶ See for example, Gabel, J, Jensen, G. The price of state mandated benefits. Inquiry 1989; 26:419-431.

¹⁷ Gruber, J. State-mandated benefits and employer-provided health insurance." Journal of Public Economics. 1994; 55:433-464.

¹⁸ Acs, G., Long, S.H., Marquis, S.M., and Short, P.F. Self-insured employer health plans: prevalence, profile, provisions, and premiums. Health Affairs 1996; 15 (2): 266-278.

¹⁹ Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis. Performance of the Massachusetts Health Care System, Annual Report September 2016, p. 45. 13 September 2016: http://www.chiamass.gov/assets/2016-annual-report/2016-Annual-Report.pdf.

²⁰ Gordon, S. Cost of insulin tripled in just a decade: Study. HealthDay News, April 5, 2016. Accessed April 27, 2016: http://www.upi.com/Health_News/2016/04/05/Cost-of-insulin-tripled-in-just-a-decade-Study/9231459872730/.

²¹ Rosenthal, Elisabeth. Even Small Medical Advances Can Mean Big Jumps in Bills. *The New York Times*, 5 April, 2014. Accessed 29 April, 2016: http://www.nytimes.com/2014/04/06/health/even-small-medical-advances-can-mean-big-jumps-in-bills.html.

²² U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF). Final Recommendation Statement, Cervical Cancer: Screening, March 2012. Accessed 20 October 2015:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/cervical-cancer-screening#consider.

²³ USPSTF: Final Recommendation Statement: Breast Cancer: Screening. Released February 2016. Accessed 25 February 2016:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/breast-cancer-screening1.

²⁴ Op. cit. Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, 42 U.S.C. § 18001 et seq. (2010).

²⁵ M.G.L. c.175 §47AA, c.176A §8DD, c.176B §4DD, c.176G §4V, c.32A §25.

²⁶ American Psychiatric Association (APA). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-V). Arlington, Virginia, American Psychiatric Association, 2013.

²⁷ American Academy of Pediatrics. Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASDs): What We Know and How Pediatric Healthcare Professionals Can Help Patients and Families. 30 April 2012; accessed 18 December 2015: https://www.aap.org/en-us/about-the-aap/Committees-Councils-Sections/Council-on-Children-with-Disabilities/_layouts/15/WopiFrame.aspx?sourcedoc=/en-us/about-the-aap/Committees-Councils-Sections/Council-on-Children-with-Disabilities/Documents/autism_webinar_043012-FINAL.ppt&action=default&DefaultItemOpen=1.

²⁸ APA: Highlights of Changes from DSM-IV-TR to DSM-5. Accessed 18 December 2015: http://www.dsm5.org/Documents/changes%20from%20dsm-iv-tr%20to%20dsm-5.pdf.

²⁹ Op. cit. APA: DSM-V.

 ³⁰ Al-Qabandi M, Gorter JW, Rosenbaum P. Early autism detection: are we ready for routine screening? Pediatrics.
 2011 Jul;128(1):e211-7. Accessed 18 December 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/128/1/e211.full.

³¹ *Op. cit.* Al-Qabandi M, Gorter JW, Rosenbaum P: Early autism detection: are we ready for routine screening?

³² Myers SM, Johnson CP; American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities. Management of children with autism spectrum disorders. Pediatrics. 2007 Nov;120(5):1162-82. Accessed 19 December 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/120/5/1162.full.

³³ Op. cit. Myers SM, Johnson CP: American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities.

³⁴ Op. cit. Al-Qabandi M, Gorter JW, Rosenbaum P: Early autism detection: are we ready for routine screening?

³⁵ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC): Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2010 Principal Investigators. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years - autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2010. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2014 Mar 28;63(2):1-21. Accessed 18 December 2015:

http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss6302a1.htm?s_cid=ss6302a1_w.

³⁶ *Op. cit.* CDC: Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2010 Principal Investigators.

³⁷ U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF). About the USPSTF. Updated January 2016; accessed 23 February 2016: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Name/about-the-uspstf.

³⁸ USPSTF: Final Recommendation Statement: Autism Spectrum Disorder in Young Children: Screening. Released February 2016; accessed 24 February 2016:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/autism-spectrum-disorder-in-young-children-screening.

³⁹ CDC: Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2002 Principal Investigators. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders--autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 14 sites, United States, 2002. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2007 Feb 9;56(1):12-28. Accessed 18 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss5601a2.htm.

⁴⁰ CDC: Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2006 Principal Investigators. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders - Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, United States, 2006. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2009 Dec 18;58(10):1-20. Accessed 18 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss5810a1.htm.

⁴¹ CDC: Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2008 Principal Investigators. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders--Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 14 sites, United States, 2008. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2012 Mar 30;61(3):1-19. Accessed 18 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss6103a1.htm?s_cid=ss6103a1_w.

⁴² *Op. cit.* CDC: Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2010 Principal Investigators.

⁴³ *Op. cit.* CDC: Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2010 Principal Investigators.

⁴⁴ *Op. cit.* CDC: Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2010 Principal Investigators.

⁴⁵ *Op. cit.* CDC: Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2010 Principal Investigators.

⁴⁶ *Op. cit.* CDC: Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2010 Principal Investigators.

⁴⁷ *Op. cit.* CDC: Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2010 Principal Investigators.

⁴⁸ *Op. cit.* Myers SM, Johnson CP: American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities.

⁴⁹ *Op. cit.* Myers SM, Johnson CP: American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities.

50	CDC: Autism Spectrum Disorders, Treatment. Reviewed 12 August 2015; accessed 19 December 201	15:
ht	tp://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/treatment.html#ref.	

⁵¹ Autism Speaks, Adult Services. Accessed 23 February 2016: https://www.autismspeaks.org/family-services/adults.

⁵² *Op. cit.* Myers SM, Johnson CP: American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities.

⁵³Op. cit. CDC: Autism Spectrum Disorders, Treatment.

⁵⁴ *Op. cit.* Myers SM, Johnson CP: American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities.

⁵⁵ *Op. cit.* CDC: Autism Spectrum Disorders, Treatment.

⁵⁶ *Op. cit.* CDC: Autism Spectrum Disorders, Treatment.

⁵⁷ *Op. cit.* Myers SM, Johnson CP: American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities.

⁵⁸ *Op. cit.* CDC: Autism Spectrum Disorders, Treatment.

⁵⁹ *Op. cit.* Myers SM, Johnson CP: American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities.

⁶⁰ *Op. cit.* CDC: Autism Spectrum Disorders, Treatment.

⁶¹ *Op. cit.* Myers SM, Johnson CP: American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities.

⁶² *Op. cit.* CDC: Autism Spectrum Disorders, Treatment.

⁶³ Op. cit. CDC: Autism Spectrum Disorders, Treatment.

⁶⁴ *Op. cit.* Myers SM, Johnson CP: American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities.

⁶⁵ Op. cit. CDC: Autism Spectrum Disorders, Treatment.

⁶⁶ *Op. cit.* Myers SM, Johnson CP: American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities.

⁶⁷ U.S. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Effective Health Care Program (AHRQ-EHCP). Comparative Effectiveness of Therapies for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Updated 23 September 2014; accessed 19 December 2015: http://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/ehc/products/544/1975/Autism-update-clinician-141002.pdf.

⁶⁸ Silva LM, Schalock M, Gabrielsen KR, et al. Early Intervention with a Parent-Delivered Massage Protocol Directed at Tactile Abnormalities Decreases Severity of Autism and Improves Child-to-Parent Interactions: A Replication Study. Autism Res Treat. 2015;2015:904585. Accessed 19 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25878901.

⁶⁹ Op. cit. CDC: Autism Spectrum Disorders, Treatment.

⁷⁰ Op. cit. Myers SM, Johnson CP: American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Children with Disabilities.

⁷¹ National Professional Development Center on Autism Spectrum Disorder (NPDC-ASD). What Are Evidence-Based Practices? Accessed 19 December 2015: http://autismpdc.fpg.unc.edu/evidence-based-practices.

⁷² AHRQ National Guideline Clearing House (AHRQ-NGCH). Database search for autism. Accessed 19 December 2015: http://www.guideline.gov/search/search.aspx?term=autism.

⁷³ *Op. cit.* AHRQ-EHCP: Comparative Effectiveness of Therapies for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder.

⁷⁴ Kennedy Krieger Institute. Applied Behavior Analysis: Overview and Summary of Scientific Support. Accessed 4 January 2016: http://www.kennedykrieger.org/patient-care/patient-care-programs/inpatientprograms/neurobehavioral-unit-nbu/applied-behavior-analysis.

⁷⁵ Baer DM, Wolf MM, Risley TR. Some current dimensions of applied behavior analysis. J Appl Behav Anal. 1968 Spring; 1(1): 91–97. Accessed 4 January 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1310980/.

⁷⁶ *Op. cit.* Kennedy Krieger Institute: Applied Behavior Analysis: Overview and Summary of Scientific Support.

⁷⁷ Op. cit. NPDC-ASD: What are Evidence-Based Practices?

⁷⁸ Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. The Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight : Information on Essential Health Benefits (EHB) Benchmark Plans. Accessed 15 September 2016: https://www.cms.gov/cciio/resources/data-resources/ehb.html

⁷⁹ Autism Speaks. The Affordable Care Act and Autism: "To date, Autism Speaks has identified 25 states and the District of Columbia that include applied behavior analysis in their benchmark plan." Accessed 15 September 2016: https://www.autismspeaks.org/sites/default/files/docs/gr/ehb.10.18.pdf.

⁸⁰ M.G.L. c.176B §4L.

⁸¹ National Institutes of Health, National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health (NCCIH). Chiropractic: In Depth. Modified 14 October 2015; accessed 17 November 2015: https://nccih.nih.gov/health/chiropractic/introduction.htm.

⁸² NCCIH: Spinal Manipulation. Modified 22 October 2015; accessed 17 November 2015: https://nccih.nih.gov/health/spinalmanipulation.

⁸³ *Op. cit.* NCCIH: Spinal Manipulation.

⁸⁴ *Op. cit.* NCCIH: Spinal Manipulation.

⁸⁵ Davis MA, Martin BI, Coulter ID, et al. US spending on complementary and alternative medicine during 2002-08 plateaued, suggesting role in reformed health system. Health Aff. 2013 Jan;32(1):45-52. Accessed 17 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3644505/.

⁸⁶ *Op. cit.* Davis MA, Martin BI, Coulter ID, et al.: US spending on complementary and alternative medicine during 2002-08 plateaued, suggesting role in reformed health system.

⁸⁷ Meeker WC, Haldeman S. Chiropractic: a profession at the crossroads of mainstream and alternative medicine. Ann Intern Med. 2002 Feb 5;136(3):216-27. Accessed 17 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11827498.

⁸⁸ Chou R, Qaseem A, Snow V, et al.; Clinical Efficacy Assessment Subcommittee of the American College of Physicians; American College of Physicians; American Pain Society Low Back Pain Guidelines Panel. Diagnosis and treatment of low back pain: a joint clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians and the American Pain Society. Ann Intern Med. 2007 Oct 2;147(7):478-91. Accessed 17 November 2015: http://annals.org/article.aspx?articleid=736814.

⁸⁹ NCCIH. Chiropractic: An Introduction. Modified 14 October 2015; accessed 17 November 2015: https://nccih.nih.gov/health/chiropractic/introduction.htm.

⁹⁰ *Op. cit.* NCCIH: Chiropractic: In Depth.

⁹¹ *Op. cit.* Meeker: Chiropractic: a profession at the crossroads of mainstream and alternative medicine.

⁹² Furlan AD, Yazdi F, Tsertsvadze A, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of efficacy, cost-effectiveness, and safety of selected complementary and alternative medicine for neck and low-back pain. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2012;2012:953139. Accessed 18 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3236015/.

⁹³ *Op. cit.* Furlan AD, Yazdi F, Tsertsvadze A, et al.: A systematic review and meta-analysis of efficacy, cost-effectiveness, and safety of selected complementary and alternative medicine for neck and low-back pain.

⁹⁴ Giles LGF, Müller R. Chronic spinal pain syndromes: a clinical pilot trial comparing acupuncture, a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, and spinal manipulation. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 1999 Jul-Aug;22(6):376-81. Accessed 6/17/2011: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10478769.

⁹⁵ Chou R, Huffman LH. Nonpharmacologic Therapies for Acute and Chronic Low Back Pain: A Review of the Evidence for an American Pain Society/American College of Physicians Clinical Practice Guideline. Ann Intern Med. 2007 Oct 2;147(7):492-504. Accessed 6/17/2011: http://www.annals.org/content/147/7/492.full.

⁹⁶ Shekelle PG, Adams AH, Chassin MR, et al. Spinal manipulation for low-back pain. Ann Intern Med. 1992 Oct 1;117(7):590–8. Accessed 6/17/2011: http://www.annals.org/content/117/7/590.short.

⁹⁷ Skargren EI, Oberg BE, Carlsson PG, et al. Cost and effectiveness analysis of chiropractic and physiotherapy treatment for low back and neck pain—six-month follow-up. Spine. 1997 Sep 15;22:2167–77. Accessed 6/17/2011: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9322328.

⁹⁸ Ernst E. Chiropractic Care: Attempting a Risk-Benefit Analysis. Am J Public Health. 2002 Oct;92(10): 1603–4. Accessed 18 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1447290/.

⁹⁹ Cherkin DC, Deyo RA, Battié M, et al. A comparison of physical therapy, chiropractic manipulation, and provision of an educational booklet for the treatment of patients with low back pain. N Engl J Med. 1998; 339:1021-9. Accessed 17 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9761803.

¹⁰⁰ Castro-Sánchez AM, Lara-Palomo IC, Matarán-Peñarrocha GA, et al. Short-term effectiveness of spinal manipulative therapy versus functional technique in patients with chronic nonspecific low back pain: a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. Spine J. 2015 Sep 8. Accessed 17 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26362233.

¹⁰¹ Bronfort G, Haas M, Evans R, et al. Effectiveness of manual therapies: the UK evidence report. Chiropr Osteopat. 2010 Feb 25;18:3. Accessed 18 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20184717.

¹⁰² Gouveia LO, Castanho P, Ferreira JJ. Safety of chiropractic interventions: a systematic review. Spine. 2009 May 15;34(11):E405-13. Accessed 18 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19444054.

¹⁰³ *Op. cit.* NCCIH. Chiropractic: In Depth.

¹⁰⁴ Puentedura EJ, March J, Anders J, et al. Safety of cervical spine manipulation: are adverse events preventable and are manipulations being performed appropriately? A review of 134 case reports. J Man Manip Ther. 2012 May;20(2):66-74. Accessed 18 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23633885.

¹⁰⁵ Haldeman S, Kohlbeck FJ, McGregor M. Unpredictability of cerebrovascular ischemia associated with cervical spine manipulation therapy: a review of sixty-four cases after cervical spine manipulation. Spine. 2002 Jan 1;27:49–55. Accessed 18 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11805635.

¹⁰⁶ Stevinson C, Honan W, Cooke B, et al. Neurological complications of cervical spine manipulation. J R Soc Med. 2001 Mar;94:107–110. Accessed 6/15/2011: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11285788.

¹⁰⁷ *Op. cit.* NCCIH. Chiropractic: In Depth.

¹⁰⁸ M.G.L. c.175 §47BB, c.176A §8EE, c.176G §4W, c.32 §17J.

¹⁰⁹ U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Facts about Cleft Lip and Cleft Palate. Updated 15 November 2015; accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/birthdefects/cleftlip.html.

¹¹⁰ Op. cit. CDC: Facts about Cleft Lip and Cleft Palate.

¹¹¹ *Op. cit.* CDC: Facts about Cleft Lip and Cleft Palate.

¹¹² Op. cit. CDC: Facts about Cleft Lip and Cleft Palate.

¹¹³ IPDTOC Working Group. Prevalence at birth of cleft lip with or without cleft palate: data from the International Perinatal Database of Typical Oral Clefts (IPDTOC). Cleft Palate Craniofac J. 2011 Jan;48(1):66-81. TABLE 3 Number of CL and CLP and Proportion of CLP Among All Cases. Accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.cpcjournal.org/doi/pdf/10.1597/09-217.

¹¹⁴ *Op. cit.* CDC: Facts about Cleft Lip and Cleft Palate.

¹¹⁵ Bell J, Nassar N, Turner R, et al. Hospitalisations up to adulthood for children born with orofacial clefts. J Paediatr Child Health. 2015 Nov 26. Accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26608000.

¹¹⁶ Razzaghi H, Dawson A, Grosse SD, et al. Factors associated with high hospital resource use in a populationbased study of children with orofacial clefts. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2015 Feb;103(2):127-43. Accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25721952.

¹¹⁷ Knight J, Cassell CH, Meyer RE, et al. Academic outcomes of children with isolated orofacial clefts compared with children without a major birth defect. Cleft Palate Craniofac J. 2015 May;52(3):259-68. Accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24878348.

¹¹⁸ CDC: Key Findings: Updated National Birth Prevalence Estimates for Selected Birth Defects in the United States, 2004-2006. Updated 22 October 2014; accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/birthdefects/features/birthdefects-keyfindings.html.

¹¹⁹ CDC: Data and Statistics, National estimates for 21 selected major birth defects, 2004–2006. Updated 15 December 2015; accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/birthdefects/data.html.

¹²⁰ *Op. cit.* IPDTOC Working Group. TABLE 1 List of Participating Registries Ordered by Geographical Area, Year(s) Included in the Present Study, Total Number of Births, Total Number of Cases With Cleft Lip With or Without Cleft Palate (CL±P), and Prevalence per 10,000.

¹²¹ Massachusetts Department of Public Health, Center for Birth Defects Research and Prevention (MA-CBDRP). Birth Defects in Massachusetts. Published August 2015; accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/birth-defects/fact-sheet-2011-2012.pdf.

¹²² *Op. cit.* IPDTOC Working Group. TABLE 4 Distribution of the Three Main Clinical Phenotypes:Isolated, Multiple Malformed Cases (MMC), and Syndromes by Registry and Geographical Area.

¹²³ *Op. cit.* CDC: Facts about Cleft Lip and Cleft Palate.

¹²⁴ March of Dimes. Cleft lip and cleft palate. Updated November 2011; accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.marchofdimes.org/complications/cleft-lip-and-cleft-palate.aspx.

¹²⁵ Carmichael SL, Yang W, Feldkamp ML, et al. Reduced risks of neural tube defects and orofacial clefts with higher diet quality. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2012 Feb;166(2):121-6. Accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21969361.

¹²⁶ *Op. cit.* March of Dimes: Cleft lip and cleft palate.

¹²⁷ Op. cit. CDC: Facts about Cleft Lip and Cleft Palate.

¹²⁸ Op. cit. CDC: Facts about Cleft Lip and Cleft Palate.

¹²⁹ Op. cit. CDC: Facts about Cleft Lip and Cleft Palate.

¹³⁰*Op. cit.* March of Dimes. Cleft lip and cleft palate.

¹³¹Cleft Palate Foundation. National Support Resources. Accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.cleftline.org/parents-individuals/publications/support/.

¹³² American Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Association (ACP-CA). Parameters for the Evaluation and Treatment of Patients with Cleft Lip/Palate or Other Craniofacial Anomalies. Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal 1993; 30 (Suppl 1). Revised 2009; accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.acpa-cpf.org/uploads/site/Parameters_Rev_2009.pdf.

¹³³ ACP-CA. Team Care. Accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.acpa-cpf.org/team_care/.

¹³⁴ Cleft Palate Foundation. Cleft Lip/Palate & Craniofacial Specialists in Your Area, States: M. Accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.cleftline.org/parents-individuals/team-care/state-listings-m/.

¹³⁵ M.G.L. c.175 §47N, c.176A §8P, c.176B §4S, c.176G §4H, c.32A §17G.

¹³⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). National Diabetes Statistics Report: Estimates of Diabetes and Its Burden in the United States, 2014. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2014. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pubs/statsreport14/national-diabetes-report-web.pdf.

¹³⁷ *Op. cit.* CDC: National Diabetes Statistics Report: Estimates of Diabetes and Its Burden in the United States, 2014.

¹³⁸ CDC: National Diabetes Surveillance System. All States, Diagnosed Diabetes, Age Adjusted Rate (Per 100), Adults – Total 2013. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://gis.cdc.gov/grasp/diabetes/DiabetesAtlas.html.

¹³⁹ CDC: Diabetes Report Card 2014. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, US Dept of Health and Human Services; 2015. Accessed 2 December 2015:

http://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/library/diabetesreportcard2014.pdf.

¹⁴⁰ Healthy People 2020: Topics & Objectives: Diabetes Overview. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/diabetes?topicid=8.

¹⁴¹ *Op. cit.* Healthy People 2020: Topics & Objectives: Diabetes Overview.

¹⁴² Op. cit. CDC: Diabetes Report Card 2014.

¹⁴³ International Diabetes Foundation (IDF). Complications of Diabetes. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://www.idf.org/complications-diabetes. ¹⁴⁴ American Diabetes Association (ADA). Living with diabetes: Complications. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://www.diabetes.org/living-with-diabetes/complications/?loc=symptoms.

¹⁴⁵ ADA: What is Gestational Diabetes? Accessed 2 December 2015: http://www.diabetes.org/diabetesbasics/gestational/what-is-gestational-diabetes.html.

¹⁴⁶ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Healthy People 2020. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://www.healthypeople.gov/.

¹⁴⁷ Healthy People 2020: 2020 Topics and Objectives, Diabetes, Objectives. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/diabetes/objectives.

¹⁴⁸ M.G.L. c.175 §47C, c.176A §8B, c.176B §4C, c.176G §4.

¹⁴⁹ Harvard University Center on the Developing Child (HU-CDC), (2009). Core Concepts in the Science of Early Childhood Development (Brief). Accessed 16 November 2015: http://developingchild.harvard.edu/resources/core-concepts-in-the-science-of-early-childhood-development/.

¹⁵⁰ Op. cit. HU-CDC: Core Concepts in the Science of Early Childhood Development (Brief).

¹⁵¹ *Op. cit.* HU-CDC: Core Concepts in the Science of Early Childhood Development (Brief).

¹⁵² Ramey CT, Ramey SL. Early intervention and early experience. Am Psychol. 1998 Feb;53(2):109-20. Accessed 7/1/2011: http://psycnet.apa.org/journals/amp/53/2/109/.

¹⁵³ National Institutes of Health, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Early Development (NICHED). Early Intervention. Updated 30 November 2012; accessed 16 November 2015: https://www.nichd.nih.gov/health/topics/autism/conditioninfo/Pages/early-intervention.aspx.

¹⁵⁴ Op. cit. NICHED: Early Intervention.

¹⁵⁵ U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education Programs' (OSEP). IDEA 2004: Building the Legacy, Part C (birth - 2 years old). Accessed 16 November 2015: http://idea.ed.gov/part-c/search/new.

¹⁵⁶ Anderson LM, Shinn C, Fullilove MT, et al. The effectiveness of early childhood development programs. A systematic review. Am J Prev Med. 2003 Apr;24(3)(suppl):32-46. Accessed 16 November 2015: http://www.ajpmonline.org/article/S0749-3797(02)00655-4/abstract.

¹⁵⁷ Ramey CT, Ramey SL. Early intervention and early experience. Am Psychol. 1998 Feb;53(2):109-20. Accessed 16 November 2015: https://static.vtc.vt.edu/media/documents/179_-_Early_intervention_and_early_experience.pdf.

¹⁵⁸ Early Childhood Technical Assistance Center (ECTAC). Effectiveness of Infant and Early Childhood Programs, Long-Term Impacts to Children, Families and Society. Accessed 16 November 2015: http://ectacenter.org/topics/effective/longterm.asp.

¹⁵⁹ Karoly LA, Kilburn R, Cannon JS. Proven Benefits of Early Childhood Interventions. RAND Corporation, 2005. Accessed 16 November 2015: http://www.rand.org/pubs/research_briefs/RB9145.

¹⁶⁰ Conti G, Heckman JJ, Pinto R. The Effects of Two Influential Early Childhood Interventions on Health and Healthy Behaviors. National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER): Working Paper No. 21454. Published August 2015; accessed 16 November 2015: http://www.nber.org/papers/w21454.pdf.

¹⁶¹ *Op. cit.,* Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. The Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight : Information on Essential Health Benefits (EHB) Benchmark Plans.

¹⁶² M.G.L. c.175 §47X, c.176A §8Y, c.176B §4EE, c.176G §4N, c.32 §23.

¹⁶³ U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities (CDC). Hearing Loss in Children: Facts. Updated 11 October 2015; accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hearingloss/facts.html.

¹⁶⁴ Morton CC, Nance WE. Newborn hearing screening--a silent revolution. N Engl J Med. 2006 May 18;354(20):2151-64. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMra050700.

¹⁶⁵ Op. cit. CDC: Hearing Loss in Children: Facts.

¹⁶⁶ Op. cit. CDC: Hearing Loss in Children: Facts.

¹⁶⁷ Bhasin TK, Brocksen S, Avchen RN, et al. Prevalence of four developmental disabilities among children aged 8 years--Metropolitan Atlanta Developmental Disabilities Surveillance Program, 1996 and 2000. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2006 Jan 27;55(1):1-9. Accessed 17 December 2015:

http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss5501a1.htm.

¹⁶⁸ CDC: Hearing Loss in Children: Types of Hearing Loss. Updated 18 February 2015; accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hearingloss/types.html.

¹⁶⁹ National Institutes of Health (NIH) Research Portfolio Online Reporting Tools (RePORT): Newborn Hearing Screening. Accessed 7 October 2015: http://report.nih.gov/nihfactsheets/ViewFactSheet.aspx?csid=104.

¹⁷⁰ Niskar AS, Kieszak SM, Holmes A, et al. Prevalence of hearing loss among children 6 to 19 years of age: the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. JAMA. 1998 Apr 8;279(14):1071-5. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=187415.

¹⁷¹ Boulet SL, Boyle CA, Schieve LA. Health care use and health and functional impact of developmental disabilities among US children, 1997-2005. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2009 Jan;163(1):19-26. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=380659.

¹⁷² Van Naarden Braun K, Christensen D, Doernberg N, et al. Trends in the prevalence of autism spectrum disorder, cerebral palsy, hearing loss, intellectual disability, and vision impairment, metropolitan atlanta, 1991-2010. PLoS One. 2015 Apr 29;10(4):e0124120. Accessed 17 December 2015:

http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id = 10.1371/journal.pone.0124120.

¹⁷³ CDC: Summary of Diagnosis and Loss to Follow-up, Loss to Documentation in 2013. Published October 2015; accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hearingloss/2013-data/2013_lfu_summary_web_5.pdf.

¹⁷⁴ CDC: Hearing Loss in Children: Treatment and Intervention Services. Updated 18 February 2015; accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hearingloss/treatment.html.

¹⁷⁵ *Op. cit.* CDC: Hearing Loss in Children: Treatment and Intervention Services.

¹⁷⁶ *Op. cit.* CDC: Hearing Loss in Children: Treatment and Intervention Services.

¹⁷⁷ Op. cit. CDC: Hearing Loss in Children: Treatment and Intervention Services.

¹⁷⁸ Op. cit. CDC: Hearing Loss in Children: Treatment and Intervention Services.

¹⁷⁹ Op. cit. CDC: Hearing Loss in Children: Treatment and Intervention Services.

¹⁸⁰ National Institutes of Health, National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (NIDCD). Hearing Aids. NIH Pub. No. 13-4340; updated September 2013. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.nidcd.nih.gov/health/hearing/pages/hearingaid.aspx.

¹⁸¹ *Op. cit.* NIDCD: Hearing Aids.

¹⁸² de Wolf MJ, Hol MK, Mylanus EA, et al. Benefit and quality of life after bone-anchored hearing aid fitting in children with unilateral or bilateral hearing impairment. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2011 Feb;137(2):130-8. Accessed 18 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21339398.

¹⁸³ Tomblin JB, Oleson JJ, Ambrose SE, et al. The influence of hearing aids on the speech and language development of children with hearing loss. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2014 May;140(5):403-9. Accessed 18 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24700303.

¹⁸⁴ Pérez-Mora R, Lassaletta L, Castro A, et al. Quality of life in hearing-impaired children with bilateral hearing devices. B-ENT. 2012;8(4):251-5. Accessed 18 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23409552.

¹⁸⁵ Sininger YS, Grimes A, Christensen E. Auditory development in early amplified children: factors influencing auditory-based communication outcomes in children with hearing loss. Ear Hear. 2010 Apr;31(2):166-85. Accessed 18 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20081537.

¹⁸⁶ Ching TY, Dillon H, Marnane V, et al. Outcomes of early- and late-identified children at 3 years of age: findings from a prospective population-based study. Ear Hear. 2013 Sep;34(5):535-52. Accessed 18 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23462376.

¹⁸⁷ Commonwealth of Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy. Actuarial Assessment of House Bill 52: An Act to Provide Access to Hearing Aids for Children. Prepared by Compass Health Analytics, Inc. June 2012. Accessed 2 May 2016: http://www.chiamass.gov/assets/docs/r/pubs/12/mb-child-hearing-aids-actuarial.pdf.

¹⁸⁸ M.G.L. c.175 §110(K), c.176A §8I, c.176G §4C.

¹⁸⁹ Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), Medicare.gov. What's home health care & what should I expect? Accessed 1 October 2015: https://www.medicare.gov/what-medicare-covers/home-health-care/home-health-care/home-health-care.html.

¹⁹⁰ Visiting Nurses Associations of America, Home Health Care FAQ. Accessed 1 October 2015: http://www.vnaa.org/home-health-car-faq.

¹⁹¹ Eldercare Locator (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). Home Health Care. Accessed 1 October 2015: http://www.eldercare.gov/ELDERCARE.NET/Public/Resources/Factsheets/Home_Health_Care.aspx.

¹⁹² *Op. cit.* Eldercare Locator: Home Health Care.

¹⁹³ Montauk SL. Home Health Care. Am Fam Physician. 1998 Nov 1;58(7):1608-14. Accessed 1 October 2015: http://www.aafp.org/afp/1998/1101/p1608.html.

¹⁹⁴ Visiting Nurses Associations of America, Home Health Care Services. Accessed 7/3/2011: http://www.vnaa.org/home-health-car-faq.

¹⁹⁵ American Academy of Family Physicians: Home Health Care. Updated April 2015; accessed 1 October 2015: http://www.aafp.org/about/policies/all/home-care.html.

¹⁹⁶ Elkan R, Kendrick D, Dewey M, et al. Effectiveness of home based support for older people: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2001 Sep 29;323(7315):719-25. Accessed 1 October 2015: http://www.bmj.com/content/323/7315/719.full.

¹⁹⁷ Hyde CJ, Robert IE, Sinclair AJ. The effects of supporting discharge from hospital to home in older people. Age and Ageing. 2000 May;29(3):271-9. Accessed 1 October 2015: http://ageing.oxfordjournals.org/content/29/3/271.full.pdf+html.

¹⁹⁸ Mann WC, Ottenbacher KJ, Fraas L, Tomita M, Granger CV. Effectiveness of assistive technology and environmental interventions in maintaining independence and reducing home care costs for the frail elderly. A randomized controlled trial. Arch Fam Med. 1999 May-Jun;8(3):210-7. Accessed 1 October 2015:

http://www.researchgate.net/publication/12964547_Effectiveness_of_Assistive_Technology_and_Environmental_ Interventions_in_Maintaining_Independence_and_Reducing_Home_Care_Costs_for_the_Frail_Elderly_A_Random ized_Controlled_Trial.

¹⁹⁹ Op. cit. CMS, Medicare.gov: What's home health care & what should I expect?

 ²⁰⁰ Zimmer JG, Groth-Juncker A, McCusker J. A randomized controlled study of a home health care team. Am J Public Health. 1985 Feb;75(2):134-41. Accessed 1 October 2015: http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.75.2.134. ²⁰¹ Hughes SL, Weaver FM, Giobbie-Hurder Aet al. Effectiveness of team-managed home-based primary care: a randomized multicenter trial. JAMA. 2000 Dec 13;284(22):2877-85. Accessed 1 October 2015: http://jama.ama-assn.org/content/284/22/2877.full.

²⁰² M.G.L. c.175 §47W, c.176A §8W, c.176B §4W, c.176G §4O.

²⁰³ The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG). Patient Education Fact Sheet PFS003: Hormone Therapy. April 2015; accessed 4 November 2015: http://www.acog.org/Patients/FAQs/Hormone-Therapy.

²⁰⁴ *Op. cit.* ACOG: Patient Education Fact Sheet PFS003: Hormone Therapy.

²⁰⁵ *Op. cit.* ACOG: Patient Education Fact Sheet PFS003: Hormone Therapy.

²⁰⁶ Hauk L. Practice Guidelines: ACOG Releases Clinical Guidelines on Management of Menopausal Symptoms. Am
 Fam Physician. 2014 Sep 1;90(5):338-340. Accessed 4 November 2015:
 http://www.aafp.org/afp/2014/0901/p338.html.

²⁰⁷ Op. cit. Lewis R.: ACOG Revises Guidelines on Treating Menopause Symptoms.

²⁰⁸ *Op. cit.* Lewis R.: ACOG Revises Guidelines on Treating Menopause Symptoms.

²⁰⁹ *Op. cit.* ACOG: Patient Education Fact Sheet PFS003: Hormone Therapy.

²¹⁰ Mayo Clinic. Diseases and Conditions: Menopause, Symptoms. Updated 7 January 2015; accessed 4 November 2015: http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/menopause/basics/symptoms/con-20019726.

²¹¹ *Op. cit.* Hauk L.: Practice Guidelines: ACOG Releases Clinical Guidelines on Management of Menopausal Symptoms.

²¹² Furness S, Roberts H, Marjoribanks J, et al. Hormone therapy for postmenopausal women with intact uterus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012 Aug 15;8:CD000402. Accessed 4 November 2015: http://www.cochrane.org/CD000402/MENSTR hormone-therapy-for-postmenopausal-women-with-intact-uterus.

²¹³ *Op. cit.* ACOG: Patient Education Fact Sheet PFS003: Hormone Therapy.

²¹⁴ *Op. cit.* ACOG: Patient Education Fact Sheet PFS003: Hormone Therapy.

²¹⁵ *Op. cit.* Hauk L.: Practice Guidelines: ACOG Releases Clinical Guidelines on Management of Menopausal Symptoms.

²¹⁶ *Op. cit.* ACOG: Patient Education Fact Sheet PFS003: Hormone Therapy.

²¹⁷ *Op. cit.* ACOG: Patient Education Fact Sheet PFS003: Hormone Therapy.

²¹⁸ *Op. cit.* Furness S, Roberts H, Marjoribanks J, et al.: Hormone therapy for postmenopausal women with intact uterus.

²¹⁹ Uhler ML, Marks JW, Judd HL. Estrogen replacement therapy and gallbladder disease in postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2000 May-Jun;7(3):162-7. Accessed 5 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10810961.

²²⁰ *Op. cit.* ACOG: Patient Education Fact Sheet PFS003: Hormone Therapy.

²²¹ Op. cit. ACOG: Patient Education Fact Sheet PFS003: Hormone Therapy.

²²² *Op. cit.* Hauk L: Practice Guidelines: ACOG Releases Clinical Guidelines on Management of Menopausal Symptoms.

²²³ American Cancer Society. Menopausal Hormone Therapy and Cancer Risk. Updated 13 February 2015; accessed 5 November 2015:

http://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancercauses/othercarcinogens/medicaltreatments/menopausal-hormone-replacement-therapy-and-cancer-risk.

²²⁴ Handley AP, Williams M. The efficacy and tolerability of SSRI/SNRIs in the treatment of vasomotor symptoms in menopausal women: a systematic review. J Am Assoc Nurse Pract. 2015 Jan;27(1):54-61. Accessed 4 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24944075.

²²⁵ National Institutes of Health, National Library of Medicine, DailyMed. LABEL: CLONIDINE HYDROCHLORIDEclonidine hydrochloride tablet. Updated July 2015; accessed 4 November 2015: http://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/drugInfo.cfm?setid=f2c4a60b-079f-418b-8ed4-6a44de77ad51.

²²⁶ National Institutes of Health, National Library of Medicine, MedLinePlus. Gabapentin. Updated 15 July 2011; accessed 4 November 2015: https://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/druginfo/meds/a694007.html.

²²⁷ Mayo Clinic, Diseases and Conditions: Menopause, Treatments and Drugs. Updated 7 January 2015; accessed 4 November 2015: http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/menopause/basics/treatment/con-20019726.

²²⁸ U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). FDA News Release: FDA approves the first non-hormonal treatment for hot flashes associated with menopause. Released 28 June 2013; accessed 4 November 2015: http://www.fda.gov/newsevents/newsroom/pressannouncements/ucm359030.htm.

²²⁹ FDA News Release: FDA approves Osphena for postmenopausal women experiencing pain during sex. Released 26 February 2013; accessed 4 November 2015:

http://www.fda.gov/newsevents/newsroom/pressannouncements/ucm341128.htm.

²³⁰ FDA: Menopause & Hormones, Common Questions. Updated 29 January 2014; accessed 4 November 2015: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/forconsumers/byaudience/forwomen/freepublications/ucm383404.pdf.

²³¹ NIH NHLBI. Women's Health Initiative Background and Overview. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute. Washington DC. Accessed 6/30/2011: http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/whi/factsht.htm.

²³² U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF). Postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy to prevent chronic conditions: recommendations and rationale. *Ann Intern Med.* 2002 Nov 19;137(10):1-48. Accessed 6/30/2011: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/uspspmho.htm.

²³³ Shapiro S, Farmer RD, Seaman H, et al. Does hormone replacement therapy cause breast cancer? An application of causal principles to three studies: Part 1. The Collaborative Reanalysis. J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care. 2011 Apr;37(2):103-9. Accessed 5 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21454266.

²³⁴ Shapiro S, Farmer RD, Mueck AO, et al. Does hormone replacement therapy cause breast cancer? An application of causal principles to three studies: part 2. The Women's Health Initiative: estrogen plus progestogen. J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care. 2011 Jul;37(3):165-72. Accessed 5 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21642264.

²³⁵ Shapiro S, Farmer RD, Mueck AO, et al. Does hormone replacement therapy cause breast cancer? An application of causal principles to three studies: part 3. The Women's Health Initiative: unopposed estrogen. J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care. 2011 Oct;37(4):225-30. Accessed 5 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21642263.

²³⁶ Shapiro S, Farmer RD, Stevenson JC, et al. Does hormone replacement therapy cause breast cancer? An application of causal principles to three studies. Part 4: the Million Women Study. J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care.
 2012 Apr;38(2):102-9. Accessed 5 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22262621.

²³⁷ Shook LL. An update on hormone replacement therapy: health and medicine for women: a multidisciplinary, evidence-based review of mid-life health concerns. Yale J Biol Med. 2011 Mar;84(1):39-42. Accessed 5 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3064244/.

²³⁸ Morris E, Currie H. HRT prescribing post WHI and MWS: What did you do? Would you do it again? Menopause Int. 2012 Mar;18(1):1. Accessed 5 November 2015: http://min.sagepub.com/content/18/1/1.full. ²³⁹ Stuenkel CA, Davis SR, Gompel A, et al. Treatment of Symptoms of the Menopause: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015 Oct 7:jc20152236. Accessed 4 November 2015: http://press.endocrine.org/doi/abs/10.1210/jc.2015-2236.

²⁴⁰ *Op. cit.* Shook LL: An update on hormone replacement therapy: health and medicine for women: a multidisciplinary, evidence-based review of mid-life health concerns.

²⁴¹ American Heart Association. Women and Cholesterol. Updated 21 April 2014; accessed 5 November 2015: http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/Conditions/Cholesterol/UnderstandYourRiskforHighCholesterol/Women-and-Cholesterol_UCM_305565_Article.jsp#.Vjua9LerTIU.

²⁴² *Op. cit.* Stuenkel CA, Davis SR, Gompel A, et al.: Treatment of Symptoms of the Menopause: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline.

²⁴³ USPSTF: Final Recommendation Statement: Menopausal Hormone Therapy: Preventive Medication. Updated February 2014; accessed 4 November 2015:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/menopausal-hormone-therapy-preventive-medication.

²⁴⁴ M.G.L. c.175 §47V, c.176A §8V, c.176B §4V, c.176G §4Q, c.32A §17H.

²⁴⁵ U.S. National Institutes of Health (NIH), National Library of Medicine (NLM), MedLinePlus. Histocompatibility antigen test. Updated 18 February 2015; accessed 30 September 2015: https://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/003550.htm.

²⁴⁶ National Marrow Donor Program (NMDP). What is a bone marrow transplant? Accessed 29 September 2015: https://bethematch.org/For-Patients-and-Families/Considering-transplant-and-other-treatment-options/What-isa-bone-marrow-transplant/.

²⁴⁷ NMDP: Learning more about your disease. Accessed 29 September 2015: https://bethematch.org/For-Patients-and-Families/Learning-about-your-disease/.

²⁴⁸ NMDP: How a bone marrow transplant works. Accessed 29 September 2015: https://bethematch.org/For-Patients-and-Families/Considering-transplant-and-other-treatment-options/What-is-a-bone-marrowtransplant/How-a-bone-marrow-transplant-works/.

²⁴⁹ Karanes C, Nelson GO, Chitphakdithai P, et al. Twenty Years of Unrelated Donor Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation for Adult Recipients Facilitated by the National Marrow Donor Program. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2008 Sep;14(9):8-15. Accessed 6/29/2011: http://www.bbmt.org/article/S1083-8791(08)00249-8/fulltext.

²⁵⁰ *Op. cit.* NMDP: How a bone marrow transplant works.

²⁵¹ NMDP: HLA matching. Accessed 29 September 2015: https://bethematch.org/for-patients-and-families/finding-a-donor/hla-matching/.

²⁵² Flomenberg N, Baxter-Lowe LA, Confer D, et al. Impact of HLA class I and class II high-resolution matching on outcomes of unrelated donor bone marrow transplantation: HLA-C mismatching is associated with a strong adverse effect on transplantation outcome. Blood. 2004 Oct 1;104(7):1923-30. Accessed 29 September 2015: http://www.bloodjournal.org/cgi/content/full/104/7/1923.

²⁵³ U.S. Health Resources and Services Administration Blood Cell Transplant (HRSA-BCT): General Frequently Asked Questions. Accessed 29 September 2015:

http://bloodcell.transplant.hrsa.gov/about/general_faqs/index.html#1085 need for donors.

²⁵⁴ Bray RA, Hurley CK, Kamani NR, et al. National Marrow Donor Program HLA matching guidelines for unrelated adult donor hematopoietic cell transplants. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2008; 14(9, Suppl. 3):45-53. Accessed 25 August 2016: http://www.bbmt.org/article/S1083-8791(08)00274-7/fulltext. ²⁵⁵ Gragert L, Eapen M, Williams E, et al. HLA match likelihoods for hematopoietic stem-cell grafts in the U.S. registry. N Engl J Med. 2014 Jul 24;371(4):339-48. Accessed 29 September 2015: http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMsa1311707.

²⁵⁶ Tiercy JM, Bujan-Lose M, Chapuis B, et al. Bone marrow transplantation with unrelated donors: what is the probability of identifying an HLA-A/B/Cw/DRB1/B3/B5/DQB1-matched donor? Bone Marrow Transplant. 2000 Aug;26(4):437-41. Accessed 29 September 2015:

http://www.nature.com/bmt/journal/v26/n4/full/1702529a.html.

²⁵⁷ Note that this guideline changed since the publication of CHIA's State-Mandated Health Insurance Benefits and Health Insurance Costs in Massachusetts report in January 2013. Accessed 30 September 2015: http://www.chiamass.gov/assets/docs/r/pubs/13/comprehensive-mandate-review-report-2013-1-10.pdf.

²⁵⁸ *Op. cit.* NMDP: HLA Matching. NMDP requires matches be made on at least six markers for adult donors, typed at high resolution by DNA-based methods, and on at least four markers for cord blood; however, some transplant centers require matches on at least seven markers for adult donors.

²⁵⁹ HRSA-BCT: Transplant Frequently Asked Questions. Accessed 29 September 2015: http://bloodcell.transplant.hrsa.gov/transplant/understanding_tx/transplant_faqs/index.html.

²⁶⁰ *Op. cit.* Bray RA, Hurley CK, Kamani NR, et al.: National Marrow Donor Program HLA matching guidelines for unrelated adult donor hematopoietic cell transplants.

²⁶¹ NMDP: HLA Typing and Matching. Accessed 29 September 2015: https://bethematchclinical.org/Transplant-Therapy-and-Donor-Matching/HLA-Typing-and-Matching/.

²⁶² See, for example, Massachusetts General Law (MAGL) Chapter 32A Section 17H, Coverage for human leukocyte or histocompatibility locus antigen testing. Accessed 30 September 2015: https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleIV/Chapter32A/Section17H.

²⁶³ M.G.L. c. 111 § 218, Section 218 Guidelines for human leukocyte or histocompatibility locus antigen testing. Accessed 30 September 2015:

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleXVI/Chapter111/Section218.

²⁶⁴ M.G.L. c.175 §47Y, c.176A §8CC, c.176B §4CC, c.176G §4U.

²⁶⁵ Cox D, Stone J. Managing self-injection difficulties in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. J Neurosci Nurs. 2006 Jun;38(3):167-71. Accessed 28 August 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16817668.

²⁶⁶ Greco E, Polonio-Balbi P, Ferrero S, et al. Use of a fully automated injector for self-administration of follitropin alpha in an IVF/ICSI programme. Reprod Biomed Online. 2005 Oct;11(4):415-20. Accessed 3 September 2015: http://www.rbmojournal.com/article/S1472-6483(10)61132-7/abstract.

²⁶⁷ Butler CC, Vidal-Alaball J, Cannings-John R, et al. Oral vitamin B12 versus intramuscular vitamin B12 for vitamin B12 deficiency: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Fam Pract. 2006 Jun;23(3):279-85. Accessed 3 September 2015: http://fampra.oxfordjournals.org/content/23/3/279.short.

²⁶⁸ Silverstein SB, Rodgers GM. Parenteral Iron Therapy Options. Am J Hematol. 2004 Apr;76(1):74-78. Accessed 25 Aug 2016: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ajh.20056/pdf.

²⁶⁹ Dalmau J, Pimentel CL, Puig L, et al. Cutaneous necrosis after injection of polyethylene glycol-modified interferon alfa. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2005 Jul;53(1):62-6. Accessed 3 September 2015: http://www.eblue.org/article/S0190-9622(05)00698-5/abstract.

²⁷⁰ Lawton J, Kirkham J, Rankin D, et al.; REPOSE Group. Who gains clinical benefit from using insulin pump therapy? A qualitative study of the perceptions and views of health professionals involved in the Relative Effectiveness of Pumps over MDI and Structured Education (REPOSE) trial. Diabet Med. 2015 Aug 6. Accessed 3 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26248590. ²⁷¹ Cohen C, Hellinger J, Johnson M, et al. Patient acceptance of self-injected enfuvirtide at 8 and 24 weeks. HIV Clin Trials. 2003 Sep-Oct;4(5):347-57. Accessed 25 August 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14583851.

²⁷² Silverstein SB, Rodgers GM. Parenteral iron therapy options. Am J Hematol. 2004 May;76(1):74-8. Accessed 15 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15114602.

 ²⁷³ Verma RK, Garg S. Current Status of Drug Delivery Technologies and Future Directions. Pharmaceutical Technology On-Line. 2001;25(2):1-14. Accessed 3 September 2015: http://www.pharmanet.com.br/pdf/drugdelivery.pdf.

²⁷⁴ Mohr DC, Boudewyn AC, Likosky W, et al. Injectable medication for the treatment of multiple sclerosis: the influence of self-efficacy expectations and injection anxiety on adherence and ability to self-inject. Ann Behav Med.
2001 Spring;23(2):125-32. Accessed 3 September 2015: http://www.springerlink.com/content/977r33n54753031w/.

²⁷⁵ Poulos C, Kinter E, Yang JC, et al. Patient Preferences for Injectable Treatments for Multiple Sclerosis in the United States: A Discrete-Choice Experiment. Patient. 2015 Aug 11. Accessed 3 September 2015:

http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs40271-015-0136-x.

²⁷⁶ Lass N, Reinehr T. Low Treatment Adherence in Pubertal Children Treated with Thyroxin or Growth Hormone. Horm Res Paediatr. 2015 Aug 8. Accessed 3 September 2015: http://www.karger.com/Article/Abstract/437305.

²⁷⁷ Prabhakaran S. Self-administration of injectable contraceptives. Contraception. 2008 May;77(5):315-7. Accessed
 3 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18402845.

²⁷⁸ Tuong LA, Olivieri K, Craig TJ. Barriers to self-administered therapy for hereditary angioedema. Allergy and Asthma Proceedings. 2014 May-Jun;35(3):250-4. Accessed 3 September 2015: http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/ocean/aap/2014/00000035/00000003/art00012?crawler=true&mimety pe=application/pdf.

²⁷⁹ Somkuti SG, Schertz JC, Moore M, et al. Gonal-F Prefilled Pen in OI Study 24785 Group. Patient experience with follitropin alfa prefilled pen versus previously used injectable gonadotropins for ovulation induction in oligoanovulatory women. Curr Med Res Opin. 2006 Oct;22(10):1981-96. Accessed 3 September 2015: http://www.researchgate.net/publication/6771911.

²⁸⁰ Brunton S. Initiating insulin therapy in type 2 diabetes: benefits of insulin analogs and insulin pens. Diabetes
 Technol Ther. 2008 Aug;10(4):247-56. Accessed 3 September 2015:
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18715198.

²⁸¹ M.G.L. c.175 §47H, c.176A §8K, c.176B §4J, c.176G §4.

²⁸² Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHHD). Infertility and Fertility: Overview. Reviewed 2 July 2013; accessed 2 December 2015:
 https://www.nichd.nih.gov/health/topics/infertility/Pages/default.aspx.

²⁸³ U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). FastStats: Infertility. Updated 6 February 2015; accessed
 2 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/infertility.htm.

²⁸⁴ Chandra A, Copen CE, Stephen EH. Infertility service use in the United States: Data from the National Survey of Family Growth, 1982-2010. Natl Health Stat Report. 2014 Jan 22;(73):1-21. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr073.pdf#x2013;2010.

²⁸⁵ National Institutes of Health (NIH) Medline Plus: Infertility. Accessed 2 December 2015: https://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/infertility.html.

²⁸⁶ Medline Plus: Female Infertility. Accessed 2 December 2015: https://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/femaleinfertility.html.

²⁸⁷ Reproductive Health Technologies Project (RHTP). Infertility. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://www.rhtp.org/fertility/infertility/default.asp. ²⁸⁸ U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Infertility FAQs. Updated 16 September 2015; accessed 2 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/Infertility/.

²⁸⁹ American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG). Frequently Asked Questions, Gynecological
 Problems: Treating Infertility. FAQ 137; March 2015. Accessed 2 December 2015:
 http://www.acog.org/Patients/FAQs/Treating-Infertility.

²⁹⁰ *Op. cit.* CDC: Infertility FAQs.

²⁹¹ Hrometz SL, Gates VA. Review of available infertility treatments. Drugs Today (Barc). 2009 Apr;45(4):275-91. Accessed 2 December 2015:

https://journals.prous.com/journals/servlet/xmlxsl/pk_journals.xml_summaryn_pr?p_JournalId=4&p_RefId=13609 85.

²⁹² American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM). Quick Facts About Infertility. Accessed 3 December 2015: http://www.asrm.org/detail.aspx?id=2322.

²⁹³ Hull MG. Infertility treatment: relative effectiveness of conventional and assisted conception methods. Hum Reprod. 1992 Jul;7(6):785-96. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://humrep.oxfordjournals.org/content/7/6/785.short.

²⁹⁴ Griesinger G, Dafopoulos K, Schultze-Mosgau A, et al. What is the most relevant standard of success in assisted reproduction? Is BESST (birth emphasizing a successful singleton at term) truly the best? Hum Reprod. 2004 Jun;19(6):1239-41. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://humrep.oxfordjournals.org/content/19/6/1239.full.

²⁹⁵ Devroey P, Fauser BC, Diedrich K. Evian Annual Reproduction (EVAR) Workshop Group 2008. Approaches to improve the diagnosis and management of infertility. Hum Reprod Update. 2009 Jul-Aug;15(4):391-408. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://humupd.oxfordjournals.org/content/15/4/391.full.

²⁹⁶ Balasch J. Investigation of the infertile couple: investigation of the infertile couple in the era of assisted reproductive technology: a time for reappraisal. Hum Reprod 2000 Nov;15(11):2251-7. Accessed 7/3/2011: http://humrep.oxfordjournals.org/content/15/11/2251.full (doi: 10.1093/humrep/15.11.2251)

²⁹⁷ Myers ER, McCrory DC, Mills AA, et al. Effectiveness of assisted reproductive technology (ART). Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep). 2008 May;(167):1-195. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18620469.

²⁹⁸ Op. cit. Myers ER, McCrory DC, Mills AA, et al.: Effectiveness of assisted reproductive technology (ART).

²⁹⁹ Op. cit. Myers ER, McCrory DC, Mills AA, et al.: Effectiveness of assisted reproductive technology (ART). Pregnancy and live birth rates were improved with (a) administration of clomiphene citrate in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome; (b) metformin plus clomiphene in women who fail to respond to clomiphene alone; (c) ultrasound-guided embryo transfer, and transfer on day 5 post-fertilization, in couples with a good prognosis; and (d) assisted hatching in couples with previous IVF failure. There was insufficient evidence regarding other interventions

³⁰⁰ Collins JA, Van Steirteghem A. Overall prognosis with current treatment of infertility. Hum Reprod Update. 2004 Jul-Aug;10(4):309-16. Accessed 2 December 2015: http://humupd.oxfordjournals.org/content/10/4/309.full.pdf.

³⁰¹ *Op. cit.* Devroey P, Fauser BC, Diedrich K: Approaches to improve the diagnosis and management of infertility.

³⁰² Van Voorhis BJ. Outcomes from assisted reproductive technology. Obstet Gynecol. 2006 Jan;107(1):183-200. Accessed 3 December 2015:

http://journals.lww.com/greenjournal/Abstract/2006/01000/Outcomes_From_Assisted_Reproductive_Technology .31.aspx.

³⁰³ Reddy UM, Wapner RJ, Rebar RW, et al. Infertility, assisted reproductive technology, and adverse pregnancy outcomes: executive summary of a National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Workshop. Obstet Gynecol. 2007 Apr;109(4):967-77. Accessed 2 December 2015:

http://journals.lww.com/greenjournal/Abstract/2007/04000/Infertility,_Assisted_Reproductive_Technology,_and. 26.aspx.

³⁰⁴ *Op. cit.* Reddy UM, Wapner RJ, Rebar RW, et al.: Infertility, assisted reproductive technology, and adverse pregnancy outcomes: executive summary of a National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Workshop.

³⁰⁵ *Op. cit.* Van Voorhis BJ: Outcomes from assisted reproductive technology.

³⁰⁶ *Op. cit.* Reddy UM, Wapner RJ, Rebar RW, et al.: Infertility, assisted reproductive technology, and adverse pregnancy outcomes: executive summary of a National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Workshop.

³⁰⁷ *Op. cit.* Van Voorhis BJ.: Outcomes from assisted reproductive technology.

³⁰⁸ Op. cit. Myers ER, McCrory DC, Mills AA, et al.: Effectiveness of assisted reproductive technology (ART).

³⁰⁹ NICHHD: Fertility Treatments for Females. Reviewed 2 July 2013; accessed 2 December 2015: https://www.nichd.nih.gov/health/topics/infertility/conditioninfo/Pages/treatments-women.aspx#medication.

³¹⁰ *Op. cit.* NICHHD: Fertility Treatments for Females.

³¹¹ *Op. cit.* NICHHD: Fertility Treatments for Females.

³¹² Op. cit. Devroey P, Fauser BC, Diedrich K: Approaches to improve the diagnosis and management of infertility.

³¹³ *Op. cit.* Devroey P, Fauser BC, Diedrich K: Approaches to improve the diagnosis and management of infertility.

³¹⁴ M.G.L. c.175 §47I, c.176A §8L, c.176B §4K, c.176G §4D.

³¹⁵ Mayo Clinic. Diseases and Conditions: Phenylketonuria, Definition. Updated 26 November 2014; accessed 8 September 2015: http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/phenylketonuria/basics/definition/con-20026275.

³¹⁶ Matalon KM, Acosta PB, Azen C. Role of Nutrition in Pregnancy with Phenylketonuria and Birth Defects. PEDIATRICS. 2003 Dec 1; 112(Supplement 4):1534 -1536. Accessed 8 September 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/112/Supplement_4/1534.full.

³¹⁷ National Institutes of Health (NIH). Consensus Statement: Phenylketonuria: Screening and Management. 2000 October 16-18; 17(3): 1-27. Accessed 8 September 2015:

http://consensus.nih.gov/2000/2000 phenylketonuria 113 html.htm.

³¹⁸ Williams RA, Mamotte CDS, Burnett JR. Phenylketonuria: An Inborn Error of Phenylalanine Metabolism. Clin Biochem Rev. 2008 Feb; 29(1): 31–41. Accessed 8 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2423317/.

³¹⁹ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). Evidence-based Practice Center (EPC) Systematic Review Protocol. Project Title: Comparative Effectiveness of Treatment for Phenylketonuria. Amendment dates 29 March 2011; accessed 8 September 2015:

http://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/ehc/products/259/623/PKU_Protocol_Amendment.pdf.

³²⁰ Op. cit. AHRQ EPC: Comparative Effectiveness of Treatment for Phenylketonuria.

³²¹ NIH. Phenylketonuria Scientific Review Conference: State of the Science and Future Research Needs. 22-23 February 2012. Accessed 8 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24667081. ³²² Vockley J, Andersson HC, Antshel KM, et al. Phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency: diagnosis and management guideline. Genet Med. 2014 Feb;16(2):188-200. Accessed 8 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24385074.

³²³ Singh RH, Rohr F, Frazier D, et al. Recommendations for the nutrition management of phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency. Genet Med. 2014 Feb;16(2):121-31. Accessed 8 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24385075.

³²⁴ *Op. cit.* Vockley J, Andersson HC, Antshel KM, et al.: Phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency: diagnosis and management guideline.

³²⁵ Op.cit. AHRQ EPC: Comparative Effectiveness of Treatment for Phenylketonuria.

³²⁶ *Op.cit.* AHRQ EPC: Comparative Effectiveness of Treatment for Phenylketonuria.

³²⁷ Op.cit. AHRQ EPC: Comparative Effectiveness of Treatment for Phenylketonuria.

³²⁸ U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Drugs: Priority NDA and BLA Approvals in 2007, Priority New Drug Application (NDA) Approvals. NDA N022181, Kuvan. Accessed 8 September 2015: http://www.fda.gov/drugs/developmentapprovalprocess/howdrugsaredevelopedandapproved/drugandbiologicap

http://www.fda.gov/drugs/developmentapprovalprocess/howdrugsaredevelopedandapproved/drugandbiologicap provalreports/ucm051047.htm.

³²⁹ *Op.cit.* AHRQ EPC: Comparative Effectiveness of Treatment for Phenylketonuria.

³³⁰ American College of Obstetrics and Gynecologists. Committee opinion no: 636: Management of women with phenylketonuria. Obstet Gynecol. 2015 Jun;125(6):1548-50. Accessed 8 September 2015: http://www.acog.org/-/media/Committee-Opinions/Committee-on-Genetics/co636.pdf?dmc=1&ts=20150522T0706136109.

³³¹ Murphy E. Medical Problems in Obstetrics: Inherited Metabolic Disease. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2015 Jul;29(5):707-20. Accessed 5 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26088792.

 ³³² van Spronsen FJ, Enns GM. Future treatment strategies in phenylketonuria. Mol Genet Metab. 2010;
 99(Supplement 1):S90-S95, Phenylketonuria, Psychology and the Brain. Accessed 8 September 2015: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1096719209002923.

³³³ Op. cit. NIH: Consensus Statement: Phenylketonuria: Screening and Management.

³³⁴ *Op. cit.* Singh, Rohr, Frazier, et al.: Recommendations for the nutrition management of phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency.

³³⁵ *Op. cit.* van Spronsen FJ, Enns GM: Future treatment strategies in phenylketonuria.

³³⁶ Strisciuglio P, Concolino D. New Strategies for the Treatment of Phenylketonuria (PKU). Metabolites. 2014 Nov 4;4(4):1007-17. Accessed 8 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25375236.

³³⁷ *Op.cit.* AHRQ EPC: Comparative Effectiveness of Treatment for Phenylketonuria.

³³⁸ Kochhar JS, Chan SY, Ong PS, et al. Clinical therapeutics for phenylketonuria. Drug Deliv Transl Res. 2012 Aug;2(4):223-37. Accessed 8 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25787029.

³³⁹ *Op. cit.* Vockley J, Andersson HC, Antshel KM, et al.: Phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency: diagnosis and management guideline.

³⁴⁰ Poustie VJ, Wildgoose J. Dietary interventions for phenylketonuria. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews
 2010, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD001304. Accessed 8 September 2015:

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD001304.pub2/abstract.

³⁴¹ *Op. cit.* Vockley J, Andersson HC, Antshel KM, et al.: Phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency: diagnosis and management guideline.

³⁴² M.G.L. c.175 §47I, c.176A §8L, c.176B §4K, c.176G §4D, c.32A §17A.

³⁴³ Vermilyea S, Goh VL. Enteral Feedings in Children: Sorting Out Tubes, Buttons, and Formulas. Nutr Clin Pract.
 2015 Sep 4. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26341918.

³⁴⁴ Lacy BE, Loew B. Diagnosis, Treatment and Nutritional Management of Chronic Intestinal Pseudo-Obstruction: Nutrition Issues in Gastroenterology, Series #77. Pract Gastroenterol. 2009 Aug; 33(8):9-24. Accessed 6/13/2011: http://www.practicalgastro.com/pdf/August09/LacyArticleAug09.pdf.

 ³⁴⁵ Lloyd DAJ, Powell-Tuck J. Artificial Nutrition: Principles and Practice of Enteral Feeding. Clin Colon Rectal Surg.
 2004 May; 17(2): 107–118. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2780045/.

³⁴⁶ *Op. cit.* Lacy BE, Loew B: Diagnosis, Treatment and Nutritional Management of Chronic Intestinal Pseudo-Obstruction.

³⁴⁷ Op. cit. Lloyd DAJ, Powell-Tuck J: Artificial Nutrition: Principles and Practice of Enteral Feeding.

³⁴⁸ *Op. cit.* Lloyd DAJ, Powell-Tuck J: Artificial Nutrition: Principles and Practice of Enteral Feeding.

³⁴⁹ Enteral tube feeding in hospital and the community. In *Nutrition Support for Adults: Oral Nutrition Support, Enteral Tube Feeding and Parenteral Nutrition*. Editors: National Collaborating Centre for Acute Care (UK), National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence: Guidance. 2006 Feb. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK49253/.

³⁵⁰ Koretz RL, Avenell A, Lipman TO, et al. Does Enteral Nutrition Affect Clinical Outcome? A Systematic Review of the Randomized Trials. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007 Feb;102(2):412-29. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17311654.

³⁵¹ Cawsey SI, Soo J, Gramlich LM. Home Enteral Nutrition: Outcomes Relative to Indication. Nutr Clin Pract. 2010 Jun 25;25(3):296-300. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://ncp.sagepub.com/content/25/3/296.short.

³⁵² Koretz RL. Enteral Nutrition: A Hard Look at Some Soft Evidence. Nutr Clin Pract. 2009 Jun-Jul; 24(3):316-324. Accessed 6/13/2011: http://ncp.sagepub.com/content/24/3/316.short (doi: 10.1177/0884533609335378).

³⁵³ Klek S, Hermanowicz A, Dziwiszek G, et al. Home enteral nutrition reduces complications, length of stay, and health care costs: results from a multicenter study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014 Aug;100(2):609-15. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://ajcn.nutrition.org/content/100/2/609.full.

³⁵⁴ The Value of Artificial Diet and Complex Care in Home Nutrition. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02122120. April 2014. Accessed 9 September 2015: https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT02122120.

³⁵⁵ Ojo O. The challenges of home enteral tube feeding: a global perspective. Nutrients. 2015 Apr 8;7(4):2524-38. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25856223.

³⁵⁶ *Op. cit.* Enteral tube feeding in hospital and the community.

³⁵⁷ Op. cit. Cawsey SI, Soo J, Gramlich LM.: Home Enteral Nutrition: Outcomes Relative to Indication.

³⁵⁸ Stratton RJ, Elia M. Who benefits from nutritional support: what is the evidence? Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2007 May;19(5):353-8. Accessed 9 September 2015: :

http://journals.lww.com/eurojgh/Abstract/2007/05000/Who_benefits_from_nutritional_support__what_is_the.2. aspx.

³⁵⁹ American Gastroenterological Association (AGA). American Gastroenterological Association Medical Position Statement: Guidelines for the Use of Enteral Nutrition. Gastroenterology. 1995 Apr;108(4):1280-1. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.gastrojournal.org/article/0016-5085(95)90230-9/pdf.

³⁶⁰ *Op. cit.* AGA: AGA Medical Position Statement: Guidelines for the Use of Enteral Nutrition.

³⁶¹ M.G.L. c.175 §47DD, c.176A §8FF, c.176B §4FF, c.176G §4X, c.32 §17K.

³⁶² Mayo Clinic. Chemotherapy: Definition. Updated 5 May 2014: http://www.mayoclinic.org/testsprocedures/chemotherapy/basics/definition/prc-20023578.

³⁶³ American Cancer Society (ACS). Oral Chemotherapy: What You Need to Know. Updated 17 July 2014; accessed 16 December 2015:

http://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatmentsandsideeffects/treatmenttypes/chemotherapy/oral-chemotherapy.

³⁶⁴ ACS: Chemotherapy Drugs: How They Work. Updated 16 February 2015; accessed 16 December 2015: http://www.cancer.org/acs/groups/cid/documents/webcontent/002995-pdf.pdf.

³⁶⁵ *Op. cit.* ACS: Chemotherapy Drugs: How They Work.

³⁶⁶ *Op. cit.* ACS: Chemotherapy Drugs: How They Work.

³⁶⁷ Mayo Clinic. Chemotherapy: Risks. Updated 5 May 2014; accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.mayoclinic.org/tests-procedures/chemotherapy/basics/risks/prc-20023578.

³⁶⁸ ACS: Evolution of Cancer Treatments: Chemotherapy. Updated 12 June 2014; accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancerbasics/thehistoryofcancer/the-history-of-cancer-cancer-treatment-chemo.

³⁶⁹ ACS: Oral Chemotherapy: What You Need To Know. Updated 17 July 2014; accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatmentsandsideeffects/treatmenttypes/chemotherapy/oral-chemotherapy.

³⁷⁰ U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Hematology/Oncology (Cancer) Approvals & Safety Notifications. Updated 11 December 2015; accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/InformationOnDrugs/UpprovedDrugs/Uppro

http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/InformationOnDrugs/ApprovedDrugs/ucm 279174.htm.

³⁷¹ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration (FDA), Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER). Guidance for Industry: Providing Clinical Evidence of Effectiveness for Human Drug and Biological Products, Clinical 6. Published May 1998; accessed 4 January 2016:

http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceCompliance%20RegulatoryInformation/Guidances/UCM078749.p df+Providing+clinical+evidence+of+effectiveness+for+human+and+bio&client=FDAgov&site=FDAgov&lr=&proxysty lesheet=FDAgov&output=xml_no_dtd&ie=UTF-8&access=p&oe=UTF-8.

³⁷² *Op. cit.* ACS: Oral Chemotherapy: What You Need To Know.

³⁷³ Weingart SN, Brown E, Bach PB, et al. NCCN Task Force Report: Oral Chemotherapy. Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network. 3 Mar 2008: Vol.6 Suppl. 3. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.nccn.org/JNCCN/PDF/JNSU3_combined_Oral_Chemo_2008.pdf.

³⁷⁴ *Op. cit.* ACS: Oral Chemotherapy: What You Need To Know.

³⁷⁵ *Op. cit.* ACS: Oral Chemotherapy: What You Need To Know.

³⁷⁶ *Op. cit.* Weingart SN, Brown E, Bach PB, et al.: NCCN Task Force Report: Oral Chemotherapy.

³⁷⁷ Wong SF, Bounthavong M, Nguyen C, et al. Implementation and preliminary outcomes of a comprehensive oral chemotherapy management clinic. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2014 Jun 1;71(11):960-5. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24831001.

³⁷⁸ Segal EM, Flood MR, Mancini RS, et al. Oral chemotherapy food and drug interactions: a comprehensive review of the literature. J Oncol Pract. 2014 Jul;10(4):e255-68. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24756141.

³⁷⁹ Santana Martínez S, Marcos Rodríguez JA, Romero Carreño E. Oral chemotherapy: food-drug interactions. Farm Hosp. 2015 Jul 1;39(4):203-9. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26276738.

³⁸⁰ Arber A, Odelius A, Williams P, et al. Do patients on oral chemotherapy have sufficient knowledge for optimal adherence? A mixed methods study. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2015 Nov 25. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26603371.

³⁸¹ Ryan R, Santesso N, Lowe D, et al. Interventions to improve safe and effective medicines use by consumers: an overview of systematic reviews. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014 Apr 29;4:CD007768. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24777444.

³⁸² Bordonaro S, Romano F, Lanteri E, et al. Effect of a structured, active, home-based cancer-treatment program for the management of patients on oral chemotherapy. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2014 Jun 25;8:917-23. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4077854/.

³⁸³ McCue DA, Lohr LK, Pick AM. Improving adherence to oral cancer therapy in clinical practice. Pharmacotherapy. 2014 May;34(5):481-94. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24877187.

³⁸⁴ Winkeljohn D. Adherence to oral cancer therapies: nursing interventions. Clin J Oncol Nurs. 2010 Aug;14(4):461-6. Accessed 17 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20682501.

³⁸⁵ *Op. cit.* ACS: Oral Chemotherapy: What You Need To Know.

³⁸⁶ M.G.L. c.175 §47Z, c.176A §8AA, c.176B §4AA, c.176G §4S, c.32A §17I. See, for example, c.175 §47Z (c) No such policy shall impose any annual or lifetime dollar maximum on coverage for prosthetic devices other than an annual or lifetime dollar maximum that applies in the aggregate to all items and services covered under the policy. (d) No such policy shall apply amounts paid for prosthetic devices to any annual or lifetime dollar maximum applicable to other durable medical equipment covered under the policy other than an annual or lifetime dollar maximum that applies in the aggregate to all items and services covered under the policy. (e) Any such policy may include a reasonable coinsurance requirement for prosthetic devices and repairs, not to exceed 20 per cent of the allowable cost of the prosthetic device or repair, unless all covered benefits applying coinsurance under the plan do so at a higher amount. If such policy provides coverage for services from nonparticipating providers, the contract may include a reasonable coinsurance requirement for prosthetic devices and repairs, not to exceed 40 per cent of the allowable cost of the device or repair when obtained from a nonparticipating provider, unless all covered benefits applying coinsurance under the plan do so at a higher amount. (f) Any such policy may require prior authorization as a condition of coverage for prosthetic devices.

³⁸⁷ Amputee Coalition, National Limb Loss Resource Center. FAQs: Prosthetic Facts for the New Amputee. Updated May 2015; accessed 3 December 2015: http://www.amputee-coalition.org/resources/prosthetic-faqs-for-the-new-amputee/.

³⁸⁸ NLLIC and the Limb Loss Research and Statistics Program (LLR&SP). Limb Loss in the United States. Revised 2007; Accessed 7/5/2011: http://www.amputee-coalition.org/fact_sheets/limbloss_us.html.

³⁸⁹ Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, et al. Estimating the prevalence of limb loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2008 Mar;89(3):422-9. Accessed 3 December 2015: http://www.aleginfaithfoundation.org/uploads/1/0/8/1/10813982/estimatingprevalenceoflimblossus.pdf.

³⁹⁰ Amputee Coalition, Limb Loss Resource Center. Limb Loss Statistics. Accessed 3 December 2015: http://www.amputee-coalition.org/limb-loss-resource-center/resources-by-topic/limb-loss-statistics

³⁹¹ Op. cit. Amputee Coalition, Limb Loss Resource Center: Limb Loss Statistics.

³⁹² *Op. cit.* Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, et al.: Estimating the prevalence of limb loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050.

³⁹³ *Op. cit.* Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, et al.: Estimating the prevalence of limb loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050.

³⁹⁴ *Op. cit.* Amputee Coalition, Limb Loss Resource Center: Limb Loss Statistics.

³⁹⁵ Robbins JM, Strauss G, Aron D, et al. Mortality rates and diabetic foot ulcers: is it time to communicate mortality risk to patients with diabetic foot ulceration? J Am Podiatr Med Assoc. 2008 Nov-Dec;98(6):489-93. Accessed 3 December 2015:

http://www.researchgate.net/publication/23482085_Mortality_rates_and_diabetic_foot_ulcers_ls_it_time_to_communicate_mortality_risk_to_patients_with_diabetic_foot_ulceration.

³⁹⁶ Op. cit. Amputee Coalition, Limb Loss Resource Center: Limb Loss Statistics.

³⁹⁷ *Op. cit.* Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, et al. : Estimating the prevalence of limb loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050.

³⁹⁸ *Op. cit.* Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, et al. : Estimating the prevalence of limb loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050.

³⁹⁹ Milani J. Chapter 6: Prosthetics clinical issues in Traumatic Amputation and Prosthetics. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), Veterans Health Initiative, Washington DC. May 2002. Accessed 3 December 2015: http://www.publichealth.va.gov/docs/vhi/traumatic_amputation.pdf.

⁴⁰⁰ Flood KM, Saliman S. Chapter 4: Rehabilitation following amputation in Traumatic Amputation and Prosthetics. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), Veterans Health Initiative, Washington DC. May 2002. Accessed 4 December 2015: http://www.publichealth.va.gov/docs/vhi/traumatic_amputation.pdf.

⁴⁰¹ *Op. cit.* Milani J: Chapter 6: Prosthetics clinical issues in Traumatic Amputation and Prosthetics.

⁴⁰² *Op. cit.* Flood KM, Saliman S: Chapter 4: Rehabilitation following amputation in Traumatic Amputation and Prosthetics.

⁴⁰³ *Op. cit.* Milani J: Chapter 6: Prosthetics clinical issues in Traumatic Amputation and Prosthetics.

⁴⁰⁴ *Op. cit.* Flood KM, Saliman S: Chapter 4: Rehabilitation following amputation in Traumatic Amputation and Prosthetics.

⁴⁰⁵ *Op. cit.* Flood KM, Saliman S: Chapter 4: Rehabilitation following amputation in Traumatic Amputation and Prosthetics.

⁴⁰⁶ Flood KM, Saliman S. Chapter 5: Long-term care of the Amputee in Traumatic Amputation and Prosthetics. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), Veterans Health Initiative, Washington DC. May 2002. Accessed 4 December 2015: http://www.publichealth.va.gov/docs/vhi/traumatic_amputation.pdf.

⁴⁰⁷ War Related Illness and Injury Study Center (WRIISC). Deployment Health Conditions: Traumatic Amputations. Accessed 7/5/2011: http://www.warrelatedillness.va.gov/education/healthconditions/traumatic-amputations.asp.

⁴⁰⁸ Veterans Health Administration (VHA). Amputation System of Care, Traumatic Amputation, Long-Term Care Following Traumatic Amputation. Updated May 2015; accessed 4 December 2015:

http://www.prosthetics.va.gov/factsheet/ASoC_Traumatic_Amputation_Fact_Sheet_Full_Version_Sec_508_09_20 12.pdf.

⁴⁰⁹ Horgan O, MacLachlan M. Psychosocial adjustment to lower-limb amputation: a review. Disabil Rehabil. 2004 Jul 22-Aug 5;26(14-15):837-50. Accessed 7/5/2011: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15497913.

⁴¹⁰ *Op. cit.* Flood KM, Saliman S: Chapter 4: Rehabilitation following amputation in Traumatic Amputation and Prosthetics.

⁴¹¹ *Op. cit.* Milani J: Chapter 6: Prosthetics clinical issues in Traumatic Amputation and Prosthetics.

⁴¹² Saradjian A, Thompson AR, Datta D. The experience of men using an upper limb prosthesis following amputation: positive coping and minimizing feeling different. Disabil Rehabil. 2008;30(11):871-83. Accessed 4 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17852212.

⁴¹³ Lundberg M, Hagberg K, Bullington J. My prosthesis as a part of me: a qualitative analysis of living with an osseointegrated prosthetic limb. Prosthet Orthot Int. 2011 Jun;35(2):207-14. Accessed 4 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21697203.

⁴¹⁴ Murray CD. Being like everybody else: the personal meanings of being a prosthesis user. Disabil Rehabil. 2009;31(7):573-81. Accessed 4 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19034778.

⁴¹⁵ Pezzin LE, Dillingham TR, Mackenzie EJ, et al. Use and satisfaction with prosthetic limb devices and related services. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2004 May;85(5):723-9. Accessed 4 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15129395.

⁴¹⁶ *Op. cit.* Pezzin LE, Dillingham TR, Mackenzie EJ, et al.: Use and satisfaction with prosthetic limb devices and related services.

⁴¹⁷ *Op. cit.* Milani J.: Chapter 6: Prosthetics clinical issues in Traumatic Amputation and Prosthetics.

⁴¹⁸ *Op cit.* Veterans Health Administration (VHA): Amputation System of Care, Traumatic Amputation, Long-Term Care Following Traumatic Amputation.

⁴¹⁹ M.G.L. c.175 §47T, c.176A §8T, c.176B §4R, c.176G §4J, c.32A §17E.

⁴²⁰ American Cancer Society. Caring for the Patient With Cancer at Home: A Guide for Patients and Families. Last Medical Review and revision: 8 June 2015; accessed 14 September 2015:

http://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatmentsandsideeffects/physicalsideeffects/dealingwithsymptomsathome/caring-for-the-patient-with-cancer-at-home-intro.

⁴²¹ Münstedt K, Manthey N, Sachsse S, et al. Changes in self-concept and body image during alopecia induced cancer chemotherapy. Support Care Cancer. 1997 Mar;5(2):139-43. Accessed 14 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9069615.

⁴²² Wang J., Lu Z., Au J. Protection Against Chemotherapy-Induced Alopecia. Pharm Res. 2006 Nov;23(11):2505-14. Accessed 14 September 2015: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11095-006-9105-3.

⁴²³ McGarvey EL, Baum LD, Pinkerton RC, et al. Psychological sequelae and alopecia among women with cancer.
 Cancer Pract. 2001 Nov-Dec;9(6):283-9. Accessed 14 September 2015:
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11879330.

⁴²⁴ Varni JW, Katz ER, Colegrove R, et al. Perceived physical appearance and adjustment of children with newly diagnosed cancer: A path analytic model. J Behav Med. 1995 Jun;18(3):261-78. Accessed 14 September 2015: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF01857873.

⁴²⁵ Pickard-Holley S. The symptom experience of alopecia. Semin Oncol Nurs. 1995 Nov;11(4):235-8. Accessed 14 September 2015: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0749208105800038.

⁴²⁶ Nolte S, Donnelly J, Kelly S, et al. A randomized clinical trial of a videotape intervention for women with chemotherapy-induced alopecia: a gynecologic oncology group study. Oncol Nurs Forum. 2006 Nov 3;33(2):305-11. Accessed 14 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16518446.

⁴²⁷ Lemieux J, Maunsell E, Provencher L. Chemotherapy-induced alopecia and effects on quality of life among women with breast cancer: a literature review. Psycho-Oncology. 2008 Apr;17(4): 317–28. Accessed 14 September 2015: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/pon.1245/pdf.

⁴²⁸ Hesketh P, Batchelor D, Golant M, et al. Chemotherapy-induced alopecia: psychosocial impact and therapeutic approaches. Supportive Care in Cancer. 2004 Aug;12(8):543-9. Accessed 14 September 2015: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00520-003-0562-5.

⁴²⁹ *Op. cit.* Hesketh P, Batchelor D, Golant M, et al.: Chemotherapy-induced alopecia: psychosocial impact and therapeutic approaches.

⁴³⁰ Dmytriw AA, Morzycki W, Green PJ. Prevention of alopecia in medical and interventional chemotherapy patients. J Cutan Med Surg. 2015 Jan-Feb;19(1):11-6. Accessed 14 September 2015:

http://www.researchgate.net/publication/264935802_Prevention_of_Alopecia_in_Medical_and_Interventional_C hemotherapy_Patients.

⁴³¹ *Op. cit.* Münstedt K, Manthey N, Sachsse S, et al.: Changes in self-concept and body image during alopecia induced cancer chemotherapy. Support Care Cancer.

⁴³² *Op. cit.* Münstedt K, Manthey N, Sachsse S, et al.: Changes in self-concept and body image during alopecia induced cancer chemotherapy. Support Care Cancer.

⁴³³ Yarbro CH, Wujcik D, Gobel BH. Cancer Nursing: Principles and Practice. Jones & Bartlett Publishers. Published 2010; accessed 14 September 2015:

https://books.google.com/books?id=O2TwgneiqJwC&pg=PA486&lpg=PA486&dq=scalp+hair+prosthesis+for+chem otherapy+induced+alopecia&source=bl&ots=j7m0pnhcMs&sig=lf6mpl4IJJtNyuow5--

XsihfmgE&hl=en&sa=X&ved=0CDUQ6AEwA2oVChMI_I3I6P72xwIVAaseCh2gsA3K#v=onepage&q=scalp%20hair%20 prosthesis%20for%20chemotherapy%20induced%20alopecia&f=false.

⁴³⁴ M.G.L. c.175 §47X, c.176A §8Y, c.176B §4Y, c.176G §4N, c.32A §23.

⁴³⁵ Law J, Garrett Z, Nye C. Speech and language therapy interventions for children with primary speech and language delay or disorder. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2003; 3(CD004110). Accessed 15 September 2015: http://www.cochrane.org/CD004110/BEHAV_speech-and-language-therapy-interventions-for-children-with-primary-speech-and-language-delay-or-disorder.

⁴³⁶ Pennington L, Goldbart J, Marshall J. Direct Speech and Language Therapy for Children with Cerebral Palsy: Findings from a Systematic Review. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2005; 47(1), 57-63. Accessed 15 September 2015: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2005.tb01041.x/pdf.

⁴³⁷ Speyer R. Effects of Voice Therapy: A Systematic Review. J Voice. 2008 Sep; 22(5):565-580. Accessed 15 September 2015: http://www.jvoice.org/article/S0892-1997(06)00137-8/abstract.

⁴³⁸ Morris ME, Perry A, Bilney B, et al. Outcomes of Physical Therapy, Speech Pathology, and Occupational Therapy for People with Motor Neuron Disease: A Systematic Review. Neurorehabili Neural Repair. 2006 Sep; 20(3):424-434. Accessed 15 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16885429.

⁴³⁹ *Op cit.* Law J, Garrett Z, Nye C.: Speech and language therapy interventions for children with primary speech and language delay or disorder.

⁴⁴⁰ Pennington L, Goldbart J, Marshall J. Speech and language therapy for children with cerebral palsy might improve their communication skills, but more research is needed. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2004; 2(CD003466). Accessed 15 September 2015: http://www.cochrane.org/CD003466/MOVEMENT_speech-andlanguage-therapy-for-children-with-cerebral-palsy-might-improve-their-communication-skills-but-more-researchis-needed.

⁴⁴¹ Bilney B, Morris ME, Perry A. Effectiveness of physiotherapy, occupational therapy, and speech pathology for people with Huntington's disease: a systematic review. Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 2003 Mar; 17(1):12-24. Accessed 15 September 2015: http://nnr.sagepub.com/content/17/1/12.abstract.

⁴⁴² Herd CP, Tomlinson CL, Deane KH, et al. Speech and language therapy for speech problems in Parkinson's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012 Aug 15;8:CD002812. Accessed 15 September 2015: http://www.cochrane.org/CD002812/MOVEMENT_speech-and-language-therapy-for-speech-problems-in-parkinsons-disease.

⁴⁴³ Brady MC, Kelly H, Godwin J, et al. Speech and language therapy for language problems after a stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012 May 16;5:CD000425. Accessed 15 September 2015: http://www.cochrane.org/CD000425/STROKE_speech-and-language-therapy-for-aphasia-following-stroke. ⁴⁴⁴ Roulstone SE, Marshall JE, Powell GG, et al. (Editors). Evidence-based intervention for preschool children with primary speech and language impairments: Child Talk – an exploratory mixed-methods study. Southampton (UK): NIHR Journals Library; 2015 Aug. Accessed 15 September 2015:

http://www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/151123/ScientificSummary-pgfar03050.pdf.

⁴⁴⁵ Law J, Roulstone S, Lindsay G. Integrating external evidence of intervention effectiveness with both practice and the parent perspective: development of 'What Works' for speech, language, and communication needs. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2015 Mar;57(3):223-8. Accessed 15 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25387610.

⁴⁴⁶ *Op. cit.,* Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. The Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight : Information on Essential Health Benefits (EHB) Benchmark Plans.

⁴⁴⁷ M.G.L. c.175 §47E, c.176B §4G; also c.176B §7.

⁴⁴⁸ American College of Nurse Midwives (ACNM). Education and Careers: Become a Nurse Midwife. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.midwife.org/Become-a-Midwife.

⁴⁴⁹ U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2014-15 Edition: Nurse Anesthetists, Nurse Midwives, and Nurse Practitioners. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/nurse-anesthetists-nurse-midwives-and-nurse-practitioners.htm.

⁴⁵⁰ ACNM: Legal Recognition. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.midwife.org/Legal-Recognition.

⁴⁵¹ ACNM: Essential Facts About Midwives. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.midwife.org/Essential-Factsabout-Midwives.

⁴⁵² U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2010-11 Edition: Registered Nurses. Accessed 25 August 2016: http://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/registered-nurses.htm.

⁴⁵³ MA 244 CMR 4.02: Advanced Practice Registered Nursing Definitions. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/regs/244cmr004.pdf.

⁴⁵⁴ Massachusetts Action Coalition (MAC). The Advanced Practice Nurse in Massachusetts. Published November 2014; accessed 8 December 2015: http://www.mass.edu/nahi/documents/REPORT-APRN%20in%20MA-111814-FINAL.pdf.

⁴⁵⁵Op. cit. ACNM: Essential Facts About Midwives.

⁴⁵⁶ APRN Consensus Work Group & the National Council of State Boards of Nursing APRN Advisory Committee.
 Consensus Model for APRN Regulation: Licensure, Accreditation, Certification & Education. July 7, 2008. Accessed
 11 December 2015: http://www.aacn.nche.edu/Education/pdf/APRNReport.pdf.

⁴⁵⁷ ACNM: Essential Facts About Midwives. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.midwife.org/Essential-Facts-about-Midwives.

⁴⁵⁸ *Op. cit.* MAC: The Advanced Practice Nurse in Massachusetts.

⁴⁵⁹ ACNM, Massachusetts Affiliate. About Midwives. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://massachusetts.midwife.org/index.asp?sid=10.

⁴⁶⁰ *Op. cit.* ACNM: Essential Facts About Midwives.

⁴⁶¹ ACNM: FAQs for Prospective Midwifery Students. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.midwife.org/FAQs-for-Prospective-Students.

⁴⁶² APRN Consensus Work Group & the National Council of State Boards of Nursing APRN Advisory Committee. Consensus Model for APRN Regulation: Licensure, Accreditation, Certification & Education. 7 July 2008. Accessed 8 December 2015: https://www.ncsbn.org/FINAL_Consensus_Report_070708_w._Ends_013009.pdf. ⁴⁶³*Op. cit.* APRN Consensus Work Group & the National Council of State Boards of Nursing APRN Advisory Committee: Consensus Model for APRN Regulation: Licensure, Accreditation, Certification & Education.

⁴⁶⁴ Johantgen M, Fountain L, Zangaro G, et al. Comparison of labor and delivery care provided by certified nursemidwives and physicians: a systematic review, 1990 to 2008. Womens Health Issues. 2012 Jan-Feb;22(1):e73-81. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21865056.

⁴⁶⁵ MacDorman MF, Singh GK. Midwifery care, social and medical risk factors, and birth outcomes in the USA. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1998 May;52(5):310-7. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1756707/.

⁴⁶⁶ Blanchette H. Comparison of obstetric outcome of a primary-care access clinic staffed by certified nursemidwives and a private practice group of obstetricians in the same community. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1995 Jun;172(6):1864-8. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7778645.

⁴⁶⁷ Cox KJ, Schlegel R, Payne P, et al. Outcomes of planned home births attended by certified nurse-midwives in southeastern Pennsylvania, 1983-2008. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2013 Mar-Apr;58(2):145-9. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23437812.

⁴⁶⁸ Cheyney M, Bovbjerg M, Everson C, et al. Outcomes of care for 16,924 planned home births in the United States: the Midwives Alliance of North America Statistics Project, 2004 to 2009. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2014 Jan-Feb;59(1):17-27. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24479690.

⁴⁶⁹ Browne M, Jacobs M, Lahiff M, et al. Perineal injury in nulliparous women giving birth at a community hospital: reduced risk in births attended by certified nurse-midwives. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2010 May-Jun;55(3):243-9. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20434084.

⁴⁷⁰ American College of Nurse-Midwives (ACNM) and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG). Joint Statement of Practice Relations Between Obstetrician-Gynecologists and Certified Nurse-Midwives/Certified Midwives. Approved February 2011, reaffirmed July 2014; accessed 4 January 2015: https://www.acog.org/-/media/Statements-of-Policy/Public/sop1102.pdf?dmc=1&ts=20160104T1124431166.

⁴⁷¹ M.G.L. c.175 §47Q, c.176A §8S, c.176B §4T, c.176G §4.

 ⁴⁷² U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2014-15 Edition: Nurse Anesthetists, Nurse Midwives, and Nurse Practitioners. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/nurse-anesthetists-nurse-midwives-and-nurse-practitioners.htm.

⁴⁷³ American Association of Nurse Anesthetists (AANA). Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists (CRNAs) Fact Sheet. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://www.aana.com/ceandeducation/becomeacrna/Pages/Nurse-Anesthetists-ata-Glance.aspx.

⁴⁷⁴ Massachusetts Action Coalition (MAC). The Advanced Practice Nurse in Massachusetts. Published November 2014; accessed 8 December 2015: http://www.mass.edu/nahi/documents/REPORT-APRN%20in%20MA-111814-FINAL.pdf.

⁴⁷⁵ Op. cit. AANA: CRNAs Fact Sheet.

⁴⁷⁶ Op. cit. AANA: CRNAs Fact Sheet.

⁴⁷⁷ Op. cit. AANA: CRNAs Fact Sheet.

⁴⁷⁸ Massachusetts Executive Office of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health, Division of Health Professions Licensure, Board of Registration in Nursing, Advanced Practice Registered Nursing (MA-APRN). Advanced Practice Registered Nursing Frequently Asked Questions. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/hcq/dhpl/nursing/nursing-practice/aprn/advancedpractice-registered-nursing-faqs.html. ⁴⁷⁹ American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA). CMS Supervision Rules for Nurse Anesthetists. Accessed 10 December 2015: https://www.asahq.org/advocacy/federal-activities/items-of-interest/cms-supervision-rules-fornurse-anesthetists.

⁴⁸⁰ Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). State Operations Manual, Appendix L - Guidance for Surveyors: Ambulatory, Surgical Centers (Rev. 137, 04-01-15). §416.42 Condition for Coverage: Surgical Services. Accessed 10 December 2015: https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/downloads/som107ap_l_ambulatory.pdf.

⁴⁸¹ AANA: Federal Supervision Rule/Opt-Out Information. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://www.aana.com/advocacy/stategovernmentaffairs/Pages/Federal-Supervision-Rule-Opt-Out-Information.aspx.

⁴⁸² AANA: Fact Sheet Concerning State Opt-Outs and November 13, 2001 CMS Rule. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://www.aana.com/advocacy/stategovernmentaffairs/Pages/Fact-Sheet-Concerning-State-Opt-Outs.aspx.

⁴⁸³ Op. cit. AANA: Fact Sheet Concerning State Opt-Outs and November 13, 2001 CMS Rule.

⁴⁸⁴ APRN Consensus Work Group & the National Council of State Boards of Nursing APRN Advisory Committee. Consensus Model for APRN Regulation: Licensure, Accreditation, Certification & Education. Published 7 July 2008; accessed 8 December 2015: https://www.ncsbn.org/FINAL_Consensus_Report_070708_w._Ends_013009.pdf.

⁴⁸⁵*Op. cit.* APRN Consensus Work Group & the National Council of State Boards of Nursing APRN Advisory Committee: Consensus Model for APRN Regulation: Licensure, Accreditation, Certification & Education.

⁴⁸⁶ MA 244 CMR 4.02: Advanced Practice Registered Nursing Definitions. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/regs/244cmr004.pdf.

⁴⁸⁷ Massachusetts Executive Office of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health, Division of Health Professions Licensure, Board of Registration in Nursing, Advanced Practice Registered Nursing (MA-APRN). Practice & Prescriptive Guidelines/Prescriptive Authority. Accessed 8 December 2015:

http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/hcq/dhpl/nursing/nursing-practice/aprn/practice-and-prescriptive-guidelinesauthority.html.

⁴⁸⁸ *Op. cit.* MAC: The Advanced Practice Nurse in Massachusetts.

⁴⁸⁹ MA 244 CMR 4.07: APRN Eligible to Engage in Prescriptive Practice. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/regs/244cmr004.pdf.

⁴⁹⁰ *Op. cit.* MAC: The Advanced Practice Nurse in Massachusetts.

⁴⁹¹ Dulisse B, Cromwell J. No Harm Found When Nurse Anesthetists Work Without Supervision By Physicians.
 Health Aff (Millwood). 2010 Aug;29(8):1469-75. Accessed 10 December 2015:
 http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/29/8/1469.full.

⁴⁹² Simonson DC, Ahern MM, Hendryx MS. Anesthesia staffing and anesthetic complications during cesarean delivery: a retrospective analysis. Nurs Res. 2007 Jan-Feb;56(1):9-17. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17179869.

 ⁴⁹³ Needleman J, Minnick AF. Anesthesia provider model, hospital resources, and maternal outcomes. Health Serv Res. 2009 Apr;44(2 Pt 1):464-82. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2677049/.

⁴⁹⁴ Lewis SR, Nicholson A, Smith AF, et al. Physician anaesthetists versus non-physician providers of anaesthesia for surgical patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014 Jul 11;7:CD010357. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD010357.pub2/abstract.

⁴⁹⁵ M.G.L. c.175 §47Q, c.176A §8S, c.176B §4T, c.176G §4. See also c.176R.

⁴⁹⁶ M.G.L. c.175 §47Q, c.176A §8S, c.176B §4T, c.176G §4. See also c.176R.

⁴⁹⁷ American Academy of Nurse Practitioners (AANP). Scope of practice for Nurse Practitioners. Updated 2013; accessed 8 December 2015: https://www.aanp.org/images/documents/publications/scopeofpractice.pdf.

⁴⁹⁸ *Op cit.* AANP: Scope of practice for Nurse Practitioners.

⁴⁹⁹ AANP: Nurse Practitioners, Infographic. Published September 2015; accessed 8 December 2015: https://www.aanp.org/images/about-nps/npgraphic.pdf.

⁵⁰⁰ Massachusetts Action Coalition (MAC). The Advanced Practice Nurse in Massachusetts. Published November 2014; accessed 8 December 2015: http://www.mass.edu/nahi/documents/REPORT-APRN%20in%20MA-111814-FINAL.pdf.

⁵⁰¹ *Op. cit.* AANP: Nurse Practitioners, Infographic.

⁵⁰² Massachusetts Executive Office of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health, Division of Health Professions Licensure, Board of Registration in Nursing, Advanced Practice Registered Nursing (MA-APRN). Advanced Practice Registered Nursing Frequently Asked Questions. Accessed 10 December 2015: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/hcq/dhpl/nursing/nursing-practice/aprn/advancedpractice-registered-nursing-faqs.html.

⁵⁰³ *Op. cit.* AANP Scope of practice for Nurse Practitioners.

⁵⁰⁴ AANP: All About NPs, What's an NP? Accessed 8 December 2015: https://www.aanp.org/all-about-nps/what-isan-np.

⁵⁰⁵ *Op. cit.* AANP: Nurse Practitioners, Infographic.

⁵⁰⁶ U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2014-15 Edition: Nurse Anesthetists, Nurse Midwives, and Nurse Practitioners. Accessed 8 December 2015: http://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/nurse-anesthetists-nurse-midwives-and-nurse-practitioners.htm.

⁵⁰⁷ AANP: 2015 Nurse Practitioner State Practice Environment. Accessed 8 December 2015: https://www.aanp.org/images/documents/state-leg-reg/stateregulatorymap.pdf.

⁵⁰⁸ APRN Consensus Work Group & the National Council of State Boards of Nursing APRN Advisory Committee. Consensus Model for APRN Regulation: Licensure, Accreditation, Certification & Education. Published 7 July 2008; accessed 8 December 2015: https://www.ncsbn.org/FINAL_Consensus_Report_070708_w._Ends_013009.pdf.

⁵⁰⁹*Op. cit.* APRN Consensus Work Group & the National Council of State Boards of Nursing APRN Advisory Committee: Consensus Model for APRN Regulation: Licensure, Accreditation, Certification & Education.

⁵¹⁰ Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF). Nurse Practitioner Scope of Practice Laws. Updated 10 April 2015; accessed 8 December 2015: http://kff.org/other/state-indicator/total-nurse-practitioners/.

⁵¹¹ MA-APRN. Practice & Prescriptive Guidelines/Prescriptive Authority. Accessed 8 December 2015: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/hcq/dhpl/nursing/nursing-practice/aprn/practiceand-prescriptive-guidelinesauthority.html.

⁵¹² *Op. cit.* MAC: The Advanced Practice Nurse in Massachusetts.

⁵¹³ *Op. cit.* AANP: Nurse Practitioners, Infographic.

⁵¹⁴ *Op. cit.* MAC: The Advanced Practice Nurse in Massachusetts.

⁵¹⁵ Stanik-Hutt J, Newhouse RP, White KM, et al. The Quality and Effectiveness of Care Provided by Nurse Practitioners. J Nurse Pract. 2013 Sep;9(8):492-500. Accessed 8 December 2015: http://www.npjournal.org/article/S1555-4155(13)00410-8/fulltext.

⁵¹⁶ Swan M, Ferguson S, Chang A, et al. Quality of primary care by advanced practice nurses: a systematic review. Int J Qual Health Care. 2015 Oct;27(5):396-404. Accessed 8 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26239474. ⁵¹⁷ Health Quality Ontario. Specialized nursing practice for chronic disease management in the primary care setting: an evidence-based analysis. Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2013 Sep 1;13(10):1-66. Accessed 8 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3814805/.

⁵¹⁸ M.G.L. c.176S.

⁵¹⁹ American Academy of Physician Assistants (AAPA). What is a PA? Accessed 2 May 2016: https://www.aapa.org/what-is-a-pa/.

⁵²⁰ AAPA: What can a PA do for me? Accessed 2 May 2016: https://www.aapa.org/what-is-a-pa/.

⁵²¹ AAPA: How are PAs educated and trained? Accessed 2 May 2016: https://www.aapa.org/what-is-a-pa/.

⁵²² Op. cit. AAPA: How are PAs educated and trained?

⁵²³ Op. cit. AAPA: How are PAs educated and trained?

⁵²⁴ Massachusetts Executive Office of Health and Human Services (MA-EOHHS). Physician Assistants. Accessed 2 May 2016: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/hcq/dhpl/physician-assistants/.

⁵²⁵ AAPA: How are PAs certified and licensed? Accessed 2 May 2016: https://www.aapa.org/what-is-a-pa/.

⁵²⁶ MA-EOHHS: Physician Assistants, Licensing and Registration, Licensure Information. Accessed 2 May 2016: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/hcq/dhpl/physician-assistants/licensing/licensureinformation.html.

⁵²⁷ MA-EOHHS: Department of Public Health, Division of Health Professions Licensure. Accessed 2 May 2016: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/hcq/dhpl/.

⁵²⁸ AAPA: Statutory and Regulatory Requirements for Initial Licensure and License Renewal. Accessed 2 May 2016: https://www.aapa.org/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=599.

⁵²⁹ Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Total Number of Physician Assistants, by Gender, Timeframe: April 2016. Accessed 2 May 2016: http://kff.org/other/state-indicator/total-physician-assistants/.

⁵³⁰ MA-EOHHS: Physician Assistants, Scope of Practice, Supervising Physician. Accessed 2 May 2016: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/hcq/dhpl/physician-assistants/scope-ofpractice/supervising-physician.html.

⁵³¹ MA-EOHHS: Physician Assistants, Scope of Practice, Frequently Asked Questions. Accessed 2 May 2016: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/hcq/dhpl/physician-assistants/scope-ofpractice/frequently-asked-questions.html.

Section 112 of Chapter 224 of the Acts of 2012 amends M.G. L. Chapter 94 C, Section 7 (g) and M.G.L. Chapter 112, Section 9E to remove the requirement that any prescription of medication made by a physician assistant must include the name of the supervising physician.

263 CMR 5.07: PAs must have written prescription guidelines that are mutually developed and agreed to by the supervising physician and PA. Guidelines must to be reviewed annually and signed by both the PA and the supervising physician. See Prescription Practice" under "Scope of Practice". See 263 CMR 5.07.

⁵³² Op. cit. MA-EOHHS: Physician Assistants, Scope of Practice, Frequently Asked Questions.

263 CMR 5.04 (4): specific written protocols for the PA's performance of major invasive procedures. The protocols, developed between a supervising physician and PA, must specify the level of supervision the service requires. See 263 CMR 5.04(4).

⁵³³ Dies N, Rashid S, Shandling M, et al. Physician assistants reduce resident workload and improve care in an academic surgical setting. JAAPA. 2016 Feb;29(2):41-6. Accessed 2 May 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26818645.

⁵³⁴ Doan Q, Sabhaney V, Kissoon N, et al. A systematic review: The role and impact of the physician assistant in the emergency department. Emerg Med Australas. 2011 Feb;23(1):7-15. Accessed 3 May 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21284809.

⁵³⁵ Costa DK, Wallace DJ, Barnato AE, et al. Nurse practitioner/physician assistant staffing and critical care mortality. Chest. 2014 Dec;146(6):1566-73. Accessed 3 May 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4251618/.

⁵³⁶ Carzoli RP, Martinez-Cruz M, Cuevas LL, et al. Comparison of neonatal nurse practitioners, physician assistants, and residents in the neonatal intensive care unit. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 1994 Dec;148(12):1271-6. Accessed 3 May 2016: http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=517388.

⁵³⁷ Glotzbecker BE, Yolin-Raley DS, DeAngelo DJ, et al. Impact of physician assistants on the outcomes of patients with acute myelogenous leukemia receiving chemotherapy in an academic medical center. J Oncol Pract. 2013 Sep;9(5):e228-33. Accessed 3 May 2016: http://jop.ascopubs.org/content/9/5/e228.abstract.

⁵³⁸ Kleinpell RM, Ely EW, Grabenkort R. Nurse practitioners and physician assistants in the intensive care unit: an evidence-based review. Crit Care Med. 2008 Oct;36(10):2888-97. Accessed 3 May 2016: http://journals.lww.com/ccmjournal/Abstract/2008/10000/Nurse_practitioners_and_physician_assistants_in.25.a spx.

⁵³⁹ Hooker RS, McCaig LF. Use of physician assistants and nurse practitioners in primary care, 1995-1999. Health Aff (Millwood). 2001 Jul-Aug;20(4):231-8. Accessed 3 May 2016: http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/20/4/231.full.

⁵⁴⁰ M. G.L. c. 176S: Consumer Choice of Physician Assistant Services. Accessed 2 May 2016: https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleXXII/Chapter176S/Section2.

⁵⁴¹ Op. cit. M. G.L. c. 176S.

⁵⁴² M.G.L. c.175 §108D, c.176B §7 see also "chiropractic services" (c.176B §4L).

⁵⁴³ American Chiropractic Association (ACA). What is Chiropractic? Accessed 23 November 2015: http://www.acatoday.org/Patients/Why-Choose-Chiropractic/What-is-Chiropractic.

⁵⁴⁴ National Institutes of Health, National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health (NCCIH). Chiropractic:
 In Depth. Modified 14 October 2015; accessed 17 November 2015:
 https://nccih.nih.gov/health/chiropractic/introduction.htm.

⁵⁴⁵ ACA: Education Requirements. Accessed 24 November 2015: http://www.acatoday.org/Education-Events/How-do-I-obtain-CE-Credit.

⁵⁴⁶ State of Massachusetts, Office of Consumer Affairs and Business Regulation, Division of Professional Licensure, Massachusetts Board of Registration of Chiropractors (MA-DPL-BRC). 233 CMR 2.00: Definitions and Individual Registration Requirements. Accessed 24 November 2015: http://www.mass.gov/ocabr/licensee/dplboards/ch/regulations/rules-and-regs/233-cmr-200.html.

⁵⁴⁷ MA-DPL-BRC: 233 CMR 3.00: Continuing Education Requirements. Accessed 24 November 2015: http://www.mass.gov/ocabr/licensee/dpl-boards/ch/regulations/rules-and-regs/233-cmr-300.html.

⁵⁴⁸ Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). 70.6 – Chiropractors (Rev. 1, 03-06-09). Medicare General Information, Eligibility, and Entitlement: Chapter 5 - Definitions. Accessed 24 November 2015: https://www.cms.gov/manuals/downloads/ge101c05.pdf.

⁵⁴⁹ CMS Medicare Learning Network. Provider-Supplier Enrollment Fact Sheet Series: Medicare Enrollment Guidelines for Ordering/Referring Providers. ICN 906223 June 2014. Accessed 24 November 2015: http://www.cms.gov/MLNProducts/downloads/MedEnroll_OrderReferProv_FactSheet_ICN906223.pdf. ⁵⁵⁰ CMS Medicare Learning Network. Misinformation on Chiropractic Services. ICN 006953 March 2015. Accessed
 24 November 2015: https://www.cms.gov/Outreach-and-Education/Medicare-Learning-Network-MLN/MLNProducts/downloads/Chiropractors_fact_sheet.pdf.

⁵⁵¹ Assendelft WJ, Morton SC, Yu EI, et al. Spinal manipulative therapy for low back pain. A meta-analysis of effectiveness relative to other therapies. Ann Intern Med. 2003; 138:871-81. Accessed 17 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12779297.

⁵⁵² Carey TS, Garrett J, Jackman A, et al. The outcomes and costs of care for acute low back pain among patients seen by primary care practitioners, chiropractors, and orthopedic surgeons. The North Carolina Back Pain Project. N Engl J Med. 1995; 333:913-7. Accessed 24 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7666878.

⁵⁵³ Op. cit. Carey TS, Garrett J, Jackman A, et al.: The outcomes and costs of care for acute low back pain among patients seen by primary care practitioners, chiropractors, and orthopedic surgeons. The North Carolina Back Pain Project.

⁵⁵⁴ Dagenais S, Brady O, Haldeman S, et al. A systematic review comparing the costs of chiropractic care to other interventions for spine pain in the United States. BMC Health Serv Res. 2015 Oct 19;15(1):474. Accessed 24 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26482271.

⁵⁵⁵ M.G.L. c.175 §108B.

⁵⁵⁶ American Dental Association (ADA). Dentists: Doctors of Oral Health. Accessed 14 October 2015: http://www.ada.org/en/about-the-ada/dentists-doctors-of-oral-health.

⁵⁵⁷ Op. cit. ADA: Dentists: Doctors of Oral Health.

⁵⁵⁸ ADA: State Licensure for US Dentists. Accessed 14 October 2015: http://www.ada.org/en/educationcareers/licensure/state-dental-licensure-for-us-dentists.

⁵⁵⁹ ADA: National Board Dental Examinations. Accessed 14 October 2015: http://www.ada.org/en/education-careers/national-board-dental-examinations/.

⁵⁶⁰ Joint Commission on National Dental Examinations (JCNDE). National Board Dental Examination Part I, 2015 Guide. Accessed 14 October 2015: http://www.ada.org/~/media/JCNDE/pdfs/nbde01_examinee_guide.ashx.

⁵⁶¹ JCNDE: National Board Dental Examination Part II, 2015 Guide. Accessed 14 October 2015: http://www.ada.org/~/media/JCNDE/pdfs/nbde02_examinee_guide.ashx.

⁵⁶² Op. cit. ADA: National Board Dental Examinations.

⁵⁶³ Commission on Dental Competency Assessments (CDCA): CDCA Member States. Accessed 14 October 2015: http://www.cdcaexams.org/cdca-member-jurisdictions/.

⁵⁶⁴ Massachusetts Department of Health and Human Services, Department of Public Health, Division of Health Professions Licensure, Board of Registration in Dentistry. Licensing: Frequently Asked Questions, Initial Licensure. Accessed 14 October 2015:

http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/hcq/dhpl/dentist/licensing/frequently-asked-questions.html#initial_licensure.

⁵⁶⁵ ADA: Specialty Definitions. Accessed 14 October 2015: http://www.ada.org/en/education-careers/careers-in-dentistry/dental-specialties/specialty-definitions.

⁵⁶⁶ Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). 70.2 – Dentists (Rev. 1, 09-11-02). Medicare General Information, Eligibility, and Entitlement: Chapter 5 – Definitions. Accessed 14 October 2015: https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/downloads/ge101c05.pdf.

⁵⁶⁷ *Op. cit.* CMS: 70.2 – Dentists.

⁵⁶⁸ U.S. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). Medicare Dental Coverage. Accessed 6 January 2016: https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Coverage/MedicareDentalCoverage/index.html?redirect=/MedicareDentalcovera ge/.

⁵⁶⁹ Harper M. Coding when dental procedures fall under medical guidelines. Accessed 6 January 2016: http://www.dentistryiq.com/articles/2009/09/coding-when-dental.html.

⁵⁷⁰ M.G.L. c.175 §108(8)(D), c.175 §110(F).

⁵⁷¹ American Optometric Association (AOA): What is a Doctor of Optometry? Accessed 14 October 2015: http://www.aoa.org/about-the-aoa/what-is-a-doctor-of-optometry?sso=y.

⁵⁷² Op. cit. AOA: What is a Doctor of Optometry?

⁵⁷³ National Board of Examiners in Optometry (NBEO): Exam Descriptions. Accessed 15 October 2015: https://www.optometry.org/exam_descriptions.cfm.

⁵⁷⁴ NBEO: State Requirements. Accessed 15 October 2015: https://www.optometry.org/exam_descriptions.cfm.

⁵⁷⁵ Massachusetts Board of Registration in Optometry (MBRO): DPA and TPA Certification Information. Accessed 15 October 2015: http://www.mass.gov/ocabr/docs/dpl/boards/op/dpa-and-tpacert.pdf.

⁵⁷⁶ MBRO: Optometry Renewal Instructions. Accessed 15 October 2015: http://www.mass.gov/ocabr/licensee/dpl-boards/op/forms/optometry-renewal-instructions.html.

⁵⁷⁷ M.G.L. Title XVI, Chapter 112, Section 69. Public Health, Registration of Certain Professions and Occupations, Annual license fees; revocation of certificate; renewal of registration, educational requirement. Accessed 15 October 2015: https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleXVI/Chapter112/Section69.

⁵⁷⁸ Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). 70.5 – Optometrists (Rev. 1, 09-11-02). Medicare General Information, Eligibility, and Entitlement: Chapter 5 – Definitions. Accessed 14 October 2015: https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/downloads/ge101c05.pdf.

⁵⁷⁹ CMS, Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight: Information on Essential Health Benefits (EHB) Benchmark Plans. Accessed 14 October 2015: https://www.cms.gov/cciio/resources/data-resources/ehb.html.

⁵⁸⁰ CMS: Massachusetts EHB Benchmark Plan. Accessed 14 October 2015: https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Data-Resources/Downloads/Updated-Massachusetts-Benchmark-Summary.pdf. Only one eye exam was covered every two years and eyeglasses were not covered under this plan.

⁵⁸¹ CMS: Massachusetts 2017 EHB Benchmark Plan. Downloaded 14 October 2015: https://www.cms.gov/cciio/resources/data-resources/ehb.html.

⁵⁸² *Op. cit.* CMS, Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight: Information on Essential Health Benefits (EHB) Benchmark Plans, State-Required Benefits.

For purposes of determining EHB, state-required benefits (or mandates) are considered to include only requirements that a health plan cover specific care, treatment, or services. Provider mandates, which require a health plan to reimburse specific health care professionals who render a covered service within their scope of practice, are not considered to be state-required benefits for purposes of EHB coverage.

⁵⁸³ *Op. cit.* CMS, Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight: Information on Essential Health Benefits (EHB) Benchmark Plans, Excluded Benefits.

⁵⁸⁴ M.G.L. c.175 §110(I), c.176G §1 (See "nondiscriminatory").

⁵⁸⁵ APMA: Podiatric Medicine: Expertise in Foot and Ankle Care. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.apma.org/PMResources/Brief.cfm?ItemNumber=8163.

⁵⁸⁶ American Podiatric Medicine Association (APMA). About APMA. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.apma.org/workingforyou/content.cfm?ItemNumber=1207&navItemNumber=625. ⁵⁸⁷ American Association of Colleges of Podiatric Medicine. Admission Requirements. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.aacpm.org/colleges/.

⁵⁸⁸ Massachusetts General Laws (M.G.L.) Title XVI Chapter 112 Section 16: Registration of podiatrists; application; fees; examinations and reexaminations; certificate; registration without examination; participation in medical assistance program; revocation; approval of schools. Accessed 9 September 2015: https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleXVI/Chapter112/Section16.

⁵⁸⁹ APMA: Resources for Policymakers. Accessed 9 September 2015: https://www.apma.org/policymakers.cfm?ltemNumber=1598&navItemNumber=720.

⁵⁹⁰ M.G.L. Title XVI Chapter 112 Section 17: Examinations. Accessed 9 September 2015: https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleXVI/Chapter112/Section17.

⁵⁹¹ Op. cit. M.G.L. Title XVI Chapter 112 Section 16.

⁵⁹² APMA: Podiatric Medicine: A Primer for Policymakers. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.apma.org/files/FileDownloads/Podiatric%20Medicine-A%20Primer%20for%20Policymakers.June2014.pdf.

⁵⁹³ Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services. 70.3 - Doctors of Podiatric Medicine (Rev. 1, 09-11-02). Medicare General Information, Eligibility, and Entitlement: Chapter 5 - Definitions. Accessed 7/9/2011: https://www.cms.gov/manuals/downloads/ge101c05.pdf.

⁵⁹⁴ Medicare Learning Network. Provider-Supplier Enrollment Fact Sheet Series: Medicare Enrollment Guidelines for Ordering/Referring Providers. Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Accessed 7/9/2011: http://www.cms.gov/MLNProducts/downloads/MedEnroll_OrderReferProv_FactSheet_ICN906223.pdf.

⁵⁹⁵ *Op cit.* Medicare Learning Network: Provider-Supplier Enrollment Fact Sheet Series: Medicare Enrollment Guidelines for Ordering/Referring Providers.

⁵⁹⁶ Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health Rapid Response Reports. Delivery of Podiatry Care for Adults with Diabetes or Chronic Foot Conditions: A Review of the Clinical Effectiveness. 2013 Nov. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK195162/.

⁵⁹⁷ Armstrong DG, Bharara M, White M, et al. The impact and outcomes of establishing an integrated interdisciplinary surgical team to care for the diabetic foot. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2012 Sep;28(6):514–518. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22431496.

⁵⁹⁸ Driver VR, Goodman RA, Fabbi M, et al. The impact of a podiatric lead limb preservation team on disease outcomes and risk prediction in the diabetic lower extremity: a retrospective cohort study. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc. 2010 Jul;100(4):235–241. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 20660873.

⁵⁹⁹ van Netten JJ, Price PE, Lavery LA, et al. Prevention of foot ulcers in the at-risk patient with diabetes: a systematic review. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2015 Sep 5. Accessed 9 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26340966.

⁶⁰⁰ Bonanno DR, Medica VG, Tan DS, et al. Evaluating the outcomes of a podiatry-led assessment service in a public hospital orthopaedic unit. J Foot Ankle Res. 2014 Nov 18;7(1):45. Accessed 5 January 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4240809/.

⁶⁰¹ Walsh TP, Pilkington DC, Wong EJ, et al. Orthopaedic triaging by podiatrists: a prospective study of patient satisfaction and service efficiency. Aust Health Rev. 2014 Sep;38(4):406-11. Accessed 5 January 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24871204.

⁶⁰² M.G.L. c.175 §47R, c.176A §80, c.176B §40, c.176G §4F, c.32A §17D.

⁶⁰³ Tallman MS, Gray R, Robert NJ, et al. Conventional adjuvant chemotherapy with or without high-dose chemotherapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation in high-risk breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003 Jul 3;349(1):17-26. Accessed 5 October 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12840088?dopt=Abstract.

⁶⁰⁴ Rodenhuis S, Bontenbal M, Beex LV, et al. High-dose chemotherapy with hematopoietic stem-cell rescue for high-risk breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003 Jul 3;349(1):7-16. Accessed 6/13/2011: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12840087?dopt=Abstract.

⁶⁰⁵ Berry DA, Ueno NT, Johnson MM, et al. High-dose chemotherapy with autologous hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation in metastatic breast cancer: overview of six randomized trials. J Clin Oncol. 2011 Aug 20;29(24):3224-31. Accessed 5 October 2015: http://jco.ascopubs.org/content/29/24/3224.full.pdf.

⁶⁰⁶ U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO). Health insurance: coverage of autologous bone marrow transplantation for breast cancer. April 1996; GAO/HEHS-96-83. Accessed 5 October 2015: http://www.gao.gov/assets/230/222688.pdf.

⁶⁰⁷ Rodenhuis S, Bontenbal M, Beex LVAM, et al. High-dose chemotherapy with hematapoietic stem-cell rescue for high-risk breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 349:7-16, 2003. Accessed 6 October 2015: http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa022794.

⁶⁰⁸ Peters WP, Rosner G, Vredenburgh J, et al. Prospective, randomized comparison of high-dose chemotherapy with stem-cell support versus intermediate-dose chemotherapy after surgery and adjuvant chemotherapy in women with high-risk primary breast cancer: a report of CALGB 9082, SWOG 9114, and NCIC MA-13. J Clin Oncol. 23(10):2191-200, 2005. Accessed 6 October 2015: http://jco.ascopubs.org/content/23/10/2191.abstract.

⁶⁰⁹ Leonard RCF, Lind M, Twelves C, et al. Conventional adjuvant chemotherapy versus single-cycle, autograftsupported, high-dose, late-intensification chemotherapy in high-risk breast cancer patients: a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 96(14):1076-83, 2004. Accessed 6 October 2015: http://jnci.oxfordjournals.org/content/96/14/1076.full.

⁶¹⁰ The Scandinavian Breast Cancer Study Group 9401: Results from a randomized adjuvant breast cancer study with high dose chemotherapy with CTCb supported by autologous bone marrow stem cells versus escalated and tailored FEC therapy. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol. 18:2a(Abstract 3), 1999. Accessed 6 October 2015: http://jnci.oxfordjournals.org/content/92/3/225.long.

⁶¹¹ Zander AR, Kroger N, Schmoor C, et al. High-dose chemotherapy with autologous hematopoietic stem-cell support compared with standard-dose chemotherapy in breast cancer patients with 10 or more positive lymph nodes: First results of a randomized trial. J Clin Oncol. 22(12):2273-83, 2004. Accessed 6 October 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15111618.

⁶¹² Coombes RC, Howell A, Emson A on behalf of the International Collaborative Cancer Group (ICCG). High dose chemotherapy and autologous stem cell transplantation as adjuvant therapy for primary breast cancer patients with four or more lymph nodes involved: long-term results of an international randomised trial. Ann Oncol. 16(5):726-34, 2005. Accessed 6 October 2015: http://annonc.oxfordjournals.org/content/16/5/726.abstract.

⁶¹³ Farquhar C, Marjoribanks J, Basser R, et al. High-dose chemotherapy and bone marrow or stem cell transplantation for early poor prognosis breast cancer using a women's own cells (autologous). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 3:CD003139, 2005. Accessed 6 October 2015:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMH0011839/.

⁶¹⁴ Farquhar C, Basser R, Hetrick S, et al. High dose chemotherapy and autologous bone marrow or stem cell transplantation versus conventional chemotherapy for women with metastatic breast cancer. The Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 3:CD003142.pub2, 2005. Accessed 6 October 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12535458.

⁶¹⁵ Mello MM, Trennan TA. The Controversy over High-Dose Chemotherapy with Autologous Bone Marrow Transplant for Breast Cancer. Health Aff. 2001 Sep;20(5):101-17. Accessed 5 October 2015: http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/20/5/101.long.

⁶¹⁶ Susan G. Komen Foundation. Table 48: High-dose chemotherapy (bone marrow transplant). Summary research table. Updated 5 February 2014; accessed 6 October 2015:

http://ww5.komen.org/BreastCancer/Table48Highdosechemotherapywithstemcelltransplantforwomenwithmetast aticbreastcancerandforwomenwithnonmetastaticbreastcancerathighriskforrecurrence.html.

⁶¹⁷ S. Rodenhuis. The Status of High-Dose Chemotherapy in Breast Cancer. The Oncologist October 2000 vol. 5 no. 5 369-375. Accessed 6 October 2015: http://theoncologist.alphamedpress.org/content/5/5/369.full.

⁶¹⁸ A. Reyners, H. Hollema and N. Mulder. Intensive chemotherapy with autologous bone marrow transplantation in patients with locally advanced breast cancer: 12-years follow-up. J Clin Oncol, 2004 ASCO Annual Meeting Proceedings (Post-Meeting Edition). Vol 22, No 14S (July 15 Supplement), 2004: 700. Accessed 5 October 2015: http://meeting.ascopubs.org/cgi/content/abstract/22/14_suppl/700.

⁶¹⁹ Wang J, Zhang Q, Zhou R, et al. High-dose chemotherapy followed by autologous stem cell transplantation as a first-line therapy for high-risk primary breast cancer: a meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2012;7(3):e33388. Accessed 5 October 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3299795/.

⁶²⁰ Vredenburgh JJ, Coniglio D, Broadwater G, et al. Consolidation with high-dose combination alkylating agents with bone marrow transplantation significantly improves disease-free survival in hormone-insensitive metastatic breast cancer in complete remission compared with intensive standard-dose chemotherapy alone. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2006 Feb;12(2):195-203. Accessed 6 October 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16443517.

⁶²¹ Stemmer SM, Hardan I, Raz H, et al. Adjuvant treatment of high-risk stage II breast cancer with doxorubicin followed by high-dose chemotherapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation: a single-institution experience with 132 consecutive patients. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2003 Apr;31(8):655–61. Accessed 5 October 2015: http://www.nature.com/bmt/journal/v31/n8/full/1703856a.html.

⁶²² Nitz UA, Mohrmann S, Fischer J, et al. for the West German Study Group. Comparison of rapidly cycled tandem high-dose chemotherapy plus peripheral-blood stem-cell support versus dose-dense conventional chemotherapy for adjuvant treatment of high-risk breast cancer: results of a multicentre phase III trial. Lancet. 366(9501):1935-44, 2005. Accessed 6 October 2015: http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(05)67784-7/fulltext?version=printerFriendly.

⁶²³ Colleoni M, Sun Z, Martinelli G, et al. for the International Breast Cancer Study Group. The effect of endocrine responsiveness on high-risk breast cancer treated with dose-intensive chemotherapy: results of International Breast Cancer Study Group Trial 15-95 after prolonged follow-up. Ann Oncol. 20(8):1344-51, 2009. Accessed 6 October 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19468030.

⁶²⁴ U.S. National Institutes of Health (NIH). ClinicalTrials.gov: Search results for "transplant" and "breast cancer". Accessed 5 October 2015: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/results?term=transplant+"breast cancer".

⁶²⁵ National Cancer Institute (NCI). Clinical Trials Search Results: Cancer Type/Condition: Breast cancer, female; Trial Type: Treatment; Treatment/Intervention: high-dose chemotherapy, high-dose chemotherapy with autologous stem cell rescue. Accessed 5 October 2015: http://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/clinicaltrials/search.

⁶²⁶ Glück S, Stewart D. High-dose therapy in breast cancer: out of favor but not out of promise. Bone Marrow
 Transplant. 2000 May;25(10):1017-9. Accessed 6 October 2015:
 http://www.nature.com/bmt/journal/v25/n10/full/1702388a.html.

⁶²⁷ Op. cit. GAO: Health insurance: coverage of autologous bone marrow transplantation for breast cancer.

⁶²⁸ *Op. cit.* Mello MM, Trennan TA.: The Controversy over High-Dose Chemotherapy with Autologous Bone Marrow Transplant for Breast Cancer.

⁶²⁹ M.G.L. c.175 §47D, c.176A §8G, c.176B §4F, c.176G §4.

⁶³⁰ U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC): National Vital Statistics Report (NVSR) "Deaths: Final

Data for 2013. Table 10. Number of deaths from 113 selected causes, Enterocolitis due to Clostridium difficile, drug-induced causes, alcohol-induced causes, and injury by firearms, by age: United States, 2013. Accessed 28 September 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr64/nvsr64_02.pdf. Cardiovascular diseases include heart diseases, hypertension, cerebrovascular diseases, artherosclerosis and other diseases of the circulatory system.

⁶³¹ Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, et al.; on behalf of the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Heart disease and stroke statistics—2016 update: a report from the American Heart Association. 2016 Jan 26;133(4):e38-360. Accessed 25 August 2016: http://www.heart.org/idc/groups/ahamah-

public/@wcm/@sop/@smd/documents/downloadable/ucm_480086.pdf.

⁶³² Balady GJ, Ades PA, Bittner VA, et al. American Heart Association Science Advisory and Coordinating Committee. Referral, enrollment, and delivery of cardiac rehabilitation/secondary prevention programs at clinical centers and beyond: a presidential advisory from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2011 Dec 20;124(25):2951-60. Accessed 28 September 2015: http://circ.ahajournals.org/content/124/25/2951.full.

⁶³³ *Op. cit.* Balady GJ, Ades PA, Bittner VA, et al.: Referral, enrollment, and delivery of cardiac rehabilitation/secondary prevention programs at clinical centers and beyond: a presidential advisory from the American Heart Association.

⁶³⁴ Taylor RS, Dalal H, Jolly K, et al. Comparison of different modes of cardiac rehabilitation. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2015, Issue 8. Art. No.: CD007130. Published 18 August 2015; access 28 September 2015: http://www.cochrane.org/CD007130/VASC_comparison-different-modes-cardiac-rehabilitation.

⁶³⁵ *Op. cit.* Balady GJ, Ades PA, Bittner VA, et al.: Referral, enrollment, and delivery of cardiac rehabilitation/secondary prevention programs at clinical centers and beyond: a presidential advisory from the American Heart Association.

⁶³⁶ Mampuya WM. Cardiac rehabilitation past, present and future: an overview. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2012 Mar;2(1):38-49. Accessed 28 September 2015: http://www.thecdt.org/article/view/108/180.

⁶³⁷ Op. cit. Taylor RS, Dalal H, Jolly K, et al.: Comparison of different modes of cardiac rehabilitation

⁶³⁸ U.S. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ): National Guideline Clearinghouse (NGC). Advanced Search: Keyword: cardiac rehabilitation; Organization Location: us; Filtered by: U.S.-based organizations only. Accessed 28 September 2015:

 $https://guideline.gov/search?q=cardiac+rehabilitation\&f_Developer_Location=us\&page=1.$

⁶³⁹ AHRQ: National Quality Measures Clearinghouse (NQMC). Cardiac rehabilitation: percentage of eligible inpatients with a qualifying event/diagnosis who have been referred to an outpatient cardiac rehabilitation program prior to hospital discharge or have a documented medical or patient-centered reason why such a referral was not made. From AACVPR/ACCF/AHA 2010 Update: Performance Measures on Cardiac Rehabilitation for Referral to Cardiac Rehabilitation/Secondary Prevention Services Endorsed by the American College of Chest Physicians, the American College of Sports Medicine, the American Physical Therapy Association, the Canadian Association of Cardiac Rehabilitation, the Clinical Exercise Physiology Association, the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation, the Inter-American Heart Foundation, the National Association of Clinical Nurse Specialists, the Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association, and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010 Sep 28;56(14):1159-67. Accessed 28 September 2015: http://www.qualitymeasures.ahrg.gov/content.aspx?id=34287.

⁶⁴⁰ Brown TM, Hernandez AF, Bittner V, et al. American Heart Association Get With The Guidelines Investigators. Predictors of cardiac rehabilitation referral in coronary artery disease patients: findings from the American Heart Association's Get With The Guidelines Program. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009 Aug 4;54(6):515-21. Accessed 23 February 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19643312. ⁶⁴¹ Parashar S, Spertus JA, Tang F, et al. Predictors of early and late enrollment in cardiac rehabilitation, among those referred, after acute myocardial infarction. Circulation. 2012 Sep 25;126(13):1587-95. Accessed 23 February 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22929302.

⁶⁴² M.G.L. c.175 §110L, c.176A §8X, c.176B §4X, c.176G §4P.

⁶⁴³ Coalition of Cancer Cooperative Groups. Most Cancer Patients Satisfied with Clinical Trial Experience, Yet, Few Aware of Opportunity: Study Shows Improved Physician-patient Communications Could Increase Enrollment in Cancer Clinical Trials. Press release: 6/5/2006, Philadelphia PA. Accessed 13 November 2015: http://www.cancertrialshelp.org/CTHpdf/CancerPatientsSatisfied5June06.pdf.

⁶⁴⁴ National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute (NCI). Types of Clinical Trials. Updated 2 November 2012; accessed 13 November 2015: http://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/clinical-trials/what-are-trials/types.

⁶⁴⁵ NCI: Phases of Clinical Trials. Updated 2 November 2012; accessed 13 November 2015: http://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/clinical-trials/what-are-trials/phases.

⁶⁴⁶ *Op. cit.* NCI: Phases of Clinical Trials.

⁶⁴⁷ *Op. cit.* NCI: Phases of Clinical Trials.

⁶⁴⁸ Finn R. Surveys identify barriers to participation in clinical trials. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000 Oct 4;92(19):1556-8. Accessed 13 November 2015: http://jnci.oxfordjournals.org/content/92/19/1556.full.

⁶⁴⁹ *Op. cit.* NCI: Phases of Clinical Trials.

⁶⁵⁰ American Cancer Society (ACS). Phase 0 clinical trials: Exploring if and how a new drug may work. Updated 31 October 2014; accessed 25 August 2016:

http://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatmentsandsideeffects/clinicaltrials/whatyouneedtoknowaboutclinicaltrials/ clinical-trials-what-you-need-to-know-phases-of-clin-trials.

⁶⁵¹ NCI: Deciding to Take Part in a Clinical Trial. Updated 1 July 2013; accessed 13 November 2015: http://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/clinical-trials/taking-part.

⁶⁵² ACS: Answers to some common questions about clinical trials. Updated 31 October 2014; accessed 13 November 2015:

http://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatmentsandsideeffects/clinicaltrials/whatyouneedtoknowaboutclinicaltrials/ clinical-trials-what-you-need-to-know-toc.

⁶⁵³ ACS: Should I think about taking part in a clinical trial? Updated 31 October 2014; accessed 13 November 2015: http://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatmentsandsideeffects/clinicaltrials/whatyouneedtoknowaboutclinicaltrials/ clinical-trials-what-you-need-to-know-who-does-clin-trials.

⁶⁵⁴ *Op. cit.* NCI: Deciding to Take Part in a Clinical Trial.

⁶⁵⁵ Center for Information & Study on Clinical Research Participation (CISCRP). 2013 Perceptions & Insights Study: Report on General Perceptions. Accessed 13 November 2015: https://www.ciscrp.org/our-programs/researchservices/perceptions-insights-studies/.

⁶⁵⁶ ACS: Why do we need clinical trials? Updated 31 October 2014; accessed 13 November 2015: http://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatmentsandsideeffects/clinicaltrials/whatyouneedtoknowaboutclinicaltrials/ clinical-trials-what-you-need-to-know-clinical-trial-basics.

⁶⁵⁷ *Op. cit.* Finn R: Surveys identify barriers to participation in clinical trials.

⁶⁵⁸ *Op. cit.* Finn R: Surveys identify barriers to participation in clinical trials.

⁶⁵⁹ Op. cit. ACS: Why do we need clinical trials?

⁶⁶⁰ Bennett CL, Adams JR, Knox KS, et al. Clinical trials: are they a good buy? J Clin Oncol. 2001 Dec 1;19(23):4330-9. Accessed 13 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11731516.

⁶⁶¹ Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, et al. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2013, National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD, http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2013/, based on November 2015 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site, April 2016.

⁶⁶² U.S. Census Bureau. American Fact Finder. Accessed 25 April 2016: http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/nav/jsf/pages/index.xhtml.

⁶⁶³ National Institutes of Health National Cancer Institutes. State Cancer Profiles: Incidence Rate Report for Massachusetts by County, 2008-2012. Accessed 15 April 2016: http://statecancerprofiles.cancer.gov/cgibin/quickprofiles/profile.pl?25&001.

⁶⁶⁴ ACS: Why do we need clinical trials? Updated 31 October 2014; accessed 28 April 2016: http://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatmentsandsideeffects/clinicaltrials/whatyouneedtoknowaboutclinicaltrials/ clinical-trials-what-you-need-to-know-clinical-trial-basics.

⁶⁶⁵ U.S. Census Bureau. Health Insurance in the United States: 2014. Report. Accessed 28 April, 2016: http://www.census.gov/hhes/www/hlthins/hlthins.html.

⁶⁶⁶ American Cancer Society. Facts and Figures 2011. Accessed 27 April, 2016: http://www.cancer.org/acs/groups/content/@epidemiologysurveilance/documents/document/acspc-029771.pdf.

⁶⁶⁷ *Op. cit.* Howlander, Noone AM, Krapcho M, et al.: EER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2013, National Cancer Institute.

⁶⁶⁸ Chirikos TN, Ruckdeschel JC, Krischer JP. Impact of clinical trials on the cost of cancer care. Med Care. 2001 Apr;39(4):373-83. Accessed 9 June 2012: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11329524.

⁶⁶⁹ Goldman DP, Berry SH, McCabe MS, et al. Incremental treatment costs in national cancer institute-sponsored clinical trials. JAMA. 2003 Jun 11;289(22):2970-7. Accessed 9 June 2012: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12799405.

⁶⁷⁰ M.G.L. c.175 §47W, c.176A §8W, c.176B §4W, c.176G §4O.

⁶⁷¹ Daniels K, Daugherty J, Jones J. Current contraceptive status among women aged 15-44: United States, 2011-2013. NCHS Data Brief. 2014 Dec;(173):1-8. Accessed 3 February 2016: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db173.pdf.

⁶⁷² Jones J, Mosher W, Daniels K. Current contraceptive use in the United States, 2006-2010, and changes in patterns of use since 1995. Natl Health Stat Report. 2012 Oct 18;(60):1-25. Table 3. Current use of a method of contraception by women aged 15–44 years, all women, and women at risk of unintended pregnancy, by selected characteristics: United States, 2006–2010Accessed 3 February 2016: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr060.pdf.

⁶⁷³ Guttmacher Institute. State Reproductive Health Profile: Massachusetts 2013. Accessed 1 December 2015: http://www.guttmacher.org/datacenter/profiles/MA.jsp.

⁶⁷⁴ Finer LB, Zolna MR. Shifts in intended and unintended pregnancies in the United States, 2001-2008. Am J Public Health. 2014 Feb;104 Suppl 1:S43-8. Accessed 12 January 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4011100/.

⁶⁷⁵ Healthy People 2020. Washington DC. U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. Accessed 12 February 2016: http://www.healthypeople.gov/.

⁶⁷⁶ Healthy People 2020. 2020 Topics & Objectives: Family Planning. Washington DC. U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. Updated 30 November 2015; accessed 1 December 2015: http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/family-planning?topicid=13.

COMPASS Health Analytics

⁶⁷⁷ American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG), Committee on Healthcare for Underserved Women. Committee Opinion: Access to Contraception. Number 615. Obstet Gynecol. 2015 Jan;125(1):250-5. Released January 2015; accessed 7 January 2016: http://www.acog.org/Resources-And-Publications/Committee-Opinions/Committee-on-Health-Care-for-Underserved-Women/Access-to-Contraception#26.

⁶⁷⁸ *Op. cit.* ACOG: Committee Opinion: Access to Contraception.

⁶⁷⁹ Finer LB, Kost K. Unintended pregnancy rates at the state level. Perspect Sex Reprod Health. 2011 Jun;43(2):78-87. Accessed 1 December 2015: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1363/4307811/abstract.

⁶⁸⁰ Op. cit. Healthy People 2020. 2020 Topics & Objectives: Family Planning.

⁶⁸¹ David HP. Born unwanted, 35 years later: the Prague study. Reprod Health Matters. 2006 May;14(27):181-90. Accessed 14 January 2016: http://www.jstor.org/stable/3775864.

⁶⁸² Baydar N. Consequences for children of their birth planning status. Fam Plann Perspect. 1995 Nov-Dec;27(6):228-34, 245. Accessed 14 January 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8666086.

⁶⁸³ Crissey SR. Effect of Pregnancy Intention on Child Well-Being and Development: Combining Retrospective Reports of Attitude and Contraceptive use. Popul Res Policy Rev. 2005 Dec;24(6):593-615. Accessed 14 January 2016: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11113-005-5734-1.

⁶⁸⁴ Axinn WG, Barber JS, Thornton A. The long-term impact of parents' childbearing decisions on children's selfesteem. Demography. 1998 Nov;35(4):435-43. Accessed 14 January 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9850468.

⁶⁸⁵ Hummer RA, Hack KA, Raley RK. Retrospective Reports of Pregnancy Wantedness and Child Well-Being in the United States. J Fam Issues. 2004 Apr;25(3):404-28. Accessed 14 January 2016: http://jfi.sagepub.com/content/25/3/404.abstract.

⁶⁸⁶ de La Rochebrochard E, Joshi H. Children born after unplanned pregnancies and cognitive development at 3 years: social differentials in the United Kingdom Millennium Cohort. Am J Epidemiol. 2013 Sep 15;178(6):910-20. Accessed 14 January 2016: http://aje.oxfordjournals.org/content/early/2013/08/04/aje.kwt063.full.

⁶⁸⁷ Myhrman A, Olsén P, Rantakallio P, et al. Does the wantedness of a pregnancy predict a child's educational attainment? Fam Plann Perspect. 1995 May-Jun;27(3):116-9. Accessed 14 January 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7672102.

⁶⁸⁸ Finer LB, Henshaw SK. Disparities in rates of unintended pregnancy in the United States, 1994 and 2001.
 Perspect Sex Reprod Health. 2006 Jun;38(2):90-6. Accessed 14 January 2016:
 https://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/3809006.pdf.

⁶⁸⁹ Hotz VJ, McElroy SW, Sanders SG. Chapter Three: The Impacts of Teenage Childbearing on the Mothers and the Consequences of Those Impacts for Government. In Kids having kids: Economic costs and social consequences of teen pregnancy (2nd ed.). Hoffman, S. D., & Maynard, R. A. (Eds.). (2008). Washington, DC: Urban Institute Press. Accessed 14 January 2016: http://public.econ.duke.edu/~vjh3/e195S/readings/Hotz_McElroy_Sanders.pdf.

⁶⁹⁰ Hoffman, S. By the Numbers: The Public Costs of Teen Childbearing. Washington, DC: The National Campaign to Prevent Teen and Unplanned Pregnancy. October 2006. Accessed 14 January 2016: https://thenationalcampaign.org/resource/numbers.

⁶⁹¹ *Op. cit.* Hotz VJ, McElroy SW, Sanders SG: Chapter Three: The Impacts of Teenage Childbearing on the Mothers and the Consequences of Those Impacts for Government.

⁶⁹² Elfenbein DS, Felice ME. Adolescent pregnancy. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2003 Aug;50(4):781-800, viii. Accessed 14 January 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12964694.

⁶⁹³ Op. cit. Healthy People 2020. 2020 Topics & Objectives: Family Planning.

⁶⁹⁴ These women do not need contraception because they (or their partner) are infertile; are pregnant, trying to become pregnant, or are postpartum; or are not sexually active.

Guttmacher Institute. Fact Sheet: Contraceptive Use in the United States, October 2015. Accessed 1 December 2015: http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/fb_contr_use.html.

⁶⁹⁵ *Op. cit.* Guttmacher Institute. Fact Sheet: Contraceptive Use in the United States, October 2015.

⁶⁹⁶ Jones J, Mosher W, Daniels K. Current contraceptive use in the United States, 2006-2010, and changes in patterns of use since 1995. Natl Health Stat Report. 2012 Oct 18;(60):1-25. Table 3. Current use of a method of contraception by women aged 15–44 years, all women, and women at risk of unintended pregnancy, by selected characteristics: United States, 2006–2010. Accessed 3 February 2016: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr060.pdf.

⁶⁹⁷ *Op. cit.* Jones J, Mosher W, Daniels K: Current contraceptive use in the United States, 2006-2010, and changes in patterns of use since 1995.

⁶⁹⁸ Burkman RT, Sonnenberg FA. Health Economics of Contraception. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2000 Dec;27(4):917-31. Accessed 3 February 2016:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889854505701777.

⁶⁹⁹ Guttmacher Institute, State Data Center. National Reproductive Health Profile 2013. Accessed 1 December 2015: http://www.guttmacher.org/datacenter/profiles/US.jsp.

⁷⁰⁰ *Op. cit.* Guttmacher Institute, State Data Center: National Reproductive Health Profile 2013.

⁷⁰¹ *Op. cit.* Guttmacher Institute, State Data Center: National Reproductive Health Profile 2013.

⁷⁰² *Op. cit.* Guttmacher Institute, State Data Center: National Reproductive Health Profile 2013.

⁷⁰³ Sonnenberg FA, Burkman RT, Hagerty CG, et al. Costs and net health effects of contraceptive methods.
 Contraception. 2004 Jun;69(6):447-59. Accessed 1 December 2015:

http://www.contraceptionjournal.org/article/S0010-7824(04)00102-7/abstract.

⁷⁰⁴ U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), Office of Women's Health. Birth Control Guide. Accessed 1 December 2015: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/ForConsumers/ByAudience/ForWomen/FreePublications/UCM356451.pdf.

⁷⁰⁵ *Op. cit.* Guttmacher Institute. Fact Sheet: Contraceptive Use in the United States, October 2015.

⁷⁰⁶ U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Effectiveness of Family Planning Methods. Accessed 1 December 2015:

http://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/unintendedpregnancy/pdf/contraceptive_methods_508.pdf.

⁷⁰⁷ *Op. cit.* Guttmacher Institute. Fact Sheet: Contraceptive Use in the United States, October 2015. Contraceptive Effectiveness, Proportion of women who will become pregnant over one year of use by method.

"Perfect use" denotes effectiveness among couples who use the method both consistently and correctly; "typical use" refers to effectiveness experiences among all couples, including inconsistent and incorrect use. The effectiveness of emergency contraception (EC) is not measured on a one-year basis like other methods. EC is estimated to reduce the incidence of pregnancy by approximately 90 percent when used to prevent pregnancy after one instance of unprotected sex. For sponge, first figure is for women who have not given birth and second is for women who have given birth. Fertility awareness methods includes cervical mucus methods, body temperature methods, and periodic abstinence.

⁷⁰⁸ Healthcare.gov. Individuals and Families, Health benefits & coverage, Birth control benefits. Accessed 1 December 2015: https://www.healthcare.gov/coverage/birth-control-benefits/.

⁷⁰⁹ Coverage of Certain Preventive Services Under the Affordable Care Act; Final Rules. 26 CFR Part 54, 29 CFR Parts 2510 and 2590, 45 CFR Parts 147 and 156. Federal Register 78:127; 2 July 2013. Accessed 1 December 2015: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2013-07-02/pdf/2013-15866.pdf.

⁷¹⁰ *Op. cit.* Healthcare.gov: Individuals and Families, Health benefits & coverage, Birth control benefits.

⁷¹¹ *Op. cit.* Healthcare.gov: Individuals and Families, Health benefits & coverage, Birth control benefits.

⁷¹² *Op. cit.* Healthcare.gov: Individuals and Families, Health benefits & coverage, Birth control benefits.

⁷¹³ M.G.L. c.175 §§47G and 110(L), c.176A §8J, c.176G §4.

⁷¹⁴ American Cancer Society (ACS). Cancer Prevention & Early Detection Facts & Figures 2015-2016. Accessed 19 October 2015: http://www.cancer.org/acs/groups/content/@research/documents/webcontent/acspc-045101.pdf.

⁷¹⁵ Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, et al. (eds). SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2012, National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD, http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2012/, based on November 2014 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site, April 2015. Table 5.6: Annual Death Rates, Cervix Uteri. Accessed 19 October 2015: http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2012/browse_csr.php?sectionSEL=5&pageSEL=sect_05_table.06.html.

⁷¹⁶ *Op. cit.* Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, et al. (eds).: SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2012, National Cancer Institute. Table 5.5: Annual Incidence Rates, Cervix Uteri.

⁷¹⁷ ACS. Survival rates for cervical cancer, by stage. Updated 26 February 2015; accessed 20 October 2015: http://www.cancer.org/cancer/cervicalcancer/detailedguide/cervical-cancer-survival.

⁷¹⁸ *Op. cit.* Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, et al. (eds). Figure 5.5: Cancer of the Cervix Uteri, 5-Year SEER Conditional Relative Survival and 95% Confidence Intervals, Probability of surviving the next 5 years given the cohort has already survived 0, 1, or 3 years, 1998-2011 by stage at diagnosis. Accessed 19 October 2015: http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2012/browse_csr.php?sectionSEL=5&pageSEL=sect_05_zfig.05.html.

⁷¹⁹ *Op. cit.* Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, et al. (eds). Figure 5.5: Cancer of the Cervix Uteri.

⁷²⁰ *Op. cit.* American Cancer Society (ACS): Cancer Prevention & Early Detection Facts & Figures 2015-2016.

⁷²¹ Schiffman M, Castle PE, Jeronimo J, et al. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. Lancet. 2007 Sep 8;370(9590):890-907. Accessed 19 October 2015: http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(07)61416-0/abstract.

⁷²² Op. cit. Schiffman M, Castle PE, Jeronimo J, et al.: Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer.

⁷²³ Op. cit. American Cancer Society (ACS). Cancer Prevention & Early Detection Facts & Figures 2015-2016.

⁷²⁴ Op. cit. Schiffman M, Castle PE, Jeronimo J, et al.: Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer.

⁷²⁵ *Op. cit.* Schiffman M, Castle PE, Jeronimo J, et al.: Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer.

⁷²⁶ Op. cit. Schiffman M, Castle PE, Jeronimo J, et al.: Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer.

⁷²⁷ U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF). Final Recommendation Statement, Cervical Cancer: Screening, March 2012. Accessed 20 October 2015:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/cervical-cancer-screening#consider.

⁷²⁸ USPSTF. A and B Recommendations. Current as of February 2016; accessed 24 February 2016: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Name/uspstf-a-and-b-recommendations/.

⁷²⁹ Coverage of Certain Preventive Services Under the Affordable Care Act; Final Rules. 26 CFR Part 54, 29 CFR Parts 2510 and 2590, 45 CFR Parts 147 and 156. Federal Register 78:127; 2 July 2013. Accessed 20 October 2015: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2013-07-02/pdf/2013-15866.pdf.

⁷³⁰ USPSTF. Final Research Plan: Cervical Cancer: Screening. Released 29 October 2015; accessed 10 November 2015: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/final-research-plan/cervical-cancer-screening2.

 ⁷³¹ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, National Guideline Clearinghouse (NGC). Guideline synthesis:
 Screening for cervical cancer. Revised January 2016; accessed 24 February 2016: https://guideline.gov/syntheses/synthesis/49953.

⁷³² Saslow D, Solomon D, Lawson HW, et al. ACS-ASCCP-ASCP Cervical Cancer Guideline Committee. American Cancer Society, American Society for Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology, and American Society for Clinical Pathology screening guidelines for the prevention and early detection of cervical cancer. CA Cancer J Clin. 2012;62(3):149. Accessed 20 October 2015: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.3322/caac.21139/full.

⁷³³ American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP). Clinical Preventive Service Recommendation: Cervical Cancer. Accessed 20 October 2015: http://www.aafp.org/patient-care/clinical-recommendations/all/cervical-cancer.html.

⁷³⁴ American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology. Frequently Asked Questions, Special Procedures: Cervical Cancer Screening (FAQ 085, July 2014). Accessed 20 October 2015: http://www.acog.org/Patients/FAQs/Cervical-Cancer-Screening.

⁷³⁵ M.G.L. c.175 §47C (c.111 §67F), c.176A §8B, c.176B §4C (c.111 §67F), c.176G §§4, 4K (c.111 §67F), c.32A §17F.

⁷³⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Hearing Loss in Children, Data and Statistics. Data Source: 2013 CDC EHDI Hearing Screening & Follow-up Survey (HSFS), Summary of 2013 National CDC EHDI Data. Updated April 2015; accessed 7 October 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hearingloss/2013data/2013_ehdi_hsfs_summary_e.pdf.

⁷³⁷ Massachusetts Department of Health and Human Services (MA-HHS): Universal Newborn Hearing Screening Program. Accessed 7 October 2015: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/gov/departments/dph/programs/family-health/newborn-hearing-screen/.

⁷³⁸ National Institutes of Health (NIH) Research Portfolio Online Reporting Tools (RePORT): Newborn Hearing Screening. Accessed 7 October 2015: http://report.nih.gov/nihfactsheets/ViewFactSheet.aspx?csid=104.

⁷³⁹ Op. cit. NIH-RePORT: Newborn Hearing Screening.

⁷⁴⁰ Kennedy CR, McCann DC, Campbell MJ, et al. Language ability after early detection of permanent childhood hearing impairment. N Engl J Med 2006;354(20):2131-2141. Accessed 7 October 2015: http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa054915.

⁷⁴¹ Nelson HD, Bougatsos C, Nygren P. Universal Newborn Hearing Screening: Systematic Review to Update the 2001 U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation. Pediatrics 2008;122(1):e266-e276. Accessed 7 October 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/122/1/e266.full.

⁷⁴² Kupcha-Szrom J. A Window to the World: Early Language and Literacy Development. Zero to Three Policy Center, Washington DC. February 2011. Accessed 7 October 2015: https://www.zerotothree.org/resources/1021-a-window-to-the-world-early-language-and-literacy-development.

⁷⁴³ Op. cit. NIH-RePORT: Newborn Hearing Screening.

⁷⁴⁴ Joint Committee on Infant Hearing. Year 2007 Position Statement: Principles and Guidelines for Early Hearing Detection and Intervention Programs. PEDIATRICS. 2007 Oct;120(4):898-921. Accessed 7 October 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/120/4/898.full?ijkey=oj9BAleq210IA&keytype=ref&siteid=aapjourn als. Joint committee member organizations that have adopted this statement include (in alphabetical order): the Alexander Graham Bell Association for the Deaf and Hard of Hearing, the American Academy of Audiology, the American Academy of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, the American Academy of Pediatrics, the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association, the Council on Education of the Deaf, and the Directors of Speech and Hearing Programs in State Health and Welfare Agencies. The member organizations of the Council of Education of the Deaf include Council of Education of the Deaf include the Alexander Graham Bell Association for the Deaf and Hard of Hearing, American Society for Deaf Children, Conference of Educational Administrators of Schools and Programs for the Deaf, Convention of American Instructors of the Deaf, National Association of the Deaf, and Association of College Educators of the Deaf and Hard of Hearing.

⁷⁴⁵ Kennedy C, McCann D, Campbell MJ, et al. Universal newborn screening for permanent childhood hearing impairment: an 8-year follow-up of a controlled trial. Lancet 2005;366(9486):660-662. Accessed 7 October 2015: http://www.lancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(05)67138-3/abstract.

⁷⁴⁶ *Op. cit.* Joint Committee on Infant Hearing: Year 2007 Position Statement: Principles and Guidelines for Early Hearing Detection and Intervention Programs.

⁷⁴⁷ NIH National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (NIDCD). It's Important to Have Your Baby's Hearing Screened. Updated 13 July 2015; access 8 October 2015: http://www.nidcd.nih.gov/health/hearing/pages/screened.aspx.

⁷⁴⁸ CDC: Hearing Loss in Children, Screening and Diagnosis. Access 7 October 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hearingloss/screening.html.

⁷⁴⁹ Healthy People 2020. Hearing and Other Sensory or Communication Disorders, ENT-VSL-1. Accessed 8 October 2015: http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/hearing-and-other-sensory-or-communication-disorders/objectives.

⁷⁵⁰ *Op. cit.* Joint Committee on Infant Hearing: Year 2007 Position Statement: Principles and Guidelines for Early Hearing Detection and Intervention Programs.

⁷⁵¹ *Op. cit.* Joint Committee on Infant Hearing: Year 2007 Position Statement: Principles and Guidelines for Early Hearing Detection and Intervention Programs.

⁷⁵² Joint Committee on Infant Hearing of the American Academy of Pediatrics, Muse C, Harrison J, Yoshinaga-Itano C, et al. Supplement to the JCIH 2007 position statement: principles and guidelines for early intervention after confirmation that a child is deaf or hard of hearing. Pediatrics. 2013 Apr;131(4):e1324-49. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/131/4/e1324.long.

⁷⁵³ *Op. cit.* Joint Committee on Infant Hearing: Year 2007 Position Statement: Principles and Guidelines for Early Hearing Detection and Intervention Programs.

⁷⁵⁴ Op. cit. NIH-RePORT: Newborn Hearing Screening.

⁷⁵⁵ Op. cit. CDC: Hearing Loss in Children, Data and Statistics.

 ⁷⁵⁶ CDC. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, Identifying Infants with Hearing Loss — United States, 1999–2007, Weekly. March 5, 2010 / 59(08);220-223. Accessed 7 October 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5908a2.htm.

⁷⁵⁷ Op. cit. CDC: Hearing Loss in Children, Data and Statistics.

⁷⁵⁸ U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF). A and B Recommendations. November 2015; accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Name/uspstf-a-and-b-recommendations/.

⁷⁵⁹ USPSTF. Hearing Loss in Newborns: Screening. Accessed 11 December 2015: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/BrowseRec/InactiveTopic/218. The U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) has decided not to review the evidence and update its recommendations for this topic. The previous evidence review and recommendation may contain information that is outdated.

The USPSTF bases its recommendations on current evidence about preventive services. The USPSTF decides not to update some topics (or "inactivate" them) for a number of reasons. Topics may be inactivated because they are no longer relevant to clinical practice. This may be the result of changes in technology, a new understanding of the etiology or natural history of the disease, or the evolving natural history of the disease. Topics may also be inactivated because they involve services that cannot be implemented in a primary care setting or are not referable by a primary care clinician. In addition, topics that have a low public health burden or that otherwise fall outside the scope of the USPSTF may be inactivated.

The USPSTF encourages primary care clinicians to consult other sources for current evidence regarding this topic. If new evidence becomes available, the USPSTF may elect to update this topic.

⁷⁶⁰ USPSTF. A and B Recommendations. Current as of February 2016; accessed 24 February 2016: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Name/uspstf-a-and-b-recommendations/.

⁷⁶¹ Coverage of Certain Preventive Services Under the Affordable Care Act; Final Rules. 26 CFR Part 54, 29 CFR Parts 2510 and 2590, 45 CFR Parts 147 and 156. Federal Register 78:127; 2 July 2013. Accessed 20 October 2015: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2013-07-02/pdf/2013-15866.pdf.

⁷⁶² U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Births reported to EHDI program. 2013 Hearing Screening Summary, February 2016, Data Source: 2013 CDC EHDI Hearing Screening & Follow-up Survey (HSFS). Accessed 31 March, 2016: www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hearingloss/2013-data/screen_2013_web-c.pdf.

⁷⁶³ M.G.L. c.175 §47S, c.176A §8R, c.176B §4Q, c.176G §4L, c.32A §17B.

⁷⁶⁴ National Center for Health Statistics, Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Office of Information Services. National Home and Hospice Care Survey. Hospice Care - Data Highlights: Terms Related to Agencies. Updated February 2012; accessed 2 September 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhhcs/nhhcs_hospice_highlights.htm.

⁷⁶⁵ Kearney M. Mortally Wounded, Stories of Soul Pain Death and Healing. Marino Books. Dublin Ireland. 1996.

⁷⁶⁶ Bretscher M, Rummans T, Sloan J, et al. Quality of Life in Hospice Patients: A Pilot Study. Psychosomatics. 1999 Jul-Aug;40(4):309-13. Accessed 2 September 2015:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0033318299712247.

⁷⁶⁷ Op. cit. Bretscher M, Rummans T, Sloan J, et al.: Quality of Life in Hospice Patients: A Pilot Study.

⁷⁶⁸ Zerzan J, Stearns S, Hanson L. Access to Palliative Care and Hospice in Nursing Homes. JAMA.
 2000;284(19):2489-94. Accessed 2 September 2015: http://jama.ama-assn.org/content/284/19/2489.short.

⁷⁶⁹ Wallston KA, Burger C, Smith RA, et al. Comparing the quality of death for hospice and non-hospice cancer patients. Med Care. 1988 Feb;26(2):177-82. Accessed 2 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3339915.

⁷⁷⁰ Christakis NA, Iwashyna TJ. The health impact of health care on families: A matched cohort study of hospice use by decedents and mortality outcomes in surviving, widowed spouses. Soc Sci Med. 2003 Aug;57(3):465-75. Accessed 2 September 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12791489.

⁷⁷¹ Shepperd S, Wee B, Straus SE. Hospital at home: home-based end of life care. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2011, Issue 7. Accessed 2 September 2015:

 $http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858. {\tt CD009231/abstract}.$

 ⁷⁷² Pyenson B, Connor S, Fitch K, et al. Medicare Cost in Matched Hospice and Non-Hospice Cohorts. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2004 Sep;28:200–10. Accessed 2 September 2015: http://www.nhpco.org/sites/default/files/public/JPSM_CostArticle_0904.pdf. ⁷⁷³ Connor SR, Pyenson B, Fitch K, et al. Comparing Hospice and Nonhospice Patient Survival Among Patients Who Die Within a Three-Year Window. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2007 Mar;33(3):238-46. Accessed 2 September 2015: http://www.nhpco.org/sites/default/files/public/JPSM/march-2007-article.pdf.

⁷⁷⁴ National Association for Home Care and Hospice. Medicare hospice utilization and payments. From the Health Care Information System (HCIS) Hospice Agency National State Summary for Calendar Year 2009. Accessed 15 September 2016: http://www3.nahc.org/Facts/HPCUtilPay2009.pdf.

⁷⁷⁵ *Op. cit.* National Association for Home Care and Hospice. Medicare hospice utilization and payments. From the Health Care Information System (HCIS) Hospice Agency National State Summary for Calendar Year 2009.

⁷⁷⁶ Gold M, Jacobson G, Damico A, et al. Medicare advantage 2012 data spotlight: enrollment market update. Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Accessed 15 September 2016: https://kaiserfamilyfoundation.files.wordpress.com/2013/01/8323.pdf.

⁷⁷⁷ Hospice Association of America. Hospice facts and statistics. November 2010. Table 3: Distribution of Hospice Primary Payment Source, 2007 & 2008. Source: National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization. NHCPO facts and figures: hospice care In America. Oct 2009. Accessed 16 September 2016: http://www3.nahc.org/facts/HospiceStats10.pdf.

⁷⁷⁸ The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). National Health Expenditure (NHE) Amounts by Type of Expenditure and Source of Funds: Calendar Years 1960-2024. Accessed 15 September 2016: https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/NationalHealthAccountsProjected.html.

⁷⁷⁹ *Op. cit.* Hospice Association of America. Hospice facts and statistics. November 2010. Table 3: Distribution of Hospice Primary Payment Source, 2007 & 2008.

⁷⁸⁰ M.G.L. c.175 §47C, c.176A §8B, c.176B §4C, c.176G §4.

⁷⁸¹ U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Advisory Committee on Childhood Lead Poisoning and Prevention. Low Level Lead Exposure Harms Children: A Renewed Call for Primary Prevention. Released 4 January 2012; accessed 12 October 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/nceh/lead/ACCLPP/Final_Document_030712.pdf.

⁷⁸² *Op. cit.* CDC, Advisory Committee on Childhood Lead Poisoning and Prevention: Low Level Lead Exposure Harms Children: A Renewed Call for Primary Prevention.

⁷⁸³ Shannon MW, Best D, Binns HJ, et al. Policy Statement: Lead Exposure in Children: Prevention, Detection, and Management, Committee on Environmental Health. PEDIATRICS. 2005 Oct; 116(4):1036-46. Accessed 12 October 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/116/4/1036.full.

⁷⁸⁴ *Op. cit.* Shannon MW, Best D, Binns HJ, et al.: Policy Statement: Lead Exposure in Children: Prevention, Detection, and Management, Committee on Environmental Health.

⁷⁸⁵ CDC: CDC's National Surveillance Data (1997-2013), Number of Children Tested and Confirmed EBLLs by State,
 Year, and BLL Group, Children < 72 Months Old. Accessed 12 October 2015:

http://www.nchh.org/Portals/0/Contents/State%20Blood%20Lead%20Levels%20Data%20Comparing%20Level%20 of%20Concern%20and%20New%20Reference%20Value.pdf.

⁷⁸⁶ *Op. cit.* CDC Advisory Committee on Childhood Lead Poisoning and Prevention: Low Level Lead Exposure Harms Children: A Renewed Call for Primary Prevention.

⁷⁸⁷ *Op. cit.* CDC Advisory Committee on Childhood Lead Poisoning and Prevention: Low Level Lead Exposure Harms Children: A Renewed Call for Primary Prevention.

⁷⁸⁸ The American Academy of Pediatrics retired its policy statement on lead exposure prevention, detection and management in April 2013, after publishing its initial screening policy in 1998; this policy was revised by the organization in 2005 to support state efforts to design targeted screening programs, and reaffirmed in 2009. Likewise, the position statement of the American College of Preventive Medicine, first published in January 2001, has also been archived.

American Academy of Pediatrics. Policy Publications Retired and Reaffirmed. PEDIATRICS. 2013 Jul; 132(1):e281-e282: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/132/1/e281.short.

Policy Statement: Screening for Elevated Blood Lead Levels. Committee on Environmental Health, American Academy of Pediatrics. PEDIATRICS. 1998 Jun; 101(6): 1072 -1078. Accessed 12 October 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/101/6/1072.short.

Shannon MW, Best D, Binns, et al. Policy Statement: Lead Exposure in Children: Prevention, Detection, and Management. Committee on Environmental Health, American Academy of Pediatrics. PEDIATRICS. 2005 Oct; 116(4): 1036 -1046. Accessed 12 October 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/116/4/1036.short.

American Academy of Pediatrics Policy Publications Retired and Reaffirmed. PEDIATRICS. 2009 May; 123(5): 1421-1422. Accessed 12 October 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/123/5/1421.full.

Lane WG, Kemper AR. American College of Preventive Medicine Practice Policy Statement: Screening for Elevated Blood Lead Levels in Children. Am J Prev Med 2001;20(1):78-82. Accessed 25 August 2016: https://c.ymcdn.com/sites/acpm.site-ym.com/resource/resmgr/policy-files/polstmt_blood.pdf.

American College of Preventive Medicine: ACPM Position Statements. Accessed 12 October 2015: http://www.acpm.org/?page=Policy_Statements.

⁷⁸⁹ CDC: Lead. Updated 29 May 2015; accessed 13 October 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/nceh/lead/.

⁷⁹⁰ CDC: What Do Parents Need to Know to Protect Their Children? Updated 19 June 2014; accessed 13 October 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/nceh/lead/acclpp/blood_lead_levels.htm.

In the past, public health initiatives set blood lead "level of concern" at 10 mcg/dL, meaning that children identified through screening at this level were identified as having lead exposure. The new reference level is now based on the 97.5th percentile blood lead distribution in children as identified on the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), which currently stands at 5 mcg/dL and will be updated every four years. This new lower level identifies children ages 1-5 years who are in the highest 2.5 percent of children in the country when tested for blood lead levels; these children are referred for case management and other medical and developmental interventions as needed.

⁷⁹¹ Healthy People 2020. Environmental Health, Toxics and Waste. EH-8, Reduce blood lead levels in children; EH-8.1, Reduce blood lead levels in children aged 1-5, revised and EH-8.2, Reduce the mean blood lead levels in children. Accessed 12 October 2015: https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/environmental-health/objectives.

Revision EH-8.1: https://www.healthypeople.gov/node/4356/data_details#revision_history_header.

Revision EH-8.2: https://www.healthypeople.gov/node/4357/data_details#revision_history_header.

1) Reduce blood lead level in children aged 1–5 years: Baseline 5.8 mcg/dL: Concentration level of lead in blood samples at which 97.5 percent of the population aged 1-5 years is below the measured level in 2005–08. Target 5.2 mcg/dL.

2) Reduce the mean blood lead levels in children: Baseline 1.8 mcg/dL was the average blood lead level in children aged 1 to 5 years in 2003–04. Target 1.6 mcg/dL average blood lead level in children aged 1 to 5 years.

⁷⁹² Garfunkel LC, Tanski S. Immunizations, Newborn Screening, and Capillary Blood Tests. In *Performing Preventive Services: A Bright Futures Handbook*. American Academy of Pediatrics. Published 2010; accessed 13 October 2015: https://brightfutures.aap.org/Bright%20Futures%20Documents/Screening.pdf.

⁷⁹³ Bright Futures/American Academy of Pediatrics. Recommendations for Preventive Pediatric Health Care. Updated September 2015; accessed 13 October 2015: https://www.aap.org/en-us/professionalresources/practice-support/Periodicity/Periodicity%20Schedule_FINAL.pdf.

⁷⁹⁴ *Op. cit.* Garfunkel LC, Tanski S: Immunizations, Newborn Screening, and Capillary Blood Tests.

⁷⁹⁵ *Op. cit.* Bright Futures/American Academy of Pediatrics: Recommendations for Preventive Pediatric Health Care.

⁷⁹⁶ U.S. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS): Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, and Treatment. Accessed 13 October 2015: http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-Topics/Benefits/Early-and-Periodic-Screening-Diagnostic-and-Treatment.html.

⁷⁹⁷ 105 CMR 460.050: Lead Poisoning Prevention and Control, Mandatory Lead Poisoning Screening and Follow-up Schedule. Accessed 13October 2015: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/regs/105cmr460.pdf.

⁷⁹⁸ *Op. cit.* 105 CMR 460.050: Lead Poisoning Prevention and Control, Mandatory Lead Poisoning Screening and Follow-up Schedule.

⁷⁹⁹ *Op. cit.* 105 CMR 460.050: Lead Poisoning Prevention and Control, Mandatory Lead Poisoning Screening and Follow-up Schedule.

⁸⁰⁰ *Op. cit.* 105 CMR 460.050: Lead Poisoning Prevention and Control, Mandatory Lead Poisoning Screening and Follow-up Schedule.

⁸⁰¹ 105 CMR 460.060: Lead Poisoning Prevention and Control, Reimbursement for Mandatory Screening Services. Accessed 13October 2015: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/regs/105cmr460.pdf.

⁸⁰² U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF). Screening for elevated blood lead levels in children and pregnant women: recommendation statement. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ); 2006 Dec. 12. Accessed 8 October 2015:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/UpdateSummaryFinal/lead-levels-in-childhood-and-pregnancy-screening.

⁸⁰³ *Op. cit.* USPSTF: Screening for elevated blood lead levels in children and pregnant women: recommendation statement.

⁸⁰⁴ M.G.L. c.175 §§47G and 110(L), c.176A §8J, c.176G §4.

⁸⁰⁵ U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Cancer Prevention and Control: Cancer Among Women. Updated 20 August 2015; accessed 21 October 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/cancer/dcpc/data/women.htm.

⁸⁰⁶ Nelson HD, Tyne K, Naik A, et al. editors. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) Evidence Syntheses: Screening for Breast Cancer: Systematic Evidence Review Update for the US Preventive Services Task Force.

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2009 Nov. Report No.: 10-05142-EF-1. Accessed 22 October 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK36395/#ch1.s2.

⁸⁰⁷ USPSTF: Final Recommendation Statement, Breast Cancer: Screening, November 2009/December 2014. Accessed 22 October 2015:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/breast-cancer-screening.

⁸⁰⁸ Myers ER, Moorman P, Gierisch JM, et al. Benefits and Harms of Breast Cancer Screening: A Systematic Review. JAMA. 2015;314(15):1615-1634. Published 20 October 2015; accessed 21 October 2015: http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=2463261.

⁸⁰⁹ *Op. cit.* USPSTF: Final Recommendation Statement, Breast Cancer: Screening, November 2009/December 2014.

⁸¹⁰ *Op. cit.* USPSTF: Final Recommendation Statement, Breast Cancer: Screening, November 2009/December 2014.

⁸¹¹ American Academy of Family Physicians. Clinical Preventive Service Recommendation: Breast Cancer. Accessed 21 October 2015: http://www.aafp.org/patient-care/clinical-recommendations/all/breast-cancer.html.

⁸¹² Oeffinger KC, Fontham ETH, Etzioni R, et al. Breast Cancer Screening for Women at Average Risk: 2015 Guideline Update From the American Cancer Society. JAMA. 2015;314(15):1599-1614. Published 20 October 2015; accessed 21 October 2015: http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=2463262.

⁸¹³ *Op. cit.* Myers ER, Moorman P, Gierisch JM, et al. Benefits and Harms of Breast Cancer Screening: A Systematic Review.

⁸¹⁴ Smith RA, Saslow D, Sawyer KA, et al. American Cancer Society guidelines for breast cancer screening: update
2003. CA Cancer J Clin. 2003 May-Jun;53(3):141-69. Accessed 22 October 2015:
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.3322/canjclin.53.3.141/full.

⁸¹⁵ American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. ACOG Practice Advisory on Breast Cancer Screening. Published 20 April 2015; accessed 22 October 2015: http://www.acog.org/About-ACOG/News-Room/Practice-Advisories/Practice-Advisory-Breast-Cancer-Screening.

⁸¹⁶ Tirona MT. Breast Cancer Screening Update. Am Fam Physician. 2013 Feb 15;87(4):274-278. Accessed 22 October 2015: http://www.aafp.org/afp/2013/0215/p274.html.

⁸¹⁷ Qaseem A, Snow V, Sherif K, et al. Screening mammography for women 40 to 49 years of age: a clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 2007 Apr 3;146(7):511-5. Accessed 22 October 2015: http://annals.org/article.aspx?articleid=733957.

⁸¹⁸ Mainiero MB, Lourenco A, Mahoney MC, et al. Expert Panel on Breast Imaging. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® breast cancer screening. Published 2012; accessed 22 October 2015: http://www.guideline.gov/content.aspx?id=37908&search=breast+screening.

⁸¹⁹ Institute for Clinical Systems Improvement. Health Care Guideline: Diagnosis of Breast Disease. Fourteenth Edition, January 2012. Accessed 22 October 2015: https://www.icsi.org/ asset/v9l91q/DxBrDis.pdf.

⁸²⁰USPSTF. Final Recommendation Statement: Breast Cancer: Screening. Released February 2016. Accessed 25 February 2016:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/breast-cancer-screening1.

⁸²¹ Smith RA, Saslow D, Sawyer KA, et al. American Cancer Society Guidelines for Breast Cancer Screening: Update
 2003. CA Cancer J Clin. 2003; 53:141. Accessed 21 October 2015:
 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.3322/canjclin.53.3.141/full.

⁸²² *Op. cit.* Mainiero MB, Lourenco A, Mahoney MC, et al, Expert Panel on Breast Imaging: ACR Appropriateness Criteria® breast cancer screening.

⁸²³ *Op. cit.* American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists: ACOG Practice Advisory on Breast Cancer Screening.

⁸²⁴ *Op. cit.* Oeffinger KC, Fontham ETH, Etzioni R, et al.: Breast Cancer Screening for Women at Average Risk: 2015 Guideline Update From the American Cancer Society.

⁸²⁵ *Op. cit.* Oeffinger KC, Fontham ETH, Etzioni R, et al.: Breast Cancer Screening for Women at Average Risk: 2015 Guideline Update From the American Cancer Society.

⁸²⁶ Op. cit. USPSTF: Final Recommendation Statement: Breast Cancer: Screening.

⁸²⁷ Op. cit. USPSTF: Final Recommendation Statement: Breast Cancer: Screening.

⁸²⁸Op. cit. USPSTF: Final Recommendation Statement: Breast Cancer: Screening.

⁸²⁹ USPSTF. A and B Recommendations. Current as of February 2016; accessed 24 February 2016: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Name/uspstf-a-and-b-recommendations/.

⁸³⁰ Coverage of Certain Preventive Services Under the Affordable Care Act; Final Rules. 26 CFR Part 54, 29 CFR Parts 2510 and 2590, 45 CFR Parts 147 and 156. Federal Register 78:127; 2 July 2013. Accessed 20 October 2015: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2013-07-02/pdf/2013-15866.pdf.

⁸³¹ M.G.L. c.175 §47F, c.176A §8H, c.176B §4H, c.176G §§4, 4I, c.32A §17C.

⁸³² Alexander GR, Kotelchuck M. Assessing the Role and Effectiveness of Prenatal Care: History, Challenges and Directions for Future Research. Public Health Rep. 2001 Jul-Aug; 116(4): 311-6. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1497343/pdf/12037259.pdf.

⁸³³ Ryan GM, Sweeney PJ, Solola AS. Prenatal care and pregnancy outcome. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1980 Aug 15;137(8):876-81. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7405983.

⁸³⁴ Mackay AP, Berg CJ, Atrash HK. Pregnancy-Related Mortality from Preeclampsia and Eclampsia. Obstet Gynecol. 2001 Apr; 97(4):533-8. Accessed 14 December 2015:

http://journals.lww.com/greenjournal/Abstract/2001/04000/Pregnancy_Related_Mortality_From_Preeclampsia_a nd.11.aspx.

⁸³⁵ Langer O, Yogev Y, Most O, et al. Gestational diabetes: The consequences of not treating. Am J Obstet Gynecol.
2005 Apr; 192(4):989-97. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://www.ajog.org/article/S0002-9378(04)019970/abstract.

⁸³⁶ Turner BJ, McKee LJ, Silverman NS, et al. Prenatal Care and Birth Outcomes of a Cohort of HIV-Infected Women. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 1996 Jul; 12(3): 259-67. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://journals.lww.com/jaids/Abstract/1996/07000/Prenatal Care and Birth Outcomes of a Cohort of.5.aspx.

⁸³⁷ Krueger PM, Scholl TO. Adequacy of prenatal care and pregnancy outcome. J Am Osteopath Assoc. 2000 Aug; 100(8): 485-492. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10979253.

⁸³⁸ Farhat R, Rajab M. Length of postnatal hospital stay in healthy newborns and re-hospitalization following early discharge. N Am J Med Sci. 2011 Mar; 3(3): 146–151. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3336902/.

⁸³⁹ Care of the Newborn, Chapter 8. In Guidelines for Perinatal Care, 7th edition. American Academy of Pediatrics and American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. October 2012. Accessed 14 December 2015: https://evidencebasedpractice.osumc.edu/Documents/Guidelines/GuidelinesforPerinatalCare.pdf.

⁸⁴⁰ *Op. cit.* Care of the Newborn, Chapter 8. In Guidelines for Perinatal Care, 7th edition.

⁸⁴¹ Mercier CE, Barry SE, Paul K, et al. Improving newborn preventive services at the birth hospitalization: a collaborative, hospital-based quality-improvement project. Pediatrics. 2007 Sep;120(3):481-8. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17766519.

⁸⁴² Liu LL, Clemens CJ, Shay DK, et al. The Safety of Newborn Early Discharge: The Washington State Experience. JAMA. 1997;278(4):293-8. Accessed 14 December 2015:

http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=417779.

⁸⁴³ Madlon-Kay DJ, DeFor TA. Maternal Postpartum Health Care Utilization and the Effect of Minnesota Early Discharge Legislation. J Am Board Fam Pract. 2005 (Jul-Aug); 18:307-11. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://www.jabfm.org/content/18/4/307.full.pdf+html.

⁸⁴⁴ Intrapartum and Postpartum Care of the Mother, Chapter 5. Guidelines for Perinatal Care, 6th edition. American Academy of Pediatrics and American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. 2007 Oct: 139-75.

⁸⁴⁵ *Op. cit.* Liu LL, Clemens CJ, Shay DK, et al.: The Safety of Newborn Early Discharge: The Washington State Experience.

⁸⁴⁶ U.S. Department of Labor, Employee Benefits Security Administration (EBSA). The Newborns' and Mothers' Health Protection Act. Accessed 14 December 2015: https://www.dol.gov/ebsa/pdf/cagnewborns.pdf.

⁸⁴⁷ U.S. Department of Labor, Employee Benefits Security Administration (EBSA). Fact Sheet: Newborns' and Mothers' Health Protection Act. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/newsroom/fsnmhafs.html.

⁸⁴⁸ U.S. Department of Labor, Employee Benefits Security Administration (EBSA). Protections for Newborns, Adopted Children, and New Parents. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/publications/newborns.html.

⁸⁴⁹ See for example M.G.L. Chapter 175 § 47F. Accessed 15 December 2015: https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleXXII/Chapter175/Section47F.

⁸⁵⁰ *Op. cit.* Care of the Newborn, Chapter 8. In Guidelines for Perinatal Care, 7th edition.

⁸⁵¹ Stark AR, Adamkin DH, Baley JE, et al.; American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Fetus and Newborn. Hospital stay for healthy term newborns. Pediatrics. 2010 Feb;125(2):405-9. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/125/2/405.

⁸⁵² Intrapartum and Postpartum Care of the Mother, Chapter 6. In Guidelines for Perinatal Care, 7th edition.

⁸⁵³ Newborn Care, Chapter 8. In Guidelines for Perinatal Care, 7th edition.

⁸⁵⁴ Bernstein HH, Spino C, Lalama CM, et al. Unreadiness for postpartum discharge following healthy term pregnancy: impact on health care use and outcomes. Acad Pediatr. 2013 Jan-Feb;13(1):27-39. Accessed 14 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23098743.

⁸⁵⁵ Udom NU, Betley CL. Effects of maternity-stay legislation on 'drive-through deliveries'. Health Affairs. 1998 Sep-Oct; 17(5):208-15. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/17/5/208.full.pdf.

⁸⁵⁶ Datar A, Sood N. Impact of Postpartum Hospital-Stay Legislation on Newborn Length of Stay, Readmission, and Mortality in California. PEDIATRICS. 2006 Jul 1; 118(1):63-72. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16818550.

⁸⁵⁷ *Op. cit.* Liu LL, Clemens CJ, Shay DK, et al.: The Safety of Newborn Early Discharge: The Washington State Experience.

⁸⁵⁸ Evans WN, Garthwaite C, Wei H. The impact of early discharge laws on the health of newborns. J Health Econ. 2008 Jul;27(4):843-70. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18308409.

⁸⁵⁹ Meara E, Kotagal UR, Atherton HD, et al. Impact of early newborn discharge legislation and early follow-up visits on infant outcomes in a state Medicaid population. Pediatrics. 2004 Jun;113(6):1619-27. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15173482.

⁸⁶⁰ Hemler R, Shekhawat P, Hoffman RG, et al. Hospital Readmission and Morbidity Following Early Newborn Discharge. Clin Pediatr. 1998 Oct: 37(10): 609-15. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://cpj.sagepub.com/content/37/10/609.abstract.

⁸⁶¹ Malkin JD, Keeler E, Broder MS, et al. Postpartum Length of Stay and Newborn Health: A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis. PEDIATRICS. 2003 Apr 1; 111(4): e316-22. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/111/4/e316.full.

⁸⁶² *Op. cit.* Malkin JD, Keeler E, Broder MS, et al.: Postpartum Length of Stay and Newborn Health: A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis.

⁸⁶³ Liu Z, Dow WH, Norton EC. Effect of drive-through delivery laws on postpartum length of stay and hospital charges. J Health Econ. 2004; 23(1):129-155. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15154691. ⁸⁶⁴ Lane DA, Kauls LS, Ickovics JR, et al. Early Postpartum Discharges. Impact on Distress and Outpatient Problems. Arch Fam Med. 1999;8:237-42. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10333819.

⁸⁶⁵ Mandl KD, Brennan TA, Wise PH, et al. Effects of Moderate Reductions in Postpartum Length of Stay. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 1997;151(9):915-921. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=518501.

⁸⁶⁶ Braveman P, Egerter S, Pearl M, et al. Early Discharge of Newborns and Mothers: A Critical Review of the Literature. PEDIATRICS. 1995 Oct 1; 96(4):716-26. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/96/4/716.abstract.

⁸⁶⁷ Op. cit. Udom NU, Betley CL: Effects of maternity-stay legislation on 'drive-through deliveries'.

⁸⁶⁸ *Op. cit.* Liu Z, Dow WH, Norton EC: Effect of drive-through delivery laws on postpartum length of stay and hospital charges.

⁸⁶⁹ See for example M.G.L. Chapter 175 § 47F. Accessed 15 December 2015: https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleXXII/Chapter175/Section47F.

⁸⁷⁰ *Op. cit.* Stark AR, Adamkin DH, Baley JE, et al.: Hospital Stay for Healthy Term Newborns; Policy Statement: Committee on Fetus and Newborn.

⁸⁷¹ Paul IM, Phillips TA, Widome MD, et al. Cost-Effectiveness of Postnatal Home Nursing Visits for Prevention of Hospital Care for Jaundice and Dehydration. PEDIATRICS. 2004 Oct 1; 114(4): 1015-22. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/114/4/1015.

⁸⁷² Schonberg SK, Anderson SJ, Council on Child and Adolescent Health, et al. The Role of Home-Visitation Programs in Improving Health Outcomes for Children and Families. PEDIATRICS. 1998 Mar 1; 101(3):486 -9. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/101/3/486.full.

⁸⁷³ U.S. Advisory Board on Child Abuse and Neglect. A Nation's Shame: Fatal Child Abuse and Neglect in the United States. 1995 Apr. Washington DC. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED393570.pdf.

⁸⁷⁴ Hahn RA, Bilukha OO, Crosby A, et al. First Reports Evaluating the Effectiveness of Strategies for Preventing Violence: Early Childhood Home Visitation. Findings from the Task Force on Community Preventive Services.
MMWR Recomm Rep.2003 Oct; 52(RR-14) :1-9. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5214a1.htm.

⁸⁷⁵ Task Force on Community Preventive Services. Recommendations to reduce violence through early childhood home visitation, therapeutic foster care, and firearms laws. Am J Prev Med. 2005 Feb;28(2 Suppl 1):6-10. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://www.thecommunityguide.org/violence/viol-AJPM-recs.pdf.

⁸⁷⁶ *Op cit.* Paul IM, Phillips TA, Widome MD, et al.: Cost-Effectiveness of Postnatal Home Nursing Visits for Prevention of Hospital Care for Jaundice and Dehydration.

⁸⁷⁷ Braveman P, Miller C, Egerter S, et al Health service use among low-risk newborns after early discharge with and without nurse home visiting. J Am Board Fam Pract. 1996 Jul-Aug;9(4):254-60. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8829074.

⁸⁷⁸ Armstrong KL, Fraser JA, Dadds MR, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of nurse home visiting to vulnerable families with newborns. J Paediatr Child Health.1999;35 :237–244. Accessed 6/12/2011: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10404442.

⁸⁷⁹ Olds DL, Henderson CR, Chamberlin R, et al. Preventing child abuse and neglect: a randomized trial of nurse home visitation. Pediatrics. 1986 Jul1;78(1):65–78. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/78/1/65.short.

⁸⁸⁰ Eckenrode J, Ganzel B, Henderson CR, et al. Preventing child abuse and neglect with a program of nurse home visitation: the limiting effects of domestic violence. JAMA. 2000 Sep 20;284(11):1385-91. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=193089.

⁸⁸¹ *Op. cit.* Olds DL, Henderson CR, Chamberlin R, et al.: Preventing child abuse and neglect: a randomized trial of nurse home visitation.

⁸⁸² Iyasu S, Randall LL, Welty TK, et al. Risk factors for sudden infant death syndrome among northern plains Indians. JAMA. 2002 Dec 4;288(21) :2717–23. Accessed 15 December 2015: http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=195579.

⁸⁸³ USPSTF. A and B Recommendations. Current as of February 2016; accessed 24 February 2016: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Name/uspstf-a-and-b-recommendations/.

⁸⁸⁴ Coverage of Certain Preventive Services Under the Affordable Care Act; Final Rules. 26 CFR Part 54, 29 CFR Parts 2510 and 2590, 45 CFR Parts 147 and 156. Federal Register 78:127; 2 July 2013. Accessed 20 October 2015: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2013-07-02/pdf/2013-15866.pdf.

⁸⁸⁵ U.S. Department of Labor, Employee Benefits Security Administration (EBSA). FAQs about Affordable Care Act Implementation Part XII: Coverage of Preventive Services. Released 20 February 2013; accessed 14 December 2015: http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/faqs/faq-aca12.html.

PHS Act section 2713 and the interim final regulations require non-grandfathered group health plans and health insurance coverage offered in the individual or group market to provide benefits for and prohibit the imposition of cost-sharing requirements with respect to, the following:

- Evidenced-based items or services that have in effect a rating of "A" or "B" in the current recommendations of the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) with respect to the individual involved;
- Immunizations for routine use in children, adolescents, and adults that have in effect a recommendation from the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) of CHIAs for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) with respect to the individual involved;
- With respect to infants, children, and adolescents, evidence-informed preventive care and screenings provided for in the comprehensive guidelines supported by the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA); and
- With respect to women, evidence-informed preventive care and screening provided for in comprehensive guidelines supported by HRSA, to the extent not already included in certain recommendations of the USPSTF.

If a recommendation or guideline does not specify the frequency, method, treatment, or setting for the provision of that service, the plan or issuer can use reasonable medical management techniques to determine any coverage limitations.

These requirements do not apply to grandfathered health plans.

⁸⁸⁶ U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, HealthCare.gov. Preventive care benefits for women, Services for pregnant women or women who may become pregnant. Accessed 14 December 2015: https://www.healthcare.gov/preventive-care-women/.

For pregnant women, these include:

- Anemia screening on a routine basis
- Breastfeeding comprehensive support and counseling from trained providers, and access to breastfeeding supplies, for pregnant and nursing women
- Folic acid supplements for women who may become pregnant
- Gestational diabetes screening for women 24 to 28 weeks pregnant and those at high risk of developing gestational diabetes
- Gonorrhea screening for all women at higher risk
- Hepatitis B screening for pregnant women at their first prenatal visit
- Rh Incompatibility screening for all pregnant women and follow-up testing for women at higher risk
- Syphilis screening

- Expanded tobacco intervention and counseling for pregnant tobacco users
- Urinary tract or other infection screening

⁸⁸⁷ American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP). Bright Futures Guidelines for Health Supervision of Infants, Children and Adolescents, 3rd edition. Hagan JF, Shaw JS, Duncan PM, eds. Accessed 15 December 2015: https://brightfutures.aap.org/bright%20Futures%20Documents/BF3%20pocket%20guide_final.pdf.

⁸⁸⁸ HealthCare.gov. Preventive care benefits for children, Coverage for children's preventive health services. Accessed 15 December 2015: https://www.healthcare.gov/preventive-care-children/.

⁸⁸⁹ Op. cit. USPSTF: A and B Recommendations.

⁸⁹⁰ Truven Health Analytics. The Costs of Having a Baby in the United States. Accessed 28 April, 2016: http://transform.childbirthconnection.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/Cost-of-Having-a-Baby1.pdf.

⁸⁹¹ *Op. cit.* CMS: NHE Amounts by Type of Expenditure and Source of Funds: Calendar Years 1960-2024.

⁸⁹² Massachusetts Department of Public Health, Office of Data Management and Outcomes Assessment. Massachusetts Births 2014. Accessed 27 April, 2016: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/research-epi/birthreport-2014.pdf.

⁸⁹³ M.G.L. c.175 §47B, c.176A §8A, c.176B §4A, c.176G §4M, c.32A §22.

⁸⁹⁴ Healthy People 2020. Topics & Objectives: Mental Health & Mental Disorders. Accessed 4 December 2015: http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/mental-health-and-mental-disorders#three.

⁸⁹⁵ Heron M. National Vital Statistics Report, Deaths: Leading Causes for 2012. Natl Vital Stat Rep. 2015 Aug 31;64(10). Accessed 4 December 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr64/nvsr64_10.pdf.

⁸⁹⁶ *Op. cit.* Healthy People 2020: Topics & Objectives: Mental Health & Mental Disorders.

⁸⁹⁷ Satcher DS. Mental Health: A Report of the Surgeon General. Office of the Surgeon General, Center for Mental Health Services, National Institute of Mental Health (US). Rockville (MD): Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 1999. Accessed 4 December 2015: http://profiles.nlm.nih.gov/ps/access/NNBBHS.pdf.

⁸⁹⁸ American Psychiatric Association (APA). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-V). Arlington, Virginia, American Psychiatric Association, 2013. "An expectable or culturally approved response to a common stressor or loss, such as the death of a loved one, is not a mental disorder. Socially deviant behavior (e.g., political, religious, or sexual) and conflicts that are primarily between the individual and society are not mental disorders unless the device or conflict results from a dysfunction in the individual..."

⁸⁹⁹ *Op. cit.* APA: DSM-V.

⁹⁰⁰ National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH). Any Mental Illness (AMI) Among Adults, 2013. Accessed 7 December 2015: http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/prevalence/any-mental-illness-ami-among-us-adults.shtml.

⁹⁰¹ U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality (CBHSQ). Results from the 2013 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings. NSDUH Series H-48, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 14-4863. Published 2014; accessed 7 December 2015:

http://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUHresultsPDFWHTML2013/Web/NSDUHresults2013.pdf.

⁹⁰² SAMHSA: Results from the 2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Mental Health Detailed Tables. Table 1.12B – Substance Dependence or Abuse in the Past Year among Persons Aged 18 or Older, by Past Year Level of Mental Illness: Percentages, 2013 and 2014. Accessed 7 December 2015:

http://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-MHDetTabs2014/NSDUH-MHDetTabs2014.htm#tab1-12b.

⁹⁰³ NIMH: Any Disorder Among Children. Accessed 7 December 2015: http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/prevalence/any-disorder-among-children.shtml.

⁹⁰⁴ *Op. cit.* NIMH: Any Disorder Among Children.

⁹⁰⁵ *Op. cit.* SAMHSA: Results from the 2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Mental Health Detailed Tables. Table 1.22B – Received Mental Health Treatment/Counseling in the Past Year among Persons Aged 18 or Older, by Past Year Level of Mental Illness and Demographic Characteristics: Percentages, 2013 and 2014.

⁹⁰⁶ *Op. cit.* SAMHSA: Results from the 2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Mental Health Detailed Tables. Table 1.22B.

⁹⁰⁷ National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH). Use of Mental Health Services and Treatment Among Children. Accessed 7 December 2015:

http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/prevalence/use-of-mental-health-services-and-treatment-among-children.shtml.

⁹⁰⁸ *Op. cit.* SAMHSA: Results from the 2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Mental Health Detailed Tables. Table 2.1B – Sources of Mental Health Services in the Past Year among Persons Aged 12 to 17, by Age Group: Percentages, 2013 and 2014.

⁹⁰⁹ NIMH: Psychotherapies. Accessed 7 December 2015: http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/psychotherapies/index.shtml.

⁹¹⁰ Op. cit. NIMH: Psychotherapies.

⁹¹¹ NIMH: Mental Health Medications. Accessed 7 December 2015: http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/mental-health-medications/index.shtml.

⁹¹² NIMH: Brain Stimulation Therapies. Accessed 7 December 2015: http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/brainstimulation-therapies/brain-stimulation-therapies.shtml.

⁹¹³ Satcher DS. Mental Health: A Report of the Surgeon General. Public Health Rep. 2000 Jan-Feb;115(1):89-101. Accessed 7 December 2015: https://profiles.nlm.nih.gov/ps/retrieve/ResourceMetadata/NNBBHS.

⁹¹⁴ U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), National Registry of Evidence-Based Programs and Practices (NREPP). All Programs. Accessed 7 December 2015: http://nrepp.samhsa.gov/AllPrograms.aspx.

⁹¹⁵ SAMHSA-NREPP: About NREPP. Updated 28 October 2015; accessed 7 December 2015: http://nrepp.samhsa.gov/02_about.aspx.

⁹¹⁶ National Institute of Drug Abuse, National Institutes of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (NIDA). Principles of Drug Addiction Treatment: A Research-Based Guide, Third Edition. NIH Publication No. 12– 4180. Accessed 8 December 2015: https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/principles-drug-addiction-treatmentresearch-based-guide-third-edition/principles-effective-treatment.

⁹¹⁷ *Op. cit.* NIDA: Evidence-Based Approaches to Drug Addiction Treatment.

⁹¹⁸ USPSTF. Final Recommendation Statement: Depression in Adults: Screening. January 2016. Accessed 24 February 2016:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/depression-in-adults-screening1.

⁹¹⁹ USPSTF. Final Recommendation Statement: Depression in Children and Adolescents: Screening. February 2016. Accessed 24 February 2016:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/depression-in-children-and-adolescents-screening1.

⁹²⁰ USPSTF. A and B Recommendations. Current as of February 2016; accessed 24 February 2016: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Name/uspstf-a-and-b-recommendations/.

⁹²¹ Coverage of Certain Preventive Services Under the Affordable Care Act; Final Rules. 26 CFR Part 54, 29 CFR Parts 2510 and 2590, 45 CFR Parts 147 and 156. Federal Register 78:127; 2 July 2013. Accessed 20 October 2015: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2013-07-02/pdf/2013-15866.pdf.

⁹²² USPSTF. Final Recommendation Statement: Depression in Adults: Screening. January 2016. Accessed 24 February 2016:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/depression-in-adults-screening1.

⁹²³ USPSTF. Final Update Summary: Alcohol Misuse: Screening and Behavioral Counseling Interventions in Primary Care. July 2015. Accessed 8 December 2015:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/UpdateSummaryFinal/alcohol-misuse-screening-and-behavioral-counseling-interventions-in-primary-care.

⁹²⁴ USPSTF. Final Recommendation Statement: Depression in Children and Adolescents: Screening. February 2016. Accessed 24 February 2016:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/depression-in-children-and-adolescents-screening1.

⁹²⁵ M.G.L. c.175 §§47K, 47L, c.176A §8N, c.176B §4N, c.176G §4E.

⁹²⁶ U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). How did the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act come about? Updated 19 August 2010; accessed 30 October 2015:

http://www.fda.gov/AboutFDA/Transparency/Basics/ucm214416.htm.

⁹²⁷ Ventola CL. Off-Label Drug Information: Regulation, Distribution, Evaluation, and Related Controversies. P T.
 2009 Aug; 34(8): 428–440. Accessed 30 October 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2799128/.

⁹²⁸ FDA: Why Do Some Drug Labels Get Changed So Often? Updated 19 October 2015; accessed 30 October 2015: http://www.fda.gov/AboutFDA/Transparency/Basics/ucm194979.htm.

 ⁹²⁹ Hoffman MB, Yentzer BA, Feldman SR. Regulating Off-label Promotion of Medications: Has the Pendulum Swung Too Far? Skin Therapy Letter. 2015;20(3). Accessed 25 August 2016: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/282044014_Regulating_Off-label_Promotion_of_Medications_Has_the_Pendulum_Swung_Too_Far.

⁹³⁰ FDA: Learn About Expanded Access and Other Treatment Options. Updated 24 June 2015; accessed 2 November 2015: http://www.fda.gov/ForPatients/Other/.

⁹³¹ *Op. cit.* Hoffman MB, Yentzer BA, Feldman SR: Regulating Off-label Promotion of Medications: Has the Pendulum Swung Too Far?

⁹³² Dresser R, Frader J. Off-label prescribing: a call for heightened professional and government oversight. J Law Med Ethics. 2009 Fall;37(3):476-86, 396. Accessed 2 November 2015: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1763292.

⁹³³ DeMonaco HJ, Ali A, von Hippel E. The Major Role of Clinicians in the Discovery of Off-Label Therapies.
 Pharmacotherapy. 2006;26(3):323-32. Accessed 25 August 2016:
 http://web.mit.edu/people/evhippel/papers/Demonaco,%20Ali,%20Evh%20Off%20Label%20drug%20WP.pdf.

⁹³⁴ Radley DC, Finkelstein SN, Stafford RS. Off-Label Prescribing among Office-Based Physicians. Arch Intern Med. 2006 May 8;166(9):1021-6. Accessed 2 November 2015: http://archinte.ama-assn.org/cgi/content/abstract/166/9/1021.

⁹³⁵ Shopper's Guide to Prescription Drugs Number 6 - www.CRBestBuyDrugs.org: "Off-Label" Drug Use. Accessed 2 November 2015: http://www.consumerreports.org/health/resources/pdf/best-buy-drugs/money-savingguides/english/Off-Label-FINAL.pdf.

⁹³⁶ Consumer Reports. Off-label drug prescribing: What does it mean for you? Updated July 2015; accessed 2 November 2015: http://www.consumerreports.org/cro/2012/05/off-label-drug-prescribing-what-does-it-meanfor-you/index.htm.

⁹³⁷ Peppercorn J, Burstein H, Miller FG, et al. Self-reported practices and attitudes of US oncologists regarding offprotocol therapy. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(36):5994–6000. Accessed 2 November 2015: http://jco.ascopubs.org/content/26/36/5994.abstract.

⁹³⁸ American Cancer Society. Off Label Drug Use: What Is Off-Label Drug Use? Last Medical Review and Update: 17 March 2015; accessed 2 November 2015:

http://www.cancer.org/Treatment/TreatmentsandSideEffects/TreatmentTypes/Chemotherapy/off-label-drug-use.

⁹³⁹ Perls TT, Reisman NR, Olshansky SJ. Provision or Distribution of Growth Hormone for 'Antiaging.' JAMA.
 2005;294(17):2086-90. Accessed 2 November 2015: http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=201730.

⁹⁴⁰ Mello MM, Studdert DM, Brennan TA. Shifting Terrain in the Regulation of Off-Label Promotion of Pharmaceuticals. N Engl J Med 2009; 360:1557-1566. Accessed 2 November 2015: http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMhle0807695.

⁹⁴¹ *Op cit.* Peppercorn J, Burstein H, Miller FG, et al.: Self-reported practices and attitudes of US oncologists regarding off-protocol therapy.

⁹⁴² Op. cit. Radley DC, Finkelstein SN, Stafford RS: Off-Label Prescribing among Office-Based Physicians.

⁹⁴³ *Op. cit.* Dresser R, Frader J: Off-label prescribing: a call for heightened professional and government oversight.

⁹⁴⁴ American Medical Association House of Delegates. Health and Ethics Policies: Patient Access to Treatments Prescribed by Their Physicians, H-120.988. Reaffirmed 2015 (Res. 505, A-15). Accessed 2 November 2015: http://www.ama-assn.org/ad-com/polfind/Hlth-Ethics.pdf.

⁹⁴⁵ The American College of Physicians (ACP), Division of Government Affairs and Public Policy. Policy Compendium, Winter 2012-2013. Accessed 2 November 2015:

https://www.acponline.org/system/files/documents/about_acp/chapters/ak/fall_2014_resolutions_only.pdf.

⁹⁴⁶ Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). Compendia 1861 (t)(2) - Anti-cancer. Modified 22 April 2015; accessed 2 November 2015: https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Coverage/CoverageGenInfo/compendia.html.

The Social Security Act Section 1861(t)(2)(B)(ii)(I) recognizes the following compendia: American Medical Association Drug Evaluations (AMA-DE), United States Pharmacopoeia-Drug Information (USP-DI) or its successor publication [amended in Section 6001 (f)(1) of the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005] and American Hospital Formulary Service-Drug Information (AHFS-DI).

⁹⁴⁷Op. cit. CMS: Compendia 1861 (t)(2) - Anti-cancer.

⁹⁴⁸ Abernethy AP, Raman G, Balk EM, et al. Systematic review: reliability of compendia methods for off-label oncology indications. Ann Intern Med. 2009 Mar 3;150(5):336-43. Accessed 2 November 2015: http://annals.org/article.aspx?articleid=744340.

⁹⁴⁹ ACP: Ethics Manual, Sixth Edition. Ann Intern Med. 2012; 156: 73-104. Accessed 2 November 2015: https://www.acponline.org/running_practice/ethics/manual/manual6th.htm#author.

⁹⁵⁰ Medicare Prescription Drug Benefit Manual, V02.19.10: Chapter 6 Part D Drug and Formulary Requirements, Section 10.6. Accessed 2 November 2015:

http://www.cms.gov/PrescriptionDrugCovContra/Downloads/Chapter6.pdf.

⁹⁵¹ *Op. cit.* Medicare Prescription Drug Benefit Manual, V02.19.10: Chapter 6 Part D Drug and Formulary Requirements, Appendix C - Summary of Coverage Policy, Attachment I: Part B Drugs and Part D Coverage Chart.

⁹⁵² *Op. cit.* CMS: Compendia 1861 (t)(2) - Anti-cancer.

⁹⁵³ FDA: Regulatory Information, FDAAA Implementation - Highlights Two Years After Enactment. Updated 2 October 2009; accessed 2 November 2015:

http://www.fda.gov/RegulatoryInformation/Legislation/SignificantAmendmentstotheFDCAct/FoodandDrugAdmini strationAmendmentsActof2007/ucm184271.htm.

⁹⁵⁴ *Op. cit.* Dresser R, Frader J: Off-label prescribing: a call for heightened professional and government oversight.

⁹⁵⁵ *Op. cit.* Dresser R, Frader J: Off-label prescribing: a call for heightened professional and government oversight.

⁹⁵⁶ *Op. cit.* Dresser R, Frader J: Off-label prescribing: a call for heightened professional and government oversight.

⁹⁵⁷ *Op. cit.* Dresser R, Frader J: Off-label prescribing: a call for heightened professional and government oversight.

⁹⁵⁸ Op. cit. Dresser R, Frader J: Off-label prescribing: a call for heightened professional and government oversight.

⁹⁵⁹ FDA: Good Reprint Practices for the Distribution of Medical Journal Articles and Medical or Scientific Reference
 Publications on Unapproved New Uses of Approved Drugs and Approved or Cleared Medical Devices. January
 2009. Updated 25 June 2014; accessed 2 November 2015:

http://www.fda.gov/RegulatoryInformation/Guidances/ucm125126.htm.

⁹⁶⁰ Harris Interactive. "U.S. Adults Ambivalent about the Risks and Benefits of Off-label Prescription Drug Use," December 7, 2006. Accessed 2 November 2015: http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/us-adults-ambivalent-about-the-risks-and-benefits-of-off-label-prescription-drug-use-56012072.html.

⁹⁶¹ Committee on Drugs. American Academy of Pediatrics. Uses of drugs not described in the package insert (offlabel uses). Pediatrics. 2002 Jul;110(1 Pt 1):181-3. Accessed 2 November 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/110/1/181.full.

⁹⁶² M.G.L. c.175 §§470, 47P, c.176A §8Q, c.176B §4P, c.176G §4G.

⁹⁶³ U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Understanding Unapproved Use of Approved Drugs "Off Label". Updated 24 June 2015; accessed 29 October 2015: http://www.fda.gov/ForPatients/Other/OffLabel/default.htm.

⁹⁶⁴ Le Jeunne C, Billon N, Dandon A, et al. Off-label prescriptions: how to identify them, frame them, announce them and monitor them in practice? Therapie. 2013 Jul-Aug;68(4):225-39. Accessed 29 October 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23981260.

⁹⁶⁵ Brosgart CL, Mitchell T, Charlebois E, et al. Off-label drug use in human immunodeficiency virus disease. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol. 1996 May 1;12(1):56-62. Accessed 29 October 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8624761.

⁹⁶⁶ FDA: Expanded Access and Expedited Approval of New Therapies Related to HIV/AIDS (Archived Content). Updated 7 August 2014; accessed 30 October 2015:

http://www.fda.gov/ForPatients/Illness/HIVAIDS/Treatment/ucm134331.htm.

⁹⁶⁷ *Op. cit.* FDA: Expanded Access and Expedited Approval of New Therapies Related to HIV/AIDS (Archived Content).

⁹⁶⁸ *Op. cit.* FDA: Expanded Access and Expedited Approval of New Therapies Related to HIV/AIDS (Archived Content).

⁹⁶⁹ *Op. cit.* FDA: Expanded Access and Expedited Approval of New Therapies Related to HIV/AIDS (Archived Content).

⁹⁷⁰ FDA. Approved therapies for the treatment of complications of HIV/AIDS. Updated 10 March 2015; accessed 30 October 2015: http://www.fda.gov/ForPatients/Illness/HIVAIDS/Treatment/ucm118949.htm.

⁹⁷¹ FDA. Antiretroviral drugs used in the treatment of HIV infection. Updated 8 October 2015; accessed 30 October 2015: http://www.fda.gov/ForPatients/Illness/HIVAIDS/Treatment/ucm118915.htm.

⁹⁷² FDA. Approved antiretroviral drugs for pediatric treatment of HIV infection. Updated 25 September 2015; accessed 30 October 2015: http://www.fda.gov/ForPatients/Illness/HIVAIDS/Treatment/ucm118951.htm.

⁹⁷³ FDA. Approved generic formulations of antiretroviral drugs used in the treatment of HIV infection. Updated 4 February 2014; accessed 30 October 2015:

http://www.fda.gov/ForPatients/Illness/HIVAIDS/Treatment/ucm118944.htm.

⁹⁷⁴ *Op. cit.* Le Jeunne C, Billon N, Dandon A, et al. Off-label prescriptions: how to identify them, frame them, announce them and monitor them in practice?

⁹⁷⁵ Fernández-Cooke E, Rojas P, Holguin A, et al. Description and consequences of prescribing off-label antiretrovirals in the Madrid Cohort of HIV-infected children over a quarter of a century (1988-2012). Antivir Ther.
2015 Jun 16. Accessed 29 October 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26079937.

⁹⁷⁶ M.G.L. c.175 §47C, c.176A §8B, c.176B §4C, c.176G §4.

⁹⁷⁷ National Research Council and Institute of Medicine. (2004). Children's Health, the Nation's Wealth: Assessing and Improving Child Health. Committee on Evaluation of Children's Health. Board on Children, Youth, and Families, Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. Accessed 24 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK92206/.

⁹⁷⁸ Sege RD, DeVos E. Evidence-Based Health Care for Children: What Are We Missing? Issue Brief (Commonw Fund). 2010 Apr;85:1-14. Accessed 24 November 2015:

http://www.commonwealthfund.org/~/media/Files/Publications/Issue%20Brief/2010/Apr/1395_Sege_evidenceba sed_hlt_care_children_ib_v2.pdf.

⁹⁷⁹ Bright Futures Guidelines for Health Supervision of Infants, Children, and Adolescents. Introduction to the Bright Futures Visits. Accessed 24 November 2015:

https://brightfutures.aap.org/Bright%20Futures%20Documents/12-

 $Introduction_to_the_Bright_Futures_Visits.pdf.$

⁹⁸⁰ Schor EL. Rethinking Well-Child Care. PEDIATRICS. 2004 Jul 1; 114(1):210-6. Accessed 24 November 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/114/1/210.

⁹⁸¹ Moyer VA, Butler M. Gaps in the Evidence for Well-Child Care: A Challenge to Our Profession. PEDIATRICS. 2004 Dec 1;114(6):1511-21. Accessed 24 November 2015: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15574609.

⁹⁸² Hambidge SJ, Emsermann CB, Federico S, et al. Disparities in Pediatric Preventive Care in the United States, 1993-2002. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2007;161(1):30-36. Accessed 24 November 2015: http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=569352.

⁹⁸³ Op cit. Schor EL: Rethinking Well-Child Care.

⁹⁸⁴ Houtrow AJ, Kim SE, Chen AY, et al. Preventive Health Care for Children With and Without Special Health Care Needs. PEDIATRICS. 2007 Apr 1;119(4):e821-8. Accessed 24 November 2015: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/119/4/e821.

⁹⁸⁵ Op cit. Sege RD: Evidence-Based Health Care for Children: What Are We Missing? Issue Brief (Commonw Fund).

⁹⁸⁶ American Academy of Pediatrics, Bright Futures. About Bright Futures. Accessed 24 November 2015: https://brightfutures.aap.org/about/Pages/About.aspx.

⁹⁸⁷ Hagan JF, Shaw JS, Duncan PM, eds. 2008. Bright Futures: Guidelines for Health Supervision of Infants, Children, and Adolescents, Third Edition. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics. Chapter 13: Rationale and Evidence, pp 221-50. Accessed 6/14/2011: https://brightfutures.aap.org/Bright%20Futures%20Documents/13-Rationale_and_Evidence-1.pdf.

⁹⁸⁸ Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (CDC-ACIP). The Recommended Immunization Schedules for Persons Aged 0 Through 18 Years. Approved by the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, the American Academy of Pediatrics, the American Academy of Family Physicians, and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Effective 1 January 2015; accessed 24 November 2015: http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/downloads/child/0-18yrs-child-combined-schedule.pdf.

⁹⁸⁹ American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP). Achieving Bright Futures: Implementation of the ACA Pediatric Preventive Services Provision. Accessed 24 November 2015: https://www.aap.org/en-us/professionalresources/practice-support/Periodicity/BF%20Introduction%20F010914.pdf.

⁹⁹⁰ Interim Final Rules for Group Health Plans and Health Insurance Issuers Relating to Coverage of Preventive Services Under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. 45 CFR Part 147, RIN 0938–AQ07. Federal Register; 75:137. Published 19 July 2010; accessed 24 November 2015: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2010-07-19/pdf/2010-17242.pdf.

⁹⁹¹ Bright Futures/American Academy of Pediatrics. Recommendations for Preventive Pediatric Health Care. Published September 2015; accessed 24 November 2015: https://www.aap.org/en-us/professionalresources/practice-support/Periodicity/Periodicity%20Schedule_FINAL.pdf.

⁹⁹² Op. cit. Hagan JF, Shaw JS, Duncan PM, eds. 2008: Bright Futures: Guidelines for Health Supervision of Infants, Children, and Adolescents, Third Edition.

⁹⁹³ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) Secretary's Advisory Committee on Heritable Disorders in Newborns and Children (SACHDNC). Secretary's Advisory Committee on Heritable Disorders in Newborns and Children 2013 Annual Report. Accessed 24 November 2015:

http://www.hrsa.gov/advisorycommittees/mchbadvisory/heritabledisorders/reportsrecommendations/reports/heritabledisordersnewbornschildrenannualrpt13.pdf.

⁹⁹⁴ Bright Futures Guidelines for Health Supervision of Infants, Children, and Adolescents. Rationale and Evidence. Accessed 24 November 2015: https://brightfutures.aap.org/Bright%20Futures%20Documents/13-Rationale_and_Evidence-1.pdf.

⁹⁹⁵ Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2713, Coverage of Preventive Services.

⁹⁹⁶ *Op. cit.* CMS: NHE Amounts by Type of Expenditure and Source of Funds: Calendar Years 1960-2024.

⁹⁹⁷ Summers, L.H. Some simple economics of mandated benefits. American Economic Review 1989 79(2), 177-83. Accessed 25 August 2016: http://eml.berkeley.edu/~saez/course131/Summers89.pdf.

⁹⁹⁸ See for example, Gabel, J, Jensen, G. The price of state mandated benefits. Inquiry 1989; 26:419-431. Accessed 25 August 2016: http://economics.mit.edu/files/83.

⁹⁹⁹ Gruber, J. State-mandated benefits and employer-provided health insurance. Journal of Public Economics. 1994; 55:433-464. 25 August 2016: https://www.jstor.org/stable/29772078?seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents.

¹⁰⁰⁰ Acs, G., Long, S.H., Marquis, S.M., and Short, P.F. Self-insured employer health plans: prevalence, profile, provisions, and premiums. Health Affairs 1996; 15 (2): 266-278. 25 August 2016: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8690383.

¹⁰⁰¹ *Op. cit.* Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis: Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database.

¹⁰⁰² *Op. cit.* Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis: Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database.

¹⁰⁰³ Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis. Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database. Member Eligibility table: http://www.chiamass.gov/MA-APCD/.

¹⁰⁰⁴ Massachusetts Office of Consumer Affairs and Business Regulation. 2014 HMO Membership Reports. Membership by HMO and county: 4th quarter. 15 September 2016:

http://www.mass.gov/ocabr/insurance/providers-and-producers/insurance-companies/group-products-and-plans/hmo-membership-reports/2014-hmo-membership-reports.html.

¹⁰⁰⁵ Massachusetts Office of Consumer Affairs and Business Regulation. 2014 Preferred Providers Information: Medical Plans. 15 September 2016: http://www.mass.gov/ocabr/insurance/providers-and-producers/insurancecompanies/group-products-and-plans/insured-preferred-provider-membership/2014-preferred-providersinformation.html.

¹⁰⁰⁶ *Op. cit.* Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis: Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database. Member Eligibility table.

¹⁰⁰⁷ Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis. Enrollment Trends, July 2016 Edition. Databook. 14 September 2016: http://www.chiamass.gov/enrollment-in-health-insurance/.

¹⁰⁰⁸ *Op. cit.* Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis: Massachusetts All Payer Claim Database. Member Eligibility table.

¹⁰⁰⁹ Group Insurance Commission. GIC Health Plan Membership by Insured Status FY2014. Accessed 28 March 2016: http://www.mass.gov/anf/docs/gic/annual-report/fy2014annual-report.pdf.

¹⁰¹⁰ See for example, Kominski, GF, et al. The California cost and coverage model: analyses of the financial impacts of benefit mandates for the California legislature. Health Serv Res, 2006 Jun 1;41(3) Part II.

¹⁰¹¹ Gordon, S. Cost of insulin tripled in just a decade: Study. HealthDay News, April 5, 2016. Accessed April 27, 2016: http://www.upi.com/Health_News/2016/04/05/Cost-of-insulin-tripled-in-just-a-decade-Study/9231459872730/.

¹⁰¹² Rosenthal, Elisabeth. Even Small Medical Advances Can Mean Big Jumps in Bills. *The New York Times,* 5 April, 2014. Accessed 29 April, 2016: http://www.nytimes.com/2014/04/06/health/even-small-medical-advances-can-mean-big-jumps-in-bills.html.

¹⁰¹³ U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF). Final Recommendation Statement, Cervical Cancer: Screening, March 2012. Accessed 20 October 2015:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/cervical-cancer-screening#consider.

¹⁰¹⁴ USPSTF: Final Recommendation Statement: Breast Cancer: Screening. Released February 2016. Accessed 25 February 2016:

http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStatementFinal/breast-cancer-screening1.

¹⁰¹⁵ *Op. cit.* Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis. Performance of the Massachusetts Health Care System, Annual Report September 2016, p. 45.

¹⁰¹⁶ *Op. cit.* Massachusetts Center for Health Information and Analysis. Performance of the Massachusetts Health Care System, Annual Report September 2016 Databooks. 2016 Annual Report_Enrollment_Premiums_Cost-Sharing_Retention Databook.xlsx, Tab 8. 13 September 2016: <u>http://www.chiamass.gov/annual-report/</u>. ,Table 2e.

¹⁰¹⁷ U.S. Census Bureau. Annual Estimates of the Population for the United States, Regions, States, and Puerto Rico: April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2015. Accessed 28 April 2016:

http://www.census.gov/popest/data/state/totals/2015/index.html.

¹⁰¹⁸ U.S. Census Bureau. Annual Estimates of the Population for the United States, Regions, States, and Puerto Rico: April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2015. Accessed 28 April 2016:

http://www.census.gov/popest/data/state/totals/2015/index.html.

For more information, please contact:

CHIA .

center for health information and analysis

CENTER FOR HEALTH INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS

501 Boylston Street Boston, MA 02116 617.701.8100

www.chiamass.gov Publication Number: 16-340-CHIA-01